The use of ketogenic diet therapy in the era of individualized therapy

Edited by Aycan Ünalp, Ebru Arhan and Bulent Unay

Published in Frontiers in Nutrition





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-3609-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-3609-4

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

The use of ketogenic diet therapy in the era of individualized therapy

Topic editors

Aycan Ünalp — University of Health Sciences, Türkiye Ebru Arhan — Gazi University, Türkiye Bulent Unay — Health Sciences University, Türkiye

Citation

Ünalp, A., Arhan, E., Unay, B., eds. (2023). *The use of ketogenic diet therapy in the era of individualized therapy*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-3609-4

Table of contents

05 Editorial: The use of ketogenic diet therapy in the era of individualized therapy

Aycan Ünalp, Bülent Ünay and Ebru Arhan

07 Low and high carbohydrate isocaloric diets on performance, fat oxidation, glucose and cardiometabolic health in middle age males

Philip J. Prins, Timothy D. Noakes, Alex Buga, Dominic P. D'Agostino, Jeff S. Volek, Jeffrey D. Buxton, Kara Heckman, Dalton W. Jones, Naomi E. Tobias, Holly M. Grose, Anna K. Jenkins, Kelli T. Jancay and Andrew P. Koutnik

28 Oral ketone esters acutely improve myocardial contractility in post-hospitalized COVID-19 patients: A randomized placebo-controlled double-blind crossover study Helena Zander Wodschow, Filip Søskov Davidovski, Jacob Christensen, Mats Christian Højbjerg Lassen, Kristoffer Grundtvig Skaarup, Hanne Nygaard, Niels Møller, Jørgen Rungby, Tor Biering-Sørensen, Peter Rossing, Nicole Jacqueline Jensen and Jens Christian Laursen

- 38 Classic ketogenic diet in parenteral nutrition in a GLUT1DS patient: Doing more with less in an acute surgical setting Valentina De Giorgis, Cinzia Ferraris, Mario Leo Brena, Giorgio Farris, Valerio Gentilino, Monica Guglielmetti, Claudia Marazzi, Ludovica Pasca, Claudia Trentani, Anna Tagliabue and Costanza Varesio
- 42 Ketogenic therapies for glioblastoma: Understanding the limitations in transitioning from mice to patients Angela D. Clontz
- 57 Ketogenic diet alleviates renal fibrosis in mice by enhancing fatty acid oxidation through the free fatty acid receptor 3 pathway

Yang Qiu, Xiaofan Hu, Cong Xu, Chenqi Lu, Rui Cao, Yanan Xie and Jun Yang

- 70 Case report: Resolution of malignant canine mast cell tumor using ketogenic metabolic therapy alone Thomas N. Seyfried, Purna Mukherjee, Derek C. Lee, Linh Ta and Loren Nations
- 75 Long-term follow-up of nutritional status in children with GLUT1 Deficiency Syndrome treated with classic ketogenic diet: a 5-year prospective study Ramona De Amicis, Alessandro Leone, Marta Pellizzari, Andrea Foppiani, Alberto Battezzati, Chiara Lessa, Anna Tagliabue, Cinzia Ferraris, Valentina De Giorgis, Sara Olivotto, Roberto Previtali, Pierangelo Veggiotti and Simona Bertoli

86 Low glycemic index therapy in children with sub-acute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE): an experience from a measles-endemic country

Shahnaz H. Ibrahim and Hira Farooq

97 Ketonemia variability through menstrual cycle in patients undergoing classic ketogenic diet

Ludovica Pasca, Cinzia Ferraris, Monica Guglielmetti, Costanza Varesio, Martina Totaro, Claudia Trentani, Claudia Marazzi, Ilaria Brambilla, Elena Ballante, Marisa Armeno, Gabriela Reyes Valenzuela, Roberto H. Caraballo, Pierangelo Veggiotti, Anna Tagliabue and Valentina De Giorgis Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Heather M. Wilkins, University of Kansas Medical Center Research Institute, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Aycan Ünalp ⊠ aycanunalp67@gmail.com

RECEIVED 03 August 2023 ACCEPTED 23 August 2023 PUBLISHED 19 September 2023

CITATION

Ünalp A, Ünay B and Arhan E (2023) Editorial: The use of ketogenic diet therapy in the era of individualized therapy. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1272170. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1272170

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Ünalp, Ünay and Arhan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: The use of ketogenic diet therapy in the era of individualized therapy

Aycan Ünalp^{1,2*}, Bülent Ünay³ and Ebru Arhan⁴

¹Department of Pediatric Neurology, Izmir Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences (Turkey), Izmir, Türkiye, ²Dr. Behçet Uz Children's Hospital, University of Health Sciences, Izmir, Türkiye, ³Department of Pediatric Neurology, Gulhane Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences (Turkey), Ankara, Türkiye, ⁴Department of Pediatric Neurology, Gazi University Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye

KEYWORDS

individualized, personalized, ketogenic diet, therapy, precision

Editorial on the Research Topic

The use of ketogenic diet therapy in the era of individualized therapy

The term individualized medicine refers to truly personalized treatment that tries to treat each patient according to their individual biology.

"Personalized" medicine is a model of N-of-1, in which each patient is considered the only patient treated. "Precision" medicine, on the other hand, resembles the 1-in-N model, allowing a more traditional Western medicine approach to conducting research on groups and sub¬groups and treating the patient's specific subgroup (1, 2). Thus, individualized medicine can go one step further and be considered as personalized medicine.

This Research Topic aimed to assess ketogenic diet usage, acceptability, and efficacy of individualized medicine.

In this special e-collection, we tried to collect and combine the articles that will help us understand the effects and mechanisms of ketogenic diet therapy in special patients and/or patient groups in which they are used individually.

Ketogenic dietary therapies are well-established, safe, non-pharmacologic treatments used for children and adults with drug-resistant epilepsy and other neurological disorders (3). Ketone body levels are recognized as helpful to check compliance to the ketogenic diet therapy and to attempt titration of the diet according to individualized needs. Possible variations in glycemia and keton bodys blood levels according to the menstrual cycle have not been systematically assessed yet, but this time window deserves special attention because of hormonal and metabolic-related changes. Pasca et al. aimed at searching for subtle changes in the ketone body's blood levels during the menstrual cycle in female patients. A significant increase in glucose blood levels, an inversely proportional trend compared to glycemia was noted.

The classic ketogenic diet is an isocaloric, high-fat, low-carbohydrate diet that induces the production of keton bodys. High consumption of dietary fatty acids, particularly longchain saturated fatty acids, could impair nutritional status and increase cardiovascular risk. De Amicis et al. evaluated the long-term effects of a 5-year classic ketogenic diet on body composition, resting energy expenditure, and biochemical parameters in children affected by Glucose Transporter 1 Deficiency Syndrome (GLUT1DS). Long-term adherence to the classic ketogenic diet showed a good safety profile on anthropometric measurements, body composition, resting energy expenditure, and biochemical parameters. Ketogenicdietary treatments are to date the gold-standard treatment for GLUT1DS. Administration of ketogenic diet therapy is generally per os; however, in some conditions including the acute gastro-enteric post-surgical setting, short-term parenteral administration might be needed. De Giorgis et al. reported the first pediatric patient with GLUT1DS in chronic treatment with ketogenic diet therapy efficiently treated with exclusive parenteral nutrition for 5 days. This case reports on real-world management and the ideal recommendations for parenteral-ketogenic diet therapy in an acute surgical setting.

COVID-19 is associated with subclinical myocardial injury. Exogenous ketone esters acutely improve left myocardial function in healthy participants and patients with heart failure, but the effects have not been investigated in participants previously hospitalized for COVID-19. Wodschow et al. performed a randomized placebo-controlled double-blind crossover study. They concluded that in patients previously hospitalized with COVID-19, a single oral dose of ketone ester had no effect on left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), cardiac output or blood oxygen saturation, but increased global longitudinal strain (GLS) acutely.

The ketogenic diet, as a dietary intervention, has gained importance in the treatment of solid organ structural remodeling, but its role in renal fibrosis has not been explored. Qiu et al. demonstrated that a ketogenic diet significantly enhanced serum β -OHB levels in mice. Histological analysis revealed that the ketogenic diet alleviated structural destruction and fibrosis in obstructed kidneys and reduced the expression of the fibrosis protein markers α -SMA, Col1a1, and Col3a1. Their results highlight that the ketogenic diet attenuates unilateral ureteral obstruction (UUO)-induced renal fibrosis by enhancing fatty acid oxidation (FAO) via the free fatty acid receptor 3 (FFAR3)dependent pathway, which provides a promising dietary therapy for renal fibrosis.

High carbohydrate, low fat (HCLF) diets have been the predominant nutrition strategy for athletic performance. Highly trained competitive middle-aged athletes underwent two 31-day isocaloric diets (HCLF or LCHF) in a randomized, counterbalanced, and crossover design while controlling calories and training load. These results: (i) challenge whether higher carbohydrate intake is superior for athletic performance, even during shorter-duration, higher-intensity exercise; (ii) lower carbohydrate intake may be a therapeutic strategy to independently improve glycemic control, particularly in those at risk for diabetes; (iii) unique relationship between continuous glycemic parameters and systemic metabolism (Prins et al.).

Sub-acute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE) is a chronic, progressive neurodegenerative disorder, commonly seen in measles-endemic countries leading to progressive neuronal loss and death. Currently, there is no proven cure for this devastating disease. Ibrahim and Farooq evaluated 12 children whoes low glycemic index diet (LGIT) was started with a confirmed diagnosis of SSPE. Seven (58.3%) children showed a >50% reduction in myoclonic jerks with three (25%) having a 100% reduction. LGIT may play an effective role in the management of SSPE.

Glioblastoma Multiforme is an aggressive brain cancer affecting children and adults frequently resulting in a short life expectancy. The analysis revealed several limitations of the ketogenic diet as an intervention. The effectiveness is more robust in mice than in human studies. Furthermore, tolerability is marginally supported in human studies requiring more reproducible research to validate that the intervention is manageable and effective in patients with glioblastoma (Clontz). Mast cell tumors (MCT) are common neoplasms in dogs and are similar to most other malignant cancers in requiring glucose for growth, regardless of histological grade. Ketogenic metabolic therapy (KMT) is emerging as a non-toxic nutritional intervention for cancer management in animals and humans alike. Seyfried et al. reported the case of a 7 years-old Pit Bull terrier that presented in 2011 with a cutaneous mast cell tumor under the right nostril. The resolution of the tumor in this canine patient could have been due to the diet-induced energy stress and the restriction of glucose-driven aerobic fermentation that is essential for the growth of most malignant tumors.

In summary this Research Topic support that ketogenic diet therapies are effective and safe treatment for many diseases and is promising as an individualized treatment.

Author contributions

AÜ: Writing—review and editing. BÜ: Writing—review and editing. EA: Writing—review and editing.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

3. Kossoff EH, Zupec-Kania BA, Auvin S, Ballaban-Gil KR, Christina Bergqvist AG, Blackford R, et al. Optimal clinical management of children receiving dietary therapies for epilepsy: updated recommendations of the international ketogenic diet study group. *Epilepsia Open.* (2018) 3:175–92. doi: 10.1002/epi4. 12225

Ünalp A, Adalıoğlu E. Precision medicine and pediatric epilepsy. Arch Epilepsy. (2022) 28:48–52. doi: 10.54614/ArchEpilepsy.2022.05657

^{2.} Zhang XD. Precision medicine, personalized medicine, omics and big data: concepts and relationships. *J Pharmacog Pharm.* (2015) 6:1–2. doi: 10.4172/2153-0645.1000e144

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Aycan Ünalp, University of Health Sciences, Türkiye

REVIEWED BY

Alexei Wong, Marymount University, United States Pamela Senesi, University of Milan, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Philip J. Prins ☑ pjprins@gcc.edu Andrew P. Koutnik ☑ akoutnik@ihmc.org

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

RECEIVED 29 October 2022 ACCEPTED 24 January 2023 PUBLISHED 09 February 2023

CITATION

Prins PJ, Noakes TD, Buga A, D'Agostino DP, Volek JS, Buxton JD, Heckman K, Jones DW, Tobias NE, Grose HM, Jenkins AK, Jancay KT and Koutnik AP (2023) Low and high carbohydrate isocaloric diets on performance, fat oxidation, glucose and cardiometabolic health in middle age males. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1084021.

doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1084021

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Prins, Noakes, Buga, D'Agostino, Volek, Buxton, Heckman, Jones, Tobias, Grose, Jenkins, Jancay and Koutnik. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Low and high carbohydrate isocaloric diets on performance, fat oxidation, glucose and cardiometabolic health in middle age males

Philip J. Prins^{1*}, Timothy D. Noakes², Alex Buga³, Dominic P. D'Agostino⁴, Jeff S. Volek³, Jeffrey D. Buxton¹, Kara Heckman⁵, Dalton W. Jones¹, Naomi E. Tobias¹, Holly M. Grose¹, Anna K. Jenkins¹, Kelli T. Jancay¹ and Andrew P. Koutnik^{6*}

¹Department of Exercise Science, Grove City College, Grove City, PA, United States, ²Department of Medical and Wellness Science, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, Cape Town, South Africa, ³Department of Human Sciences, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States, ⁴Department of Molecular Pharmacology and Physiology, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL, United States, ⁵Nebraska Methodist Health System, Omaha, NE, United States, ⁶Human Healthspan, Resilience, and Performance, Institute for Human and Machine Cognition, Pensacola, FL, United States

High carbohydrate, low fat (HCLF) diets have been the predominant nutrition strategy for athletic performance, but recent evidence following multi-week habituation has challenged the superiority of HCLF over low carbohydrate, high fat (LCHF) diets, along with growing interest in the potential health and disease implications of dietary choice. Highly trained competitive middle-aged athletes underwent two 31-day isocaloric diets (HCLF or LCHF) in a randomized, counterbalanced, and crossover design while controlling calories and training load. Performance, body composition, substrate oxidation, cardiometabolic, and 31-day minute-byminute glucose (CGM) biomarkers were assessed. We demonstrated: (i) equivalent high-intensity performance (@~85%VO2max), fasting insulin, hsCRP, and HbA1c without significant body composition changes across groups; (ii) record high peak fat oxidation rates (LCHF:1.58 \pm 0.33g/min @ 86.40 \pm 6.24%VO_{2max}; 30% subjects > 1.85 g/min); (iii) higher total, LDL, and HDL cholesterol on LCHF; (iv) reduced glucose mean/median and variability on LCHF. We also found that the 31-day mean glucose on HCLF predicted 31-day glucose reductions on LCHF, and the 31-day glucose reduction on LCHF predicted LCHF peak fat oxidation rates. Interestingly, 30% of athletes had 31-day mean, median and fasting glucose > 100 mg/dL on HCLF (range: 111.68-115.19 mg/dL; consistent with prediabetes), also had the largest glycemic and fat oxidation response to carbohydrate restriction. These results: (i) challenge whether higher carbohydrate intake is superior for athletic performance, even during shorter-duration, higher-intensity exercise;

 (ii) demonstrate that lower carbohydrate intake may be a therapeutic strategy to independently improve glycemic control, particularly in those at risk for diabetes;
(iii) demonstrate a unique relationship between continuous glycemic parameters and systemic metabolism.

KEYWORDS

high fat diet, low-carbohydrate, high-carbohydrate, fat oxidation, carbohydrate oxidation, prediabetes

Introduction

From 1896 to 2008, athletes competing in the Olympics demonstrated trends for increased carbohydrate intake in 1976 and a predominant shift toward high-carbohydrate low-fat (HCLF) diets in the 1996 Olympic games (1-3). This shift in athlete food preference toward carbohydrates was cited to be driven by (i) increased user consciousness of healthy food choice to optimized performance (1, 4, 5); (ii) the importance of muscle glycogen as the preferable metabolic fuel during exercise of either high intensity or long duration low intensity (6-12) following the emergence of muscle biopsy techniques in 1960s (13); (iii) anaplerotic theory in which depleted muscle glycogen attenuates mitochondrial oxaloacetate concentrations and thus reduced mitochondrial capacity to oxidize fatty acids (14); (iv) multiple studies illustrating carbohydrate ingestion delayed or reversed fatigue by maintaining blood glucose homeostasis (15-17); (v) "cross-over effect" (18-20) in which exercise of increasing intensity becomes increasingly dependent on carbohydrate oxidation since fat oxidation effectively ceases at any exercise intensity $\geq 85\%$ VO_{2max} (18-22); (vi) clinical trials of high-fat diets resulting in impaired performance in both recreational (23) and elite athletes (i.e., Olympic class) (24-26).

Countering this evidence is a growing body of data demonstrating that extended habituation to a low-carbohydrate high-fat (LCHF) diet can shift the "cross-over" set-point in favor of greater fat oxidation, even at much higher intensities [(< 85% VO_{2max}); (27, 28)], and dramatically increase the rates of peak fat oxidation at moderate intensities (i.e., 60% VO_{2max}) (29). Rates of fat oxidation during exercise across these LCHF studies are amongst the highest yet measured (24, 25, 28, 30–32) even though they were measured during progressive exercise to exhaustion (e.g., minutes), rather than more prolonged exercise (e.g., hours). These studies opened key questions of whether performance-equivalence would still hold (i) if exercise intensity was increased (i.e., running trial 800-1,609 m) and (ii) if high-intensity interval sessions would facilitate more muscle glycogen depletion in those habituated to LCHF which would become more apparent as the number of intervals increased.

Paramount to both athletes and the general population is the potential health and disease implication of their dietary choice, particularly as individuals advance in age. Multiple studies have illustrated beneficial shifts in glucose, insulin, hemoglobin A_{1c} (Hb A_{1c}), inflammation, and oxidative stress biomarkers, along with proposed alterations in diabetes, cancer, neurological, and other disease clinical outcomes resulting from LCHF diets and their resulting metabolite shifts (33–40). While there is evidence for optimism, some dating back over a century (36, 38), there has been a call for more high-quality evidence (41). Thus, leveraging a

randomized within-subject controlled cross-over design in middleaged competitive athletes, we sought to rigorously address these gaps and evaluate the effects of 4-week habituation to either an LCHF or HCLF diet while controlling calories and training volume across groups on (i) high-intensity short duration exercise performance, (ii) body composition, (iii) metabolite oxidation rates at graded exercise intensities, and the (iv) continuous glycemic, insulin and overall cardiometabolic biomarker changes which accompanied these multiweek dietary patterns. We hypothesized that LCHF habituation would result in reduced high-intensity exercise performance. Interestingly, without changes in calories or training load, or significant changes in body composition across groups, the results found herein challenge the current superiority of high-carbohydrate diets (even during high-intensity exercise) for performance, illustrate record high rates of fat oxidation, demonstrate unique and consistent changes in continuous glucose which predict systemic fat oxidation rates, and a surprising incidence of glycemic values consistent with pre-diabetes phenotype in this middle-aged competitive athlete cohort during high carbohydrate consumption which was therapeutically addressed with carbohydrate restriction (Figure 1).

Materials and methods

Experimental design

Highly trained competitive middle-aged athletes underwent two 31-day isocaloric diet periods (HCLF or LCHF) in a randomized (www.randomizer.org), counterbalanced, crossover design with a two-week washout period between dietary interventions without feeding limitations. We assessed both diets while controlling calories and training load. Primary outcomes were performance, substrate oxidation during exercise, continuous glucose and cardiometabolic biomarkers. Each subject visited the laboratory on ten separate occasions, performing testing before (PRE) and at the completion (POST) of each 31-day dietary intervention (Figure 2). Visit one and two consisted of a familiarization of measurement instruments, equipment, perceptual measurements (42, 43), consent, VO₂max test (31), and continuous glucose monitoring (CGM; Freestyle Libre 2, Abbott Diabetes Care Inc; Almeda, CA) sensor application. Onemile [1,609 m] running time trial (TT) and repeated sprint protocol (RSP; 6×800 m) were performed twice on each dietary intervention (Pre and Post). One-mile TT was performed on Day -4 and Day 28. Three days later, subjects performed the RSP on Day -1 and Day 31. Gas exchange and perceptual changes were recorded throughout each performance trial Pre and Post each dietary intervention.



Low and high carbohydrate isocaloric diets on performance, fat oxidation, glucose and cardiometabolic health in middle age males. Highly trained competitive middle-aged male athletes underwent two 31-day isocaloric diets (HCLF or LCHF) in a randomized, counterbalanced, and crossover design while controlling calories and training load. Performance, body composition, substrate oxidation, cardiometabolic, and 31-day minute-by-minute glucose (CGM) biomarkers were assessed. We demonstrated: (i) equivalent high-intensity performance (@~85%VO2max), fasting insulin, hsCRP, and HbA1c without significant body composition changes across groups; (ii) record high peak fat oxidation rates (LCHF:1.58 \pm 0.33g/min) at 86.40 \pm 6.24%VO2max with 30% subjects > 1.85g/min; (iii) higher total, LDL, and HDL cholesterol on LCHF; (iv) reduced glucose mean, median, and variability on LCHF. We also found that the 31-day mean glucose on HCLF predicted 31-day glucose reductions on LCHF, and the 31-day glucose reduction on LCHF predicted LCHF peak fat oxidation rates. 30% of athletes had 31-day mean, median and fasting glucose > 100mg/dL on HCLF (range:111.68-115.19 mg/dL; consistent with pre-diabetes), also had the largest glycemic and fat oxidation response to carbohydrate restriction. CHO, Carbohydrate; HCLF, High-Carbohydrate Low-Fat Diet; HDL-C, High Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol; LCHF, Low-Carbohydrate High-Fat Diet; *R*- β -Hydroxybutyrate; RER, Respiratory Exchange Ratio.

Body composition and cardiometabolic parameters were measured Pre and Post each dietary intervention. Capillary and interstitial metabolite concentrations were measured throughout each 31-day dietary intervention period. Testing sessions were conducted at the same time of day in an environment with controlled temperature and humidity (19-21 ⁰C, humidity = 35-40%) within the Exercise Science Laboratory of Grove City College. The experimental protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Grove City College prior to implementation (IRB number 110-2021).

Subjects

Ten middle-aged competitive distance runners (Figure 2) were recruited directly from local running organizations and by advertising within the local community. Inclusion and exclusion criteria were screened utilizing medical history/Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire (PAR-Q). Inclusion criteria included: (1) 30 to 50-years old males; (2) completion of one-mile (1,609 meter) run in under seven minutes; (3) running ≥ 20 miles (32 kilometers) per week; (4) > 2 years of running experience; (5) currently consuming a carbohydrate-based diet (> 50% kcals). Exclusion Criteria included: (1) cigarette smoker; (2) metabolic or cardiovascular disease, (3) orthopedic, musculoskeletal, neurological, and/or any medical conditions that prohibit exercise; (4) psychiatric disorder; (5) pharmaceutical drugs affecting measurement parameters. Subjects were prohibited from using any ergogenic aids/supplements one month prior to study initiation to study completion. Subjects were instructed to refrain from caffeine and alcohol consumption for 48 h, and racing or training for 24 h before each performance test.

Dietary interventions

Using direct counseling and prepared educational handouts, a registered dietitian taught and guided each athlete prior to the experimental phase on how to implement the LCHF and HCLF diets at home. Instructional handouts included: (i) summary of key aspects of each diet, (ii) 31-day LCHF and HCLF meal plan but were advised to use this meal plan as a guide rather than a strict protocol; (iii) detailed guide on acceptable low-carbohydrate foods as well as a recommended list of nutritious fat and protein-rich foods. The primary macronutrient targets for LCHF and HCLF were expressed as both a percentage of total daily energy intake and daily gram intake: LCHF: < 50 g/day carbohydrate, 75–80% fat, 15–20% protein; HCLF: 60–65% carbohydrate, 20% fat, 15–20% protein (**Table 1**). Additionally, the LCHF group was recommended to supplement their diets with added salt to taste at mealtime and supplement 1-2 g/day of sodium from bouillon cubes, or homemade broth (44).

Weekly energy intake and relative macronutrient distribution were monitored and estimated via 3-day weighed food records, capturing two consecutive weekdays and a weekend day via the online smartphone application, MyFitnessPal. Subjects used digital kitchen scales to measure the weights of food portions for total energy intake estimates. Researchers administrated subject's MyFitnessPal user accounts and therefore had the ability to assess and modify the subject's macronutrient and micronutrient intake throughout the intervention (45). A two-week recovery macrocycle was incorporated between each dietary intervention without dietary restriction.

Verification of compliance to the LCHF diet was done via capillary blood ketone concentrations on days 3, 7, 14, 21, and 28 before ingesting breakfast and exercising. Capillary blood ketone concentrations (R- β -hydroxybutyrate; Precision Xtra, Abbott



FIGURE 2

Experimental timeline and participant characteristics. Highly trained middle-aged male runners (n = 10) underwent a battery of tests throughout the study. The Pre-diet study tasks included familiarization with the study protocol, time trial (TT) practice runs, VO2max assessment, and continuous glucose monitor (CGM) application for measurement of interstitial fluid glucose (visits 01 and 02). Ketones (R- β -hydroxybutyrate) and lactate were analyzed enzymatically using finger-sticks. All participants were assessed for body composition changes; metabolic, physiological, and perceptual assessments (M/P/PR); venous blood draws; ketone/glucose/lactate measurements; one mile TT; and repeat sprint protocol (RSP; 6×8000) from visit 03 through 06. Diet order was randomized and balanced to explore the between/within-participant cross-over effects. Once a first diet was completed, subjects crossed over to the other dietary treatment and repeated visits 03 through 06 (i.e., visits 07 through 10). The table illustrates the mean (SD) participant age, anthropometry, and training status variables collected at visit 01. TT = time trial; RSP = repeated sprint protocol; LCHF = high-carbohydrate/low-fat diet; M/P/PR = metabolic, physiological, and perceptual. Figure was created with BioRender.com.

Diabetes Care Inc., Almeda, CA) was also measured immediately before and after the LCHF diet by the primary researcher. The results from the dietary intake and ketone measurements enabled the registered dietician to individually fine-tune participants' diets, if necessary, via phone or email, thus ensuring continuous nutritional ketosis while on the LCHF diet.

Physical activity monitoring

Participants were instructed to maintain a training log (mode, duration, and intensity of each workout) during the study intervention without increasing or decreasing the training load (46). Training load was calculated by using the session-RPE method (RPE x session duration [min]) (47).

Body mass and body composition monitoring

Participants reported to the laboratory at least \geq 3 h postprandial, refraining from exercise for 48 h. The measurements of body mass were performed on a medical scale with a precision of 0.1 kg. Body composition was evaluated using the electrical impedance technique (Tanita[®] MC-980U, Tanita Corporation, Inc., Tokyo, Japan).

Maximal exercise testing

On the second visit, subjects performed an incremental test to exhaustion on a motorized treadmill (Trackmaster TMX425C treadmill, Newton, KS) utilizing the modified Astrand treadmill

TABLE1 Dietary composition.

Variable	LCHF	HCLF	P-value
Energy (kcal/day)	2545.3 ± 503.6	2595.7 ± 443.1	0.785
Carbohydrate (g)	40.9 ± 8.7	384.7 ± 65.3	< 0.001
Protein (g)	141.0 ± 26.0	110.6 ± 20.8	0.010
Fat (g)	198.2 ± 45.2	67.6 ± 17.6	< 0.001
Carbohydrate (%)	7.98 ± 3.49	63.2 ± 3.88	< 0.001
Protein (%)	26.7 ± 7.32	17.7 ± 2.61	0.001
Fat (%)	64.4 ± 9.33	18.4 ± 6.12	< 0.001
Cholesterol (mg)	839.7 ± 193.8	180.9 ± 66.2	< 0.001
Fiber (g)	13.7 ± 6.51	31.2 ± 5.71	< 0.001
Sugar (g)	13.1 ± 4.09	129.1 ± 37.1	< 0.001

Participant dietary composition on low-carbohydrate high-fat (LCHF) and high-carbohydrate low-fat (HCLF) diets were captured using a 3-day food records including 1 weekend day using MyFitnessPal. Paired t-tests were conducted on 31-day averages. Every comparison was significant between-diet difference for energy intake. Every other variable demonstrated significant differences. n = 10. Values are Mean \pm SD.

protocol. The treadmill was calibrated before each exercise test according to the manufacturer's instructions. Oxygen consumption (VO₂) and carbon dioxide production (VCO₂) was assessed using an automated metabolic analyzer system (TrueOne 2400, ParvoMedics, Sandy, UT) calibrated prior to each exercise test using standard calibration gases (16% O2 and 4% CO2). Subjects wore a Polar heart rate monitor (Polar Electro, Kempele, Finland) during exercise to measure heart rate. After a thorough explanation of the experimental procedures, each subject was instructed to walk on the treadmill for 3 min as a warm-up at a self-selected speed (0% grade). Immediately following the 3-min warm-up, the speed was increased to 8-13 km.hr⁻¹ for 3 min (0% grade) to achieve the subjects' comfortable running pace. After 3 min of running at 0% grade, the grade was increased 2.5% every 2 min throughout the test protocol while speed was kept constant. At the end of the test, the highest VO2 value recorded during the last 30 seconds of exercise was considered the subject's VO_{2max} (48). Some or all of the following criteria were used to determine if a physiologically valid VO_{2max} had been attained: (a) a plateau in VO₂ with increasing exercise intensity (< 150 ml/min or < 2.1 ml/kg/min), (b) a respiratory exchange ratio (RER) of ≥ 1.1 , (c) and volitional termination due to exhaustion.

One-mile time trial

Participants arrived at the laboratory in the morning at least \geq 3 h post-prandial and performed a one-mile TT on a motorized treadmill (TMX425C treadmill, Trackmaster, Newton, KS, USA). Subjects performed a warmup run consisting of 5 min at 45% VO_{2max} followed by 5 min at 65% VO_{2max} (10 min total). After a 5-min passive rest period, subjects then initiated the one-mile TT (1,609 m). Prior to the TT, the treadmill was brought to a standstill (0 km.hr^{-1}) , all timing devices were reset, the distance covered on the treadmill monitor was reset, a 5-s count down was given, and the TT began. Each TT commenced with a 30-second rolling start at a running speed approximating 80% VO2max, after which subjects could freely adjust their speed. Running speed and time was not visible to subjects during the TT. Subjects were verbally informed of the distance they had covered at 200m intervals. The treadmill gradient was set to 1% throughout the exercise (49). Subjects were instructed to finish the TT as fast as possible and were not informed of the overall performance time until completion of the final testing session. Heart rate (Polar Electro, Kempele, Finland), RPE (RPE-Overall; RPE-Chest; RPE-Legs) and affect (Feeling Scale) were recorded at 200 m intervals during the TT. Lastly, RPE and affect for the entire exercise session (session RPE and session affect) were obtained 5 min following the one-mile TT. Expired respiratory gases were continuously collected during the entire time trial and capillary blood was collected Preand Post-TT.

Repeated sprint performance

Participants arrived at the laboratory in the morning at least ≥ 3 h post-prandial. Upon arrival to the laboratory subjects completed a 10 min self-paced warm-up on the treadmill. The RSP prolonged high intensity interval protocol was chosen because it requires a high level of aerobic oxidative, as well as anaerobic glycolytic contributions (50). The RSP was performed on a treadmill and consisted of 6×800 m

(0.5 miles) sprints, with a three-minute passive recovery interval. Subjects were instructed to finish each 800 m sprint as fast as possible. The time it takes to complete each sprint was recorded. No feedback on sprint times was given to the participants during trials. Verbal encouragement was provided during maximum effort sprints in a standardized fashion throughout each visit. Heart rate, blood samples, RPE, affect, and metabolic gases were collected throughout.

Respiratory gas exchange

Respiratory gas exchange was recorded using an automated metabolic analyzer system (TrueOne 2400, ParvoMedics, Sandy, UT, United States). Prior to each experimental session, the device was calibrated using procedures according to manufacturer instructions. The breath-by-breath measurements were performed for oxygen uptake (VO₂), carbon dioxide production (VCO₂), and respiratory exchange ratio (RER) and was measured continuously throughout trials (one-mile TT and RSP). The average values for VO₂ (L/min) and VCO₂ (L/min) were calculated over the last minute of each 2-min exercise stage in the maximal exercise test, and each minute of the one-mile TT. Whole-body rates (g/min) of CHO and fat oxidation were calculated using intensity dependent equations that assume negligible protein contribution to energy expenditure (51).

Blood metabolites

Blood samples were measured via fingertip blood samples collected using a lancet following cleaning of the fingertip with an alcohol swab and then dried. The first droplet was wiped away with a cotton swab to remove any alcohol and the subsequent droplets were used for analysis. Samples were immediately processed for measurement of blood lactate (Lactate Plus, Nova Biomedical), ketones (R- β -hydroxybutyrate; Precision Xtra, Abbott Diabetes Care Inc., Almeda, CA) and glucose (Precision Xtra, Abbott Diabetes Care Inc., Almeda, CA) concentrations.

Biochemical assays

Blood samples were collected using a validated dried blood spot (DBS) card technique (52). DBS cards were allowed to dry for 30 min, and then stored at -30° C prior to shipment to ZRT CLIA-approved Laboratory (Beaverton, OR) for immunoassay analyses as previously described (52, 53). DBS were assayed for HbA_{1c}, total cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), very low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (VLDL-C), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), triglycerides, insulin, and highsensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP). Dried blood spot testing has shown a strong correlation with conventional serum tests, making it a reliable and convenient tool for screening cardiometabolic risk factors (52).

Continuous glucose monitoring

Participants' interstitial glucose concentrations were measured throughout each 31-day dietary intervention via CGM (Freestyle Libre 2, Abbott Diabetes Care Inc; Almeda, CA) utilizing Levels, Inc., mobile application software to capture glucose response and trends in real-time (Levels Health, Levels, Inc., New York, New York). CGM tracks long-term to HbA1c (54-56), short term CGM readings (10-14d) are good estimates of 3-month CGM averages (57), and (iii) CGM can also capture both fasting and post-prandial differences in glucose (validated diagnostic tools). Participants were instructed to apply a 14-day sensor to the back of the arm following the manufacturer's written instructions and demonstration video. Participants were instructed to place it in the same location throughout. CGM subcutaneous sensor measured interstitial glucose values every 15 min which was transmitted using near-field communications. Participants obtained their glucose values after scanning for up to 8 h of data. All 24-hour CGM readings were included into daily and 31-day statistics. All CGM sensors were obtained in batch to control for any potential manufacturing discrepancies across different sensor batches.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 26.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL), and MATLAB 2022a (MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA). Statistical significance was set a priori at p < 0.05. Descriptive statistics were calculated for all variables. Normality and absence of large outliers were verified by using the Shapiro-Wilks test, observing the normality plots, and residual plots. Repeated measure analyses of variance (ANOVA) were utilized to assess physiologic, metabolic, respiratory, perceptual, and performance time, treatment, and interaction effects. Bonferroni post hoc was utilized to control for multiple comparisons when main effects were observed. A paired samples t-test was used to analyze differences in macronutrient composition and 31-day glycemic variable averages between the two dietary interventions. A one-way repeated measures analysis of variance was used to analyze differences over time for training load. The assumption of sphericity was confirmed using Mauchly's test. Greenhouse-Geisser epsilon corrections were used when the sphericity assumption was violated. Partial-eta squared $(\eta 2p)$ was used to report the effect sizes for the above metrics, where appropriate. Simple linear regression analyses were run to determine the relationship between glycemic, substrate oxidation, and biochemical parameters. Slope intercept (y = mx + b), r^2 , and p values represent best-fit equation, the goodness of fit, and slope significantly non-zero values, respectively. To avoid (58) assumptions of normality in continuous data, a kruskal Wallis (KW) test with Dunn's correction for multiple comparisons was utilized to determine differences across the entire 24 h circadian window for the all data in the 31d CGM response window. Time points every 4th h across the entire 24 h period were included in the statistical comparison, corresponding to \sim 1 point maximum per ultradian cycle (59, 60). All data are reported as Median \pm SD, with exception of circadian glucose patterns presented as Median, 25th, and 75th percentile. Sample size (n = 10) was determined based on prior studies where one-mile TT performance differences were observed using dietary interventions in elite runners which was adjusted for the expected increase in one-mile TT performance time variance across cohort in non-elite athletes (61).

Results

Dietary and exercise adherence

Daily dietary nutrient intakes are summarized in **Table 1**. All participants (n = 10) completed all the required study duties. The energy intake between LCHF and HCLF treatments remained isocaloric. Significant differences were detected for every diet composition variable, notably for carbohydrate and fat intake. LCHF consumed less absolute and relative carbohydrates compared to HCLF, largely driven by the 10-fold reduction in simple sugars and approximately one-half the dietary fiber. Conversely, LCHF consumed significantly more dietary fat and cholesterol, both as absolute and relative amounts, compared to HCLF. While attempts were made to control protein intake across groups, athletes consumed an extra 31 grams of protein during the LCHF treatment (p < 0.01), likely due to the close association between dietary fat and protein.

Average capillary R- β HB (mean \pm SD: 0.76 \pm 0.04 mM; range: 0.3 – 2.2 mM) during LCHF increased significantly from baseline and remained within the range of nutritional ketosis (\geq 0.5 mM R- β HB) throughout the intervention (**Figure 3**).

There were no significant differences for weekly training load, either within- or between dietary phases (Table 2).



Daily capillary ketones. *y*-axis values ≥ 0.5 mM define a range characterized as nutritional ketosis. The dotted line denotes the low carbohydrate high fat (LCHF) *R*-beta-hydroxybutyrate (*R*- β HB) mean. Eight out of ten participants consistently remained in nutritional ketosis throughout the LCHF intervention, whereas two participants were marginally below threshold. One-Way ANOVA revealed that there were no significant time effects from day 3 and thereafter, meaning that ketosis was rapidly induced and maintained over four-weeks. *n* = 10.

Body composition data

Participants started each diet at similar weight and body composition. There were no significant treatment or interaction effects for weight or body composition during either LCHF or HCLF (**Table 3**). Overall changes in weight and body composition on each diet were similar. Significant time effects were detected for weight and BMI in both LCHF and HCLF treatments. Approximately ~80% of weight loss composition was derived from fat mass (Δ : 1.8 ± 0.6 kg; p = 0.05) in 4:1 ratio fat:fat-free mass, while the remaining portion of weight loss was derived non-significantly from fat-free mass (Δ : 0.6 ± 0.2 kg).

Physiological, metabolic, respiratory, perceptual, and performance data collected during the one-mile time trial

All 10 participants completed the treadmill one-mile time trial (1,609 m) at a self-selected pace before initiating either diet. No significant baseline (Pre) differences were observed across physiological, metabolic, respiratory, perceptual, or performance parameters. Significant differences were detected within-diet and between-treatments at the post-timepoint (Table 4).

Within-diet, LCHF mean respiratory exchange rate (Δ : -0.08 ± 0.02; -6%), and mean carbohydrate oxidation (Δ :-1.06 ± 0.36 g/min; -20%) decreased significantly from Pre to Post, whereas heart rate (Δ : 4 ± 1 bpm; 3%) and mean fat oxidation (Δ : 0.44 ± 0.16 g/min; 190%) increased significantly from pre to post (all p < 0.05). The significant decrease in respiratory exchange rate from Pre to Post-LCHF revealed a decrease in carbohydrate reliance (91 to 73%) and an increase in fat utilization (9 to 27%). Additionally, these effects were corroborated by the absolute (g/min) carbohydrate and fat oxidation rates, which revealed that for every 1 g/min decrease in carbohydrate oxidation there was an expected 0.42 g/min of increase in fat oxidation during LCHF. There were no significant changes in substrate oxidation and respiratory exchange rate detected pre- to post-HCLF.

Significant interactions revealed that Post-LCHF athletes had a higher heart rate (Δ : 6 ± 2 bpm), mean fat oxidation rate (Δ : 0.62 ± 0.21 g/min), mean respiratory rate (Δ : 1.0 ± 0.3 bpm), and a lower carbohydrate oxidation rate (Δ : 1.75 ± 0.60 g/min) compared to Post-HCLF (all p < 0.05).

Physiological, metabolic, espiratory, perceptual, and performance data collected during the repeated sprint protocol

All 10 participants completed the treadmill series of 6-sets of 800m sprints at a self-selected pace. Before each dietary phase there were no significant differences in physiological, metabolic, respiratory, perceptual, or performance parameters. Additionally, neither diet influenced repeated sprints running performance post-diet intervention (Table 5 and Figure 4).

During RSP, LCHF induced very high rates of fat oxidation which peaked at 1.58 \pm 0.33g/min during 86.40 \pm 6.24%VO_{2max} (range: 0.99 to 2.01 g/min) compared to 0.69 \pm 0.24g/min on HCLF during 79.67 \pm 3.15%VO_{2max} (range: 0.32 to 1.13 g/min). Interestingly, 30% of the subjects on LCHF had peak fat oxidation rates > 1.85 g/min (1.95 \pm 0.08 g/min; range: 1.86 to 2.01 g/min). To our knowledge, these are the highest rates of fat oxidation ever recorded. Withindiet, LCHF mean respiratory exchange rate (Δ :-0.06 \pm 0.02; -7%),

TABLE 2 Training load.

	Diet treatment	Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4	Grand mean	Within-diet effect (P-value)	Between-diet effect (P-value)
Training Load (RPE x min)	LCHF	2928 ± 2057	2543 ± 2172	2343 ± 1822	2143 ± 1917	2489 ± 2425	0.14	0.94
	HCLF	2077 ± 1161	2630 ± 1507	2489 ± 1669	2503 ± 1488	2425 ± 1398	0.18	

Weekly training load were captured on low carbohydrate high fat (LCHF) and high carbohydrate low fat (HCLF) diets. 2 (Treatment) x 4 (Time) ANOVA revealed no significant differences in training load. n = 10. Values are Mean \pm SD. RPE, rate of perceived exertion. LCHF = low-carbohydrate/high-fat diet; HCLF = high-carbohydrate/low-fat diet.

TABLE 3 Body composition.

Variable	LCHF				HCL	:	<i>P-value</i> ; η 2p			
	Pre Day –4	Post Day 28	Change Mean (95% CI)	Pre Day –4	Post Day 28	Change Mean (95% CI)	Treatment	Time	Interaction	
Mean data										
Weight (kg)	85.2 ± 12.5	$81.9\pm10.9^{\#}$	-3.2 (5.2, 1.3)	84.8 ± 10.2	$83.4\pm9.4^{\#}$	-1.4 (3.4, -0.6)	0.676; 0.020	0.012 ; 0.519	0.071; 0.318	
BMI (kg/m ²)	25.6 ± 2.23	$24.7\pm1.99^{\#}$	-0.89 (1.5, 0.2)	25.7 ± 2.38	$25.3\pm1.84^{\#}$	-0.44 (1.0, -0.1)	0.379; 0.087	0.017 ; 0.487	0.165; 0.202	
Body Fat (%)	14.5 ± 4.80	11.9 ± 3.90	-2.5 (5.2, -0.2)	13.3 ± 5.14	13.0 ± 3.84	-0.26 (1.5, -1.0)	0.938; 0.001	0.080; 0.302	0.104; 0.267	
Fat Mass (kg)	12.7 ± 5.26	$9.99\pm3.97^{\#}$	-2.7 (5.3, 0.0)	11.5 ± 5.00	$10.7\pm4.02^{\#}$	-0.78 (-2.2, 0.7)	0.849; 0.040	0.050 ; 0.363	0.127; 0.239	
Fat Free Mass (kg)	72.5 ± 8.69	71.9 ± 8.74	-0.61 (2.3, -1.1)	73.3 ± 8.21	72.7 ± 8.15	-0.63 (1.6, -0.4)	0.111; 0.258	0.256; 0.140	0.976; 0.000	

Body composition was assessed using bioelectrical impedance pre and post low-carbohydrate/high-fat (LCHF) and high-carbohydrate/low-fat diet (HCLF). 2 (Treatment) x 2 (Time) Repeated Measures ANOVA demonstrated no differences across treatments. A main effect of time was observed within LCHF and HCLF treatments for weight, body mass index (BMI) and fat mass (FM), and a trend in body fat percentage. Fat free mass (FFM) did not change over time. No significant interaction effects were observed, although trends were observed across LCHF and HCLF for weight (kg; p = 0.071). n = 10. Mean \pm SD.

[#] = significant difference for Pre vs. Post within-diet ($p \le 0.05$). Bold values represent the p < 0.05.

TABLE 4 One-mile time trial performance, gas exchange, and perception.

Variable		LCHF			HCLF			<i>P-value</i> ; η 2p		
	Pre Day -4	Post Day 28	Change Mean (95% CI)	Pre Day –4	Post Day 28	Change Mean (95% CI)	Treatment	Time	Interaction	
Time (sec)	381.4 ± 30.6	$367.1 \pm 37.5^{\#}$	-14.3 (26.4, 2.2)	374.1 ± 38.6	$374.0 \pm 31.5^{\#}$	-0.10 (11.1, -10.9)	0.958; 0.000	0.009 ; 0.553	0.159; 0.208	
Mean Carbohydrate Oxidation (g/min)	5.22 ± 1.07	$4.16\pm1.48^\dagger$	-1.06 (1.8, 0.3)	5.50 ± 2.14	5.91 ± 1.07	0.4 (0.7, -1.5)	0.099; 0.273	0.335; 0.103	0.028 ; 0.433	
Mean Fat Oxidation (g/min)	0.23 ± 0.29	$0.67 \pm 0.45^{\# \star \dagger}$	0.44 (-0.3, -0.6)	0.21 ± 0.29	$0.05 \pm 0.11^{\#}$	-0.15 (0.32, -0.01)	0.023 ; 0.454	0.029 ; 0.427	0.001 ; 0.756	
Heart Rate (b.min-1)	168.8 ± 8.7	$173.4 \pm 8.8^{\# \star \dagger}$	4.46 (-0.8, -8.2)	167.7 ± 10.8	167.1 ± 11.1	-0.59 (4.2, -2.9)	0.003 ; 0.644	0.145; 0.220	0.040 ; 0.389	
Mean VO ₂ (ml/kg/min)	50.2 ± 5.63	52.9 ± 6.84	2.72 (0.5, -5.9)	48.4 ± 8.98	50.0 ± 6.19	1.67 (2.7, -6.0)	0.070; 0.319	0.116; 0.252	0.651; 0.024	
Mean VO ₂ (L/min)	4.23 ± 0.44	$4.34 \pm 0.66^{*}$	0.11 (0.1, -0.3)	4.03 ± 0.62	$4.17 \pm 0.62^{*}$	0.14 (0.2, -0.5)	0.013 ; 0.516	0.257; 0.140	0.869; 0.003	
Mean VCO ₂ (L/min)	4.13 ± 0.46	3.97 ± 0.64	-0.15 (0.4, -0.1)	4.05 ± 0.82	4.24 ± 0.61	0.19 (0.3, -0.7)	0.580; 0.035	0.904; 0.002	0.119; 0.249	
Mean V _E (L/min)	122.5 ± 13.4	123.6 ± 18.5	1.13 (6.1, -8.4)	116.8 ± 16.9	123.4 ± 15.0	6.67 (7.3, -20.6)	0.296; 0.120	0.332; 0.105	0.396; 0.081	
Mean RR (bpm)	41.7 ± 6.47	43.9 ± 5.83	2.19 (-0.1, -4.3)	42.0 ± 3.98	42.9 ± 6.52	0.93 (3.0, -4.9)	0.712; 0.016	0.154; 0.212	0.534; 0.045	
Mean RER	0.97 ± 0.05	$0.91\pm0.07^{*\dagger}$	-0.06 (0.10, 0.01)	1.00 ± 0.09	$1.01 \pm 0.05^{*}$	0.01 (0.03, -0.06)	0.045 ; 0.376	0.110; 0.259	0.021 ; 0.466	
Session RPE	7.40 ± 1.64	7.90 ± 1.59	0.5 (0.3, -1.3)	7.60 ± 1.42	7.70 ± 1.49	0.1 (0.8, -1.0)	1.000; 0.000	0.081; 0.300	0.574; 0.036	
RPE-O	6.70 ± 1.14	6.72 ± 1.02	0.02 (0.4, -0.5)	6.64 ± 0.89	6.69 ± 1.09	0.05 (0.5, -0.6)	0.871; 0.003	0.868; 0.003	0.897; 0.002	
Session affect	-0.10 ± 2.96	-0.30 ± 2.98	-0.2 (0.5, -0.1)	0.00 ± 3.01	-0.50 ± 2.87	-0.50 (2.1, -1.1)	0.935; 0.001	0.322; 0.109	0.703; 0.017	
Affect	0.04 ± 2.16	$0.51 \pm 1.93^{\#}$	0.47 (0.15, -1.1)	0.41 ± 1.73	$0.79 \pm 1.76^{\#}$	0.38 (0.2, -1.0)	0.379; 0.087	0.017 ; 0.487	0.852; 0.004	

One-mile time trial performance, gas exchange, and perception metrics were gathered pre and post-low carbohydrate high fat (LCHF) and high carbohydrate low fat treatments. n = 10. Mean ± SD. RPE-O = RPE for overall body; RPE = rating of perceived exertion (OMNI rating of exertion); RER = Respiratory exchange ratio; VO₂ = oxygen consumption; VCO₂ = carbon dioxide production; VE = ventilation; RR = Respiratory Rate; LCHF = low carbohydrate high fat diet; HCLF = high carbohydrate low fat diet. [#] = significant difference from Pre vs. Post ($p \le 0.05$).

* = significant difference between treatment ($p \le 0.05$); [†] = significant difference between LCHF and HCLF at Post ($p \le 0.05$). Bold values represent the p < 0.05.

Prins et al.

TABLE 5 Repeated sprint protocol performance, gas exchange, and perception.

Variable	LCHF		HCLF <i>P-value</i> ; η 2				<i>P-value</i> ; ղ 2p	þ		
	Pre Day –1	Post Day 31	Change Mean (95% CI)	Pre Day –1	Post Day 31	Change Mean (95% CI)	Treatment	Time	Interaction	
Total time (sec)	1267.0 ± 90.3	1236.1 ± 69.2	-30.9 (84.9, -23.1)	1267.1 ± 93.3	1254.0 ± 101.2	-13.1 (32.2, -6.0)	0.695; 0.018	0.064; 0.331	0.556; 0.040	
Mean carbohydrate oxidation (g/min)	3.13 ± 1.08	$1.44 \pm 0.84^{\# \star \dagger}$	-1.69 (2.7, 0.7)	3.66 ± 1.19	$3.66 \pm 0.52^{\# \star}$	-0.00 (0.8, -0.8)	0.004 ; 0.611	0.011 ; 0.532	0.023 ; 0.456	
Mean fat oxidation (g/min)	0.75 ± 0.36	$1.44 \pm 0.41^{\# \star \dagger}$	0.69 (-0.3, -1.1)	0.61 ± 0.31	$0.53 \pm 0.22^{\#*}$	-0.08 (0.4, -0.2)	0.002 ; 0.683	0.012 ; 0.526	0.007 ; 0.577	
Heart rate (b.min-1)	160.5 ± 9.2	163.2 ± 13.5	2.64 (2.7, -8.0)	162.0 ± 7.6	159.6 ± 8.4	-2.44 (5.0, -0.2)	0.700; 0.017	0.931; 0.001	0.125; 0.242	
Mean VO ₂ (ml/kg/min)	45.8 ± 5.75	48.9 ± 3.89	3.09 (-0.3, -5.9)	46.4 ± 8.02	46.1 ± 5.15	-0.31 (3.8, -3.2)	0.457; 0.063	0.259; 0.139	0.070; 0.320	
Mean VO ₂ (L/min)	3.87 ± 0.41	3.99 ± 0.41	0.12 (0.1, -0.3)	3.86 ± 0.49	3.80 ± 0.50	-0.06 (0.3, -0.2)	0.366; 0.091	0.662; 0.022	0.191; 0.182	
Mean VCO ₂ (L/min)	3.34 ± 0.39	3.20 ± 0.35	-0.14 (0.5, -0.2)	3.53 ± 0.57	3.50 ± 0.42	-0.03 (0.3, -0.2)	0.083; 0.297	0.388; 0.084	0.504; 0.051	
Mean V _E (L/min)	107.0 ± 10.4	106.8 ± 11.3	-0.18 (5.0, -4.7)	106.9 ± 13.0	106.7 ± 10.2	-0.24 (8.7, -8.2)	0.960; 0.000	0.918; 0.001	0.990; 0.000	
Mean RR (bpm)	40.8 ± 7.51	39.7 ± 6.88	-1.08 (2.6, -0.5)	40.3 ± 7.82	40.7 ± 7.38	0.41 (2.1, -2.9)	0.796; 0.008	0.627; 0.027	0.272; 0.132	
Mean RER	0.86 ± 0.05	$0.80 \pm 0.04^{\# \star \dagger}$	-0.06 (0.15, 0.05)	0.91 ± 0.05	$0.92 \pm 0.04^{\# \star}$	0.01 (0.0, -0.1)	0.001 ; 0.716	0.005 ; 0.596	0.010 ; 0.536	
Session RPE	7.20 ± 1.03	7.10 ± 1.37	-0.10 (0.8, -0.6)	7.10 ± 0.99	7.60 ± 1.26	0.50 (0.0, -1.0)	0.534; 0.044	0.399; 0.080	0.081; 0.300	
RPE-O	7.16 ± 0.93	6.87 ± 1.08	-0.29 (0.7, -0.1)	6.91 ± 0.84	7.16 ± 0.75	0.25 (0.3, -0.8)	0.927; 0.001	0.894; 0.002	0.095; 0.279	
Session affect	0.50 ± 2.55	$0.00 \pm 2.75^{\#}$	-0.50 (1.1, -0.1)	0.30 ± 3.05	$-0.10 \pm 3.07^{\#}$	-0.40 (1.1, -0.3)	0.678; 0.020	0.041 ; 0.386	0.823; 0.006	
Affect	0.16 ± 2.52	0.18 ± 2.59	0.02 (0.8, -0.9)	0.34 ± 2.45	-0.01 ± 2.57	-0.35 (0.9, -0.2)	0.984; 0.000	0.347; 0.099	0.507; 0.050	

Repeated sprint protocol performance, gas exchange, and perception after low carbohydrate high fat (LCHF) and high carbohydrate low fat (HCLF) treatments. LCHF lowered mean carbohydrate and respiratory exchange ratio, and lowered mean fat oxidation but remained unchanged pre to post-HCLF. Both LCHF and HCLF lowered session affect. n = 10. Mean \pm SD. Total time = time to complete all sprints; RPE-O = RPE for overall body; RPE = rating of perceived exertion (OMNI rating of exertion); RER = Respiratory exchange ratio; VO₂ = oxygen consumption; VCO₂ = carbon dioxide production; RE = Respiratory Rate; LCHF = low carbohydrate high fat diet; HCLF = high carbohydrate low fat diet.

[#] = significant difference from Pre vs. Post ($p \le 0.05$).

* = significant difference between treatment ($p \le 0.05$); [†] = significant difference between LCHF and HCLF at Post ($p \le 0.05$). Bold values represent the p < 0.05.



FIGURE 4

Repeated sprint running performance. Diet did not significantly alter running times between or within treatments. There was a main effect of time for running performance reflected in higher running split time at set 3, 4, and 5 during pre-diet phase. Post-diet phase showed significant increase in split time during set 4 and 5 only. n = 10. Mean \pm SD. LCHF = low-carbohydrate/high-fat diet; HCLF = high-carbohydrate/low-fat diet.^{#,##} are p < 0.05 and 0.01 significantly different from Set 1, respectively.

and mean carbohydrate oxidation (Δ :-1.69 \pm 0.57 g/min; -54%) decreased significantly from pre to post, whereas mean fat oxidation (Δ : 0.69 \pm 0.23 g/min; 92%) increased significantly from pre to post (all p < 0.05). The significant decrease in respiratory exchange rate indicated decreased carbohydrate reliance (53 to 35%) toward fat utilization (47 to 65%). Additionally, the absolute carbohydrate and fat oxidation rates (g/min) demonstrated that for every 1 g/min decrease in carbohydrate oxidation there was 0.41 g/min increase in fat oxidation. No significant Pre-Post changes were detected within-HCLF (Figure 5 and Supplementary Table 1).

There was a trend for greater mean relative VO₂ consumption (p = 0.07) and lower rate-of-perceived exertion, both as overall body RPE-O (p = 0.095) and session RPE (p = 0.08), when comparing post-LCHF to post-HCLF. This increased relative oxygen consumption after LCHF is largely explained by weight-loss, and partly explained by the non-significant increase in heart rate (i.e., greater cardiac output) and fat oxidation, altogether increasing tissue demand for oxygen and thereby augmenting relative VO₂.

Blood metabolite data

One-mile time trial (TT; 1,609 m)

Prior to dietary intervention, capillary blood R-βHB was below the limit of nutritional ketosis pre-diet and pre-TT (mean \pm SD: 0.2 ± 0.1 mmol/L) and remained unaltered pre-diet post one-mile TT across groups. Post-LCHF treatment significantly increased R-BHB from baseline $(0.21 \pm 0.11 \text{ vs. } 0.67 \pm 0.30 \text{ mmol/L } R-\beta \text{HB}; p < 0.001)$. *R*-βHB concentrations demonstrated a slight decrease after exercise, however, the effect was non-significant ($\Delta = -0.14 \pm 0.10 \text{ mmol/L}$; p = 0.23).

Capillary blood glucose concentrations were similar Pre- and Post-diet between LCHF and HCLF treatments (LCHF average: $87.4 \pm 9.6 \text{ mg/dL}$ vs. HCLF average: $90.7 \pm 10.5 \text{ mg/dL}$; p = 0.27) Pre-one-mile TT. There was a main effect of time observed Post one-mile TT that raised blood glucose from baseline (89.1 \pm 10.0 to $126.8 \pm 20.2 \text{ mg/dL}; + 42\%; p < 0.001$), independent of diet.

Capillary blood lactate before the one-mile TT was at the same concentration Pre- and Post-diet in both LCHF and HCLF treatments (LCHF average: 1.1 \pm 0.5 vs. HCLF average: 1.3 \pm 0.7 mmol/L; p = 0.48). There was a main effect of time induced by exercise that increased blood lactate significantly from baseline (1.2 \pm 0.6 to $8.0 \pm 2.4 \text{ mg/dL}; + 557\%; p < 0.001$), independent of diet (Figure 6 and Supplementary Table 2).

Repeated sprint protocol (RSP; 6 x 800 m)

Capillary blood *R*-βHB was below the limit of nutritional ketosis Pre-diet and Pre-RSP (0.14 \pm 0.05 mmol/L). LCHF significantly increased R-BHB into nutritional ketosis compared to pre-diet concentrations (0.19 ± 0.12 vs. 0.72 ± 0.73 mmol/L; 279%; p < 0.001) whereas HCLF did not meaningfully influence R-BHB. Over the course of the RSP, R-BHB decreased by approximately 0.05 mmol/L between sets and was significantly lower from Pre- to Post-RSP $(\Delta = -0.26 \pm 0.09 \text{ mmol/L}; p = 0.001)$, denoting increased ketone oxidation rates after every sprint.

Capillary blood glucose concentrations Pre-diet and Pre-RSP (99.9 \pm 6.2 mg/dL) increased significantly by set 5 $(106.2 \pm 25.7 \text{ mg/dL}; p = 0.012)$ and Post $(107.2 \pm 26.4 \text{ mg/dL};$ p = 0.006). There was a treatment-dependent effect that revealed lower blood glucose levels during LCHF diet compared to HCLF diet $(\Delta = -8.5 \pm 3.8 \text{ mg/dL}; 8\%; p = 0.03).$

Capillary lactate concentrations Pre-diet and Pre-RSP $(1.2 \pm 0.9 \text{ mmol/L})$ increased significantly after set 1 (4.6 \pm 2.2 mmol/L; p = 0.001) and thereafter. Peak lactate concentrations (6.0 \pm 2.8 mmol/L; p = 0.001) were recorded at set 6 (i.e., post-set). Diet did not significantly influence the rate of lactate appearance in the blood nor peak lactate (Figure 7 and Supplementary Table 3).

Cardiometabolic indices

There were no significant changes over time in any of the variables of interest (Figure 8 and Supplementary Table 4). Betweencondition effects reveal higher total cholesterol (Δ : 20.7 ± 3.3 mg/dL; p = 0.001) and LDL-C (Δ : 10.7 ± 4.6 mg/dL; p = 0.03) after LCHF. Interaction effects revealed total cholesterol (Δ : 29.5 \pm 6.3 mg/dL; p = 0.007) and HDL-C (Δ : 11.4 \pm 3.3 mg/dL; p = 0.045) were significantly greater Post-diet on LCHF treatment.



Glycemic control

All glycemic parameters significantly improved on LCHF (Figures 9, 10). Average glucose was significantly lower during LCHF treatment starting day 8, and remained lower on day 13, 15-20, and 22 (Figure 9). 31-day mean and median glucose levels were reduced -15.0% (range: -34.3 to 0.7%; p = 0.0057) and -15.2% (range: -33.2% to 0.4%; p = 0.0058) on LCHF treatment, respectively. 31-day time in range (70-110 mg/dL) increased 35.4% (range: 1.1 to 122.3%), standard deviation reduced -34.9% (range: -57.5 to 5.7%), and coefficient of variance reduced -25.4% (range: -41.0 to 12.4%) on LCHF. 31-day daily glucose minimum and maximums were also reduced on LCHF. 31-day median glucose was significantly lower throughout fasting (00:00 to 07:00) and feeding (07:01 to 23:59) windows (*p* = 0.004; Figure 10). Interestingly, 30% of subjects had 31-day mean and median glucose (mean glucose range: 111.7-115.2 mg/dL; Figure 9) and fasting glucose > 100 mg/dL (Figure 10) throughout HCLF treatment, which is consistent with prediabetes glycemic values (62). These subjects were also the greatest responders to carbohydrate restriction (range: -21.5 to -34.3% mean glucose). When observing whether there was a significant relationship between the mean glucose while on HCLF versus the percentage change in mean glucose between LCHF and HCLF, we observed a significant (p = 0.0077) interaction with a large effect size $(r^2 = 0.6094)$ indicating that those individuals with a higher mean glucose, are more responsive to carbohydrate restriction treatment (Figure 9). Importantly, 30% of subjects who had a 31-day average mean, median, and fasting glucose > 100 mg/dL on HCLF (range: 111.68-115.19 mg/dL), were also the largest glycemic responders to carbohydrate restriction and also reported the highest fat oxidation rates during LCHF, with a large inverse relationship (p = 0.0069; $r^2 = 0.6194$) across the entire cohort between the percent change in mean glucose when switching to LCHF and the peak fat oxidation rate at 86.4% VO_{2max} indicating that those individuals with the greatest change in glycemic control also had the greatest shift in global metrics of systemic metabolic adaptation to diet. To explore whether peak fat oxidation rates on LCHF were associated with circulating lipids, we found that higher peak fat oxidation (p = 0.0034; $r^2 = 0.6775$) predicted higher total cholesterol, with trends for triglycerides (p = 0.0730; $r^2 = 0.3474$; X = Peak Fat Oxidation on LCHF; Y = Triglycerides on LCHF; $Y = 29.06^*X + 24.62$), suggesting a potential relationship between changes in fat oxidation rates and circulating lipid metabolism. These findings in the 30% of subjects with pre-diabetes in our study could not be explained by



underlying demographic, body composition or running experience as these subjects with glycemic values consistent with pre-diabetes (62) had near equivalent age (pre-diabetic: 41.67 y/o; cohort: 39.3 y/o), running experience (pre-diabetic: 8.67 y; cohort: 9.70 y), lower weight (pre-diabetic: 84.03 kg; cohort: 86.70 kg), BMI (prediabetic: 25.37 kg/m²; cohort: 26.2 kg/m²), body fat [% (prediabetic: 14.8%; cohort: 15.7%) & kg (pre-diabetic: 12.7 kg; cohort: 14.1 kg)], and relative VO_{2max} (pre-diabetic: 60.97 mL/kg/min; cohort: 58.70 mL/kg/min). Additionally, this prediabetic phenotype was present in these subjects despite them losing weight on both nutritional strategies (LCHF: -2.3 ± 1.3 kg; HCLF: -2.1 ± 3.2 kg).

Discussion

There are four key findings of this study (Figure 1). (i) Athletes achieved equivalent exercise performances during a 1,609 m time trial and a 6 \times 800 m interval session after a 31-day habituation to LCHF or HCLF diets when controlling calories, training load, and body composition changes across groups. (ii) During the latter stages of the 6 \times 800m interval session, athletes achieved the highest rates of fat oxidation yet reported. According to current understanding, this is paradoxical since these high rates were measured in subjects exercising at an intensity (86.4 \pm 6.24% VO_{2max}) at which the rate of fat oxidation should be approaching zero (25, 26, 30), not increasing. (iii) 31-days on each diet produced equivalent fasting insulin, hsCRP, and HbA1c, with elevated total, low-density lipoprotein, and highdensity cholesterol on LCHF. (iv) LCHF consistently reduced glucose levels and variability with a large inverse relationship observed between mean glucose on HCLF and the percent change in mean glucose when switching to LCHF. Importantly, 30% of subjects who had a 31-day mean, median, and fasting glucose > 100 mg/dL on HCLF were also the largest responders (i.e., glycemic change over diet and peak fat oxidation rates) to carbohydrate restriction. No subjects on LCHF had a 31-day average mean glucose > 100 mg/dL. Additionally, relationships were observed between glycemic change, peak fat oxidation, and circulating lipids, as the larger the reduction in mean glucose on LCHF the larger the peak fat oxidation on LCHF, and the larger the peak fat oxidation on LCHF and the higher circulating lipids were. These results challenge the existing paradigm that diets with higher carbohydrate intake are superior for athletic performance, even during shorter-duration, higher-intensity exercise. Critically, these results demonstrate that lower carbohydrate intake may be a therapeutic strategy, even in athletes, to improve glycemic control, particularly in those with, or at risk for diabetes, without requiring changes in body composition or physical activity. Interestingly, these results also demonstrate a unique association between glycemic responsiveness to carbohydrate restriction, fat oxidation rates, and circulating lipids, suggesting an important relationship between continuous glycemic parameters and systemic metabolic responsiveness.

Unaltered athletic performance during the 1,609 meter time trial and during the interval session of 6×800 m

Performance during the 1,609 m time trials was the same when athletes ate HCLF or LCHF diets. This is in keeping with our previous study (31) in which the 5-km time trial performances of athletes, similar in ability to those studied here, were equivalent on either diet. It adds further weight to the conclusions from two recent metaanalyses (63, 64) that that LCHF and HCLF diets produce equivalent performances across a wide range of athletic events.

Further, to search for a performance difference between dietary interventions, we asked the athletes to perform an interval session involving six repetitions of 800m at a pace equivalent to an exercise



intensity of ~85% VO_{2max}. Our reasoning was that if the preexercise muscle glycogen stores are a critical determinant of exercise performance and if the LCHF diet is associated with lower muscle glycogen concentrations in recreational athletes (28) (but perhaps not in highly competitive athletes (65)), and since very high rates of muscle glycogen use are measured during 800m repetitions (66) so that, if significant muscle glycogen depletion can be produced by a high intensity interval session, then any impaired performance of athletes eating the LCHF diet should become apparent in the latter intervals of that session.

For example, Impey et al. reported rates of muscle glycogen use of 12.7 and 7.0 mmol/min in the gastrocnemius and vastus lateralis muscles respectively of recreational male athletes performing 800m repetitions at 100% VO_{2max} (66). Webster et al. reported that preexercise vastus lateralis glycogen concentrations were 85 mmol/kg in well-trained recreational athletes eating the LCHF diet (28). Whilst appreciating that rates of muscle glycogen use are reduced in those eating the LCHF diet (28, 65), according to these data a starting muscle glycogen concentration of 85 mmol/kg in the vastus lateralis muscle would be depleted after just 12 minutes of high intensity exercise. Our athletes exercised for ~21 minutes during the 6 × 800m repetitions; sufficient time to produce substantial glycogen depletion.

In contrast to our expectation, based on this prediction that significant muscle glycogen depletion would occur in athletes following the LCHF diet and this would impair their performance,



* = p < 0.05 between-diet main effect. † = significant interaction Post-diet (p < 0.05).

in fact exercise performance was identical across all the intervals on either diet (Tables 4, 5; Figure 4 and Supplementary Table 1).

These finding raise the important question of why our two studies have failed to detect diet-induced differences in performance whereas prior meticulously conducted studies (16-18) detected meaningful differences in their studies of Olympic standard race walkers. Five key factors may have contributed to these differences: randomization, dietary controls during exercise, training load, body composition, and dietary habituation timeline. Prior studies with differing results allowed subjects to choose the diet they preferred (16-18). In addition, during the final performance trial involving simulated races of up to 25-km, subjects on the LCHF diet were provided with carbohydrate-free "non-caloric fluid (water or artificially sweetened drinks)" (16) and "LCHF cookies" (17) whereas subjects on the HCLF diet received "sports drink, sports gels and confectionary" providing "~60g CHO" every hour (16, 17). As a result, blood glucose levels were lower in the LCHF group in the two trials (16, 17) in which it was measured, with a trend toward a progressive hypoglycemia in one trial [figure 5A from (17)]. As the authors of those studies appreciate, even in the absence of hypoglycemia, carbohydrate ingestion alone can have an ergogenic effect even if the carbohydrate is not ingested (67). Thus, these trials did not control for the potential effects of carbohydrate ingestion during exercise. The potential role of hypoglycemia in explaining differences in exercise performance has recently been revisited (29). The intensified training load and across group differences in body composition in these trials (16-18) also illustrates key differences as increased physical activity levels (68) and body weight reductions (69) both illustrate biological stressors requiring adaptation and may independently impact performance. The increased physical activity across groups and more significant reductions in bodyweight in LCHF arm (16-18), on top of introducing a diet which requires systemic metabolic reprogramming (70), illustrate three co-administered biological stressors all requiring adaptions and which may influence performance. Lastly, our analyses allowed for a 4-week adaptation timeline, which is \geq 33% longer than prior trials describing negative performance impacts (16–18). Thus, it is not surprising that when we controlled randomization (within-subject), dietary controls during performance testing, calories, training load, and body compositional changes across groups to allow for the isolation of diet-induced changes across these key parameters, we observed different results from prior observations (16–18). Of note, when Burke et al. (16) attempted to repeat their findings (18), they did not detect differences between LCHF and HCLF in real world race performance via IAAF points [figure 5C from; (16)], a point acknowledged by the authors in the abstract.

Subjects achieved amongst the highest rates of fat oxidation yet measured during the latter stages of the interval session when eating the LCHF diet

The described method for measuring maximal rates of fat oxidation during exercise is to have subjects exercise for short periods of approximately 3 minutes at exercise intensities that gradually increase (22–24). Using this method, the highest rates of fat oxidation are generally achieved at submaximal exercise intensities of between 55-72% VO_{2max}. Maximal rates of fat oxidation measured with this method are usually in the range of 0.5-0.6 g/min. Importantly, at higher exercise intensities rates of fat oxidation fall precipitously, reported reaching 0% at exercise intensities > 85% VO_{2max}.

Higher rates of fat oxidation have been measured in athletes adapting to the LCHF diet. Volek et al. measured rates of 1.2 g/min in elite ultra-marathon runners performing prolonged exercise (180 minutes) at 64% VO_{2max} with peak fat oxidation of 1.54 g/min



at 70.3% VO_{2max} (65). Webster et al. measured identical values in well-trained recreational athletes during 120 minutes' exercise at 55% of peak power output (28); whereas Burke et al. measured rates in excess of 1.4-1.5 g/min during the final km of 25-km time trials in Olympic class race walkers (16, 17). In a case study of an elite Ironman triathlete, Webster et al. reported a peak fat oxidation rate of 1.6 g/min in a single cyclist for the full duration of a 100-km cycle trial performed at an average power output of 224 W (28, 71). Shaw et al. demonstrate fat oxidation ranging from 0.88 to 1.51 g/min following 31-day of LCHF habituation (72). Our data is in line with these prior studies showing elevated fat oxidation rates (LCHF: 1.58 ± 0.33 g/min).

Thus, the values for fat oxidation rates measured in these recreational athletes are unusually high, particularly when they were measured under experimental conditions expected to produce values close to 0g/min. However, what is particularly unique in our findings is that we observed the peak fat oxidation rates (LCHF: 1.58 ± 0.33 g/min) at 86.40 \pm 6.24% VO_{2max}. Additionally, 30% of subjects reported record high fat oxidation rates > 1.85 g/min (1.95 \pm 0.08 g/min), ranging from 1.86 to 2.01 g/min, which to our knowledge is the highest rates ever recorded. These unique

findings may be a result of subject age and athletic status and/or due to the unique controls incorporated into this study to isolate dietinduced effects (i.e., randomization, calories, training load, and body composition changes controlled across groups).

Cardiometabolic impact of LCHF and HCLF

Three out of eight cardiometabolic markers were significantly modulated by diet, most notably post-diet LCHF vs. HCLF total cholesterol (238 vs. 208 mg/dL, 14%; p = 0.007) and HDL-C (68 vs. 57 mg/dL, 20%; p = 0.045) concentrations. Although the overall LDL-C condition effect was significant (p = 0.03), the LCHF diet did not increase LDL-C concentrations beyond HCLF after fourweeks (155 vs. 137 mg/dL; 18% p = 0.30), implying that postdiet hypercholesterolemia effects were predominantly determined by changes in HDL-C fraction. We anticipated based on our prior work (73) and others (65, 74, 75) that competitive runners would experience significant blood lipid changes within weeks after starting a LCHF designed to induce nutritional ketosis (≥ 0.5 mM R- β HB).



The significant main effects in this study were directly attributable to the between-diet differences in dietary fat and fat composition, however, the fact that more than half of participants had borderline elevated total cholesterol, LDL-C, and HDL-C at baseline was somewhat unexpected. While carryover effects were ruled out by identical concentrations at baseline (i.e., both conditions started the same), this effect may have indirectly revealed that a peak or plateau had not been reached over our four-week intervention, making blood lipid trends harder to speculate. Moreover, it is unclear if similar dietary interventions in mildly hypercholesterolemic athletes will exert any significant impact on cardiometabolic indices that are beyond the effects induced by their habitual diet. Individual cardiometabolic responses are available for review in the supplement (Supplementary Figure 1).

We detected a small, but significant change in weight over time, primarily derived from fat mass. Despite energy intake and training load being similar between LCHF and HCLF diets, weightloss and diet did not modulate triglycerides, insulin/HbA_{1c}, and inflammation (hsCRP). Based on prior evidence (73, 76) the LCHF diet was projected to lower cardiometabolic markers beyond a HCLF diet, even in the absence of weight-loss (77); however, we did not observe these results with our between-diet isocaloric feeding design. Additionally, it is important to acknowledge that HbA_{1c} is a 2–3-month biomarker that we quantified to predict directional trends rather than significant changes over four weeks. Based on our findings, we expect that these markers will continue decreasing after four-weeks of LCHF, similar to isocaloric HCLF feeding when duration, energy intake, and weight are controlled between conditions.

Improved glycemic control when eating the LCHF diet

Continuous glucose monitors are unique tools which allow researchers to extract changes in glycemic control every ≤ 15 min over extended periods of time without relying on the limitations at a single timepoint which may only provide limited biological feedback (78, 79). Importantly, (i) CGM tracks long-term with HbA1c (54-56), (ii) shorter term CGM readings (10-14d) are good estimates of 3-month CGM averages (57), and (iii) can also capture both fasting and post-prandial differences in glucose (validated diagnostic tool) demonstrating a powerful monitoring tool for glycemic control, particularly in interventions not long enough to confirm alterations in HbA_{1c} (< 2-3 months in length). The value of these tools has been shown in previous observations utilizing lower carbohydrate (80) or ketogenic interventions (81) where continuous glucose patterns found key shifts in glycemic control before and/or in the absence of changes in traditional biochemical cardiometabolic biomarkers. When measuring continuous glucose levels every 15 min over a 31-day period, we observed improvements across all glycemic parameters in virtually all subjects on the LCHF diet, with initial significant differences in mean glucose observed on day 8 of dietary habituation. Carbohydrate restriction is a known therapeutic strategy

to help facilitate improvements in glycemic control and other key metabolic parameters in other clinical conditions such as obesity (82), type-1 diabetes (36), and type-2 diabetes (33, 35). The improved glycemic mean, median, and variability on the LCHF diet in middleaged athletes was observed in a rigorous, randomized cross-over study design without the confounding influence of caloric, training load/physical activity, and body composition differences across diets. These illustrate critical controls allowing us to extract diet-induced impact on glycemic parameters as prior observations have shown that caloric intake and changes in body weight both influence glucose levels regardless of diet (83, 84). Additionally, prior evaluations have found that intensified training programs can disrupt not only glycaemia and mitochondrial function, but also performance (68).

While there have been small short-term investigations exploring glycemic control during exercise in athletes (79, 85), very few studies have investigated the relationship between the long-term (i.e., ≥ 1 month) 24-h glycemic control while also observing performance. Nolan et al. reported the impact of a ketogenic diet on an individual type-1 diabetic cyclist during a 20-day, 4011-km race (86). This case report demonstrated remarkable glycemic control for a Type-1 Diabetic compared to historical glycemic norms for Type-1 Diabetics during this 20d race window, but nature of the report did not allow for the comparison of performance on- and off-diet.

While all subjects were "healthy," with normal bodyweight and BMI, and competitive middle-aged athletes without any medical diagnoses, we observed that when continuously monitoring glucose parameters over a 31-day period, 30% of subjects on a HCLF diet had mean, median, and fasting BG > 100 mg/dL, consistent with prediabetes interstitial glucose values using analogous technology (62). This is consistent with a prior analysis which found that 30% of subelite endurance athletes exercising > 6-hour per week had undetected pre-diabetes when measured via continuous glucose monitoring devices (87). These subjects fitting the pre-diabetes glycemic phenotype in our study could not be explained by underlying demographics, body composition or physical activity differences as these pre-diabetic subjects had near equivalent age (pre-diabetic: 41.67 y/o; cohort: 39.3 y/o), running experience (pre-diabetic: 8.67 y; cohort: 9.70 y), lower weight (pre-diabetic: 84.03 kg; cohort: 86.70 kg), BMI (pre-diabetic: 25.37 kg/m2; cohort: 26.2 kg/m²) and body fat [% (pre-diabetic: 14.8%; cohort: 15.7%) & kg (prediabetic: 12.7 kg; cohort: 14.1 kg)], and higher VO_{2max} (pre-diabetic: 60.97 mL/kg/min; cohort: 58.70 mL/kg/min) when compared to the entire cohort. This is in line with the understanding that multiple factors contribute to diabetes onset (88, 89), some of which may go undetected until overt diagnosis. Potential explanations for early pathogenic progression of diabetic dysglycemia include genetic predisposition, adiposity-induced insulin resistance, fasting insulin, and beta-cell dysfunction (88). However, markers of elevated adiposity were not higher in the prediabetic group. In fact, this sub-cohort lost weight on both dietary protocols. Additionally, circulating lipids tended to be lower on the HCLF diet suggesting lipids could not explain dysglycemia on HCLF. Fasting insulin was not different across diet groups, nor were baseline or post-HCLF diet fasting insulin levels associated with elevated mean glucose on HCLF (p = 0.4048). However, this does not exclude the possibility that dynamic changes in post-prandial insulin or beta-cell function couldn't be contributing to this effect which we did not measure herein. While intense exercise overtraining has also been demonstrated to acutely disrupt mitochondrial and glycemic function (68), this dysfunction was reversed following reduction in activity and cannot explain our results as our subjects did not increase or decrease physical activity levels. While genetic predisposition may explain why 30% of healthy, active and normal weight individuals had pre-diabetes on HCLF, it cannot explain across treatment effects as the crossover design controlled for this variable. Our results demonstrate that all these subjects were able to reduce their mean and median glucose < 100 mg/dL on LCHF diet. While prior observations have demonstrated the ability to improve glycemic control in individuals with established pre-diabetes and obesity in the absence of exercise consumed a low-carbohydrate diet (< 100 g carbohydrates/day) (62), to our knowledge, this is the first observation to demonstrate the ability to detect and resolve pre-diabetes without changes in activity or changes across groups in body composition using carbohydrate restriction in competitive middle aged athletes. Importantly, Al-Ozairi et al. found that a 6-day LCHF diet in Type-2 Diabetic subjects who kept calories and bodyweight controlled were unable to find differences in mean and post-prandial glycaemia utilizing CGM devices (90). This could be due to the short treatment duration as we observed significant differences on day 8 of the isocaloric HCLF and LCHF diets. Alternatively, it may be explained by the influence of engaging in physical exercise regularly as Moholdt et al. found a 5% reduction in mean glucose levels using CGM without changes in bodyweight following a 5-day lower carbohydrate diet (i.e., 15% kcal carbohydrates) and exercise in obese subjects who were of similar age to our cohort (80). Our larger reduction in mean (15%) and median glucose (15.2%) compared to Moholdt's (5%) is likely explained by Moholdt's higher percentage of carbohydrate (15%), shorter duration of diet (5-days), and different metabolic phenotype in their cohort (i.e., sedentary; $BMI > 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$). Our observation of consistent improvements in glycaemia in middleaged athletes (30% pre-diabetic glycemic phenotype), without impairing performance, illustrates a promising therapeutic strategy for improving glycemic control, without requiring body composition and physical activity change.

Higher mean glucose levels predict glycemic response to carbohydrate restriction, glycemic response to carbohydrate restriction predicts peak fat oxidation, and peak fat oxidation predicts circulating lipids

Our study found that 30% of subjects who had a 31-day average mean and median glucose > 100 mg/dL on HCLF (range: 111.68 – 115.19 mg/dL; pre-diabetic phenotype), were also the largest glycemic responders to carbohydrate restriction. Importantly, when looking to observe if the entire cohort also observed a relationship between 31-day average mean glucose on HCLF diet and percentage change in mean glucose between LCHF and HCLF diet, we observed a large significant inverse relationship, indicating that those individuals with a higher mean glucose, are more responsive to carbohydrate restriction treatment, not just those with pre-diabetic glycemic phenotypes. As our study and prior literature suggests this change is in response to diet and not other factors (i.e., calories, body composition, altered activity levels, cardiometabolic factors), thus indicating that as individuals develop increasing levels of mean BG, they may become more responsive to therapeutic carbohydrate

10.3389/fnut.2023.1084021

restriction. Interestingly, the 30% of subjects who had a 31-day average mean and median glucose > 100 mg/dL on HCLF (range: 111.68 - 115.19 mg/dL; pre-diabetic phenotype), also reported the highest fat oxidation rates during LCHF, with a large inverse relationship ($r^2 = 0.6194$; p = 0.0069) across the entire cohort between the percent change in mean glucose when switching to LCHF and the peak fat oxidation rate at 86.4% VO2max indicating that those individuals with the greatest change in glycemic control also had the greatest shift in global metrics of systemic metabolic adaptation to diet. While multiple studies have shown reductions in glucose (35, 80, 83) and elevations in fat oxidation (16-18, 28, 31, 91) on a LCHF diet, we are unaware of any data which has demonstrated that the magnitude of glycemic changes across diet predicted the magnitude of peak fat oxidation rates. Interestingly, we also observed that higher peak fat oxidation levels on LCHF predicted higher total cholesterol on LCHF suggesting a potential interaction between higher rates of fat turnover and higher levels of circulating lipids while on a diet that restricts carbohydrates and increases fat intake. While elevated fat oxidation rates have been observed on LCHF diet in the absence in changes of insulin or calories, explained by elevated fat intake, (91), they did not see a change in glucose levels nor did they explore whether the magnitude of fat oxidation rate was associated with glucose or lipid parameters. In line with our data, there has been a report demonstrating that individuals with healthy bodyweight undergoing a LCHF diet can have elevated circulating lipid (i.e., LDL-C) (92). While this prior observation did not look at either total cholesterol or fat oxidation rates, in light of our data, there remains a possibility that these individuals (92), have elevated levels of systemic fat oxidation which requires further analyses. However, in disagreement with these findings we did not observe a relationship between fat oxidation and LDL, a relationship between baseline Trig/HDL predict LDL-C, nor any LDL-C levels "hyperresponders" (LDL-C: > 200 mg/dL) which indicates our findings may not translate to this unique cohort (92). The ability for (i) 31-d mean glucose on HCLF to predict changes in mean glucose following carbohydrate restriction, (ii) changes in mean glucose with carbohydrate restriction to predict peak oxidation rates, and (iii) peak fat oxidation to predict total cholesterol suggests a unique predictable physiologic relationship between glycemia, substrate oxidation, and circulating lipids biomarkers which requires further validation.

Limitations

This study had middle-aged competitive male athletes which may limit our understanding of the translatability of these findings to female athletes due to potential differences across sex on the magnitude of metabolic response (93–95), particularly for those women in middle age during pre-menopause and post-menopause who may benefit most due to elevated risk for cardiovascular and metabolic disease (96, 97). While our short-duration high-intensity exercise (6 × 800 m) would be sufficient to reduce muscle glycogen content based on prior work, (28, 65, 66) we did not measure muscle glycogen content so we cannot say for certain what levels of muscle glycogen were achieved and if they were associate with elevated fat oxidation levels during exercise. While HbA_{1c} is gold-standard for diagnosing diabetic phenotype due to its established role in diabetes, our dietary intervention was 4 weeks in length, an insufficient time to observe the full diet-induced impact on HbA_{1c} which requires a minimum of 8-12 weeks (98, 99). We utilized CGM to capture the 4-week 24-h glycemic control as (i) CGM tracks long-term to HbA1c (54-56), (ii) shorter term CGM readings (10-14d) are good estimates of 3-month CGM averages (57), and (iii) can also capture both fasting and post-prandial differences in glucose which is a validated diagnostic tool (Figures 9, 10). Although limitation have been cited when looking different CGM technology and different insertion sites, both technology and insertion site were controlled in our analyses (100). However, it is important to note the clear limitation of HbA1c and oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) in our present analyses and why CGM was the primary glycemic metric. It is well-established that for a given HbA_{1c} value, there is a wide-range of mean glucose concentrations, and for any given mean glucose concentration, there is a wide-range of HbA1c values, suggesting some limitation around this biomarker (101). Thus, some expert consensus has argued for moving beyond just HbA1c at the individual levels (102). Additionally, it has been known for decades that OGTT is inappropriate for individuals not adhering to an HCLF diet as this test was only validated under high-carbohydrate consumption (103). While we feel confident that our 24-h 4-week glycemic values across subjects accurately capture the glycemic impact over our study duration, future studies with benefit from longer dietary interventions 2-3 m in duration to capture changes in HbA_{1c}.

Conclusion

We demonstrated that a habituating to a LCHF for \geq 4weeks in 30 to 50-years old competitive male athletes resulted in equivalent short duration, high-intensity performance without differences in calories, training load, and body composition across groups. We observed record high peak oxidation rates with elevations in cholesterol in LCHF. Interestingly, we found a 30% incidence of pre-diabetic glycemic phenotype in seemingly healthy athletes consuming a high carbohydrate diet without detectable risk factors for pre-diabetes. All individuals experienced reductions in 31-day average glucose means, median, and variability with carbohydrate restriction (LCHF) which resolved the pre-diabetic phenotype across all subjects without requiring caloric restriction, increased physical activity, or significant changes in body composition across groups. Interestingly, the average glucose during high carbohydrate consumption predicted the degree of glycemic response to carbohydrate restriction suggesting that individuals with higher starting glucose may benefit most from carbohydrate restriction. Surprisingly, we also found that the magnitude of glucose reduction during carbohydrate restriction predicted the elevation in fat oxidation rates during exercise suggesting that glucose response is linked to systemic fat oxidation. Taken together, LCHF may represent a therapeutic strategy to improve glucose levels, particularly in those at risk for diabetes, without compromising high intensity exercise performance in middle-aged athletes. Future studies should evaluate the impact of these dietary strategies in middle-aged women who are at elevated risk for cardiovascular and metabolic disease.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in this article/**Supplementary material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Board of Grove City College (IRB number 110-2021). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

PP and TN conceived the original study design. PP, JB, DJ, NT, HG, AJ, KJ, and DD'A conducted the participant testing and collected all the data. KH designed the diets and provided the nutritional counseling. PP, AB, and AK conducted the data analysis. PP, TN, AK, and AB drafted the final manuscript. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding

This work was supported by Grove City College Swezey Fund.

Acknowledgments

We thank Levels, Inc., for providing continuous glucose monitors and software for data capture. We also thank Azure D. Grant, Ph.D. for her assistance in organizing continuous glucose monitoring data and developing code for circadian glucose analyses and illustration. We also thank the participants for their vital contribution to this study.

References

1. Pelly F, O'Connor H, Denyer G, Caterson I. Evolution of food provision to athletes at the summer olympic games. *Nutr Rev.* (2011) 69:321–32. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2011. 00396.x

2. Organisationskomitee für Die Xi. Olympiade Berlin 1936. The Official Report of the Xith Olympic Games. Berlin 1936. Berlin: Wilhelm Limpert-Verlag (1936).

3. Schenk P. Bericht ÜBer die verpflegung der Im "olympischen dorf" untergebrachten Teilnehmer an den xi. Olympischen Spielen 1936 zu Berlin. *Die Ernaehrung*. (1937) 2:1–24.

4. Atlanta Committee for the Olympic Games. The Official Report of the Centennial Olympic Games. Volume 1 Planning and Organization. Atlanta, GA: Peachtree (1997).

5. American College of Sports Medicine, American Dietetic Association, Dietitians of Canada. Joint position statement: nutrition and athletic performance. American college of sports medicine, American dietetic association, and dietitians of Canada. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2000) 32:2130–45. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200012000-0 0025

6. Bergstrom J, Hermansen L, Hultman E, Saltin B. Diet, muscle glycogen and physical performance. *Acta Physiol Scand.* (1967) 71:140–50. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.1967. tb03720.x

7. Hermansen L, Hultman E, Saltin B. Muscle glycogen during prolonged severe exercise. *Acta Physiol Scand.* (1967) 71:129–39. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.1967.tb03 719.x

8. Ahlborg B, Bergstrom J, Brohult J, Ekelund LG, Hultman E, Maschio G. Human muscle glycogen content and capacity for prolonged exercise after different diets. *Forsvarsmedicin.* (1967) 3:85–99.

9. Saltin B, Hermansen L. Glycogen Stores and Prolonged Severe Exercise. Uppsala: Almqvist & Wiksell (1967).

10. Karlsson J, Saltin B. Diet, muscle glycogen, and endurance performance. J Appl Physiol. (1971) 31:203–6. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1971.31.2.203

Conflict of interest

TN and JV were authors of low-carbohydrate nutrition books. TN book royalties go to The Noakes Foundation which contributes to the Eat Better South Africa Campaign. JV receives royalties from book sale; is a founder, and has equity in, Virta Health; and is a science advisor for Simply Good Foods and Cook Keto. DD'A is an inventor of patents on the use of exogenous ketones, advisor for Levels Health, Readout Health, and co-owner of Ketone Technologies LLC, which does consulting and public speaking events. AK was a patent inventor and has consulted for Simply Good Foods.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2023.1084021/ full#supplementary-material

11. Conlee R. Muscle glycogen and exercise endurance: a twenty-year perspective. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* (1987) 15:1–28.

12. Vigh-Larsen J, Ortenblad N, Spriet L, Overgaard K, Mohr M. Muscle glycogen metabolism and high-intensity exercise performance: a narrative review. *Sports Med.* (2021) 51:1855–74. doi: 10.1007/s40279-021-01475-0

13. Bergstrom J. Percutaneous needle biopsy of skeletal muscle in physiological and clinical research. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest.* (1975) 35:609–16.

14. Gollnick P. Metabolism of substrates: energy substrate metabolism during exercise and as modified by training. *Fed Proc.* (1985) 44:353–7.

15. Hultman E, Spriet L, Soderlund K. Biochemistry of muscle fatigue. *Biomed Biochim Acta.* (1986) 45:S97–106.

16. Burke L, Ross M, Garvican-Lewis L, Welvaert M, Heikura I, Forbes S, et al. Low carbohydrate, high fat diet impairs exercise economy and negates the performance benefit from intensified training in elite race walkers. *J Physiol.* (2017) 595:2785–807. doi: 10.1113/JP273230

17. Burke L, Whitfield J, Heikura I, Ross M, Tee N, Forbes S, et al. Adaptation to a low carbohydrate high fat diet is rapid but impairs endurance exercise metabolism and performance despite enhanced glycogen availability. *J Physiol.* (2021) 599:771–90. doi: 10.1113/JP280221

18. Burke L, Sharma A, Heikura I, Forbes S, Holloway M, McKay A, et al. Crisis of confidence averted: impairment of exercise economy and performance in elite race walkers by ketogenic low carbohydrate, high fat (Lchf) diet is reproducible. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15:e0234027. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0234027

19. Coyle E. Carbohydrate metabolism and fatigue. In: Allan G, Beliveau L, Bouissou P editors. *Muscle Fatigue. Biochemical and Physiological Aspects*. (Paris: Masson) (1991).

20. Coggan A, Coyle EF. Carbohydrate Ingestion during Prolonged Exercise: Effects on Metabolism and Performance. Holloszy J editor (Baltimore, MD: Williams and Wilkins) (1991).

21. Fitts R. Cellular mechanisms of muscle fatigue. *Physiol Rev.* (1994) 74:49–94. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1994.74.1.49

22. Brooks G, Mercier J. Balance of carbohydrate and lipid utilization during exercise: the "crossover" concept. J Appl Physiol (1985). (1994) 76:2253–61. doi: 10.1152/jappl. 1994.76.6.2253

23. Brooks G. Mammalian fuel utilization during sustained exercise. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol.* (1998) 120:89–107. doi: 10.1016/s0305-0491(98)00025-x

24. Brooks G. Importance of the 'crossover' concept in exercise metabolism. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol.* (1997) 24:889–95. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1681.1997.tb02712.x

25. Achten J, Gleeson M, Jeukendrup A. Determination of the exercise intensity that elicits maximal fat oxidation. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2002) 34:92–7. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200201000-00015

26. Venables M, Achten J, Jeukendrup A. Determinants of fat oxidation during exercise in healthy men and women: a cross-sectional study. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*. (2005) 98:160–7. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00662.2003

27. Havemann L, West S, Goedecke J, Macdonald I, St Clair Gibson A, Noakes T, et al. Fat adaptation followed by carbohydrate loading compromises high-intensity sprint performance. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*. (2006) 100:194–202. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00813. 2005

28. Webster C, Swart J, Noakes T, Smith JA. A Carbohydrate ingestion intervention in an elite athlete who follows a low-carbohydrate high-fat diet. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform.* (2018) 13:957–60. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2017-0392

29. Noakes T. What is the evidence that dietary macronutrient composition influences exercise performance? A narrative review. *Nutrients.* (2022) 14:862. doi: 10.3390/nu14040862

30. Achten J, Jeukendrup A. Maximal fat oxidation during exercise in trained men. *Int J Sports Med.* (2003) 24:603–8. doi: 10.1055/s-2003-43265

31. Prins P, Noakes T, Welton G, Haley S, Esbenshade N, Atwell A, et al. High rates of fat oxidation induced by a low-carbohydrate, high-fat diet, do not impair 5-km running performance in competitive recreational athletes. *J Sports Sci Med.* (2019) 18:738–50.

32. Prins P, Noakes TD, Buxton JD, Welton GL, Raabe AS, Scott KE, et al. High fat diet improves metabolic flexibility during progressive exercise to exhaustion (Vo2max Testing) and during 5 Km running time trials. *Biol Sport.* (2022) 40:465–75.

33. Goldenberg J, Day A, Brinkworth G, Sato J, Yamada S, Jonsson T, et al. Efficacy and safety of low and very low carbohydrate diets for type 2 diabetes remission: systematic review and meta-analysis of published and unpublished randomized trial data. *BMJ.* (2021) 372:m4743. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m4743

34. Weber D, Aminzadeh-Gohari S, Tulipan J, Catalano L, Feichtinger R, Kofler B. Ketogenic diet in the treatment of cancer-where do we stand? *Mol Metab.* (2020) 33:102–21. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2019.06.026

35. Yuan X, Wang J, Yang S, Gao M, Cao L, Li X, et al. Effect of the ketogenic diet on glycemic control, insulin resistance, and lipid metabolism in patients with T2dm: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutr Diabetes*. (2020) 10:38. doi: 10.1038/s41387-020-00142-z

36. Lennerz B, Koutnik A, Azova S, Wolfsdorf J, Ludwig D. Carbohydrate restriction for diabetes: rediscovering centuries-old wisdom. *J Clin Invest.* (2021) 131:e142246. doi: 10.1172/JCI142246

37. Hagihara K, Kajimoto K, Osaga S, Nagai N, Shimosegawa E, Nakata H, et al. Promising effect of a new ketogenic diet regimen in patients with advanced cancer. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:1473. doi: 10.3390/nu12051473

38. Stafstrom C, Rho J. The ketogenic diet as a treatment paradigm for diverse neurological disorders. Front Pharmacol. (2012) 3:59. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00059

39. Field, R, Field T, Pourkazemi F, Rooney K. Low-carbohydrate and ketogenic diets: a scoping review of neurological and inflammatory outcomes in human studies and their relevance to chronic pain. *Nutr Res Rev.* (2022):1–71. doi: 10.1017/S095442242200 0087 [Epub ahead of print].

40. Newman J, Verdin E. Beta-hydroxybutyrate: a signaling metabolite. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (2017) 37:51–76. doi: 10.1146/annurev-nutr-071816-064916

41. Ludwig D. The ketogenic diet: evidence for optimism but high-quality research needed. J Nutr. (2020) 150:1354–9. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxz308

42. Hardy C, Rejeski W. Not what, but how one feels: the measurement of affect during exercise. *J Sport Exerc Psychol*. (1989) 11:304–17. doi: 10.1123/jsep.11.3.304

43. Robertson, R. Perceived Exertion for Practitioners. (Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics) (2004).

44. McSwiney F, Wardrop B, Hyde P, Lafountain R, Volek J, Doyle L. Ketoadaptation enhances exercise performance and body composition responses to training in endurance athletes. *Metabolism.* (2018) 81:25–34. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2017.10.010

45. Laing B, Mangione C, Tseng C, Leng M, Vaisberg E, Mahida M, et al. Effectiveness of a smartphone application for weight loss compared with usual care in overweight primary care patients: a randomized, controlled trial. *Ann Intern Med.* (2014) 161(Suppl. 10):S5–12. doi: 10.7326/M13-3005

46. Prins P, D'Agostino D, Rogers C, Ault D, Welton G, Jones D, et al. Dose response of a novel exogenous ketone supplement on physiological, perceptual and performance parameters. *Nutr Metab (Lond)*. (2020) 17:81. doi: 10.1186/s12986-020-00497-1

47. Foster C, Florhaug J, Franklin J, Gottschall L, Hrovatin L, Parker S, et al. A new approach to monitoring exercise training. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2001) 15:109–15.

48. Astrand P. Experimental Studies of Physical Working Capacity in Relation to Sex and Age. Copenhagen: Munksgaard Forlag (1952).

49. Jones A, Doust JH. A 1% treadmill grade most accurately reflects the energetic cost of outdoor running. J Sports Sci. (1996) 14:321–7. doi: 10.1080/02640419608727717

50. Buchheit M, Laursen P. High-intensity interval training, solutions to the programming puzzle: part I: cardiopulmonary emphasis. *Sports Med.* (2013) 43:313–38. doi: 10.1007/s40279-013-0029-x

51. Jeukendrup A, Wallis G. Measurement of substrate oxidation during exercise by means of gas exchange measurements. *Int J Sports Med.* (2005) 26(Suppl. 1):S28–37. doi: 10.1055/s-2004-830512

52. Kapur S, Kapur S, Zava D. Cardiometabolic risk factors assessed by a finger stick dried blood spot method. J Diabetes Sci Technol. (2008) 2:236–41. doi: 10.1177/193229680800200210

53. Dimitrakakis C, Zava D, Marinopoulos S, Tsigginou A, Antsaklis A, Glaser R. Low salivary testosterone levels in patients with breast cancer. *BMC Cancer*. (2010) 10:547. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-10-547

54. Hirsch I, Welsh J, Calhoun P, Puhr S, Walker T, Price D. Associations between Hba(1c) and continuous glucose monitoring-derived glycaemic variables. *Diabet Med.* (2019) 36:1637–42. doi: 10.1111/dme.14065

55. Valenzano M, Cibrario Bertolotti I, Valenzano A, Grassi G. Time in range-A1c hemoglobin relationship in continuous glucose monitoring of type 1 diabetes: a real-world study. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care.* (2021) 9:e001045. doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2019-001045

56. Bergenstal R, Beck R, Close K, Grunberger G, Sacks D, Kowalski A, et al. Glucose management indicator (GMI): a new term for estimating A1C from continuous glucose monitoring. *Diabetes Care*. (2018) 41:2275–80. doi: 10.2337/dc18-1581

57. Chehregosha H, Khamseh M, Malek M, Hosseinpanah F, Ismail-Beigi FA. View beyond HBA1c: role of continuous glucose monitoring. *Diabetes Ther.* (2019) 10:853–63. doi: 10.1007/s13300-019-0619-1

58. Simon C, Brandenberger G, Follenius M. Ultradian oscillations of plasma glucose, insulin, and C-peptide in man during continuous enteral nutrition. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (1987) 64:669–74. doi: 10.1210/jcem-64-4-669

59. Bridgewater A, Stringer B, Huard B, Angelova M. Ultradian rhythms in glucose regulation: a mathematical assessment. *AIP Conference Proc.* (2019) 2090:050010. doi: 10.1063/1.5095925

60. Mejean L, Bicakova-Rocher A, Kolopp M, Villaume C, Levi F, Debry G, et al. Circadian and Ultradian rhythms in blood glucose and plasma insulin of healthy adults. *Chronobiol Int.* (1988) 5:227–36. doi: 10.3109/07420528809079564

61. Shannon O, Barlow M, Duckworth L, Williams E, Wort G, Woods D, et al. Dietary nitrate supplementation enhances short but not longer duration running time-trial performance. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2017) 117:775–85. doi: 10.1007/s00421-017-3580-6

62. Yost O, DeJonckheere M, Stonebraker S, Ling G, Buis L, Pop-Busui R, et al. Continuous glucose monitoring with low-carbohydrate diet coaching in adults with prediabetes: mixed methods pilot study. *JMIR Diabetes*. (2020) 5:e21551. doi: 10.2196/ 21551

63. Murphy N, Carrigan C, Margolis L. High-fat ketogenic diets and physical performance: a systematic review. *Adv Nutr.* (2021) 12:223–33. doi: 10.1093/advances/ nmaa101

64. McSwiney F, Doyle L, Plews D, Zinn C. Impact of ketogenic diet on athletes: current insights. *Open Access J Sports Med.* (2019) 10:171–83. doi: 10.2147/OAJSM.S18 0409

65. Volek J, Freidenreich D, Saenz C, Kunces L, Creighton B, Bartley J, et al. Metabolic characteristics of keto-adapted ultra-endurance runners. *Metabolism.* (2016) 65:100–10. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2015.10.028

66. Impey S, Jevons E, Mees G, Cocks M, Strauss J, Chester N, et al. Glycogen utilization during running: intensity, sex, and muscle-specific responses. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2020) 52:1966–75. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0000000002332

67. Burke L, Maughan R. The governor has a sweet tooth–mouth sensing of nutrients to enhance sports performance. *Eur J Sport Sci.* (2015) 15:29–40. doi: 10.1080/17461391. 2014.971880

68. Flockhart M, Nilsson L, Tais S, Ekblom B, Apro W, Larsen F. Excessive exercise training causes mitochondrial functional impairment and decreases glucose tolerance in healthy volunteers. *Cell Metab.* (2021) 33:957–70.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2021.02.017

69. Fogelholm M. Effects of bodyweight reduction on sports performance. *Sports Med.* (1994) 18:249–67. doi: 10.2165/00007256-199418040-00004

70. Poff A, Koutnik A, Egan B. Nutritional ketosis with ketogenic diets or exogenous ketones: features, convergence, and divergence. *Curr Sports Med Rep.* (2020) 19:251–9. doi: 10.1249/JSR.000000000000732

71. Webster C, Noakes T, Chacko S, Swart J, Kohn T, Smith J. Gluconeogenesis during endurance exercise in cyclists habituated to a long-term low carbohydrate high-fat diet. *J Physiol.* (2016) 594:4389–405. doi: 10.1113/JP271934

72. Shaw D, Merien F, Braakhuis A, Maunder E, Dulson D. Effect of a ketogenic diet on submaximal exercise capacity and efficiency in runners. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2019) 51:2135–46. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000002008

73. Buga A, Welton G, Scott K, Atwell A, Haley S, Esbenshade N, et al. The effects of carbohydrate versus fat restriction on lipid profiles in highly trained, recreational

distance runners: a randomized, cross-over trial. *Nutrients*. (2022) 14:1135. doi: 10.3390/ nu14061135

74. Creighton B, Hyde P, Maresh C, Kraemer W, Phinney S, Volek J. Paradox of hypercholesterolaemia in highly trained, keto-adapted athletes. *BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med.* (2018) 4:e000429. doi: 10.1136/bmjsem-2018-000429

75. Volek J, Sharman M, Forsythe C. Modification of lipoproteins by very low-carbohydrate diets. *J Nutr.* (2005) 135:1339–42. doi: 10.1093/jn/135.6. 1339

76. Volek J, Phinney S, Forsythe C, Quann E, Wood R, Puglisi M, et al. Carbohydrate restriction has a more favorable impact on the metabolic syndrome than a low fat diet. *Lipids.* (2009) 44:297–309. doi: 10.1007/s11745-008-3274-2

77. Hyde P, Sapper T, Crabtree C, LaFountain R, Bowling M, Buga A, et al. Dietary carbohydrate restriction improves metabolic syndrome independent of weight loss. *JCI Insight*. (2019) 4:e128308. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.128308

78. Merino J, Linenberg I, Bermingham K, Ganesh S, Bakker E, Delahanty L, et al. Validity of continuous glucose monitoring for categorizing glycemic responses to diet: implications for use in personalized nutrition. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2022) 115:1569–76. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqac026

79. Holzer R, Bloch W, Brinkmann C. Continuous glucose monitoring in healthy adults-possible applications in health care, wellness, and sports. *Sensors (Basel)*. (2022) 22:2030. doi: 10.3390/s22052030

80. Moholdt T, Parr E, Devlin B, Debik J, Giskeodegard G, Hawley J. The effect of morning vs evening exercise training on glycaemic control and serum metabolites in overweight/obese men: a randomised trial. *Diabetologia*. (2021) 64:2061–76. doi: 10. 1007/s00125-021-05477-5

81. Walsh J, Neudorf H, Little J. 14-day ketone supplementation lowers glucose and improves vascular function in obesity: a randomized crossover trial. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2021) 106:e1738–54. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa925

82. Chawla S, Tessarolo Silva F, Amaral Medeiros S, Mekary R, Radenkovic D. The effect of low-fat and low-carbohydrate diets on weight loss and lipid levels: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:3774. doi: 10.3390/nu1212 3774

83. Bhatt A, Choudhari P, Mahajan R, Sayyad M, Pratyush D, Hasan I, et al. Effect of a low-calorie diet on restoration of normoglycemia in obese subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab.* (2017) 21:776–80. doi: 10.4103/ijem.IJEM_206_17

84. Hussain T, Mathew T, Dashti A, Asfar S, Al-Zaid N, Dashti H. Effect of low-calorie versus low-carbohydrate ketogenic diet in type 2 diabetes. *Nutrition*. (2012) 28:1016–21. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2012.01.016

85. Ishihara K, Uchiyama N, Kizaki S, Mori E, Nonaka T, Oneda H. Application of continuous glucose monitoring for assessment of individual carbohydrate requirement during Ultramarathon race. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:1121. doi: 10.3390/nu12041121

86. Nolan J, Rush A, Kaye J. glycaemic stability of a cyclist with type 1 diabetes: 4011 km in 20 days on a ketogenic diet. *Diabet Med.* (2019) 36:1503–7. doi: 10.1111/dme.14049

87. Thomas F, Pretty C, Desaive T, Chase J. Blood glucose levels of subelite athletes during 6 days of free living. *J Diabetes Sci Technol.* (2016) 10:1335–43. doi: 10.1177/1932296816648344

88. Johnson J. On the causal relationships between hyperinsulinaemia, insulin resistance, obesity and dysglycaemia in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia*. (2021) 64:2138–46. doi: 10.1007/s00125-021-05505-4

89. Esser N, Utzschneider K, Kahn S. Early beta cell dysfunction vs insulin hypersecretion as the primary event in the pathogenesis of dysglycaemia. *Diabetologia*. (2020) 63:2007–21. doi: 10.1007/s00125-020-05245-x

90. Al-Ozairi E, Reem A, El Samad A, Taghadom E, Al-Kandari J, Abdul-Ghani M, et al. A randomised crossover trial: exploring the dose-response effect of carbohydrate restriction on glycaemia in people with well-controlled type 2 diabetes. *J Hum Nutr Diet.* (2022) 36:51–61. doi: 10.1111/jhn.13030

91. Leckey J, Hoffman N, Parr E, Devlin B, Trewin A, Stepto N, et al. High dietary fat intake increases fat oxidation and reduces skeletal muscle mitochondrial respiration in trained humans. *FASEB J.* (2018) 32:2979–91. doi: 10.1096/fj.201700993R

92. Norwitz N, Feldman D, Soto-Mota A, Kalayjian T, Ludwig D. Elevated Ldl cholesterol with a carbohydrate-restricted diet: evidence for a "lean mass hyper-responder" phenotype. *Curr Dev Nutr.* (2022) 6:nzab144. doi: 10.1093/cdn/nzab144

93. Christensen P, Meinert Larsen T, Westerterp-Plantenga M, Macdonald I, Martinez J, Handjiev S, et al. Men and women respond differently to rapid weight loss: metabolic outcomes of a multi-centre intervention study after a low-energy diet in 2500 overweight, individuals with pre-diabetes (preview). *Diabetes Obes Metab.* (2018) 20:2840–51. doi: 10.1111/dom.13466

94. Aronica L, Rigdon J, Offringa L, Stefanick M, Gardner C. Examining differences between overweight women and men in 12-month weight loss study comparing healthy low-carbohydrate Vs. low-fat diets. *Int J Obes (Lond).* (2021) 45:225–34. doi: 10.1038/s41366-020-00708-y

95. Yan H, Yang W, Zhou F, Li X, Pan Q, Shen Z, et al. Estrogen improves insulin sensitivity and suppresses gluconeogenesis via the transcription factor foxo1. *Diabetes.* (2019) 68:291–304. doi: 10.2337/db18-0638

96. Koutnik A. Stair climbing exercise as a novel health intervention for menopause: cardiovascular and skeletal muscle implications. *Menopause*. (2018) 25:721–2. doi: 10. 1097/GME.00000000001107

97. Davis S, Castelo-Branco C, Chedraui P, Lumsden M, Nappi R, Shah D, et al. Understanding weight gain at menopause. *Climacteric.* (2012) 15:419–29. doi: 10.3109/13697137.2012.707385

98. Hirst J, Stevens R, Farmer A. Changes in Hba1c level over a 12-week follow-up in patients with type 2 diabetes following a medication change. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9:e92458. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0092458

99. Sherwani S, Khan H, Ekhzaimy A, Masood A, Sakharkar M. Significance of Hba1c test in diagnosis and prognosis of diabetic patients. *Biomark Insights.* (2016) 11:95–104. doi: 10.4137/BMI.S38440

100. Howard R, Guo J, Hall K. Imprecision nutrition? Different simultaneous continuous glucose monitors provide discordant meal rankings for incremental postprandial glucose in subjects without diabetes. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2020) 112:1114–9. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqaa198

101. Beck R, Connor C, Mullen D, Wesley D, Bergenstal R. The fallacy of average: how using Hba(1c) alone to assess glycemic control can be misleading. *Diabetes Care.* (2017) 40:994–9. doi: 10.2337/dc17-0636

102. Beyond A. Need for regulatory change to incorporate beyond A1c glycemic metrics. *Diabetes Care*. (2018) 41:e92-4. doi: 10.2337/dci18-0010

103. Klein K, Walker C, McFerren A, Huffman H, Frohlich F, Buse J. Carbohydrate intake prior to oral glucose tolerance testing. *J Endocr Soc.* (2021) 5:bvab049. doi: 10. 1210/jendso/bvab049

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Aycan Ünalp, University of Health Sciences, Türkiye

REVIEWED BY

Pamela Senesi, University of Milan, Italy Lorenzo Nesti, University of Pisa, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Helena Zander Wodschow Helena.zander.wodschow@regionh.dk

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share last authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

RECEIVED 24 December 2022 ACCEPTED 24 January 2023 PUBLISHED 09 February 2023

CITATION

Wodschow HZ, Davidovski FS, Christensen J, Lassen MCH, Skaarup KG, Nygaard H, Møller N, Rungby J, Biering-Sørensen T, Rossing P, Jensen NJ and Laursen JC (2023) Oral ketone esters acutely improve myocardial contractility in post-hospitalized COVID-19 patients: A randomized placebo-controlled double-blind crossover study. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1131192. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1131192

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Wodschow, Davidovski, Christensen, Lassen, Skaarup, Nygaard, Møller, Rungby, Biering-Sørensen, Rossing, Jensen and Laursen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Oral ketone esters acutely improve myocardial contractility in post-hospitalized COVID-19 patients: A randomized placebo-controlled double-blind crossover study

Helena Zander Wodschow^{1*}, Filip Søskov Davidovski², Jacob Christensen², Mats Christian Højbjerg Lassen², Kristoffer Grundtvig Skaarup², Hanne Nygaard³, Niels Møller⁴, Jørgen Rungby^{1,5,6}, Tor Biering-Sørensen², Peter Rossing^{5,6,7}, Nicole Jacqueline Jensen^{1†} and Jens Christian Laursen^{5†}

¹Department of Endocrinology, Copenhagen University Hospital, Bispebjerg and Frederiksberg Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark, ²Department of Cardiology, Copenhagen University Hospital, Gentofte Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark, ³Department of Emergency Medicine, Copenhagen University Hospital, Bispebjerg and Frederiksberg Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark, ⁴Institute of Clinical Medicine, Aarhus University Hospital, Skejby Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark, ⁵Complications Research, Steno Diabetes Center Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ⁶Copenhagen Center for Translational Research, Copenhagen, Denmark, ⁷Department of Clinical Medicine, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

Background: COVID-19 is associated with subclinical myocardial injury. Exogenous ketone esters acutely improve left myocardial function in healthy participants and patients with heart failure, but the effects have not been investigated in participants previously hospitalized for COVID-19.

Methods: This is a randomized placebo-controlled double-blind crossover study comparing a single oral ketone ester dose of 395 mg/kg with placebo. Fasting participants were randomized to either placebo in the morning and oral ketone ester in the afternoon or vice versa. Echocardiography was performed immediately after intake of the corresponding treatment. Primary outcome was left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF). Secondary outcomes were absolute global longitudinal strain (GLS), cardiac output and blood oxygen saturation. Linear mixed effects models were used to assess differences.

Results: We included 12 participants previously hospitalized for COVID-19 with a mean (\pm SD) age of 60 \pm 10 years. The mean time from hospitalization was 18 \pm 5 months. Oral ketone esters did not increase LVEF between placebo and oral ketone ester [mean difference: -0.7% (95% CI -4.0 to 2.6%), p = 0.66], but increased GLS [1.9% (95% CI: 0.1 to 3.6%), p = 0.04] and cardiac output [1.2 L/min (95% CI: -0.1 to 2.4 L/min), p = 0.07], although non-significant. The differences in GLS remained significant after adjustment for change in heart rate (p = 0.01). There was no difference in blood oxygen saturation. Oral ketone esters increased blood ketones over time (peak level 3.1 \pm 4.9 mmol/L, p < 0.01). Ketone esters increased blood insulin, c-peptide, and creatinine, and decreased glucose and FFA (all $p \le 0.01$) but did not affect glucagon, pro-BNP, or troponin I levels (all p > 0.05).

Conclusion: In patients previously hospitalized with COVID-19, a single oral dose of ketone ester had no effect on LVEF, cardiac output or blood oxygen saturation, but increased GLS acutely.

Clinical trial registration: https://clinicaltrials.gov/, identifier NCT04377035.

KEYWORDS

ketone bodies, post COVID-19, myocardial metabolism, myocardial contractility, subclinical myocardial injury

Introduction

COVID-19 is associated with myocardial injury (1–3) and has been observed in hospitalized COVID-19 patients as impaired left ventricular- and right ventricular systolic function assessed by echocardiography (4–7), and even in patients that did not require hospitalization assessed by magnetic resonance imaging (8). The degree of impairment in left ventricular function, quantified by absolute global longitudinal strain (GLS), is associated with higher mortality (5, 9, 10) also in the presence of normal left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) (11), the recommended parameter for measuring left ventricular systolic function (12). In recovered posthospitalized COVID-19 patients, GLS, and RVLS are still impaired (13, 14) and an increased risk of cardiovascular disease persists 1 year after infection (15). This indicates a need for improving ventricular function, especially left ventricular function, in post-hospitalized COVID-19 patients.

Several treatment principles for COVID-19 have been suggested. Corticosteroids reduce mortality in patients hospitalized for COVID-19 (16), and reduce the risk of severe disease course (17). Moreover, post-recovery intensive steroid treatment is shown to have positive effects on self-reported long-term symptoms. The antiviral agent, Remdesivir, is widely used in treatment as it shortens recovery time in hospitalized COVID-19 patients (18). Tocilizumab has also been proposed, but was not able to reduce biomarkers of cardiac injury during hospitalization (19). One study on cardiovascular rehabilitation concerning exercise in post-hospitalized COVID-19 patients has shown positive results on physical performance (20). This study did, however, not include objective assessment of cardiac function, and though treatment of acute COVID-19 infection is extensively covered, studies on treatment of cardiovascular sequela and prognostic prevention are lacking. New interventions are needed.

Intravenous ketone body infusion acutely increases LVEF, GLS, and cardiac output in patients with heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (21). To our knowledge, the effects of ketone bodies on myocardial function have never been investigated with an oral intervention in subjects with subclinical myocardial dysfunction, as can be seen following COVID-19. The aim of the present study was to assess the acute effects of oral ketone ester on LVEF, GLS, cardiac output, and peripheral blood oxygen saturation in post-hospitalized COVID-19 patients with the hypothesis that these measures can be improved. To gain mechanistic insight, we exploratively investigated the effects of additional echocardiographic parameters, blood biochemistry, and vital values.

Materials and methods

Study design

This randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind cross-over acute intervention study was a sub-study of the ECHOVID-19 study (4, 22), a prospective longitudinal study investigating echocardiographic parameters in adults hospitalized with COVID-19. Participants were randomly allocated in a 1:1 ratio to either placebo in the morning and oral ketone ester in the afternoon (sequence A) or vice versa (sequence B). The study was conducted from May to December 2021 and was carried out at the Department of Endocrinology, Copenhagen University Hospital – Bispebjerg and Frederiksberg Hospital.

Participants

Twelve post-hospitalized COVID-19 patients were enrolled from the ECHOVID-19 study. Inclusion criteria for ECHOVID-19 were adults hospitalized in hospitals of the Capital- and Zealand regions with a laboratory confirmed diagnosis of COVID-19. Exclusion criteria for ECHOVID-19 were patients unable to understand and sign informed consent, or too sick to cooperate. Additional exclusion criteria for the present study were a diagnosis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease or asthma, active treatment with sodium-glucose 2 inhibitors, eGFR < 15 ml/min/1.73 m² or insulindependent diabetes. All participants gave informed consent. The study was performed in accordance with the Second Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the regional ethics board (H-20021500). The ECHOVID-19 study is registered at Clinicaltrials.gov (NCT04377035) and the present sub-study likewise (NCT04573764).

Study procedures

Participants arrived between 7.45 and 8.00 am after an overnight fast and remained fasting until the end of the visit. For the intervention, a single oral ketone ester (KetoneAid Inc., Falls Church, VA) dose of 395 mg/kg bodyweight, containing primary the D-isoform, was compared with taste- and volume-matched placebo

Abbreviations: ACE, angiotensin-converting enzyme; ATP, adenosine triphosphate; BHB, beta-hydroxybutyrate; BMI, body mass index; Bpm, beats per minute; FFA, free fatty acids; GLS, absolute global longitudinal strain; IQR, interquartile range; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; MV, mitral valve; N, number; Pro-BNP, pro-brain natriuretic peptide; SD, standard deviation; SGLT2, sodium-glucose cotransporter 2; TAPSE, tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion.

provided by the same company. The intervention (ketone esters and placebo) was consumed using a sipping method over 60 min, the purpose of which was to promote steady state and increase the timespan that ketones would be elevated (23): the first third of the intervention was consumed at baseline (t0), the second third after 20 min (t20), and the last third after 60 min (t60). To prevent carry-over, the design included a washout period of 2 h leading to the last part of the morning intervention being ingested 3.5 h before commencing the afternoon intervention. A bedside echocardiography was performed immediately after the last sip of the corresponding treatment (Supplementary Figure 1). Blood samples were taken every half hour from t0 to the end of the intervention at t150. Vitals were measured before blood sampling at t0 and t60 on the same arm of the subject: blood pressure and pulse were measured using a standard hospital cuff, peripheral blood oxygen saturation using a standard finger pulse oximeter. A continuous infusion of glucose (10% solution, 50 mM potassium-chloride) was initiated before baseline at 50 ml/h to maintain euglycemia.

Characteristics and COVID-19 complications were achieved through patient journals and information on medicine through selfreport. BMI was calculated on the day of the trial.

Outcomes

The primary outcome was left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF). The secondary outcomes were absolute global longitudinal strain (GLS), cardiac output, and peripheral blood oxygen saturation. Exploratory outcomes were additional echocardiographic measures of systolic- and diastolic function, blood sample biochemistry, and vital values.

Echocardiography

Echocardiography was performed bedside with a portable Vivid IQ Ultrasound System (GE Healthcare, Horten, Norway). Examinations were performed according to a pre-determined protocol by two trained sonographers who were blinded to the intervention. The recordings were analyzed offline using commercially available post-processing software (ECHOPAC Version 203, GE Vingmed Ultrasound AS). Each parameter was analyzed separately by one of two trained investigators blinded to all clinical information. All echocardiographic measurements were performed and analyzed according to existing guidelines (12). Abnormal echocardiographic findings were assessed from the echocardiography performed during the placebo-intervention.

Left ventricular volumes and LVEF were measured using Simpson's biplane method. For GLS, two-dimensional speckle tracking was performed offline in the three apical views (fourchamber, two-chamber, and three-chamber view) of the left ventricle. Frame rate was optimized for speckle tracking analysis. The myocardial wall was traced with a semi-automatic function and manually adjusted in case of inaccurate tracing. GLS was measured by dividing each of the three projections into six segments and integrating the segments into a global 18-segment model of the LV. Global values were obtained by averaging the strain values of all included segments. Segments deemed untraceable by the investigators were excluded. Cardiac output was measured from left ventricular outflow tract. TAPSE was measured by M-mode in the apical four-chamber view. Peak mitral inflow velocity (E-wave, A-wave, and E/A ratio) and deceleration time of E were measured with pulsed-wave Doppler in the four-chamber view. Color tissue Doppler velocities (a', e', and s') were measured at the septal and lateral wall of the mitral annulus in the apical four-chamber view. E-wave was indexed to e' to estimate E/e'. Left atrial volume was measured by the area-length method in the apical two-chamber and four-chamber view. Abnormal LVEF (<52% for males and <54% for females), GLS (<16%) and TAPSE (<1.7 cm) were defined according to existing guidelines (12).

Blood samples

Blood samples for glucose and BHB analyses were collected at six timepoints every half hour from t0-t150 for the morning and afternoon periods, respectively, while samples for free fatty acids (FFA), insulin, troponin I, creatinine, pro-brain natriuretic peptide (pro-BNP) and glucagon were collected at baseline (morning t0), t60 morning and t60 afternoon.

FFA, creatinine, troponin T, pro-BNP, glucose and BHB were stored at -20 degrees Celsius, and insulin and glucagon were stored at -80 degrees Celsius until analysis. FFA and Insulin were analyzed from serum and the rest from EDTA or Li/hep plasma. Total BHB was analyzed from whole blood using hydrophilic interaction liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. Insulin and glucagon were measured with ELISA (Mercodia, Sweden). FFA was quantified by in vitro enzymatic colorimetric method assay (Trichem, Denmark). Pro-BNP was analyzed by chemiluminescent microparticle immunoassay on an Abbott Architect i2000SR (Abbott, Germany), and c-peptide by direct chemiluminescent immunoassay (Atellica IM, USA). Troponin I was analyzed by an immunoassay kit (Cobas; Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Germany). Glucose and creatinine were analyzed by enzymatic absorption photometry (Atellica CH, USA). All analyses were performed by blinded personnel.

Statistical methods and sample size calculation

Data are reported as means \pm standard deviation (SD) or, if skewed distributions, as medians with interquartile range [interquartile range (IQR)]. GLS is reported as the absolute value.

A general linear mixed model (R package "LMMstar") was used to estimate the difference between intervention and placebo. Time (morning versus afternoon) and intervention (placebo versus ketone esters) were used as fixed effects. Participant ID was used as random effect. A *p*-value of <0.05 was considered significant. For the echocardiographic outcomes, significant associations were further adjusted for change in heart rate, as this might affect results. Echocardiographic outcomes were adjusted for sequence *post hoc*. Vitals and blood values were adjusted for baseline values. Comparison between the ECHOVID-19 follow-up cohort and participants in the present study were calculated by *t*-test and Fisher's exact test. Percentage is calculated from number of measured valuables (not including missing values). All statistical analyses and graphical illustrations were carried out using R Statistical Software [R version 4.1.0; R Core Team (24)].

The randomization list was generated by an unrelated study nurse and was performed in fixed blocks of six (allocating three participants to each sequence ketone-placebo vs. placebo-ketone) using the "blockrand" package in R. Personnel and study participants involved in the study were blinded to the randomization code until the end of the last participant's last visit.

The power calculation was based on a study demonstrating improved LVEF in patients with heart failure with reduced ejection fraction after continuous intravenous BHB infusion where mean \pm SD LVEF changed from $35 \pm 7\%$ to $43 \pm 9\%$ (21). Assuming oral ketone esters would change LVEF 8% with a mean SD of 8%, the sample size required to demonstrate a significant effect with a power of 80% and type 1 error of 5% was 10 participants. To account for missing data and errors, 12 participants were included. Power calculation was performed using the power statement implemented in the SAS enterprise software 7.1 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA).

Protocol changes

The study was initially meant to include twelve hospitalized patients with COVID-19 recruited from the ECHOVID-19 trial but was changed to include post-hospitalized patients because the inhospital setting proved unfeasible for the study procedures. Blood gas analyses and urine creatinine clearance were study outcomes originally but turned out to be unfeasible and removed.

Results

Study participants and intervention

The ECHOVID-19-study counted 215 patients of whom 43 did not survive. From the remaining 172 participants, 91 participated in a follow-up visit 2–3 months after hospitalization and were assessed for eligibility for this sub-study. Forty-two did not meet the additional criteria for participation, 16 were not interested, 3 dropped-out before randomization due to personal health issues, and 18 were never asked because 12 participants had completed the study (**Figure 1**). We included 12 participants (5 women) with a mean \pm SD age of 60 \pm 10 years. All women were by chance randomized to sequence B. The mean time from hospitalization was 18 \pm 5 months, 5 (42%) had a diagnosis of post-COVID-19 sequela, of whom 2 had radiological signs of fibrosis (without self-reported effect on daily life), and 3 had post-viral mental fatigue or self-reported cognitive decline. All participants were Caucasians and non-smokers (**Table 1**). Compared to ECHOVID-19, participants included in this study had higher systolic blood pressure and lower heart rate compared with those not included from the follow-up cohort, but where otherwise comparable (**Supplementary Table 1**). The participants with GLS < 16% during hospitalization (*n* = 3) also had a GLS < 16% in the present study.

Total blood BHB increased with ketone esters vs. placebo over time (p < 0.01) and reached the highest mean levels at t90 (3.1 ± 4.9 mmol/L) (**Figure 2A**). Mean plasma glucose decreased between 0.53 and 0.97 mmol/l from t60-t150 with ketone esters vs. placebo (p = 0.01) (**Figure 2B**).

Effect of ketone esters on echocardiographic parameters

Compared with placebo, oral ketone esters had no effect on LVEF with a mean difference of -0.7 (95% CI: -4.0 to 2.6)%, p = 0.66 (Figure 3A). GLS was significantly improved after oral ketone esters compared with placebo, with a mean GLS of $16.7 \pm 3.4\%$ after placebo and $18.6 \pm 3.5\%$ after oral ketone esters. This corresponded to a mean difference of 1.9 (95% CI: 0.1 to 3.6)%, p = 0.04 (Figure 3B). The difference remained significant after adjustment for change in heart rate (p < 0.01). Cardiac output was increased, although not significantly, by oral ketone esters, with a mean cardiac output of 4.3 ± 1.1 L/min after placebo and 5.4 ± 1.9 after oral ketone esters which correspond to a mean difference of 1.2 (95% CI: -0.1 to 2.4) L/min, p = 0.07 (Figure 3C). Stroke volume increased with 11 ml with ketones versus placebo, but the change was not significant (p = 0.2). Right ventricular systolic function did not improve as assessed by TAPSE (p > 0.05), nor did diastolic function as assessed by mitral



FIGURE 1

Participant flow diagram. Three dropped out due to personal health issues (one broken foot, one had progression in cancer, one due to worsening of general health).

valve (MV) E/e' or MV E/A ratio or MV E-wave deceleration time (p > 0.05) (**Table 2**). When adjusting for sequence, cardiac output and cardiac index increased significantly (both p < 0.05).

When stratified according to normal (>16%) and abnormal GLS (<16%), GLS was increased on average by 3.6% for participants with abnormal GLS and 0.9% for participants with normal GLS, though insignificant (p for interaction = 0.2). Ketone esters elevated GLS to above the cut-off value of 16% for 2 out of 4 participants with abnormal GLS, yet results were insignificant (p = 0.6) (**Supplementary Figure 2**). We found no association between blood levels of BHB and GLS increase with an estimate of -0.001 (95% CI: -0.004 to 0.001)%, p = 0.3.

Effect of ketone esters on blood values and vitals

Oral ketone esters increased blood insulin by 36 (95% CI: 21 to 50) pmol/L, c-peptide with 265 (95% CI: 156 to 374) pmol/L, and creatinine with 2 (95% CI: 1 to 4) μ mol/L compared with placebo, and decreased FFA with 0.26 (95% CI: -0.33 to -0.18) mmol/L. Ketone esters did not affect glucagon, pro-BNP, or troponin I levels (all p > 0.05) (Table 3).

Oral ketone ester increased heart rate 10 (95% CI: 7 to 13) bpm. Ketone esters had no effect on systolic blood pressure (p > 0.05) but lowered diastolic blood pressure by 3.4 (95% CI: -5.1 to -1.8) mmHg. Ketone esters had no effect on peripheral blood oxygen saturation (p > 0.05).

Discussion

In this study, we found no effect of oral ketone esters on LVEF in post-hospitalized COVID-19 patients, but we are the first to demonstrate that a single oral dose of ketone esters could increase GLS acutely compared with placebo in post-hospitalized COVID-19 patients. Oral ketone esters had no effect on cardiac output or peripheral blood oxygen saturation, but increased heart rate and lowered diastolic blood pressure. Blood ketones, insulin, c-peptide, and creatinine were increased while glucose and free fatty acids were decreased compared with placebo.

Improvement in cardiac function following treatment with oral ketone esters

In hospitalized COVID-19 patients, reduced GLS is independently associated with death (4). In patients with heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (LVEF: $35 \pm 7\%$), intravenous infusion of ketone salts to 3.3 mmol/L has been shown to improve left ventricular systolic function assessed as an increase in LVEF by 8%, GLS by 2%, and cardiac output by 2 L/min. Right ventricular systolic function was also improved assessed as an increase in TAPSE by 0.2 cm after ketones (21). In the present study on patients with suspected COVID-19-induced myocardial damage, we similarly found significant improvements in GLS at comparable BHB levels (2.5–3.1 mmol/L), however, in a population with only subclinical or normal cardiac function as assessed by GLS and, importantly, using an oral intervention which is a more feasible approach to achieve ketosis. We did not observe an increase in LVEF, which might be explained by our study participants having a normal

TABLE 1 Clinical characteristics.

	Placebo- ketone (A)	Ketone- placebo (B)	Total
n	6	6	12
Characteristics			
Age (years)	63 ± 5	55 ± 8	59 ± 8
Male sex, <i>n</i> (%)	6 (100%)	1 (17%)	7 (58%)
BMI (kg/m ²)	26.0 ± 4.2	28.5 ± 7.9	27.3 ± 6.2
Smoking	0	0	0
Hypertension, <i>n</i> (%)	2 (33%)	1 (17%)	3 (25%)
Hyperlipidemia, <i>n</i> (%)	4 (66%)	3 (50%)	7 (58%)
Prevalent heart failure, n (%)	0	0	0
Ischemic heart disease, n (%)	1 (17%)	1 (17%)	2 (17%)
COVID-19 complications			
Time from hospitalization (months)	18 ± 4	17 ± 7	17 ± 5
Length of hospitalization (days)	9 [5; 11]	6 [2; 19]	8 [4; 14]
Admission to intensive care unit, <i>n</i> (%)	1 (17%)	2 (33%)	3 (25%)
Acute respiratory distress syndrome, <i>n</i> (%)	0	1 (17%)	1 (8%)
Venous thromboembolic event, <i>n</i> (%)	1 (17%)	0	1 (8%)
Diagnosis of post-COVID-19 sequela, <i>n</i> (%)	2 (33%)	3 (50%)	5 (42%)
Medicine, n (%)			
Direct oral anticoagulants	3 (50%)	0	3 (25%)
Acetylsalicylic acid	0	3 (50%)	3 (25%)
Lipid-lowering agents	4 (67%)	2 (33%)	6 (50%)
Beta-blocker	3 (50%)	1 (17%)	4 (33%)
Calcium-antagonist	1 (17%)	0	1 (8%)
ACE-inhibitor	1 (17%)	0	1 (8%)
Baseline values			
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	145 ± 13	128 ± 10	136 ± 14
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	85 ± 12	79 ± 6	82 ± 10
Heart rate (bpm)	58 ± 7	65 ± 9	62 ± 9
Oxygen saturation (%)	99.1 ± 0.8	98.3 ± 1.1	98.9 ± 0.9
Cardiac involvement, n (%)			
Abnormal LVEF	1 (17%)	1 (17%)	2 (17%)
Abnormal GLS	1 (17%)	3 (50%)	4 (33%)
Abnormal TAPSE	0	0	0

Data for all participants are divided by sequence and presented as either mean \pm SD, median [IQR], and *n* (%). Abnormal echocardiographic findings were assessed from the echocardiography performed during the placebo-intervention. ACE, angiotensin-converting enzyme; BMI, body mass index; bpm, beats per minute; GLS, global longitudinal strain; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; TAPSE, tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion.



FIGURE 2

Effect of ketone esters on BHB and glucose levels. The figure depicts the changes in BHB levels assessed from whole blood and shows the average peak BHB-levels at the different timepoints (A) and depicts the absolute changes in glucose assessed from plasma (B) between interventions given as mean \pm SEM. Data was analyzed by general linear mixed model adjusted for time of day, t0 and interaction between timepoints and intervention. Blood samples were collected at six timepoints every half hour from t0 to t150 for morning and afternoon, respectively.



FIGURE 3

The effects of oral ketone esters on LVEF, GLS, and cardiac output. The figure depicts the absolute changes (mean \pm SEM) between placebo and oral ketone esters for LVEF (**A**), GLS (**B**), and cardiac output (**C**), respectively. The brackets report unadjusted mean differences (95% CI) with *p*-values. LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; GLS, absolute global longitudinal strain.

baseline LVEF (57% \pm 8). In patients with heart failure, intravenous ketone esters increase cardiac output in a dose-dependent manner (21), and in a study on healthy participants, a single oral dose of ketone esters reaching higher BHB levels than in the present study [median blood-BHB concentration: 3.23 mmol/L (IQR: 2.40–4.97)] LVEF was increased by 3.1%, GLS by 2.0%, and right ventricle S' by 1.1 cm (25). Myocardial BHB utilization is furthermore increased in proportion to blood ketone levels (26), indicating that our failure

to report an increase in LVEF and cardiac output could also be dose dependent. On the contrary, we were not able to demonstrate an association between blood levels of BHB and a GLS increase, which does not support a dose-response relationship. This could, however, be due to the small sample size. In the present study we did not find an improvement in right ventricular systolic function as assessed by TAPSE and right ventricular longitudinal strain was excluded due to lacking data. The insignificant results of TAPSE are probably due to the same mechanisms as for LVEF. Diastolic function was not found to be impaired compared with controls in a study with hospitalized COVID-19 patients (4) but was, however, impaired in hospitalized COVID-19 patients with simultaneous elevated high-sensitive troponin levels or classified as being severely ill (6, 7). In the present study we did not find any effect of ketone esters on diastolic function as assess by MV E/A ratio, MV E/e, or MV E-wave deceleration time. To our knowledge, no effect of ketone esters on diastolic function has previously been reported (21, 25). With oral ketone esters elevating GLS to 18.6 \pm 3.5% in the present study, we propose that oral ketone esters could normalize impaired GLS in in patients with asymptomatic subclinical myocardial

dysfunction. In fact, ketones esters did indeed raise GLS for 2 out of 4 of the participants with GLS < 16% to within the normal range. Although insignificant, probably due to the small sample size, this suggests a larger effect in those with abnormal GLS. Interestingly, endogenous BHB concentrations rise in response to the degree of cardiac dysfunction (27), and one dose of oral ketone esters enhanced myocardial BHB extraction in patients with heart failure with reduced ejection fraction compared with controls and correlates with the degree of cardiac dysfunction (28). These findings support the hypothesis that increased BHB utilization in the failing heart could be an adaptive mechanism. The effects of BHB on different degrees of myocardial malfunction from subclinical

Variable	Placebo	Ketone	Mean difference [CI]	P-value	Adjusted P-value
Left ventricular systolic function					
Left ventricular ejection fraction, (%)	57 ± 8	56 ± 7	-0.7 [-4.0; 2.6]	<i>p</i> = 0.66	
Absolute global longitudinal strain, (%)	16.7 ± 3.4	18.6 ± 3.5	1.9 [0.1; 3.7]	p = 0.04	<i>p</i> < 0.01
Cardiac output, (L/min)	4.3 ± 1.1	5.4 ± 1.9	1.2 [-0.1; 2.4]	<i>p</i> = 0.07	
Cardiac index, (L/min/m ²)	2.1 ± 0.7	2.7 ± 1.1	0.6 [-0.1; 1.2]	<i>p</i> = 0.08	
Left ventricular end-diastolic volume, (mL)	94.0 ± 22.6	88.1 ± 25.9	-5.9 [-15.7; 3.9]	<i>p</i> = 0.21	
Left ventricular end-systolic volume, (mL)	41.0 ± 12.1	38.9 ± 12.6	-2.1 [-7.2; 3.0]	<i>p</i> = 0.38	
Left atrial end-systolic volume, (mL)	45.3 ± 16.6	47.9 ± 14.6	2.8 [-10.0; 15.5]	<i>p</i> = 0.63	
Stroke volume, (mL)	71.3 ± 12.4	82.0 ± 29.0	10.7 [-6.5; 28.0]	<i>p</i> = 0.20	
Diastolic function					
MV E/e'	7.1 ± 1.3	6.9 ± 1.4	-0.3 [-1.3; 0.8]	<i>p</i> = 0.55	
MV E/A ratio	1.1 ± 0.3	1.0 ± 0.3	-0.1 [-0.2; 0.0]	<i>p</i> = 0.11	
MV E-wave deceleration time, ms	275 ± 89	238 ± 92	-37 [-85; 11]	<i>p</i> = 0.12	
Right ventricular function					
TAPSE, (mm)	2.4 ± 0.6	2.4 ± 0.6	0.05 [-0.4; 0.4]	<i>p</i> = 0.80	

Data are mean \pm SD and mean differences with 95% CI. Data are analyzed by general linear mixed model; significant differences were adjusted for change in heart rate. There was one missing datapoint for left atrial end-systolic volume, three for MV E/e, and one for TAPSE. Right ventricular longitudinal strain was excluded (four missing datapoints and three outliers). MV, mitral valve; TAPSE, tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion.

TABLE 3 Effect of ketone esters on blood values and vitals.

Variable	Baseline	Placebo	Ketone	Mean difference [CI]	P-value
Blood values					
Insulin, (pmol/L)	48 ± 23	51 ± 26	87 ± 40	36 [21; 50]	<i>p</i> < 0.01
C-peptide, (pmol/L)	696 ± 226	760 ± 290	1025 ± 355	265 [156; 374]	<i>p</i> < 0.01
Free fatty acids, (mmol/L)	0.42 ± 0.20	0.35 ± 0.16	0.09 ± 0.05	-0.26 [-0.33; -0.18]	<i>p</i> < 0.01
Glucagon, (pmol/L)	8.2 ± 2.8	6.6 ± 2.1	5.8 ± 2.2	-0.8 [-2.0; 0.4]	<i>p</i> = 0.16
Creatinin, (µmol/L)	78 ± 20	73 ± 22	75 ± 19	2 [1; 4]	p < 0.01
pro-BNP, (pmol/L)	10.1 [6.0; 27.8]	11.9 [6.4; 30.6]	11.2 [7.5; 30.6]	-0.2 [-3.1; 2.6]	<i>p</i> = 0.87
Troponin I, (ng/L)	4.5 [3.0; 5.8]	4.5 [3.8; 6.5]	5.0 [3.8; 6.0]	0 [-0.4; 0.4]	p = 1.00
Vitals					
Heart rate, (bpm)	61 ± 9	59 ± 9	66 ± 7	10 [7.4; 13.2]	p < 0.01
Systolic blood pressure, (mmHg)	135 ± 15	134 ± 14	133 ± 16	-2.8 [-8.1; 2.5]	<i>p</i> = 0.26
Diastolic blood pressure, (mmHg)	81 ± 9	81 ± 10	78 ± 11	-3.4 [-5.1; -1.8]	p < 0.01
Saturation, (%)	98.9 ± 0.9	98.7 ± 0.5	98.7 ± 1.4	0.3 [-0.2; 0.8]	<i>p</i> = 0.19

Data are mean \pm SD or median [IQR]. Data are analyzed by general linear mixed model. Blood samples were taken at baseline (morning t0) and at the end of each intervention (t60). Mean difference and 95% CI were adjusted for baseline values and time of day. Vitals were measured at t0 and t60 for each intervention. Mean difference and 95% CI were adjusted for the respective t0 value and time of day. The reported baseline values for vitals are the average of both t0 measurements. Bpm, beats per minute.

lowered myocardial function to manifest heart failure should be explored in future studies.

Metabolic changes in heart failure

Both right and left ventricular function are impaired in patients formerly hospitalized for COVID-19 (13, 14). The healthy human heart utilizes both fatty acids, glucose, and ketone bodies (29, 30), but prefers fatty acids over glucose. In heart failure, BHB utilization along with the rate-limiting enzyme in ketone oxidation are increased (26, 31), which could be a beneficial adaptive mechanism, since ketone oxidation is highly energy efficient compared to fatty acids (32), and is utilized in proportion to blood-levels (26), replace myocardial glucose uptake and increase myocardial blood flow (33), and can occur independent of insulin (34). Sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors induce ketosis in patients with diabetes mellitus type 2 (5.6 \pm 6.0 μ mol/L when fasting and 3.3 \pm 3.8 $\mu mol/L$ when fed), but not in patients without diabetes (35) and reduce the risk of cardiovascular death and hospitalization for heart failure in both groups (36, 37). It has been suggested that ketone bodies might have a direct metabolic cardioprotective effect (38). In patients with T2D without heart disease, treatment with SGLT2 inhibitors increase GLS but only in the group with subclinical myocardial dysfunction (GLS < 16.5%) (39). This supports the proposed hypothesis that the effect of ketone esters on myocardial contractility depends on the degree of cardiac dysfunction. Our data indicates an improvement in left ventricular systolic function following consumption of ketone esters and thus supports the hypothesis that BHB is a competitive, efficient, and thrifty substrate for the struggling heart by increasing myocardial tissue energy availability.

In the present study we demonstrated a decrease in free fatty acids and glucose, and an increase in insulin-production and plasmacreatinine under constant glucose infusion. Exogenous ketosis decreases free fatty acids and blood-glucose and increases plasmainsulin (23, 33, 40) in contrast to endogenous ketosis which is characterized by low levels of insulin and glucose, and high free fatty acids (23). High blood ketone levels have been shown to inhibit lipolysis by negative feedback, and lower glucose levels through inhibiting gluconeogenesis (41) and by increasing peripheral glucose uptake and glycogen synthesis in muscles (40). Accumulation of toxic lipid intermediates is associated with myocardial insulin-resistance in heart failure, and active unloading leads to improved cardiac insulin signaling (42). In theory, ketone bodies might therefore be cardioprotective by inhibition of free fatty acids. To our knowledge, there are no studies testing the effect of exogenous ketone esters on toxic lipid accumulation in the heart, and studies on associations between post-infectious sequela and ketosis are severely lacking.

Besides their metabolic effects, ketone bodies also serve as signaling molecules and have been shown to reduce oxidative stress and inflammation in several tissues (43). COVID-19 virus infection is known to induce an inflammatory response and even months after infection, myocardial inflammation can be detected in some patients (44). It could therefore be speculated that the improved cardiac function found following ketone treatment is partly related to anti-inflammatory properties of ketone bodies.

Ketone esters have been shown to increase heart rate and decrease systemic vascular resistance while having no effect on blood-pressure (21). Similar findings were observed in the present study.

Implications and further studies

The present study is the first to demonstrate that oral ketone esters acutely improve left ventricular systolic function in posthospitalized COVID-19 patients and that oral ketone esters may represent a novel treatment principle in combatting the impending rise in COVID-19 sequela following the pandemic and other conditions with subclinical lowered myocardial function. Our study supports the hypothesis that increased BHB utilization in the failing heart is an adaptive mechanism and might help explain the cardioprotective effects of SGLT2 inhibitors. Studies are needed to investigate if ketone bodies have mechanisms other than increasing energy availability such as possible effects on toxic lipid accumulation in the heart, and if the effect of ketone bodies increases with the degree of heart decompensation. Studies on the chronic effects of ketone bodies are warranted.

Strengths and limitations

A limitation is the relatively small sample size, although we did have power to demonstrate effects on GLS. The sample size was calculated from a population with reduced ejection fraction which theoretically should have a greater effect of ketone esters than in the cohort of the present study. The study might therefore be underpowered which could explain the negative results on the primary outcome. Participants in the present study had significantly higher systolic blood pressure and lower heart rate compared with the follow-up cohort though they were comparable on all other parameters including no difference in odds for hypertension, ischemic heart disease or prevalent heart failure. The cohort in the present study was therefore deemed representative for participants in the main study. Participants were not stratified for the outcome of previous echo-examinations and the below-expected values of GLS are assumed to be COVID-19-related, just as patients recovered from COVID-19 have significantly impaired left and right ventricular function compared to matched controls (14). However, there is no definite proof that COVID-19 and subclinical systolic dysfunction are related in our study population and therefore, the results of the present study should be interpreted as the effect of oral ketone esters on patients with asymptomatic subclinical myocardial dysfunction and not specifically in patients previously hospitalized with COVID-19. Five outcomes were significant for time: insulin, c-peptide and creatinine were higher in the morning while heart rate and cardiac output were higher in the afternoon. The observed periodic effect was accommodated by adjusting for time. A possible carry-over effect was accommodated by including a wash-out period of 2 h leading to the last part of the morning intervention being ingested 4 h before commencing the afternoon intervention. For orally ingested ketone esters, the time taken to reach the maximal concentration is approximately 1-h, coinciding with the echocardiography. Elimination is nonlinear and follows first order elimination kinetics, eliminating approximately 130 mmol/min by peripheral oxidation (23). Hence, the design should hereby have made any carry-over effect negligible. Another limitation was the unequal distribution of sex between the two sequences with all women by chance being randomized to sequence B and with 50% being characterized by abnormal GLS opposed to only 17% of sequence A (Table 1). This distribution
was accommodated by the paired design. When adjusting for sequence, cardiac output and cardiac index became significant (both p < 0.05) while having no impact on the other results. This indicates that the observed effect of oral ketone esters on cardiac function was not driven by differences in the sequence groups.

Strengths of the study include that both interventions were conducted on the same day making the circumstances for the individual participant as identical as possible and therefore avoiding day-to-day variations. The study was performed according to standardized procedures.

Conclusion

In patients previously admitted with COVID-19, moderate ketosis achieved by a single oral dose of ketone esters increased GLS acutely and independently of heart rate but had no effect on LVEF, cardiac output or blood oxygen saturation. Our study suggests a direct improvement in left ventricular myocardial function in subjects previously hospitalized for COVID-19. Oral ketone esters may represent a novel treatment principle in combatting the impending rise in COVID-19 sequela following the pandemic and other conditions with subclinical cardiac injury.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Danish Ethical Committee on Health Research Ethics, Copenhagen, Denmark. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

HW: formal analysis, investigation, resources, data curation, writing – original draft, writing – review and editing, visualization, and project administration. FD: software, data curation, and writing – review and editing. JC: software, investigation, data curation, and writing – review and editing. ML, KS, and HN: writing – review and editing. NM: conceptualization, validation, and writing – review and editing. JR and PR: conceptualization, validation, resources, writing – review and editing, and supervision. TB-S: conceptualization, validation, resources, and writing – review and editing. NJ: conceptualization, methodology, validation, resources, writing – review and editing, and funding acquisition. JL: conceptualization, methodology, validation, investigation, resources, data curation, writing – review and editing, and funding acquisition. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

Funding for the study was provided by the Becket-Foundation Grant for Medical Research and the Carl and Ellen Hertz Foundation Grant for Medical- and Natural Science. Ketone ester and tastematching placebo for the study were donated by the company KetoneAid by initiative of the research group.

Acknowledgments

We thank the study participants for their contributions.

Conflict of interest

FD reports having served as a consultant for Bayer. TB-S reports serving as steering committee member of the Amgen financed GALACTIC-HF trial, chief investigator and steering committee chair of the Sanofi Pasteur financed "NUDGE-FLU" trial, chief investigator and steering committee chair of the Sanofi Pasteur financed "DANFLU-1" trial, chief investigator and steering committee chair of the Sanofi Pasteur financed "DANFLU-2" trial, steering committee member of "LUX-Dx TRENDS Evaluates Diagnostics Sensors in Heart Failure Patients Receiving Boston Scientific's Investigational ICM System" trial. Being on the advisory board for Sanofi Pasteur, Amgen, and GSK. Receiving speaker honorarium from Bayer, Novartis, Sanofi Pasteur, and GSK and research grants from GE HealthCare and Sanofi Pasteur. PR reports having received research grants from AstraZeneca and Novo Nordisk and given lectures for AstraZeneca, Mundipharma, and Boehringer Ingelheim and has served as a consultant for AstraZeneca, Bayer, Eli Lilly, Boehringer Ingelheim, Astellas, Gilead, Sanofi Aventis Vifor, and Novo Nordisk, all fees given to Steno Diabetes Center Copenhagen. JL reports receiving a speaker honorarium from Boehringer Ingelheim, all fees given to Steno Diabetes Centre Copenhagen.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2023.1131192/ full#supplementary-material

References

1. Giustino G, Croft L, Stefanini G, Bragato R, Silbiger J, Vicenzi M, et al. Characterization of myocardial injury in patients with COVID-19. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2020) 76:2043–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.08.069

2. Ileri C, Dogan Z, Ozben B, Karaoglu C, Gunay N, Tigen K, et al. Evaluation of the relation between cardiac biomarkers and thorax computed tomography findings in COVID-19 patients. *Biomark Med.* (2021) 15:285–93. doi: 10.2217/bmm-2020-0388

3. Li J, Han T, Woodward M, Anderson C, Zhou H, Chen Y, et al. The impact of 2019 novel coronavirus on heart injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis.* (2020) 63:518–24. doi: 10.1016/j.pcad.2020.04.008

4. Lassen M, Skaarup K, Lind J, Alhakak A, Sengeløv M, Nielsen A, et al. Echocardiographic abnormalities and predictors of mortality in hospitalized COVID-19 patients: the ECHOVID-19 study. ESC Heart Fail. (2020) 7:4189–97. doi: 10.1002/ehf2. 13044

5. Bevilacqua M, De Togni P, Cattazzo F, Dell'Atti D, Dalbeni A, Mazzaferri F, et al. Global longitudinal strain to predict respiratory failure and death in patients admitted for COVID-19-related disease. *Am J Cardiol.* (2022) 165:109–15. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2021. 10.046

6. Bieber S, Kraechan A, Hellmuth J, Muenchhoff M, Scherer C, Schroeder I, et al. Left and right ventricular dysfunction in patients with COVID-19-associated myocardial injury. *Infection.* (2021) 49:491–500. doi: 10.1007/s15010-020-01572-8

7. Kim M, Nam J, Son J, Kim S, Son N, Ahn C, et al. Cardiac manifestations of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a multicenter cohort study. *J Korean Med Sci.* (2020) 35:e366. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2020.35.e366

8. Puntmann V, Carerj M, Wieters I, Fahim M, Arendt C, Hoffmann J, et al. Outcomes of cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging in patients recently recovered from coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *JAMA Cardiol.* (2020) 5:1265–73. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2020.3557

9. Wibowo A, Pranata R, Astuti A, Tiksnadi B, Martanto E, Martha J, et al. Left and right ventricular longitudinal strains are associated with poor outcome in COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Intensive Care.* (2021) 9:9. doi: 10.1186/s40560-020-00519-3

10. Xie Y, Wang L, Li M, Li H, Zhu S, Wang B, et al. Biventricular longitudinal strain predict mortality in COVID-19 patients. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* (2021) 7:632434. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2020.632434

11. Park J, Kim Y, Pereira J, Hennessey K, Faridi K, McNamara R, et al. Understanding the role of left and right ventricular strain assessment in patients hospitalized with COVID-19. *Am Heart J Plus.* (2021) 6:100018. doi: 10.1016/j.ahjo.2021.100 018

12. Lang R, Badano L, Mor-Avi V, Afilalo J, Armstrong A, Ernande L, et al. Recommendations for cardiac chamber quantification by echocardiography in adults: an update from the American Society of Echocardiography and the European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging. *J Am Soc Echocardiogr.* (2015) 28:1–39.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.echo. 2014.10.003

13. Lambadiari V, Mitrakou A, Kountouri A, Thymis J, Katogiannis K, Korakas E, et al. Association of COVID-19 with impaired endothelial glycocalyx, vascular function and myocardial deformation 4 months after infection. *Eur J Heart Fail.* (2021) 23:1916–26. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.2326

14. Shimoni O, Korenfeld R, Goland S, Meledin V, Haberman D, George J, et al. Subclinical myocardial dysfunction in patients recovered from COVID-19 disease: correlation with exercise capacity. *Biology.* (2021) 10:1201. doi: 10.3390/biology10111201

15. Xie Y, Xu E, Bowe B, Al-Aly Z. Long-term cardiovascular outcomes of COVID-19. *Nat Med.* (2022) 28:583–90. doi: 10.1038/s41591-022-01689-3

16. RECOVERY Collaborative Group, Horby P, Lim W, Emberson J, Mafham M, Bell J, et al. Dexamethasone in hospitalized patients with Covid-19. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 384:693–704. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2021436

17. Ramakrishnan S, Nicolau D, Langford B, Mahdi M, Jeffers H, Mwasuku C, et al. Inhaled budesonide in the treatment of early COVID-19 (STOIC): a phase 2, open-label, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2021) 9:763–72. doi: 10.1016/S2213-260000160-0

18. Beigel J, Tomashek K, Dodd L, Mehta A, Zingman B, Kalil A, et al. Remdesivir for the treatment of Covid-19 – Final report. N Engl J Med. (2020) 383:1813–26. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2007764

19. Zafar A, Khambhati J, Drobni Z, Gongora C, Horick N, Foulkes A, et al. Effect Of tocilizumab on cardiac injury and dysfunction in COVID-19. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2021) 77(18 Suppl. 1):3028.

20. Hermann M, Pekacka-Egli A, Witassek F, Baumgaertner R, Schoendorf S, Spielmanns M. Feasibility and efficacy of cardiopulmonary rehabilitation after COVID-19. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil.* (2020) 99:865–9. doi: 10.1097/PHM.00000000000 1549

21. Nielsen R, Møller N, Gormsen L, Tolbod L, Hansson N, Sorensen J, et al. Cardiovascular effects of treatment with the ketone body 3-hydroxybutyrate in chronic heart failure patients. *Circulation.* (2019) 139:2129-41. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.036459

22. Lassen M, Skaarup K, Lind J, Alhakak A, Sengeløv M, Nielsen A, et al. Recovery of cardiac function following COVID-19 – ECHOVID-19: a prospective longitudinal cohort study. *Eur J Heart Fail.* (2021) 23:1903–12. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.2347

23. Stubbs B, Cox P, Evans R, Santer P, Miller J, Faull O, et al. On the metabolism of exogenous ketones in humans. *Front Physiol.* (2017) 8:848. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00848

24. R Core Team (2021). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Available online at: https://www.R-project.org/.

25. Selvaraj S, Hu R, Vidula M, Dugyala S, Tierney A, Ky B, et al. Acute echocardiographic effects of exogenous ketone administration in healthy participants. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. (2022) 35:305–11. doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2021.10.017

26. Murashige D, Jang C, Neinast M, Edwards J, Cowan A, Hyman M, et al. Comprehensive quantification of fuel use by the failing and nonfailing human heart. *Science*. (2020) 370:364–8. doi: 10.1126/science.abc8861

27. Lommi J, Kupari M, Koskinen P, Näveri H, Leinonen H, Pulkki K, et al. Blood ketone bodies in congestive heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. (1996) 28:665–72. doi: 10.1016/0735-109700214-8

28. Monzo L, Sedlacek K, Hromanikova K, Tomanova L, Borlaug B, Jabor A, et al. Myocardial ketone body utilization in patients with heart failure: the impact of oral ketone ester. *Metabolism*. (2021) 115:154452. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2020.154452

29. Abdul Kadir A, Clarke K, Evans R. Cardiac ketone body metabolism. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis.* (2020) 1866:165739. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2020.165739

30. Taegtmeyer H. Cardiac metabolism as a target for the treatment of heart failure. *Circulation*. (2004) 110:894–6. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000139340.88769.D5

31. Bedi K, Snyder N, Brandimarto J, Aziz M, Mesaros C, Worth A, et al. Evidence for intramyocardial disruption of lipid metabolism and increased myocardial ketone utilization in advanced human heart failure. *Circulation*. (2016) 133:706–16. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.115.017545

32. De Jong K, Lopaschuk G. Complex energy metabolic changes in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction and heart failure with reduced ejection fraction. *Can J Cardiol.* (2017) 33:860–71. doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2017.03.009

33. Gormsen L, Svart M, Thomsen H, Søndergaard E, Vendelbo M, Christensen N, et al. Ketone body infusion with 3-hydroxybutyrate reduces myocardial glucose uptake and increases blood flow in humans: a positron emission tomography study. *J Am Heart Assoc.* (2017) 6:e005066. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.116.005066

34. Selvaraj S, Kelly D, Margulies K. Implications of altered ketone metabolism and therapeutic ketosis in heart failure. *Circulation.* (2020) 141:1800–12. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.119.045033

35. Ferrannini E, Baldi S, Frascerra S, Astiarraga B, Heise T, Bizzotto R, et al. Shift to fatty substrate utilization in response to sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibition in subjects without diabetes and patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*. (2016) 65:1190–5. doi: 10.2337/db15-1356

36. Zelniker T, Wiviott S, Raz I, Im K, Goodrich E, Bonaca M, et al. SGLT2 inhibitors for primary and secondary prevention of cardiovascular and renal outcomes in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cardiovascular outcome trials. *Lancet.* (2019) 393:31–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-673632590-X

37. Packer M, Anker S, Butler J, Filippatos G, Pocock S, Carson P, et al. Cardiovascular and renal outcomes with empagliflozin in heart failure. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 383:1413–24. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2022190

38. Ferrannini E, Mark M, Mayoux E. CV protection in the EMPA-REG OUTCOME trial: a "thrifty substrate" hypothesis. *Diabetes Care*. (2016) 39:1108–14. doi: 10.2337/dc16-0330

39. Nesti L, Pugliese N, Sciuto P, Trico D, Dardano A, Baldi S, et al. Effect of empagliflozin on left ventricular contractility and peak oxygen uptake in subjects with type 2 diabetes without heart disease: results of the EMPA-HEART trial. *Cardiovasc Diabetol.* (2022) 21:181. doi: 10.1186/s12933-022-01618-1

40. Holdsworth D, Cox P, Kirk T, Stradling H, Impey S, Clarke K. A ketone ester drink increases postexercise muscle glycogen synthesis in humans. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2017) 49:1789–95. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000001292

41. Mikkelsen K, Seifert T, Secher N, Grøndal T, van Hall G. Systemic, cerebral and skeletal muscle ketone body and energy metabolism during acute hyper-D-β-hydroxybutyratemia in post-absorptive healthy males. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2015) 100:636–43. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-2608

42. Chokshi A, Drosatos K, Cheema F, Ji R, Khawaja T, Yu S, et al. Ventricular assist device implantation corrects myocardial lipotoxicity, reverses insulin resistance, and normalizes cardiac metabolism in patients with advanced heart failure. *Circulation*. (2012) 125:2844–53. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.060889

43. Møller N. Ketone body, 3-hydroxybutyrate: minor metabolite – Major medical manifestations. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2020) 105:dgaa370. doi: 10.1210/clinem/ dgaa370

44. Crook H, Raza S, Nowell J, Young M, Edison P. Long covid-mechanisms, risk factors, and management. *BMJ.* (2021) 374:n1648. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n1648

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Bulent Unay, University of Health Sciences, Türkiye

REVIEWED BY

Coskun Yarar, Eskişehir Osmangazi University, Türkiye Mutluay Arslan, Gulhane Training and Research Hospital, Türkiye

*CORRESPONDENCE Valentina De Giorgis ⊠ valentina.degiorgis@mondino.it

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

RECEIVED 02 December 2022 ACCEPTED 24 January 2023 PUBLISHED 15 February 2023

CITATION

De Giorgis V, Ferraris C, Brena ML, Farris G, Gentilino V, Guglielmetti M, Marazzi C, Pasca L, Trentani C, Tagliabue A and Varesio C (2023) Classic ketogenic diet in parenteral nutrition in a GLUT1DS patient: Doing more with less in an acute surgical setting. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1114386. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1114386

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 De Giorgis, Ferraris, Brena, Farris, Gentilino, Guglielmetti, Marazzi, Pasca, Trentani, Tagliabue and Varesio. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Classic ketogenic diet in parenteral nutrition in a GLUT1DS patient: Doing more with less in an acute surgical setting

Valentina De Giorgis^{1,2*}, Cinzia Ferraris³, Mario Leo Brena⁴, Giorgio Farris⁴, Valerio Gentilino⁴, Monica Guglielmetti³, Claudia Marazzi³, Ludovica Pasca^{1,2}, Claudia Trentani³, Anna Tagliabue³ and Costanza Varesio^{1,2}

¹Department of Child Neurology and Psychiatry, IRCCS Mondino Foundation, Member of ERN-EpiCARE, Pavia, Italy, ²Department of Brain and Behavioral Sciences, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy, ³Human Nutrition and Eating Disorder Research Center, Department of Public Health, Experimental and Forensic Medicine University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy, ⁴Unit of Pediatric Surgery, Woman and Child Department, Filippo Del Ponte Hospital - ASST Sette Laghi, Varese, Italy

Ketogenic Dietary Treatments (KDTs) are to date the gold-standard treatment for glucose transporter type 1 (GLUT1) deficiency syndrome. Administration of KDTs is generally *per os*; however, in some conditions including the acute gastro-enteric post-surgical setting, short-term parenteral (PN) administration might be needed. We report the case of a 14-year-old GLUT1DS patient, following classic KDT for many years, who underwent urgent laparoscopic appendectomy. PN-KDT was required, after 1 day of fasting. No *ad hoc* PN-KDTs products were available and the patient received infusions of OLIMEL N4 (Baxter). On the sixth day postoperatively enteral nutrition was progressively reintroduced. The outcome was optimal with rapid recovery and no exacerbation of neurological manifestations. Our patient is the first pediatric patient with GLUT1DS in chronic treatment with KDT efficiently treated with exclusive PN for five days. This case reports on real-word management and the ideal recommendations for PN-KDT in an acute surgical setting.

KEYWORDS

GLUT1 deficiency syndrome, classic ketogenic diet, ketone bodies, parenteral nutrition, appendicitis, surgery

1. Introduction

Glucose Transporter Type 1 Syndrome (GLUT1DS) is a rare genetically determined neurometabolic disorder causing impaired glucose transport through the blood-brain barrier. The GLUT1DS key clinical features are mainly represented by eye-head movement abnormalities, epileptic seizures, neurodevelopmental impairment, deceleration of head growth, and movement disorders (1). Ketogenic dietary therapies (KDTs) -high-fat, carbohydrate-restricted, adequate proteins- are, to date, the gold standard treatment for the syndrome (2): ketone bodies can cross the blood-brain barrier and can be used as an alternative fuel for brain metabolism.

Ketogenic dietary therapies are generally administered *per os*; however, a variety of acute conditions, causing transient intestinal failure or in an immediate gastro-enteric post-surgical setting, might require complete bowel rest, thus requiring short-term parenteral administration as a bridge to the reintroduction of enteral KDTs (3). However, there are currently extremely

limited data, with less than 40 patients described up-to-date in literature, focusing on the feasibility and efficacy of parenteral nutrition (PN) KDTs (PN-KDTs) (4).

Herein, we present the first pediatric patient with GLUT1DS in chronic treatment with classic KDT (cKDT) efficiently treated with exclusive PN for 5 days.

2. Case report

We report the case of a 14 years old boy affected by GLUT1DS, whose clinical picture encompassed mild cognitive impairment, generalized epileptic seizures (atypical absences) at the age of three, partially controlled with valproic acid, and a paroxysmal movement disorder (characterized by paroxysmal exercised induced dystonia and episodes with choreoathetosis features). At the age of 5 years, genetic diagnosis of GLUT1DS was provided, and a classic ketogenic diet (cKD) with a 2.6:1 (fat to protein + carbohydrate) ratio was administered with complete resolution of epileptic seizures and movement disorder for more than 9 years. At the time of the event, the patient was not receiving any concomitant treatment. During the years, regular ketone monitoring revealed mean values of betahydroxybutyrate ranging from 1.6 to 2 mmol/L. Adequate minerals and vitamin supplementation were associated with KDT. The patient was regularly followed at Mondino Neurological Institute (Pavia) to monitor neurological and nutritional aspects, according to recent guidelines for KDTs (2).

No adverse events were derived from KDT implementation. At the last follow-up 2 months before the acute event, a stable clinical picture was documented, with an EEG substantially within normal limits.

Due to abdominal pain and vomiting, the patient was admitted to the Pediatric Emergency Department of Del Ponte Hospital (Varese). After surgical evaluation, the patient underwent laparoscopic appendectomy, which revealed a clinical picture of acute perforated gangrenous appendicitis with diffuse peritonitis. Broad-spectrum antibiotic combination therapy saline solution was administered as per internal Hospital protocol. The patient recovered well from surgery; however, after 1 day of fasting, based on daily consultation between surgeons and the patient's referral Keto-Team, PN-KDT was started as the boy was unable to tolerate enteral nutrition postoperatively. Data on parenteral and enteral nutrition management are shown in Table 1. PN was provided through a central venous catheter. Given the unavailability of ketogenic formulated products and of ad hoc galenic formulation production for PN-KDT in an emergency setting, where treatments with KDTs are not commonly used, the patient received infusion of OLIMEL N4 (Baxter). From the second to the fifth day of PN only OLIMEL N4 solution was administered, and the quantity was increased from 500 ml/day (equal to 560 kcal/day) to 1,440 ml/day (equal to 1,008 kcal). Since OLIMEL N4 (Baxter) is a non-ketogenic product, a rapid and conspicuous drop in ketonemia was expected. To partially overcome this inconvenience, the caloric intake was calculated to be lower than expected, to stimulate fasting ketones production. Hydration was administered according to water balance. Ketonemia was monitored every 6 h, with ketone levels in range (2.7 mmol/L) during the first day of fasting, and subsequent reduction ranging from 1 to 1.2 mmol/L. On the sixth day, enteral nutrition was progressively reintroduced through a ketogenic formulated product (Ketocal powder 3:1, Nutricia) (**Table 1**) *via* a nasogastric (NG) tube. The product was given in doses of 30 g, diluted in 120 ml of water, three times a day in addition to the PN-KDT. In the following 2 days, PN-KDT was progressively reduced, and at the same time, the NGtube feeding formula was increased to 45 g three and four times a day, respectively (**Table 1**). Solid food (cKD with a 2.6:1 ratio) was reintroduced after 9 days from surgery and was well tolerated. Close monitoring of serum electrolytes and metabolic profile was conducted without detecting clinically noteworthy changes.

No exacerbation of paroxysmal neurological symptoms was observed during PN, nor at the time of enteral feeding reintroduction. At subsequent follow-up 2 months and 6 months after surgery, the patient depicted good general health, no recurrence of paroxysmal neurological events, substantially normal EEG, normal blood tests, and blood glucose and ketonemia levels comparable to those before surgery.

3. Discussion

Up to now, PN-KDTs described in the literature were only administered in hospitals specialized in the management of KDTs, when the diet needed to be initiated and an enteral approach was not feasible due to an acute condition as, for example, refractory seizures or in patients with drug-resistant epilepsies, already on KDT, in whom an acute condition impaired enteral feeding (3). Some attempts to systematize the application and management of PN-KDTs have been proposed in recent years by van der Louw et al. (4) and by Dressler et al. (5). However, in Italy, only a few Centers are equipped for the chronic and acute management of KDTs. In a recent Italian web-based survey from our group aiming at investigating caregivers' perceptions about the management of a patient undergoing the cKD in the acute settings, it was highlighted that in a surgical context, the fasting duration, support therapies, and feeding after gastrointestinal surgical procedures should be considered as unsolved themes to be addressed by experts (6).

To the best of our actual knowledge, we reported the first GLUT1Ds patient receiving short-term parenteral nutrition in the immediate post-surgical period, in a setting where PN-KDTs products were unavailable. What we have done was quite different from the recommendations, reported in **Table 2**, due to the urgency of the condition and the unfavorable circumstances, but it was associated to prompt recovery of ketonemia at the typical pre-surgery values.

It is generally accepted that the introduction of parenteral nutrition should be considered when the pediatric patient cannot receive enteral feeding for more than 48 h (7). In such a context, particularly when the patient is already receiving KDTs as the only treatment, as in many GLUT1DS patients, early contact with the patient's referring keto-team is essential to establish an effective shared and coordinated management. If the patient had been admitted to a Reference Center for the ketogenic diet, individualized feeding and hydration plans would have been conceived considering his caloric and fluid needs. In this scenario, a theoretical plan for managing our patient is presented in **Table 2**. However, theoretical assumptions often clash with contingent reality in critical conditions, as underlined by our case. In particular, although theoretically all fluids containing dextrose should ideally be avoided, from a practical standpoint, management of our case supports the hypothesis that

TABLE 1 Timeline of Practical plan of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition (PEN) management.
--

	Type of f	feeding			Macro	nutrients		Total calories	Ketogenic ratio
		Velocity	Quantity	Total lipids (g)	Total AA (g)	Nitrogen (g)	Total glucose (g)		
1st day	Fasting								
2nd day	PN-Olimel N4	30 ml/h	800 ml/day	24	2,026	3.2	60	560	0.30
3rd day	PN-Olimel N4	40 ml/h	960 ml/day	288	2,432	3.84	72	672	0.30
4th day	PN-Olimel N4	50 ml/h	1,200 ml/day	36	304	4.8	90	840	0.30
5th day	PN-Olimel N4	60 ml/h	1,440 ml/day	432	3,648	5.76	108	1,008	0.30
6th day	PN-Olimel N4	80 ml/h	1,500 ml/day	45	38	6	11,25	16,899	1.67
	NG-tube	3 times/day	30 g	10,674	5,186		11,898		
7th day	PN-Olimel N4	60 ml/h	1,440 ml/day			5.76		19,6785	1.67
	NG-tube	3 times/day	45 g	13,581	5,727		11,772		
8th day	PN-Olimel N4	40 ml/h	960 ml/day			3.84		19,518	1.67
	NG-tube	4 times/day	45 g	15,228	5,204		8,496		
9th day	Solid food per os			2,088	456		341	2,230	2.62

TABLE 2	Timeline of Theoretical	plan for Parenteral and Entera	l Nutrition (PEN) management.
---------	-------------------------	--------------------------------	-------------------------------

	PN-Products	to be used			Macron	outrients		Total calories	Ketogenic ratio
		Velocity	Quantity	Lipid (g)	Amino Acid (g)	Nitrogen	Glucose (g)		
1st day	Aminoplasmal 10%	10 ml/h	300 ml		30			160	
	Glucose 5%	12 ml/h	200 ml				10		
	Fluids		as required						
2nd day	Aminoplasmal 10%	10 ml/h	300 ml		30			1,150	2.00
	Glucose 5%	25 ml/h	400 ml				20		
	Lipofundin 20%	32 ml/h	500 ml	100					
	Fluids		As required						
3rd day	Aminoplasmal 10%	22 ml/h	350 ml		35			1,427	2.08
	Glucose 5%	31 ml/h	500 ml				25		
	Lipofundin 20%	39 ml/h	625 ml	125					
	Fluids		As required						
4th day	Aminoplasmal 10%	26 ml/h	400 ml		40			1,685	2.31
	Glucose 5%	31 ml/h	500 ml				25		
	Lipofundin 20%	47 ml/h	750 ml	150					
	Fluids		As required						
5th day	Aminoplasmal 10%	28 ml/h	450 ml		45			1,943	2.50
	Glucose 5%	31 ml/h	500 ml				25		
	Lipofundin 20%	54 ml/h	875 ml	175					

in acute settings, when preparations for PN-KDTs are not available, standard intravenous solutions commercially available and promptly disposable at local hospitals might be at least an acceptable compromise.

As suggested by our case, their application should be limited to the very short period of the acute condition, and a change into enteral nutrition, with a slow increase in the amount of enteral feeding, should be promoted as soon as possible. Notably, short-term parenteral nutrition with commercially available formulations was revealed to be safe and well-tolerated in our patient. In addition, control of paroxysmal symptoms (both epileptic seizures and paroxysmal moment disorder) was maintained during the transition from enteral to parenteral nutrition and when switching back to enteral nutrition.

Our patient remained free from paroxysmal symptoms despite reducing ketosis from baseline. Such a condition was observed even

in the case series reported by Armeno et al. (3), thus raising the question about the need to maintain a high ketogenic ratio during PN-KDT. Although suboptimal, we believe that the ketonemia values presented by our patient during PN may have contributed to the non-occurrence of side effects. The most commonly reported side effects of PN-KDTs include increased lipids profile, insufficient ketosis, or hypoglycemia, whereas less frequently altered liver, and pancreatic functions have been described; they are usually transient and reversible by switching to enteral feeding (8). Therefore, careful monitoring of glucose and ketones levels, along with electrolytes, lipid profile, and liver and pancreatic enzymes, is mandatory (4). As stated by Van der Louw et al. (4), adverse events can be avoided by limiting parenteral nutrition to a very short period of the acute condition and promoting a change into enteral nutrition, with a slow increase in the amount of enteral feeding as soon as possible. Our case seem to confirm this observation.

In conclusion, our experience supports the idea that PN may be considered an efficient temporary solution toward enteral KD in those GLUT1DS patients who are temporarily prevented from enteral feeding due to acute medical or surgical gastroenteric pathologies. However, for proper management and monitoring of dietary aspects in such tricky conditions, the close and continuous collaboration of a multidisciplinary team daily supporting and sharing expertise with colleagues operating in the frontline emergency setting is essential.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Pavia Ethical Committee. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

References

1. Klepper J, Akman C, Armeno M, Auvin S, Cervenka M, Cross H, et al. Glut1 deficiency syndrome (Glut1DS): state of the art in 2020 and recommendations of the international Glut1DS study group. *Epilepsia Open*. (2020) 5:354–65.

2. Kossoff E, Zupec-Kania B, Auvin S, Ballaban-Gil K, Christina Bergqvist A, Blackford R, et al. Optimal clinical management of children receiving dietary therapies for epilepsy: updated recommendations of the international ketogenic diet study group. *Epilepsia Open.* (2018) 3:175–92. doi: 10.1002/epi4.12225

3. Armeno M, Verini A, Araujo M, Reyes G, Caraballo R. Ketogenic parenteral nutrition in three paediatric patients with epilepsy with migrating focal seizures. *Epileptic Disord.* (2019) 21:443–8. doi: 10.1684/epd.2019.1095

4. Van der Louw E, Aldaz V, Harvey J, Roan M, van den Hurk D, Cross J, et al. Optimal clinical management of children receiving ketogenic parenteral nutrition: a clinical practice guide. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2020) 62:48–56. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.14306

Author contributions

CV, CF, AT, and VD contributed to the conception and design of the report. VG, MB, GF, MG, CM, LP, and CT contributed to the acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of the data. All authors drafted the manuscript, critically revised the manuscript, agreed to be fully accountable for ensuring the integrity and accuracy of the work, and read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This work was partially supported by a Grant from Italian Ministry of Health RC 2021-2022.

Acknowledgments

We thank to the Italian GLUT1DS Association.

Conflict of interest

VD received research fundings and speaker fees from Eisai srl, GW Pharmaceuticals, Neu-raxpharm, Nutricia, Kanso, and Nestlè.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

5. Dressler A, Haiden N, Trimmel-Schwahofer P, Benninger F, Samueli S, Gröppel G, et al. Ketogenic parenteral nutrition in 17 pediatric patients with epilepsy. *Epilepsia Open.* (2017) 3:30–9. doi: 10.1002/epi4.1208

6. Pasca L, Varesio C, Ferraris C, Guglielmetti M, Trentani C, Tagliabue A, et al. Families' perception of classic ketogenic diet management in acute medical conditions: a web-based survey. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:2920. doi: 10.3390/nu1210 2920

7. Skillman H, Wischmeyer P. Nutrition therapy in critically ill infants and children. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr.* (2008) 32:520–34. doi: 10.1177/014860710832 2398

8. Lin K, Lin J, Wang H. Application of ketogenic diets for pediatric neurocritical care. *Biomed J.* (2020) 43:218–25. doi: 10.1016/j.bj.2020.0 2.002

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Bulent Unay, Health Sciences University, Türkiye, Türkiye

REVIEWED BY Patricia Maria Rusu, Monash University, Australia Ian A. Simpson, College of Medicine, The Pennsylvania State University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Angela D. Clontz 🖂 adclontz@email.meredith.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

RECEIVED 28 November 2022 ACCEPTED 14 February 2023 PUBLISHED 07 March 2023

CITATION

Clontz AD (2023) Ketogenic therapies for glioblastoma: Understanding the limitations in transitioning from mice to patients. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1110291. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1110291

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Clontz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Ketogenic therapies for glioblastoma: Understanding the limitations in transitioning from mice to patients

Angela D. Clontz*

Department of Nutrition, Meredith College, Raleigh, NC, United States

Glioblastoma Multiforme is an aggressive brain cancer affecting children and adults frequently resulting in a short life expectancy. Current cancer therapies include surgery and radiation followed by chemotherapy, which due to their ineffectiveness, requires repeated exposure to the same therapies. Since the 1990s, researchers and doctors have explored other therapies, such as diet therapies, to aid in combating gliomas. The ketogenic diet has gained popularity due to Otto Warburg's theory that tumor cells prefer "aerobic glycolysis" and cannot metabolize ketones. The inability of gliomas to use ketones provides an excellent opportunity to weaken the tumor while protecting healthy cells during cancer treatments. This review will examine some of the current research using the ketogenic diet as a form of cancer therapy to determine if this intervention is manageable and effective in patients with glioblastoma. Peer-reviewed articles from 2009 to 2019 were used. The primary objective is to distinguish differences between pre-clinical and clinical research to determine if the ketogenic diet is reproducible from mouse models into humans to determine its effectiveness. The analysis revealed several limitations of the ketogenic diet as an intervention. The effectiveness is more robust in mice than in human studies. Furthermore, tolerability is marginally supported in human studies requiring more reproducible research to validate that the intervention is manageable and effective in patients with glioblastoma.

KEYWORDS

glioblastoma, ketogenic diet, calorie restriction, low carbohydrate diet, diet intervention

1. Introduction

Glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) is a fatal form of brain cancer that affects adults and children (1, 2). It is immensely invasive due to its ability to become vascularized (2). Nonetheless, what makes GBM so deadly is its unique ability to repair damaged DNA from radiation and chemotherapy. This unique ability enables GBM to become treatment resistant creating new challenges for doctors and patients (2, 3).

Treatment for patients with GBM is a burdensome process. Standard treatment requires partial or complete tumor removal then radiation and chemotherapy for six to 9 months (1, 3). Yet, the aggressive, vascular nature of GBM leads to disease progression, otherwise known as tumor recurrence, around 6 months post-surgery and treatment (3).

When progression occurs, the protocol is to repeat the standard therapy. However, repeated exposure to radiation and certain chemotherapies, such as temozolomide, leads to inflammation

and edema in the brain (2–4). These symptoms precede seizures and other neurological disorders that decrease survivability (2, 5). Therefore, researchers consider the current therapies for treating GBM antiquated and seek novel cancer treatments that prolong patient survival.

Scientists have been investigating cancer metabolism to understand its role in treatment resistance as early as the 1920s (6). In the 1950s, Nobel Prize winner Otto Warburg made a significant scientific discovery in cancer metabolism. Warburg discovered that cancer cells use what he termed "aerobic glycolysis" to generate energy from the conversion of glucose to lactate at high rates, even when oxygen is present (6, 7) (Figure 1). His discovery claims that cancer cells use metabolic pathways that are faster at producing energy, even though less, due to defective mitochondrial respiration—suggesting that cancer cells do not metabolize ketones (5). Warburg's findings are well-recognized and cited throughout cancer research, and his conclusions coined the research term the "Warburg Effect" (5, 7–11). This discovery is an immense contributor to new cancer therapies, including exploring diet interventions utilizing calorie restriction (CR) and the ketogenic diet (KD) (8).

The KD is a nutritional intervention that encourages ketone production. Ketones, specifically acetoacetate and β -hydroxybutyrate, are



FIGURE 1

In normal cells, glycolysis only occurs in the cytoplasm under anaerobic conditions, which generates small amounts of energy. During aerobic conditions, normal cells prefer the TCA cycle and oxidative phosphorylation through the mitochondria. The Warburg Effect states that cancer cells prefer "aerobic glycolysis" for faster, safer energy production due to defective mitochondria. 1) In normal cells, pyruvate would be converted into Acetyl-CoA to start the TCA cycle. Due to dysfunctional mitochondrion (e.g., downregulated MPC, inhibition of PDH), cancer cells convert pyruvate to lactate to drive energy production. Subsequently, lactate is transported out of the cell *via* MCT, thus increasing the need for cancer cells to upregulate the SLCA21 gene to increase production of GLUT1 transporters allowing more glucose into the cell. 2) In healthy endothelial cells of the brain, BHB can be converted into Acetyl-CoA to facilitate the TCA cycle when glucose is low. Warburg states the process is not possible in cancer cells, and the reason for utilizing ketogenic diets in treating GBM. GLUT1, glucose transporter 1; DHAP, di-hydroxy acetone phosphate; GA3P, glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate; CoA, Coenzyme A; TCA, tricarboxylic acid; MPC, mitochondrial pyruvate carrier; PDH, pyruvate dehydrogenase; SLCA21, Solute Carrier Family 2 Member 1; MCT, Monocarboxylate transporter; BHB, β -hydroxybutyrate; MRC, mitochondrial respiratory complex; BHBdh, β -hydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase. Created with BioRender.com.

synthesized in the liver through a process called ketogenesis. During ketogenesis, fatty acids are broken down into ketones on an as-needed basis to generate energy (12, 13). This process usually accelerates during extended periods of fasting or CR when glucose is not readily available. In addition, insulin will be reduced creating a surge of fatty acids and ultimately activating ketogenesis (14). Since the brain relies heavily on glucose for energy, it will quickly resort to ketogenesis before any other organ in the body (15). Gliomas, however, are not so quick to convert to this process as they are considered "metabolically inflexible" due to impaired mitochondrial function (5, 10).

The first reported clinical research trial testing the Warburg Effect in patients with GBM was by Nebeling et al. in 1995 (16). The study used the KD to treat two children with advanced-stage brain tumors. The results cumulated from the study showed that a KD might be a possible adjuvant diet intervention with standard cancer therapy and increase patient survival.

The outcomes of this study spurred additional diet intervention research across the globe. Most of the research on the effect of the KD on brain tumors is in pre-clinical research (mouse models). Scientists perform in-depth examinations of the high-fat, low-carbohydrate diet to understand better its effect on brain tumors (gliomas) and survival in mice. However, there are fewer human clinical studies focusing on the KD in treating gliomas, specifically GBM. It is speculated that the few number of clinical trials is due to concerns over quality of life and well-being of terminally ill patients, not just due to diet tolerability and ketosis (5).

As there is a strong need for *de novo* cancer therapies in treating patients with GBM, this review aims to explore whether the KD combined with GBM cancer therapies is manageable and effective. This review will examine pre-clinical and clinical research that used a KD in treating GBM. The outcomes being measured to determine manageability and effectiveness include diet tolerability, tumor response, disease progression, and overall survival.

2. Methods

2.1. Search strategy

A literature search was performed through the Carlyle Campbell Library at Meredith College in Raleigh, North Carolina. A list of relevant key words was curated for both ketogenic diet and glioblastoma. The search included the following key terms: "ketogenic diet" and "glioblastoma," "ketogenic diet" and "gliomas," "calorie restriction" and "glioblastoma," "calorie restriction" and gliomas," "diet intervention" and "glioblastoma," "diet intervention" and "gliomas," and finally, "low-carbohydrate diet" and "glioblastoma," "low-carbohydrate diet" and "glioblastoma."

2.2. Study selection and data extraction

All initial studies identified from the searches were saved and uploaded into Covidence (RRID:SCR_016484) for title and abstract screening. Duplicate references were removed through the screening process. All eligible studies were reviewed in full by the author. A meta-analysis performed by Klement et al. provided additional screening of selected articles to confirm eligibility (17). Inclusion criteria for this review included only peer-reviewed, scholarly articles published in English between 2009 and 2019. Study designs were *in vivo* pre-clinical research, patient case studies, randomized controlled trials, and retrospective studies focusing on GBM being treated with a KD. Exclusion criteria included non-peer reviewed articles published before 2009, literature reviews, systematic reviews, meta-analyses, and articles that did not measure glioblastoma, ketogenic diet or low-carbohydrate diet related to tumor response or disease progression.

3. Results

3.1. Summary of search results

A total of 142 articles were identified with 59 duplicates removed. Eight-three abstracts were screened for relevance to measures and outcomes of interest with 56 studies deemed irrelevant. Twenty-seven articles were full text reviewed to confirm eligibility. After further review, 16 articles were considered not eligible thus leaving 11 articles that qualified for this review (Figure 2). Of the 11 articles included for this review, four were animal studies and six were human studies with one study combining both animal and human trial data. The total number of GBM patients treated with a KD, or low-carbohydrate diet, was 76 and the total number of mice was 190 (Table 1).



FIGURE 2

Flow diagram of search process. *N* is an abbreviation for number. Searches include: "ketogenic diet AND glioblastoma," "ketogenic diet AND gliomas," "calorie restriction AND glioblastoma," "calorie restriction AND gliomas," "diet intervention AND glioblastoma," "diet intervention AND gliomas," "low-carbohydrate diet AND glioblastoma," "low-carbohydrate diet AND gliomas." All initial studies retrieved from the search were uploaded to Covidence for title and abstract screening and reviewed for eligibility per outcomes being measured for the review.

TABLE 1 Study characteristics of articles investigating the KD in treating GBM.

Author	Country	Study purpose	Study type	Study population	Cell line	Study design	Max duration	Macronutrient composition	Conclusion
Abdelwahab et al. (7)	United States	To investigate the efficacy of a KD using KetoCal [®] and radiation therapy to treat malignant gliomas.	Mouse	n=60	GL261	Mice implanted with gliomas then randomized to SD or KetoCal [®] groups with or without radiation.	299 days	72% fat 15% protein 3% carbs	Mice fed KetoCal [®] alone had increased survival compared to those fed SD. KetoCal [®] plus radiation demonstrated absence of tumor growth in 80% of mice.
De Feyter et al. (18)	United States	Brain tumor tissue would show reduced oxidative ketone metabolism compared to non- tumorous brain tissue; brain tumor growth would be slower when mice are fed a KD and survival would be longer.	Mouse	<i>n</i> = 40	9L and RG2	Mice implanted with gliomas and randomized to KD or SD; MRI and MRS were used to assess tumor growth.	50 days	91% fat 9% protein 0% carbs	Gliomas can metabolize ketone bodies. No difference observed in ketone oxidation between gliomas and normal brain cells. KD did not demonstrate a positive effect in survival.
Lussier et al. (20)	United States	To investigate an unrestricted KD in alleviating tumor immune suppression in a malignant glioma.	Mouse	n=34	GL261	Mice implanted with gliomas and depleted of CD8 T cells; Randomized to 4:1 KetoCal [®] or SD; bioluminescence to measure tumor burden.	60 days	72% fat 15% protein 3% carbs	A KD may be feasible by reducing immune suppression and promoting immune mediated killing of the glioma. The use of a KD as adjuvant therapy with current and newer therapies for treating gliomas is supported by this data.
Mukherjee et al. (19)	United States	To determine if a KD paired with a glutamine antagonist could suppress tumor growth and prolong survival.	Mouse	n=24	VM-M3 and CT-2A	Mice received KetoGEN with calorie restriction and glutamine antagonist.	15 days	89.2% fat 8.7% protein 2.1% carbs	The benefits of using a glutamine antagonist in combination with a restricted KD can stop glioma cell growth and promote survival in mice.
Rieger et al. (24)	Germany	To investigate if KD affected efficacy of bevacizumab.	Mouse	n=32	U87MG	Mice randomized to KetoCal [®] or SD and given chemotherapy twice a week.	28 days	72% fat 15% protein 3% carbs	KD showed strong effect to chemotherapy and affecting ATP levels in the tumor.
Elsakka et al. (10)	Egypt	To demonstrate a KD with hyperbaric oxygen therapy and calorie-restriction enhance metabolic efficiency in normal brain cells while inhibiting tumor metabolism.	Human	<i>n</i> = 1 38-year old male	GBM	Individual case study of calorie-restricted KD with hyperbaric oxygen therapy, radiation, and chemotherapy. MRI and MRS to measure tumor growth and assess metabolites.	20 months	71% fat 22% protein 7% carbs 900 kcals/day	KD reduced lactic acid fermentation that inhibited tumor growth as well as reduced inflammation and edema in the brain. This environment reduced tumor invasion after surgery. Increased ketone bodies fueled and protected the patient's normal cells from the oxidative stress of radiation/chemotherapy treatment.

(Continued)

10.3389/fnut.2023.1110291

TABLE 1 (Continued)

Author	Country	Study purpose	Study type	Study population	Cell line	Study design	Max duration	Macronutrient composition	Conclusion
Woodhouse et al. (5)	United States	To assess the feasibility and safety of the MAD in attaining ketosis in patients with gliomas.	Human	n = 29 males = 17 females = 12 ages = 30-76	GBM grade II-IV	Retrospective study that assessed medical records for patients with documented ketone values who received the MAD.	24 months	<20 g carbs/day	MAD is feasible and safe during radiation and chemotherapy treatment for patients with gliomas. Ketones may be a radiation sensitizer especially in non-methylated GBMs.
Zuccoli et al. (1)	Italy	To determine if a restricted KD combined with standard cancer therapy is effective in managing tumor growth.	Human	n=1 65-year- old female	GBM grade IV with MGMT gene	Individual case study of a patient who completed a calorie-restricted KD (KetoCal [®]) and chemoradiation therapy.	13 months	72% fat 15% protein 3% carbs 600 kcals/day	GBM treated with a restricted KD showed evidence of rapid regression of disease following surgery.
Artzi et al. (11)	Israel	To detect and characterize changes in brain metabolites in patients with high grade gliomas treated with a KD using ¹ H-MRS.	Human	n = 9 male = 5 female = 4 ages = 27-69	Gliomatosis Cerebri and GBM	Patients with GBM treated with KetoCal [®] and chemotherapies, then scanned with ¹ H-MRS every other month to detect ketone metabolism until off study.	31 months	72% fat 15% protein 3% carbs	Two out of 5 patients with KetoCal [®] had brain tissue ketone detection. Patient with gliomatosis cerebri had a clear shift from glucose to ketone metabolism with KD alone. Inconclusive findings in other three patients. One patient had ketone detection within the tumor. Diet compliance was intermittent.
Champ et al. (8)	United States	To assess the safety of a KD, and its effect on glucose levels, when used as adjuvant therapy with radiation and chemotherapy.	Human	<i>n</i> =6 ages 34–62	GBM grade III-IV	Retrospective medical record review of patients with high grade gliomas with documented glucose levels and serum ketone levels who consulted the treating physician about the KD as a form of treatment.	12 months	77% fat 15% protein 8% carbs	KD is considered safe and well-tolerated as an adjuvant therapy to cancer therapies. Restriction of carbohydrates to reduce glucose levels may improve treatment response and overall survival. The average time on diet was 7 months. 2 out of 6 patients had tumor recurrence.
van der Louw et al. (23)	Netherlands	Assess the feasibility and safety of the KD as a treatment option for patients with recurrent GBM.	Human	<i>n</i> = 10 male = 9 females = 1 ages = 33-65	GBM	Open-label, non-randomized study of recurrent GBM after surgical resection and chemoradiation. Patients received liquid and solid KDs.	14 weeks	Liquid: 88.8% fat 8.2% protein 2% carbs Solid: 88.4% fat 7.6% protein 8% carbs	60% diet compliance. Ketosis was reached within a week with no major side effects. The use of a KD as adjuvant therapy to standard cancer treatment, is feasible and safe in patients with GBM.
Rieger et al. (24)	Germany	To investigate the safety and tolerability of a KD in patients with recurrent GBM.	Human	Human: <i>n</i> = 20 male = 7 females = 13 ages = 30–72	Human = GBM	Open-label, pilot study with recurrent GBM greater than 6 months post-surgery and greater than 3 months post- radiotherapy.	16 weeks	Human: <60 g carb/day	KD is safe and tolerable in treating patients with GBM. Ketosis is not achieved indicating a genetic or unknown factor affecting the patients from achieving this state.

frontiersin.org

n, number; KD, ketogenic diet; SD, standard diet; 'H-MRS, proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy; MAD, modified Atkin's die 46 astoma multiforme; MRS, magnetic resonance spectroscopy.

3.2. Analysis of the KD to treat mice with GBM

Since using the KD in treating patients with GBM is still exploratory, most diet intervention research is conducted in mouse models to understand how the diets affect gliomas. Specifically, to the KD, many variations have been tested in mice to determine efficacy. Of the five mouse studies examined, variations included a liquid KD, calorie-restricted KD (CR-KD), and an unrestricted KD. Even with the studies utilizing different percentages of fat, protein, and carbohydrates, the ratio stayed around 4:1 (4 grams of fat to 1 gram of protein and 1 gram of carbohydrates). The macronutrients averaged 80% fat, 15% protein, and 5% carbohydrates across the animal studies (7, 18–20).

Tumor response while treated with a KD is a significant outcome to measure in mice. Most of the animals treated with a KD showed noteworthy results regarding tumor response. For instance, Abdelwahab et al. and Lussier et al. reported increased tumor response in mice treated with the KD compared to a standard diet (SD) (7, 20). Abdelwahab et al. included radiation treatment with either the KD or SD, which simulates typical treatment in humans. Both researchers also used a liquid formula called KetoCal[®] that is generally provided to patients with epilepsy to help minimize seizures.

Nine out of 11 mice that Abdelwahab et al. treated with radiation and KetoCal[®] showed satisfactory tumor response with no evidence of tumor recurrence for 104 days. Tumor burden was measured using bioluminescence with injections of luciferase prior to imaging. One mouse in the KetoCal[®] without radiation group experienced no tumor burden for 200 days before sacrifice. The tumor response for all mice on the KD, with or without radiation, was more compelling than the SD groups with the same treatment. These results display a possible correlation that the KD could enhance tumor response for patients when receiving radiation treatment.

Lussier et al. investigated whether an unrestricted KD could enhance immunotherapy treatment in mice implanted with GL261-Luc2 tumor cells (20). The mice were depleted of CD8+T lymphocytes before tumor implantation and diet intervention to decrease immune function. Researchers designed four treatment groups that received either a KD or an SD with or without CD8+T cells. Both groups on the KD with or without CD8+T cells had decreased tumor growth reported by bioluminescence compared to both SD groups. Of note, the mice in the KD group with CD8+T cells exhibited increased CD8+T cell production that infiltrated the tumor. These results support the notion that a KD can enhance immune function and tumor recognition when treated with immunotherapies.

Since several mouse models support the effectiveness of a KD as a treatment for gliomas, the replication of these outcomes continued to reinforce the theory of the Warburg Effect (5, 7-11). However, in a study by De Feyter et al. ketones were found in glioma cells wavering that gliomas can metabolize ketones (18).

De Feyter et al. tested whether gliomas could utilize ketone bodies for energy production *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In specific, 9L and RG2 tumor cells were tested. Mice received either a KD with CR or an SD. The researchers incorporated CR to induce high levels of ketones in the brain.

In vitro, De Feyter et al. exposed RG2 tumors to high levels of ketones and low levels of glucose. Analysis showed the cells

demonstrated β -hydroxybutyrate oxidation but at a low rate. This finding indicated that at least the RG2 cell line may be able to metabolize ketones. When the same *in vitro* technique was applied to the 9L cell line, the tumor cells could not metabolize ketones.

On the contrary, the animal studies that De Feyter et al. performed showed different results from the *in vitro* experiments. Both 9L and RG2 cell lines implanted into the animals in the KD with CR group showed a high presence of ketones when compared to the SD group. De Feyter et al. investigated MCT1 since this is a transporter that allows the passage of lactate, pyruvate, and ketones into a cell. The researchers acknowledged a "stronger MCT1 immunoreactivity was observed in the RG2 gliomas when animals were fed the KD" (18).

Due to the discrepancies between the animal studies and cell cultures, the *in vitro* testing was repeated, exposing cells to low glucose with ketones or just low glucose. The second analysis showed that neither group demonstrated defined β -hydroxybutyrate oxidation.

The animals were examined for the effectiveness of the intervention on tumor growth and prolonged survival. De Feyter et al. reported the diet intervention did not affect tumor growth or overall survival based on imaging results and immunostaining for Ki-67 (a tumor proliferation biomarker). This discovery may be a case to reject the Warburg Effect theory indicating that glioma cells could use glycolysis or β -hydroxybutyrate oxidation for energy production and proliferation.

Further exploration into other forms of cancer metabolism was examined by Mukherjee et al (19). Their testing expanded beyond glycolysis and β -hydroxybutyrate oxidation in gliomas. Several references noted by Mukherjee et al. mention that gliomas utilize glucose and glutamine for energy production. They further conclude that cancer therapies increase glutamine in tumor cells allowing the cells to utilize the glutamine-glutamate cell cycle to generate energy readily.

Mukherjee et al. experimented with VM-M3 and CT-2A cell lines, which differed from the cell lines De Feyter et al. examined. According to Mukherjee et al., these cell lines have higher incidences of spontaneous and rapid growth throughout the brain, and the reason for use in the experiment. The researchers also used 6-diazo-5-oxo-L-norleucine (DON), which inhibits several enzymes and metabolic pathways, including the enzyme required for glutaminolysis, in gliomas. Concurrently, the mice received a CR-KD to reduce glucose further (19).

After three consecutive experiments using an SD with or without DON or a CR-KD with or without DON on VM-M3 cells, the mice Mukherjee et al. treated with the intervention and DON had the highest tumor response and overall survival compared to both control groups (44% compared to 19%). These findings indicate that the KD assisted in decreasing glucose in combination with the glutamine antagonist to stop tumor growth. In the CT-2A cells, the groups that received the intervention with DON saw reductions in cell growth and increased cell arrest. These results support the Warburg Effect theory and suggest that glutamine is vital in glioma survival. In the case of De Feyter et al., this research could speculate that specific cell lines of gliomas are potentially susceptible to β -hydroxybutyrate oxidation or are better equipped to adapt to their changing environment to survive.

Even though tumor response is a primary outcome of many mouse models to determine the effectiveness of a treatment or intervention, prolonged survival is just as crucial as a secondary objective. Once implanted with glioma cells, mice typically only survive 15 to 18 days without treatment or intervention (7). For a mouse to survive beyond this time is considered a significant finding. The mouse research discussed in this review demonstrated that after implantation with gliomas and exposure to a KD, with or without other interventions, survival beyond 18 days was observed to support prolonged survival with a KD as therapy.

Many mouse models provide enough support for the Warburg Effect theory and that the KD is an effective treatment for gliomas. The KD combined with radiation therapy may be an ideal adjuvant treatment for patients with GBM. With these favorable mouse results, research branched out into the clinical setting. Can these same favorable results be replicated in clinical trials and demonstrate that a KD is a beneficial and effective therapy for patients?

3.3. Analysis of the KD to treat patients with GBM

In the seven human trials examined for this review, tumor response, disease progression, and overall survival were the primary outcomes to determine efficacy. These outcomes were similar in the mouse models, but, the results varied and were less prominent in the human trials. One possible reason is that mice have no choice in which diet or treatment they are given, and their environment is easily controlled and manipulated for conformity to the intervention. Human trials are more complex than mouse studies because multiple variables exist, and human genetics may be an outlier in treatment intervention. But simply, safety and tolerability are the main factors when experimenting with diet therapy in terminally ill patients.

The first study using a KD as an intervention in an adult patient with GBM was presented by Zuccoli et al (1). The patient in the singlecase study was administered a CR-KD and reported no issues or complaints. However, laboratory values indicated a safety concern. In this intervention, a patient underwent treatment for GBM that included surgery, radiation, and the drug temozolomide (TMZ). The patient was given a KD that consisted of 600 kcals/day before starting radiation therapy and chemotherapy.

After 35 days, the diet changed to CR only due to high uric acid levels posing a safety concern. Even with stopping the KD and only continuing the CR, the patient did not exhibit tumor recurrence until 3 months after stopping the CR (1). This study supports one patient experienced diet tolerability, but ketoacidosis is still a safety concern. Yet, many of the articles included in this review support high levels of ketones for optimal results with standard cancer therapies.

As clinical trials start to show favorable tolerability results, a small retrospective study conducted by Champ et al. evaluated the safety of the KD and its effect on glucose levels (8). The study looked at patients with grade III-IV GBM who were given a KD with chemoradiation between March 2010 to April 2013. The patients completed the KD before, during, and after chemoradiation treatment. In addition to MRI data to verify tumor response and disease progression, they used the Revised Assessment in Neuro-Oncology (RANO) scale to provide additional data on tumor response and overall survival. The RANO scale was developed around 2011 and uses qualitative and quantitative analysis of MRI results to measure tumor size in response to treatments (22).

Champ et al. indicated that six patients out of 53 qualified for the analysis as determined by verifiable blood glucose values and being on a KD. The average blood glucose value prior to starting the KD was 127.7 mg/dl and dropped to 92.3 mg/dl during treatment. Moreover, three out of six patients received steroids during the treatment that may have adversely affected glucose levels. The control included patients on an SD who received chemoradiation therapy during the same period. The SD group had an average blood glucose value of 122 mg/dl during radiation therapy.

Even with only minor decreases in glucose levels, Champ et al. reported no adverse events or diet intolerability. However, only four out of six patients had confirmed ketosis by urine tests. For ketosis to be verifiable, blood glucose values must be <100 mg/dl and urine ketones $\geq 2 \text{ mmol/L} (11, 17)$. Furthermore, Champ et al. mentioned that one patient included in the analysis opted to do CR with a KD. This patient had confirmed disease progression after 1 month of the diet therapy, but the disease later resolved without further requirement of chemoradiation through 12 months post-intervention.

Champ et al. further concluded that the average survival rate of the patients observed was 14 months post-treatment and intervention, and the average time to progression was around 10 months. These results support the KD affecting glucose levels in gliomas, even without the patient reaching a state of ketosis, for improved tumor response to cancer treatments.

Another notable clinical trial by van der Louw et al. involved a cross-over study design examining patients with GBM on two types of KD (23). The diet intervention began with liquid KetoCal[®] (4:1 ratio) at 2,400 kcals/day for 8 weeks, followed by a solid KD (2:1 ratio, which is 2 grams of fat to 1 gram of protein and 1 gram of carbohydrates) at 2,835 kcal/day for an additional 6 weeks. The study focused on safety and tolerability of a liquid KD versus a solid KD with chemoradiation. Van der Louw et al. determined tolerability would be achieved if patients had 60% diet compliance over the 14 week-intervention by reviewing food diaries. Safety was monitored by levels of glucose and urine ketones. Coping questionnaires were provided to the patients to measure their quality of life while on the diet.

Van der Louw et al. enrolled 11 patients but only nine achieved full ketosis as determined by urine testing. Six of the nine patients maintained diet compliance while completing the study, and four continued the KD while receiving a second chemoradiation treatment. No adverse events were reported during the study. However, responses to the coping questionnaire indicated that patients, and their partners, found the solid KD intervention challenging to maintain. Patients also reported nutrition counseling during the study was needed for motivation to continue the diet therapy rather than for support to maintain defined calories and macronutrient percentages.

Even with low coping scores, van der Louw et al. reported that the average survival of patients on the diet intervention was 12.8 months. This data supports that a KD is safe and mildly tolerable but does improve life expectancy this data supports that a KD is safe, mildly tolerable, and that diet therapy may improve life expectancy (2, 5). If patients with GBM can overcome the difficulties of maintaining a KD, this may allow enough time for ketones to develop to suppress tumor growth and protect brain tissue from chemoradiation (5, 10). Better response rates to cancer treatments decrease disease progression and increase survival.

In 2007, a pilot study was conducted by Rieger et al. that focused on feasibility of a KD therapy for patients with GBM (24). The study concluded in 2011; therefore, is included in this review. Rieger et al. evaluated the safety and tolerability of using a KD without CR in GBM patients who had disease progression. This study was intriguing as it included multiple aims and multiple qualitative and quantitative measurements in the study design.

The patients included in the study had to have shown disease progression within 6 months of surgery and within 3 months of receiving radiation or relapse during or after chemotherapy. Patients were placed on a low-carbohydrate diet with meal planning and recipes to guide them. The patients were allowed to eat to satiety but could only consume at least 60 g/day of carbohydrates. In addition, patients had options to consume yogurt drinks with a 3:2:1 ratio of grams of fat to protein to carbohydrates as needed.

Of the 20 patients enrolled, Rieger et al. reported that three patients discontinued early due to diet intolerability. Eight patients stayed on the diet intervention while undergoing additional cancer therapy. The remaining patients stayed on the diet intervention through the efficacy period but later stopped the diet. At least 92% of the patients had confirmed urine ketosis at least once during the intervention. Moreover, two patients had stable disease (no progression) after 6 weeks on the diet, while one presented with a minor tumor response considered related to the diet.

Rieger et al. also evaluated overall survival; the average survival after therapy was 32 weeks. These results are slightly less encouraging than van der Louw et al., who reported an overall survival of about 12.8 months, and Champ et al., who reported survival through 14 months. As Rieger et al. indicated, some of the patients discontinued the intervention thus possibly contributing to the lower average in survival. This information may indicate that a low-carbohydrate diet induces ketosis for better tumor response to treatments.

Another cross-over study by Elsakka et al. investigated a CR-KD followed by an unrestricted KD in treating a patient with low-grade GBM (10). This study added hyperbaric oxygen therapy (HBOT) that generates oxidative stress on the glioma. The CR-KD was a 4:1 ratio with 900 kcal/day; at 9 months, the diet switched to a KD without CR of 1,500 kcal/day. In addition, the patient received a total of 20 sessions of HBOT post-surgery.

Elsakka et al. reported that the 38-year-old patient had a partial resection of a low-grade glioma after a 21-day CR-KD. The patient was further treated with chemoradiation followed by TMZ for 6 months. Afterward, the patient switched to the unrestricted KD for 10 months. The patient's ketone levels averaged 2 mmol/L, and glucose levels averaged 65 mg/dl. At 24 months, the MRI results showed that the residual tumor decreased in size by 1.5 cm, and the patient was still alive with no disease progression. These results suggest that a cross-over CR to unrestricted KD in combination with HBOT may enhance tumor response and increase survival. The downside is that low-grade gliomas are noted to have better treatment responses than higher-grade gliomas (11).

In 2019, a different diet intervention emerged in treating patients with GBM. As there were still concerns about patient tolerability and safety, Woodhouse et al. experimented with a modified Atkin's diet (MAD) (5). The study assessed if MAD could aid cancer therapy to reduce repeated exposure to chemoradiation. This cancer treatment is known for causing pseudoprogression.

Pseudoprogression is swelling and inflammation in the brain and around the tumor due to repeated doses of chemoradiation that can lead to decreased survival (3).

Woodhouse et al. enrolled 29 patients between the ages of 30 and 77. The MAD was a 1:2 ratio of fat to protein with <20 g/day of carbohydrates. The purpose of the 1:2 ratio was to test a more manageable diet that patients could tolerate while allowing them to achieve ketosis to reduce inflammation.

Woodhouse et al. defined ketosis as the presence of ketones > 1 mmol/L, which was lower than the requirements for the study conducted by van der Louw et al. Even with 79% of the patients achieving ketosis by this value, 17% had disease progression. However, overall survival showed that 26.7% of the patients were still alive 2 years post-treatment. This survival time was the longest reported in all clinical trials included in this review. These results support that dietary interventions with calorie or carbohydrate restriction can be tolerated and could increase overall survival in terminally ill patients.

4. Discussion

4.1. Limitations in determining the effectiveness of a KD in treating patients with GBM

The pre-clinical and clinical research articles compiled for this review demonstrate support for the KD in treating patients with GBM. Mice demonstrated positive tumor responses to the KD, with some mice experiencing prolonged survival. The handful of clinical trials or human research studies showed positive results toward tolerability, tumor response, and prolonged survival. However, the methods used in these studies were equivocal as definitive support for a KD as adjuvant therapy to cancer treatment. In the pre-clinical and clinical studies, the glioma cell lines, diet interventions, glucose levels, and ketone levels were not all consistent to draw a valid correlation (Table 2). Other factors, such as genetics and glioma grade, may affect treatment efficacy with diet and drug interventions.

Several cell lines of gliomas can be tested in cell culture and mouse models. However, animal research is expensive and cumbersome. Specific cell lines of gliomas are more expensive than others, especially the aggressive cell lines common in humans (25). Scientists may need more funding to acquire these aggressive cells for adequate research. For example, most of the cell lines used in the mouse studies were GL261, 9L, and RG2. The most aggressive human glioma cell lines, not used in the mice, are LN229, SNB19, U87, and U251.

According to Burden-Gulley et al., the best comparable glioma cell lines are LN229 and CNS-1 or any other cell lines obtained from human cancer tissue (26). Without testing these more human-relatable cancer cells, the effectiveness of a KD in patients with GBM is not adequately represented for reproducibility. Researchers should consider using genetically engineered mice that may enhance results that are reproducible in humans (27).

Shelton et al. conducted research in mice using highly invasive VM-M3 and CNS-1 glioma cells that could represent more

TABLE 2 Summary of Limitations and Inconsistencies Between Pre-Clinical and Clinical Research Treating GE	3M.
---	-----

Author	Country	Study type	Diet intervention	Limitations	Inconsistencies observed between studies	Advantages
Abdelwahab et al. (7)	United States	Mouse	KetoCal®	 High glucose levels Low to moderate ketone levels Non-aggressive cell line Intervention started 4 days after implantation 	Different glioma cell line	• Used radiation representative of standard cancer treatment seen in clinical setting
De Feyter et al. (18)	United States	Mouse	91% fat diet with 0% carbs	High glucose levelsNon-aggressive cell line	 Different glioma cell line Different macronutrient diet Gliomas were able to utilize ketones No effect on survival 	 Intervention started 7 days post- implantation that would better represent late-stage tumor growth as seen in humans High ketone levels
Lussier et al. (20)	United States	Mouse	KetoCal [®]	Intervention started 4 days after implantationGlucose and ketone levels not reported	Focused on immunotherapyUsed immunodeficient miceMeasured tumor response but not overall survival	• None
Rieger et al. (24)	Germany	Mouse	KetoCal [®]	Glucose levels not reportedLow ketone levels	• Different glioma cell line	 Intervention started 7 days post- implantation that would better represent late-stage tumor growth as seen in humans Used chemotherapy representative of standard cancer treatment seen in clinical setting
Mukherjee et al. (19)	United States	Mouse	KetoGEN	Intervention started 4 days after implantationHigh glucose levelsLow ketone levels	 Used DON Different glioma cell line Used calorie restriction with KD Different macronutrient diet 	Glutamine antagonist helped stop tumor growth in combination with KD
Elsakka et al. (10)	Egypt	Human	Comparable to KetoCal [®] used in mice	Single-case studyAdded another therapy that may not be available in all clinical settings	Used calorie restriction and water fast with KDUsed HBOT	 Intervention reduced inflammation and edema in the brain Low glucose levels High ketone levels
Woodhouse et al. (5)	United States	Human	MAD	Glucose levels not reportedRetrospective studySome patients had MGMT gene	Different macronutrient dietIntervention only used during chemotherapySome patients had low-grade GBM	Moderate to high ketone levelsReported diet as tolerable
Zuccoli et al. (1)	Italy	Human	KetoCal®	Single-case studyPatient had MGMT genePatients received steroid treatment	Used calorie restriction and water fast with KDSwitch patient to calorie restriction only	 Low glucose levels Moderate to high ketone levels Reported tumor response and survival

(Continued)

10.3389/fnut.2023.1110291

TABLE 2 (Continued)

Author	Country	Study type	Diet intervention	Limitations	Inconsistencies observed between studies	Advantages
Artzi et al. (11)	Israel	Human	KetoCal [®]	 Small sample size Patient with low-grade glioma demonstrated favorable response to treatment Glucose levels not reported Not all patients were consistent with intervention 	 Patients started intervention at different times in relation to chemotherapy Treated a patient without GBM and included in results 	High ketone levels
Champ et al. (8)	United States	Human	Comparable to KetoCal [®] used in mice	 Small sample size Retrospective study Moderate to high glucose levels Low ketone levels Patients received steroid treatment 	 Not all patients had reported ketone levels Patients started intervention at different times in relation to chemotherapy 	 Diet reported as tolerable Reported overall survival and tumo response with RANO
Rieger et al. (24)	Germany	Human	< 60 g carbs/day	Pilot studyPatients received steroid treatmentLow ketone levelsModerate to high glucose levels	 Different macronutrient diet Reported genetics or unknown factors affected inability to achieve ketosis 	• Diet reported as tolerable
van der Louw et al. (23)	Netherlands	Human	KetoCal [®] and 2:1 ratio KD	 Small sample size Non-randomized 60% diet compliance Moderate to high glucose levels 	Used two different types of KDDifferent macronutrient diets	High ketone levels

KD, ketogenic diet; GBM, glioblastoma multiforme; HBOT, hyperbaric oxygen therapy; DON, 6-diazo-5-oxo-L-norleucine; MAD, modified Atkins diet; RANO, Revised Assessment in Neuro-Oncology; MGMT, O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase.

reproducible results for patients with GBM (28). The results of their research provided support for the genetic and metabolic characteristics of human gliomas.

Of the mouse models included in this review, Mukherjee et al. tested the VM-M3 and CT-2A cells in mice. These gliomas were targeted as comparable cell lines for reproducing diet interventions and cancer therapy in patients with GBM. In addition, Mukherjee et al. also started the KD seven days after implantation of the gliomas to provide a more realistic biomarker for human disease onset. Some of the mouse models started the KD before tumor implantation and others immediately after recovery from the implantation (17). The presence of high ketones and low glucose to a newly implanted tumor may have a significant effect on tumor growth in an *in vivo* environment. Early glioma development in a human with high ketones and low glucose is most likely a rare occurrence.

Just as in mice, there are many factors that can affect the effectiveness of a KD in treating patients with GBM. Of the articles reviewed, a handful indicated that some patients with GBM had a genetically modified strain. This variation is the presence of a promoter gene called O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase (MGMT) that turns off transcription for DNA repair in tumors when exposed to radiation or chemotherapy (5, 29). If MGMT genes are present in patients, the glioma will respond to chemoradiation with or without a diet intervention (30). This modified version of GBM can elicit a false positive result in diet intervention therapies with cancer treatment.

Another inconsistency observed in the pre-clinical research was the lack of standard cancer therapy. All but two of the mouse models did not use any standard cancer treatment (radiation or chemotherapy) to treat the mice. The KD was the only intervention used to treat the gliomas. In patients, this will not be a likely scenario. Patients diagnosed with GBM will most likely undergo treatment with surgery, radiation, and chemotherapy (1, 3, 5, 8, 10, 23). As the mouse models mostly used non-human cell lines, and researchers can control an animal's diet and environment, this monotherapy intervention may be suitable for mice but is not an accurate representation of reallife events.

Only one study was found for this review that evaluated a patient who was solely treated with a KD. Artzi et al. assessed ketone metabolites in the brain of patients with gliomas when treated with a KD (11). Out of the nine patients in the experiment, only one did the KD alone without standard cancer therapy. This intervention may have been chosen or recommended because the patient had a low-grade glioma that cannot be treated with the same GBM cancer therapy. This patient did maintain stable disease throughout the diet intervention. However, the KD alone did not decrease the tumor size or prolong survival.

The primary outcome assessed by Artzi et al. was to determine if gliomas can metabolize ketones. As most clinical KD studies monitored ketone levels *via* urine tests, this study experimented whether urine ketones could accurately represent total cerebral ketones. The study used proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (¹H-MRS) to take images of the brain to determine if ketones exist either in the brain or in the tumor. Artzi et al. showed three patients maintained high levels of ketones (at least 2 mmol/L) according to urine tests, but ¹H-MRS detected no ketones in the brain. Mouse models show favorable results with average serum ketone levels of 1.9 mmol/L. The urine ketone levels in patients averaged 1.8 mmol/L. The inconsistent ketone testing between both types of research leads to a mixed review on this topic. Based on the compiled information between the pre-clinical and clinical interventions, the KD may be more effective in treating GBM if patients can safely achieve serum ketone levels of 3 mmol/L or higher.

Ketone levels were one of the inconsistent findings making the effectiveness of this intervention challenging to assess. Glucose values were also not consistent (Table 3). As the low-carbohydrate and high-fat diets were aimed to deplete circulating glucose levels available to gliomas, not all mouse models included these values. For the studies that did, the glucose levels were between 90 and 160 mg/dl. It was not discussed if the levels in mice were comparable to human levels.

When addressing glucose levels in patients with GBM, it should be discussed that some cancer therapies can increase glucose and glutamine levels in the brain. This increase can make it problematic to use the KD to deplete enough glucose while maintaining patient safety and diet tolerability. Patients with GBM may experience inflammation and swelling of the brain as part of radiation therapy (2–4). The increased swelling can lead to seizures and other neurological dysfunctions that can be detrimental to the patient (5). When this occurs, doctors prescribe steroids to control the swelling and inflammation (31). This is an unfortunate situation for the KD since steroid use increases glucose levels defeating the purpose of the KD (17).

Finally, many of the KDs implemented in these experiments used relatively low percentages of protein in addition to carbohydrates. Even though glucose is a primary driver of cancer metabolism, amino acids also have a strong presence in cancer cells to allow them to thrive. Many tumor cells rely on leucine, methionine, glutamine, and arginine to regulate growth and promote survival through cellular pathways such as mTOR and PI3K (32, 33). Since the average percentage of protein consumed in both the animal and human studies was around 14%, a decrease in amino acids may be a confounding factor for tumor response with the diets.

5. Conclusion

GBM continues to be one of the deadliest brain tumors affecting people of all ages across the world. The current treatment regimens are not proving to be effective in preventing disease progression or prolonging survival. As patients with GBM typically survive about 15 months after diagnosis, GBM is one of the most researched cancers to find better and safer treatments. With the current therapy consisting of surgery, radiation, and chemotherapy, this course of treatment exposes patients to further brain damage.

Since the 1920s, doctors and scientists have tested CR diets and KDs for treating many diseases and disorders. For example, the KD is well known for being studied in patients with epilepsy to help control seizures (7, 21). This phenomenon of ketones aiding in treatments is centuries old and continues to be explored in bounteous science disciplines. Cancer therapies and diet interventions display a defined connection to Otto Warburg and the Warburg Effect.

TABLE 3 Glucose, ketone, and insulin levels while using the KD in treating GBM.

Author	Country	Study type	Glucose levels	Ketone levels (BHB)	Insulin levels	KD methods
Abdelwahab et al. (7)	United States	Mouse	Post-implantation	Post-implantation	Not reported	• SD for 3 days post-implantation.
			<u>Day 6</u>	<u>Day 6</u>		• Randomized to stay on SD or start KD with or without radiation
			KD = 160 mg/dL	KD = 1.3 mmol/L		on day 4.
			KD + Radiation = 140 mg/dL	KD + Radiation = 2.2 mmol/L		• Radiation given to respective groups on days 3 and 5
			<u>Day 13</u>	<u>Day 13</u>		post-implantation.
			KD = 150 mg/dL	KD = 1.2 mmol/L		
			KD + Radiation = 160 mg/dL	KD+Radiation=1.6 mmol/L		
De Feyter et al. (18)	United States	Mouse	Post-implantation	Post-implantation	Not reported	• KD started 7 days post-implantation.
			<u>Day 11</u>	<u>Day 11</u>		
			90 mg/dL	3.5 mmol/L		
			<u>Day 15</u>	<u>Day 15</u>		
			90 mg/dL	3.0 mmol/L		
			<u>Day 18</u>	<u>Day 18</u>		
			115.2 mg/dL	2.5 mmol/L		
Lussier et al. (20)	United States	Mouse	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	• SD for 3 days post-implantation.
						• Randomized to stay on SD or start KD on day 4.
Rieger et al. (24)	Germany	Mouse	Not reported	KD alone:	Not reported	• Randomized to KD or SD 7 days after implantation.
				1.7 mmol/L		• Chemotherapy with diets started 12 days after implantation and
				KD + chemotherapy:		given twice per week.
				1.4 mmol/L		
Mukherjee et al. (19)	United States	Mouse	KD-R:	KD-R:	Not reported	• Restricted KD started 4 days after implantation.
			90 mg/dL	1.3 mmol/L		• DON given at day 6, 8, 10, 12
			KD-R+DON:	KD-R+DON:		
			100 mg/dL	1.2 mmol/L		
Elsakka et al. (10)	Egypt	Human	Pre KD:	Pre KD:	Pre KD:	• Water fast for 3 days prior to surgery.
			89 mg/dL	Not reported	13.10 uIU/mL	• Restricted KD for 21 days post water-fast prior to surgery.
			Post-Surgery with KD:	Post-Surgery with KD:	Post KD:	• HBOT started 2 weeks post-surgery.
			72 mg/dL	3 mmol/L	6.50 uIU/mL	No steroids administered but anti-seizure medications
			3 monthS = 64 mg/dL	3 months = 3 mmol/L	3 months = 5.00 uIU/mL	prescribed.
			9 months = 75 mg/dL	9 months = 0.7 mmol/L	9 months = 4.10 uIU/mL	
			15 months = 71 mg/dL	$15 \mathrm{months} = 0.5 \mathrm{mmol/L}$	15 months = 3.80 uIU/mL	
			20 months = 65 mg/dL	$20 \operatorname{months} = 0.7 \operatorname{mmol/L}$	20 months = 2.11 uIU/mL	
Woodhouse et al. (5)	United States	Human	Not reported	3 patients = \geq 3 mmol/L	Not reported	• MAD started before chemoradiation therapy.
				4 patients = 2.5 mmol/L		• 6 weeks of MAD during chemoradiation therapy.
				6 patients = 1.5 mmol/L		
				5 patients = 0.8 mmol/L		
				11 patients = 0.3 mmol/L		

10.3389/fnut.2023.1110291

Clontz

TABLE 3 (Continued)

Author	Country	Study type	Glucose levels	Ketone levels (BHB)	Insulin levels	KD methods
Zuccoli et al. (1)	Italy	Human	Before fasting/diet: 135 mg/dL At end of first fast: 90 mg/dL At end of second fast: 72 mg/dL At end of restricted KD: 63 mg/dL	Before fasting/diet: 0.0 mmol/L At end of first fast: 1.75 mmol/L At end of second fast: 2.5 mmol/L At end of restricted KD: 2.5 mmol/L	Not reported	 Steroids and anti-seizure medications started prior to surgery and discontinued 30-days post-surgery. Patient did 2-day water fast post-surgery. Started KD and fasted 3 more days. Restricted KD for 14 days prior to chemoradiation therapy. Changed to calorie restriction only diet.
Artzi et al. (11)	Israel	Human	Not reported	Patient #1 and #4=>3 mmol/L Patient #2 and #5=3 mmol/L Patient #3=2 mmol/L	Not reported	 Patients #2, #3, and #5 started KD at same time as chemotherapy. Patient #4 started KD a few months after chemotherapy. Patient #1 was only treated with KD for GBM. Patients #2, #3, and #4 received steroid treatment during KD with chemotherapy. Patients #2, #4 and #5 were intermittent with KD.
Champ et al. (8)	United States	Human	Time of Surgery: Patient #1 = 78 mg/dL Patient #2 = 146 mg/dL Patient #3 = 152 mg/dL Patient #4 = 135 mg/dL Other two patients not reported Max During Radiation: Patient #1 = 99 mg/dL Patient #2 = 90 mg/dL Patient #3 = 77 mg/dL Patient #4 = 103 mg/dL Other two patients not reported.	1 patient had 0.8 mmol/L 1 patient had 0.3 mmol/L All other patients not reported.	Not reported	 Patient #1 started KD before chemoradiation Patient #2, #3 and #4 started KD during chemoradiation. Patient #5 and #6 started KD after chemoradiation. Patients #1, #2 and #4 received steroids during treatment.
Rieger et al. (24)	Germany	Human	Average Before KD: 99 mg/dL Average During KD: 92 mg/dL	7 patients = 1 mmol/L 5 patients = 0.8 mmol/L 2 patients = 0.4 mmol/L 1 patient had 0.3 mmol/L 1 patient was not reported	Not reported	 8 patients started steroids before KD 11 patients started steroids during the KD

Clontz

(Continued)

Author	Country	Country Study type	Glucose levels	Ketone levels (BHB)	Insulin levels	KD methods
van der Louw et al.	Netherlands	Human	Phase A (liquid diet):	Phase A (liquid diet):	Not reported	KD for 2 weeks prior to treatment to reach ketones >3 mmol/L
(23)			5 patients 85 mg/dL	1 patient = 5 mmol/L		Chemoradiation administered for 6 weeks with KD
			2 patients 80 mg/dL	4 patients = 4 mmol/L		KD only for 6 weeks followed by 1 cycle of chemoradiation
			2 patients 90 mg/dL	4 patients = 3 mmol/L		End of study was regular diet with chemoradiation for 5 months
			Phase B (solid diet):	Phase B (solid diet):		
			7 patients 90 mg/dL	4 patients = 3 mmol/L		
			1 patients 100 mg/dL	3 patients = 2 mmol/L		
			1 patient not reported	1 patient = 1 mmol/L		
				1 patient not reported		
KD, ketogenic diet; SD, sta	undard diet; BHB, β	1-hydroxybutyrate; GBM,	KD, ketogenic diet; SD, standard diet; BHB, β-hydroxybutyrate; GBM, glioblastoma multiforme; HBOT, hyperbaric oxygen therapy; DON, 6-diazo-5-oxo-L-norleucine.	ric oxygen therapy; DON, 6-diazo-5-o.	oxo-L-norleucine.	

10.3389/fnut.2023.1110291

The testing of the KD has been well studied and documented in mouse models in various forms. Human studies using the KD continue to be small and challenging to research. All the studies included in this review showed mixed results on the KD enhancing tumor response to treatments and prolonging survival. Studies in animals have stronger results in reduced tumor growth and increased survival. Despite these promising findings, the methods used need to be consistent. Glucose and ketone levels as well as macronutrients need to be comparable. And the glioma cell lines used in mice need to be closer to the aggressive, vascular human GBM cell lines to represent real-life events.

It is worth mentioning that many of the mouse models only used diet interventions to treat the gliomas, which will not be the same for patients. Patients undergo intense radiation and chemotherapy after surgeons remove all or part of the tumor. These treatments cause further damage to the brain, and medications prescribed to reduce edema and inflammation can increase glucose levels defeating the sole purpose of a KD. These are just some considerations to factor into a study design when using a KD as a diet therapy in mice implanted with gliomas.

Based on the findings from this review, a KD is encouraging to be an effective form of adjuvant therapy with standard cancer treatment in adult patients with GBM. However, more reproducible results between pre-clinical and clinical studies are needed for a concrete decision on manageability and effectiveness. Future clinical studies should consider utilizing a nutritionist to design adequate caloric intake and macronutrient amounts for safe and optimal ketosis while providing motivational support. Researchers should also consider starting the KD well before surgery to ensure high ketone and low glucose levels are achieved before chemoradiation. Lastly, future pre-clinical research should focus on validating *in vitro* and *in vivo* methods that clearly define optimal concentrations of serum glucose and serum ketone levels to inhibit or disrupt cell signaling to create ideal adjuvant diet interventions with cancer therapies.

Author contributions

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

TABLE 3 (Continued)

References

1. Zuccoli, G, Marcello, N, Pisanello, A, Servadei, F, Vaccaro, S, Mukherjee, P, et al. Metabolic management of glioblastoma multiforme using standard therapy together with a restricted ketogenic diet: case report. *Nutr Metab (Lond)*. (2010) 7:33. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-7-33

2. Duan, C, Yang, R, Yuan, L, Engelbach, JA, Tsien, CI, Rich, KM, et al. Late effects of radiation prime the brain microenvironment for accelerated tumor growth. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* (2019) 103:190–4. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2018.08.033

3. Chinot, OL, Wick, W, Mason, W, Henriksson, R, Saran, F, Nishikawa, R, et al. Bevacizumab plus radiotherapy-temozolomide for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. N Engl J Med. (2014) 370:709–22. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1308345

4. Taal, W, Brandsma, D, de Bruin, HG, Bromberg, JE, Swaak-Kragten, AT, Smitt, PAES, et al. Incidence of early pseudo-progression in a cohort of malignant glioma patients treated with chemoirradiation with temozolomide. *Cancer.* (2008) 113:405–10. doi: 10.1002/cncr.23562

5. Woodhouse, C, Ward, T, Gaskill-Shipley, M, and Chaudhary, R. Feasibility of a modified Atkins diet in glioma patients during radiation and its effect on radiation sensitization. *Curr Oncol.* (2019) 26:e433–8. doi: 10.3747/co.26.4889

6. Warburg, O, Wind, F, and Negelein, E. The metabolism of tumors in the body. J Gen Physiol. (1927) 8:519–30. doi: 10.1085/jgp.8.6.519

7. Abdelwahab, MG, Fenton, KE, Preul, MC, Rho, JM, Lynch, A, Stafford, P, et al. The ketogenic diet is an effective adjuvant to radiation therapy for the treatment of malignant glioma. *PLoS One*. (2012) 7:e36197. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036197

8. Champ, CE, Palmer, JD, Volek, JS, Werner-Wasik, M, Andrews, DW, Evans, JJ, et al. Targeting metabolism with a ketogenic diet during the treatment of glioblastoma multiforme. *J Neuro-Oncol.* (2014) 117:125–31. doi: 10.1007/s11060-014-1362-0

9. Zhang, C, Liu, J, Liang, Y, Wu, R, Zhao, Y, Hong, X, et al. Tumour-associated mutant p53 drives the Warburg effect. *Nat Commun.* (2013) 4:2935. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3935

10. Elsakka, AMA, Bary, MA, Abdelzaher, E, Elnaggar, M, Kalamian, M, Mukherjee, P, et al. Management of Glioblastoma Multiforme in a patient treated with Ketogenic metabolic therapy and modified standard of care: a 24-month follow-up. *Front Nutr.* (2018) 5:20. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2018.00020

11. Artzi, M, Liberman, G, Vaisman, N, Bokstein, F, Vitinshtein, F, Aizenstein, O, et al. Changes in cerebral metabolism during ketogenic diet in patients with primary brain tumors: (1)H-MRS study. *J Neuro-Oncol.* (2017) 132:267–75. doi: 10.1007/s11060-016-2364-x

12. Green, A, and Bishop, RE. Ketoacidosis - where do the protons come from? *Trends Biochem Sci.* (2019) 44:484-9. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2019.01.005

13. d'Avignon, DA, Puchalska, P, Ercal, B, Chang, Y, Martin, SE, Graham, MJ, et al. Hepatic ketogenic insufficiency reprograms hepatic glycogen metabolism and the lipidome. *JCI Insight.* (2018) 3:e99762. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.99762

14. Westman, EC, Tondt, J, Maguire, E, and Yancy, WS. Implementing a low-carbohydrate, Ketogenic diet to manage type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab.* (2018) 13:263–72. doi: 10.1080/17446651.2018.1523713

15. Nakagawa, Y, and Shimano, H. CREBH regulates systemic glucose and lipid metabolism. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:1396. doi: 10.3390/ijms19051396

16. Nebeling, LC, Miraldi, F, Shurin, SB, and Lerner, E. Effects of a ketogenic diet on tumor metabolism and nutritional status in pediatric oncology patients: two case reports. *J Am Coll Nutr.* (1995) 14:202–8. doi: 10.1080/07315724.1995.10718495

17. Klement, RJ, Champ, CE, Otto, C, and Kämmerer, U. Anti-tumor effects of Ketogenic diets in mice: a meta-analysis. *PLoS One.* (2016) 11:e0155050. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155050

18. De Feyter, HM, Behar, KL, Rao, JU, Madden-Hennessey, K, Ip, KL, Hyder, F, et al. A ketogenic diet increases transport and oxidation of ketone bodies in RG2 and 9L

gliomas without affecting tumor growth. Neuro-Oncology. (2016) 18:1079-87. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/now088

19. Mukherjee, P, Augur, ZM, Li, M, Hill, C, Greenwood, B, Domin, MA, et al. Therapeutic benefit of combining calorie-restricted ketogenic diet and glutamine targeting in late-stage experimental glioblastoma. *Commun Biol.* (2019) 2:200. doi: 10.1038/s42003-019-0455-x

20. Lussier, DM, Woolf, EC, Johnson, JL, Brooks, KS, Blattman, JN, and Scheck, AC. Enhanced immunity in a mouse model of malignant glioma is mediated by a therapeutic ketogenic diet. *BMC Cancer*. (2016) 16:310. doi: 10.1186/s12885-016-2337-7

21. Weijenberg, A, van Rijn, M, Callenbach, PMC, and de Koning, TJBrouwer OF. Ketogenic diet in refractory childhood epilepsy: starting with a liquid formulation in an outpatient setting. *Child Neurol Open*. (2018) 5:2329048X18779497. doi: 10.1177/2329048X18779497

22. Nayak, L, DeAngelis, LM, Brandes, AA, Peereboom, DM, Galanis, E, Lin, NU, et al. The neurologic assessment in Neuro-oncology (NANO) scale: a tool to assess neurologic function for integration into the response assessment in Neuro-oncology (RANO) criteria. *Neuro-Oncology*. (2017) 19:625–35. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nox029

23. van der Louw, EJTM, Olieman, JF, van den Bemt, PMLA, Bromberg, JEC, Oomende Hoop, E, Neuteboom, RF, et al. Ketogenic diet treatment as adjuvant to standard treatment of glioblastoma multiforme: a feasibility and safety study. *Ther Adv Med Oncol.* (2019) 11:1758835919853958. doi: 10.1177/1758835919853958

24. Rieger, J, Bähr, O, Maurer, GD, Hattingen, E, Franz, K, Brucker, D, et al. ERGO: a pilot study of ketogenic diet in recurrent glioblastoma. *Int J Oncol.* (2014) 44:1843–52. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2014.2382

25. Diao, W, Tong, X, Yang, C, Zhang, F, Bao, C, Chen, H, et al. Behaviors of Glioblastoma cells in in vitro microenvironments. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:85. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-018-36347-7

26. Burden-Gulley, SM, Qutaish, MQ, Sullivant, KE, Lu, H, Wang, J, Craig, SEL, et al. Novel cryo-imaging of the glioma tumor microenvironment reveals migration and dispersal pathways in vivid three-dimensional detail. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:5932–40. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1553

27. Kersten, K, de Visser, KE, van Miltenburg, MH, and Jonkers, J. Genetically engineered mouse models in oncology research and cancer medicine. *EMBO Mol Med.* (2017) 9:137–53. doi: 10.15252/emmm.201606857

28. Shelton, LM, Mukherjee, P, Huysentruyt, LC, Urits, I, Rosenberg, JA, and Seyfried, TN. A novel pre-clinical in vivo mouse model for malignant brain tumor growth and invasion. *J Neuro-Oncol.* (2010) 99:165–76. doi: 10.1007/s11060-010-0115-y

29. Esteller, M, Garcia-Foncillas, J, Andion, E, Goodman, SN, Hidalgo, OF, Vanaclocha, V, et al. Inactivation of the DNA-repair gene MGMT and the clinical response of gliomas to alkylating agents. *N Engl J Med.* (2000) 343:1350–4. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200011093431901

30. Hegi, ME, Diserens, AC, Gorlia, T, Hamou, MF, de Tribolet, N, Weller, M, et al. MGMT gene silencing and benefit from temozolomide in glioblastoma. *N Engl J Med.* (2005) 352:997–1003. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa043331

31. Wong, ET, Lok, E, Gautam, S, and Swanson, KD. Dexamethasone exerts profound immunologic interference on treatment efficacy for recurrent glioblastoma. *Br J Cancer*. (2015) 113:232–41. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2015.238

32. Levine, ME, Suarez, JA, Brandhorst, S, Balasubramanian, P, Cheng, CW, Madia, F, et al. Low protein intake is associated with a major reduction in IGF-1, cancer, and overall mortality in the 65 and younger but not older population. *Cell Metab.* (2014) 19:407–17. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.02.006

33. Tato, I, Bartrons, R, Ventura, F, and Rosa, JL. Amino acids activate mammalian target of rapamycin complex 2 (mTORC2) via PI3K/Akt signaling. *J Biol Chem.* (2011) 286:6128–42. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.166991

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Aycan Ünalp, University of Health Sciences, Türkiye

REVIEWED BY

Samir Softic, University of Kentucky, United States Nida Dinçel, University of Health Sciences, Türkiye

*CORRESPONDENCE Jun Yang ⊠ jy@tjh.tjmu.edu.cn

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

RECEIVED 21 December 2022 ACCEPTED 27 February 2023 PUBLISHED 23 March 2023

CITATION

Qiu Y, Hu X, Xu C, Lu C, Cao R, Xie Y and Yang J (2023) Ketogenic diet alleviates renal fibrosis in mice by enhancing fatty acid oxidation through the free fatty acid receptor 3 pathway. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1127845. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1127845

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Qiu, Hu, Xu, Lu, Cao, Xie and Yang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Ketogenic diet alleviates renal fibrosis in mice by enhancing fatty acid oxidation through the free fatty acid receptor 3 pathway

Yang Qiu, Xiaofan Hu, Cong Xu, Chenqi Lu, Rui Cao, Yanan Xie and Jun Yang*

Institute of Organ Transplantation, Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Key Laboratory of Organ Transplantation, Ministry of Education, NHC Key Laboratory of Organ Transplantation, Key Laboratory of Organ Transplantation, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, Wuhan, China

Introduction: The ketogenic diet (KD), as a dietary intervention, has gained importance in the treatment of solid organ structural remodeling, but its role in renal fibrosis has not been explored.

Methods: Male C57BL/6 mice were fed a normal diet or a KD for 6 weeks prior to unilateral ureteral obstruction (UUO), a well-established *in vivo* model of renal fibrosis in rodents. Seven days after UUO, serum and kidney samples were collected. Serum β -hydroxybutyrate (β -OHB) concentrations and renal fibrosis were assessed. NRK52E cells were treated with TGF β 1, a fibrosis-inducing cytokine, and with or without β -OHB, a ketone body metabolized by KD, to investigate the mechanism underlying renal fibrosis.

Results: KD significantly enhanced serum β -OHB levels in mice. Histological analysis revealed that KD alleviated structural destruction and fibrosis in obstructed kidneys and reduced the expression of the fibrosis protein markers α -SMA, Col1a1, and Col3a1. Expression of the rate-limiting enzymes involved in fatty acid oxidation (FAO), Cpt1a and Acox1, significantly decreased after UUO and were upregulated by KD. However, the protective effect of KD was abolished by etomoxir (a Cpt1a inhibitor). Besides, our study observed that KD significantly suppressed UUO-induced macrophage infiltration and the expression of IL-6 in the obstructive kidneys. In NRK52E cells, fibrosis-related signaling was increased by TGF β 1 and reduced by β -OHB. β -OHB treatment restored the impaired expression of Cpt1a. The effect of β -OHB was blocked by siRNA targeting free fatty acid receptor 3 (FFAR3), suggesting that β -OHB might function through the FFAR3-dependent pathway.

Discussion: Our results highlight that KD attenuates UUO-induced renal fibrosis by enhancing FAO via the FFAR3-dependent pathway, which provides a promising dietary therapy for renal fibrosis.

KEYWORDS

ketogenic diet, renal fibrosis, $\beta\text{-hydroxybutyrate, fatty acid oxidation, free fatty acid receptor 3$

Introduction

Over 10% of the world's population are suffering from chronic kidney disease (CKD) (1). As this disease progresses, CKD eventually develops into end-stage renal disease, requiring that patients receive dialysis or kidney transplantation. Renal fibrosis is a hallmark and common outcome in all types of progressive CKD, including chronic allograft nephropathy. Renal fibrosis is characterized by inflammation, myofibroblast activation and migration,

excess deposition of the extracellular matrix, and renal structural remodeling. Its typical pathological presentations indicate interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy (2–4). Because the intricate mechanisms of renal fibrosis remain unclear, there is still a lack of feasible targeted therapies that can alleviate or reverse fibrosis progression.

Recent studies report that insufficient energy supply from fatty acid oxidation (FAO) in cardiac myocytes and tubular epithelial cells is an important mechanism of myocardial/renal dysfunction or failure (5–8). With respect to what is known about this catabolic pathway, carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1a (Cpt1a) and acyl-coenzyme A oxidase 1 (Acox1) are its rate-limiting enzymes in FAO. Cluster of differentiation 36 (CD36) facilitates the uptake of long-chain fatty acids (9), and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- α (PPAR α) and PPAR- γ coactivator-1a (PPARGC1a) are the key transcription factors that regulate the expression of target genes (Cpt1a and Acox1) involved in FAO (10, 11). Studies have found that ketogenic diet (KD) enhances myocardial FAO to prevent cardiac dysfunction and fibrosis in mice (5, 6).

Dietary intervention has become one of the most important non-drug therapies, especially for metabolic diseases. KD has been used as an approach to treat drug-resistant epilepsy for over 70 years (12). Recently, KD has generated a lot of interest due to its beneficial impact in various diseases, including Alzheimer's disease, obesity, cardiovascular diseases, cancer, and diabetes (13). KD is a high-fat, extremely low-glucose diet that enhances the metabolism of ketone bodies, including acetoacetate, β hydroxybutyrate (β -OHB), and acetone. KD is considered a potential dietary intervention to treat solid organ structural remodeling, but its role in renal fibrosis has not been explored. Therefore, we examined the effects of KD on renal fibrosis induced by unilateral ureteral obstruction (UUO) in mice and elucidated the underlying mechanisms, which provides an acceptable dietary regimen for renal fibrosis.

Materials and methods

Animals

All procedures conformed to the Chinese Council on Animal Care guidelines. Our study was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Tongji Medical College of Huazhong University of Science and Technology (Approval Number: TJH-202111009). Male C57BL/6 mice (8 weeks old, weighing 18-20 g) were purchased from Weitonglihua Laboratory Animal Technology (Beijing, China) and maintained under constant environmental and specific pathogen-free conditions. A portion of the C57BL/6 mice in this experiment underwent a UUO operation, a well-established in vivo model of disease progression in rodents, as previously reported (14). Briefly, UUO was conducted by double-knot ligation of the middle and upper segments of the left ureter after the mice were anesthetized. Serum and left kidney samples were obtained 7 d after surgery in the non-fasted mice. C57BL/6 mice were randomly divided into four groups: those fed a normal diet ("normal"), those fed KD ("KD sham"), those fed a normal diet who had undergone the UUO operation ("ND+UUO"), and those fed KD those who had undergone the UUO operation ("KD+UUO"). Six mice were used in each group. All mice were fed normal diet or KD ad libitum for 6 weeks prior to UUO. KD was purchased from Weitonglihua Laboratory Animal Technology and consisted of nearly 90% calories from fat and 10% calories from protein. Etomoxir (MCE, Shanghai, China, 60 mg/kg body weight for 6 d) was injected intraperitoneally 1 d before UUO.

Cell culture

NRK52E cells (rat kidney tubular epithelial cells [TECs]) were used *in vitro* and cultured in the Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) (10% fetal bovine serum, Gibco, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) at 37°C in 5% CO2. The cells were digested with trypsin and seeded in six-well plates as required. After growing for 24 h, the cells were treated with recombinant transforming growth factor β 1 (TGF β 1, 10 ng/mL, PeproTech, Rocky Hill, NJ, USA) with or without β -OHB (10 mM, MCE) for 48 h. A free fatty acid receptor 3 (FFAR3) agonist, AR420626 (5 μ M; MCE), was used to verify the effect of FFAR3. Cells were co-stimulated with AR420626 and TGF β 1 for 48 h.

Gene knockdown of FFAR3 by small interfering RNA

Transfection with siRNA against rat FFAR3 (Target RefSeqID: NM_001108912.1, *FFAR3* gene of the Rattus norvegicus species; Sequences: Sence-GGAAUGUCCGAGCUAGAGATT; Antisense-UCUCUAGCUCGGACAUUCCTT) was purchased from AuGCT Biotechnology Company, Wuhan, China. NRK52E cells were transfected with negative control siRNA or siRNA targeting FFAR3 using Lipo6000 Transfection Reagent (Beyotime, Shanghai, China) 24 h before TGF β 1 stimulation. After 24 h of incubation, cells were treated with TGF β 1 and with or without β -OHB.

Measurement of serum β -OHB

The concentration of serum β -OHB 7 d after UUO was detected using a β -OHB detection kit (Jiancheng Bioengineering Institute, Nanjing, China) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Histologic analysis and immunohistochemistry

Paraffin-embedded left kidney tissue sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) to evaluate the severity of glomerular and tubular interstitial injury 7 d after UUO. Masson's trichrome and picrosirius red staining were performed to measure interstitial fibrosis in the kidneys. Fluorescence microscopic examination (Nikon Eclipse, Tokyo, Japan) showed that collagen fibers were stained blue in Masson's trichrome staining and red in picrosirius red-stained kidney tissues. Fibrosis area calculation was conducted in a blinded manner using at least five randomly selected fields from each kidney section using Image-Pro Plus, version 6.0.



IHC was performed on paraffin-embedded kidney sections. Primary antibodies against α -smooth muscle actin (anti- α -SMA, 1:1000, Abcam, Shanghai, China), anti-collagen type I alpha 1 chain (anti-Colla1, 1:800, Abcam), and anti-F4/80 (1:500, Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA) were used. The positive area of immunohistochemical staining was calculated using 10 randomly selected fields at ×400 magnification with Image-Pro Plus, version 6.0.

Immunofluorescence

For immunofluorescence analysis of NRK52E cells, cells on glass coverslips were fixed with ice-cold methanol for 10 min and then permeabilized with 0.1% Triton for 5 min at 25° C. The cells were blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA, Biosharp, Beijing, China), incubated overnight at 4°C with primary antibodies (anti-Cpt1a, 1:100, Abclonal, Wuhan, China), and then incubated in the dark with secondary antibodies (DyLight 488 goat anti-rabbit IgG, 1:500, Abbkine, Wuhan, China) for 1 h at 25° C. Finally, nuclei were stained with Hoechst (Beyotime) for 5 min.

Immunofluorescence analysis of the left kidney tissue was performed on paraffin-embedded sections mounted on glass slides. Primary antibody anti-F4/80 (1:1000, Cell Signaling Technology) and HRP-goat anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibody (1:4000, Abcam) were used. The slides were visualized under a fluorescence microscope (Nikon Eclipse, Tokyo, Japan).

Western blot analysis

Proteins from kidney tissues and cultured cells were extracted with RIPA lysis buffer (Beyotime). Protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktails were added for the extraction of phosphorylated proteins. The total protein concentration was measured using a BCA protein assay kit (Beyotime). Proteins $(40-80 \ \mu g)$ were separated using SDS-PAGE (10%) and transferred to a PVDF membrane. The membranes were blocked with 5% BSA for 1.5 h and incubated with primary antibodies overnight at 4°C, followed by secondary antibodies (goat anti-rabbit, 1:3000; anti-mouse, 1:5000; Servicebio, Wuhan, China) for 1.5 h. The following primary antibodies were used: anti- α -SMA (1:3000, Proteintech, Wuhan, China), anti-Col1a1 (1:1000, Cell Signaling Technology), anti-collagen type III alpha 1 chain (anti-Col3a1, 1:1000, Abclonal), anti-Cpt1a (1:1000, Abclonal), anti-Acox1 (1:1000, Abclonal), anti-phosphorylation-AMP-activated protein kinase (anti-p-AMPK, 1:1000, Abclonal), and anti-glyceraldehyde-phosphate dehydrogenase (anti-GAPDH, 1:50000, Abclonal). Images were visualized using a Gene Gnome XRQ system (Syngene, Cambridge, UK).

Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction

Total RNA was isolated from kidney tissues and cultured cells using an RNAfast200 reagent kit (Fastagen Biotech, Shanghai, China) and reverse-transcribed using a cDNA synthesis reagent kit (Yeasen, Wuhan, China). RT-qPCR was conducted using SYBR Green qPCR Master Mix (Vazyme, Wuhan, China). The primers used to amplify the specific gene fragments are listed in Supplementary Table S1. All samples were normalized to the housekeeping gene GAPDH and analyzed in triplicate using the $\Delta\Delta$ CT value method in StepOne Software v2.3.

Statistical analysis

All data \pm standard are presented as mean error of the mean (SEM). Three more or group using comparisons were made one-way analysis of followed by Tukey's post-hoc tests variance (ANOVA)



in GraphPad Prism 9. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

Results

KD significantly ameliorated renal fibrosis in the UUO mouse model

To investigate the effects of KD on kidney fibrosis, we fed mice either a KD or a normal diet for 6 weeks and monitored

weekly weight changes in mice. The weight gain of mice fed the KD was slower than that of mice fed a normalv diet (Figure 1A). KD significantly enhanced β -OHB levels in the serum of mice (ND+UUO vs. KD+UUO: 1.068 \pm 0.063 mol/L vs. 4.689 \pm 0.377 mmol/L, P < 0.001, Figure 1B). H&E staining revealed that structural destruction caused by ureteral obstruction was significantly alleviated by KD (Figure 2A). Masson's trichrome and picrosirius red staining demonstrated that KD effectively attenuated excessive collagen deposition in the interstitium of obstructed kidneys (Figures 2B, C). Quantification of picrosirius

Qiu et al.



red staining showed an apparent decrease in the fibrotic area in the obstructed kidneys from KD feeding mice compared to those in the ND+UUO group (Figure 2D, from 6.226 \pm 0.996% to 1.765 \pm 0.229%). Using IHC and western blotting, we analyzed the protein markers of fibrosis, including α-SMA, Col1a1, and Col3a1, and further confirmed that the obstructed kidneys at 7 d after UUO were protected from the development of apparent fibrosis through KD. IHC showed that the positive areas of α -SMA and Col1a1 were drastically reduced in the KD+UUO group compared to the ND+UUO group (α -SMA: from 7.015 \pm 0.362% to 2.514 \pm 0.285%, P < 0.001; Col1a1: from 1.555 \pm 0.319% to 0.230 \pm 0.071%, P < 0.01; Figures 2E–H). Western blotting revealed that the protein expression levels of α-SMA, Col1a1, and Col3a1 were significantly upregulated by UUO (P < 0.001, Figures 3A–D). Upon intervention with KD, this increased fibrotic expression was attenuated (α-SMA, *P* < 0.01; Col1a1, *P* < 0.001; Col3a1, *P* < 0.001; Figures 3A-D). In accordance with protein expression, the mRNA expression levels of α-SMA, Col1a1, Col3a1, and fibronectin-1 (Fn-1) were attenuated in obstructed kidneys from the KD+UUO group, in contrast to those in the ND+UUO group (α -SMA, P <0.001; Col3a1, *P* < 0.01; Col1a1 and Fn-1, *P* < 0.05; Figures 3E–H). These results suggested that KD treatment alleviated UUO-induced renal fibrosis in vivo.

KD enhanced FAO and mitigated renal fibrosis

Recent studies have shown that impaired FAO plays a vital role in the development of renal fibrosis (7, 8, 15). Therefore, we hypothesized that KD improved renal fibrosis by enhancing the activity of FAO pathway. First, we checked the expression levels of the rate-limiting enzymes in FAO, Cpt1a, and Acox1. Significantly decreased protein expression of Cpt1a and Acox1 was observed in the obstructed kidneys 7 d after UUO in mice fed with ND, compared to that in normal kidneys (P < 0.001, Figures 4A–C). KD upregulated the protein levels of Cpt1a and Acox1 and enhanced FAO pathway activity (Cpt1a, P < 0.01; Acox1, P < 0.05; Figures 4A–C). Changes in the expression of these proteins were further verified by RT-qPCR (Figures 4D, E). Next, we examined other genes involved in fatty acid uptake, oxidation, and synthesis. Consistent with the changes in Cpt1a and Acox1, the mRNA expression levels of *PPARa*, *PPARGC1a*, and *CD36* were dramatically reduced in obstructed kidneys (P < 0.001) and partially restored by KD (P < 0.05, Figures 4F–H).

To further explore the role of FAO in kidney fibrosis, we used a Cpt1a inhibitor, etomoxir, in the UUO mouse model. Picrosirius red and H&E staining showed more collagen deposition and more severe tubular damage 7 d after UUO in the obstructed kidneys of mice treated with etomoxir and KD, compared with those fed with KD alone (Area of fibrosis, ND+UUO vs. KD+UUO vs. KD+UUO+Eto: 4.088 \pm 0.599% vs. 0.924 \pm 0.041% vs. 2.650 \pm 0.201%, P < 0.01; Figures 5A–C). IHC analyses revealed that the α -SMA-positive and Col1a1-positive areas significantly increased with etomoxir treatment in the kidneys (ND+UUO vs. KD+UUO vs. KD+UUO+Eto, α -SMA: 7.015 \pm 0.362% vs. 2.514 \pm 0.285% vs. 6.476 \pm 0.364%, P < 0.001; Col1a1: 1.555 \pm 0.319% vs. 0.230 \pm 0.071% vs. 1.580 \pm 0.353%, P < 0.05; Figures 5D–G). These changes were further determined based on the expression of fibrosisassociated proteins. Compared with the kidneys from the mice fed



proliferator-activated receptor- α ; PPARGC1a, PPAR- γ coactivator-1a; CD36, cluster of differentiation 36.

with KD alone, the obstructed kidneys treated with both etomoxir and KD showed higher expression levels of α -SMA and Col1a1 7 d after UUO, but still less than those from the mice in the ND+UUO group (α -SMA, ND+UUO vs. KD+UUO: P < 0.001, KD+UUO vs. KD+UUO+Eto: P < 0.05; Col1a1, ND+UUO vs. KD+UUO: P< 0.001, KD+UUO vs. KD+UUO+Eto: P < 0.01; Figures 6A–C). Collectively, the obstructed kidneys treated with etomoxir suffered more severe renal injuries and fibrosis, although these mice were fed KD. The effect of KD on renal fibrosis was attenuated when FAO was inhibited. In brief, these data indicated that FAO played an important role in renal fibrosis, and we concluded that KD might effectively alleviate renal fibrosis induced by UUO through improving FAO.

KD reduced macrophage infiltration in the UUO mouse model

Inflammation is involved in the progression of fibrosis and plays an important role in tissue damage and repair (16). Previous studies have shown that macrophages contribute to the development of fibrosis (16–18). We further detected the expression of inflammatory indices in obstructed kidneys. The UUO-induced pro-inflammatory cytokines/chemokines, such as interleukin-1 β (*IL-1\beta*), interleukin-6 (*IL-6*), and tumor necrosis factor- α (*TNF-\alpha*), were increased 7 d after UUO (*P* < 0.001, Figures 7A–C). The expression of *IL-6* was downregulated in the kidneys of the KD + UUO group (*P* < 0.01, Figure 7B).



The protective effect of ketogenic diet on renal structural destruction and excessive extracellular matrix deposition was abolished by etomoxir. (A) Histopathological examination (H&E) of kidney tissues in all groups showing more severe tubular damage 7 d after UUO in the mice treated with etomoxir. (B, C) Picrosirius red staining of kidney sections and quantitative analysis of picrosirius red-stained sections. (D, F) Immunohistochemical staining images and quantitative analysis showing positive area of α -SMA 7 d after UUO in kidney tissues. (E, G) Immunohistochemical staining images and quantitative analysis showing positive area of α -SMA 7 d after UUO in kidney tissues. (E, G) Immunohistochemical staining images and quantitative analysis showing positive area of α -SMA 7 d after UUO in kidney tissues. (E, G) Immunohistochemical staining images and quantitative analysis showing positive area of Col1a1 7 d after UUO in kidney sections. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM. ****P* < 0.001; ***P* < 0.01; **P* < 0.05; ns, no significance as determined by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey's post-hoc tests. Data shown are representative of 3 replicate experiments. KD, ketogenic diet; ND, normal diet; UUO, unilateral ureteral obstruction; Eto, etomoxir; α -SMA, α -smooth muscle actin; Col1a1, collagen type I alpha 1 chain.

However, our data demonstrated no significant reduction in the expression of *IL-1β* and *TNF-α* in the KD+UUO group (Figures 7A, C). In our study, KD significantly suppressed UUOinduced infiltration of macrophages identified by the surface marker F4/80 in obstructed kidneys (ND+UUO vs. KD+UUO: 29.38 ± 1.625 vs. 20.83 ± 1.621 cells/HPF, P < 0.01; Figures 7D, E). However, this protective effect was blocked by etomoxir (Figure 7E).

β -OHB enhanced FAO activity and improved fibrosis via the FFAR3-dependent pathway in TECs

Next, we explored the mechanism of renal fibrosis improvement by KD in renal TECs. β -OHB is not only a simple energy intermediate metabolite but also plays an important role as a signaling molecule in different physiological contexts (19, 20).



NRK52E cells were used to examine how β -OHB, as the most abundant form of ketone bodies, modified FAO pathway activity.

The mRNA expression levels of fibrosis-related signaling molecules, including α -SMA, Col1a1, Fn-1, and vimentin (Vim), were elevated by TGF\u00b31 and markedly downregulated by \u00b3-OHB after stimulation for 48 h (P < 0.01, Figure 8A). Next, we measured FAO-associated gene expression and determined that Cpt1a was significantly expressed in the cytoplasm of rat TECs (Figure 8B). Treatment with β -OHB for 48 h restored the impaired expression of Cpt1a and PPARa, consistent with our in vivo experiments (P < 0.05, Figures 8A–D). In addition, β -OHB is known to activate AMPK to ameliorate inflammasomes (21). We observed remarkably increased phosphorylation of AMPK by β -OHB (P <0.001, Figures 8C, D). We then investigated the binding mechanism of β -OHB to the cell surface. β -OHB is currently known to bind to two classes of G-protein-coupled receptors: hydroxycarboxylic acid receptor 2 (HCAR2) and FFAR3 (19, 20). We detected changes in the expression of the two receptors using PCR and western blotting. Although the mRNA level of HCAR2 was markedly elevated by TGF β 1 (P < 0.001), β -OHB did not alter its expression in TECs (Figure 8A). Conversely, β-OHB significantly reverted the reduced expression of FFAR3 induced by TGF β 1 (*P* < 0.05, Figures 8C, D). Consistent with the changes in vitro, the protein expression level of FFAR3 dramatically decreased in obstructed kidneys and was restored by KD in mice (Figure 8E).

To further demonstrate the role of FFAR3 in fibrosis, a FFAR3 agonist, AR420626, was used to mimic the $\beta\text{-OHB}$

activation pathway. Similarly, AR420626 significantly mitigated fibrosis induced by TGF β 1 and greatly increased FAO after costimulation with TGF β 1 for 48 h (Figures 8F–H), suggesting that activation of FFAR3 might increase the FAO activity and eventually mitigate fibrosis. Next, we knocked down the expression of FFAR3 using siRNA to examine whether β -OHB functioned through the FFAR3-dependent pathway in TECs. The expression of FFAR3 was inhibited immensely by siRNA (Figure 8I). The protective effect of β -OHB on fibrosis was abolished by siRNA in TECs (Figure 8J). In summary, our results indicated that β -OHB mitigated fibrosis by enhancing cellular FAO via the FFAR3-dependent pathway.

Discussion

In this study, we observed for the first time that KD attenuates UUO-induced renal fibrosis and protects renal structure from obstructive destruction *in vivo*. Moreover, KD significantly reduces macrophage infiltration in renal tissue. The effects of KD on renal fibrosis depend mainly on its enhancement of FAO activity. Additionally, our work *in vitro* revealed that β -OHB enhances FAO *via* FFAR3, which improves fibrosis in TECs. These findings demonstrate that KD represents a promising dietary therapeutic strategy for treating renal fibrosis and CKD.

The UUO in rodents is conducted to mimic human obstructive nephropathy. The UUO-induced renal fibrosis is characterized by severe structural damage, including a decreased number of



glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase; IL, interleukin; TNF- α , tumor necrosis factor- α ; HPF, high power field.

tubules, tubular atrophy, dilated tubules, and excess deposition of the extracellular matrix, eventually leading to the common pathological manifestations of kidney fibrosis (14). In recent years, deficient FAO in renal TECs has been found to be crucial for renal fibrosis (7, 8, 15, 22). As highly metabolic cells, TECs prefer FAO and maintain high expression level of FAO- related enzymes, which generates more energy than the oxidation of glucose (7, 8, 15, 23). Impairment of FAO in TECs induces ATP depletion, intracellular lipid deposition, cell death, and dedifferentiation, eventually leading to fibrosis (7, 8). Our results also confirmed severely impaired FAO in the UUO-induced fibrosis model. Previous studies (7, 8, 15) and our results indicate that restoration of impaired FAO effectively prevents the progression of renal fibrosis. Thus, targeted therapies for FAO in the early stages of fibrosis provide new insights into the prevention of renal fibrosis.

Dietary interventions for the treatment of various diseases are drawing widespread attention and have gained increasing importance. KD, as a typical dietary intervention, is characterized by the supply of a large mass of calories from fat, a small proportion derived from protein, and very few calories from glucose. In the context of constant total calorie intake, KD enhances ketogenesis, suppresses oxidative stress, increases insulin sensitivity, and significantly increases FAO in the body (13, 24–26). Two recent heart studies have found that KD reversed cardiac fibrosis by enhancing myocardial FAO metabolism in mice (5, 6). Similar results were found in our study on the kidneys. In this study, we clearly indicated that KD promoted the absorption and oxidation of fatty acids, improved energy metabolism dysfunction, and protected against renal fibrosis in the UUO-induced fibrosis model. KD alone could not significantly enhance FAO in the sham mice consuming KD probably because of the relatively high level of FAO in normal kidneys. In addition, KD alleviates pulmonary fibrosis and effectively slows polycystic kidney disease progression through the inhibition of mTOR signaling (27, 28). However, another study reports that KD inhibits mitochondrial biogenesis and promotes cardiac fibrosis (29). The reason for this difference might lie in the animal model, highlighting the detrimental effects of long-term KD in normal rats. Furthermore, macrophages exert a pro-inflammatory and pro-fibrotic role in the process of kidney fibrosis (16, 18). We found that the macrophage infiltration in obstructed kidneys was reduced significantly, which was beneficial for alleviating fibrosis.

 β -OHB, which accounts for approximately 70% of the total ketone bodies, is produced by the liver and transported to the heart and kidney (19, 20, 30). As well as being an energy carrier, β -OHB has been certified to have anti-oxidative, anti-pyroptosis,



and anti-inflammatory effects and associates with multitudinous signaling pathways, including the NLRP3 inflammasome, NF- κ B, FOXO3, endoplasmic reticulum stress, histone deacetylases, and autophagy signaling pathways (20, 21, 31–35). Furthermore, β -OHB inhibits tumor growth and protects from ischemia-reperfusion injuries in the heart, kidney, and liver (34–37). We first observed that β -OHB restores Cpt1a and PPAR α expression and, thus, mitigated fibrosis induced by TGF β 1

in TECs. PPAR α , as a nuclear receptor transcription factor, participates in the regulation of FAO and oxidant production in mitochondria and peroxisomes (7, 8). PPARGC1a cooperates with PPAR α , which modulates energy metabolism (7, 10). Proximal tubule PPAR α and PPARGC1a attenuates renal fibrosis and inflammation induced by UUO and other injuries (38–41). In our study, KD and β -OHB significantly increased the expression of PPAR α and PPARGC1a in obstructed kidneys and TECs,

which activated the downstream genes of FAO. The network of interactions among AMPK, PPAR α , and PPARGC1a, is involved in regulating cellular energy homeostasis. Most notably, AMPK stimulates mitochondrial biogenesis through the activation of PPARGC1a and alleviates the inhibition of Cpt1a (40, 42–44). Based on our results, β -OHB increases the phosphorylation of AMPK and indirectly enhances the expression of Cpt1a in TECs.

β-OHB binds to two G protein-coupled receptors, HCAR2 and FFAR3. HCAR2 (also known as Gpr109A) is expressed in various cell types such as immune cells, adipocytes, and colonic epithelial cells. Its activation inhibits adipocyte lipolysis and induces anti-inflammatory effects (19, 20, 45, 46). We observed that treatment with β-OHB did not change the expression of HCAR2 in TECs. FFAR3 (also known as Gpr41) is highly expressed in sympathetic ganglions. β-OHB antagonizes FFAR3 and suppresses sympathetic nervous system activity (47). However, another study reported that β -OHB, as an agonist for FFAR3, modulates sympathetic neurons (48). Whether agonism or antagonism of FFAR3 by β-OHB may depend on the specific tissue and disease contexts. Furthermore, FFAR3 signaling mediates glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and maintains energy homeostasis (49-51). In this study, the expression of FFAR3 was significantly decreased in TECs stimulated by TGF β 1, while β -OHB significantly enhanced its expression, suggesting that activation of FFAR3 may be controlled by β-OHB. We further confirmed that β -OHB functions via the FFAR3-dependent pathway by the agonist activating and siRNA blocking FFAR3.

Some limitations in our work should be noted. First, this study necessitates further exploration of the molecular mechanisms in knockout mice. Second, recent studies showed a more remarkable protective effect of KD than exogenous supplementation of ketone bodies, which suggests that KD is incompletely dependent on ketone bodies to fulfill its functions (5, 6). Accumulating evidence suggests that KD reduces intestinal pro-inflammatory Th17 cells and alleviates colitis by altering intestinal microbiota (52–54). Therefore, exogenous supplementation of β -OHB does not completely supersede KD, which induces more extensive systematic metabolic changes. Our work of β-OHB in vitro cannot fully elucidate the mechanisms of KD on renal fibrosis in vivo. Lastly, this study focused on HCAR2 and FFAR3 regulated by β-OHB. It has been reported that there are many G protein-coupled receptors, including HCAR1/3 and FFAR1/2, which regulate cellular and physiological functions in the body (55). Further research is required to understand how other receptors are involved in FAO.

Conclusion

In conclusion, our current study elucidated the mechanism underlying the protective effect of KD on renal fibrosis through the enhancement of FAO and reduction in macrophage infiltration. These results shed new light on the role of energy metabolism disturbances in the progression of renal fibrosis and provide a potential therapeutic approach for CKD and renal fibrosis.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/genbank/, NM_001108912.1.

Ethics statement

The animal study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Tongji Medical College of Huazhong University of Science and Technology.

Author contributions

YQ contributed to research design, performance of the research, data analysis, and the writing of the paper. XH contributed to the experimental design and assisted with data analysis. CX and CL participated establishment of model and sample collection. RC in and YX participated in data analysis and revised the article. JY conceived the study, designed the experiments, and supervised the research. All authors contributed manuscript revision and approved the to and read submitted version.

Funding

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81873624).

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the collaboration of Institute of Organ Transplantation, Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology; Key Laboratory of Organ Transplantation, Ministry of Education; NHC Key Laboratory of Organ Transplantation; Key Laboratory of Organ Transplantation, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, Wuhan, China.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of

their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2023. 1127845/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Jha V, Garcia-Garcia G, Iseki K, Li Z, Naicker S, Plattner B, et al. Chronic kidney disease: global dimension and perspectives. *Lancet.* (2013) 382:260–72. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60687-X

 Humphreys BD. Mechanisms of renal fibrosis. Annu Rev Physiol. (2017) 80:309– 26. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-022516-034227

3. Duffield JS. Cellular and molecular mechanisms in kidney fibrosis. J Clin Invest. (2014) 124:2299–306. doi: 10.1172/JCI72267

4. Zhou D, Liu Y. Renal fibrosis in 2015: understanding the mechanisms of kidney fibrosis. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2016) 12:68–70. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2015.215

5. Zhang Y, Taufalele PV, Cochran JD, Robillard-Frayne I, Marx JM, Soto J, et al. Mitochondrial pyruvate carriers are required for myocardial stress adaptation. *Nat Metabol.* (2020) 2:1248–64. doi: 10.1038/s42255-020-00288-1

6. McCommis KS, Kovacs A, Weinheimer CJ, Shew TM, Koves TR, Ilkayeva OR, et al. Nutritional modulation of heart failure in mitochondrial pyruvate carrierdeficient mice. *Nat Metabol.* (2020) 2:1232–47. doi: 10.1038/s42255-020-00296-1

7. Kang HM, Ahn SH, Choi P, Ko YA, Han SH, Chinga F, et al. Defective fatty acid oxidation in renal tubular epithelial cells has a key role in kidney fibrosis development. *Nat Med.* (2015) 21:37–46. doi: 10.1038/nm.3762

8. Chung KW, Lee EK, Lee MK, Oh GT Yu BP, Chung HY. Impairment of Ppar α and the fatty acid oxidation pathway aggravates renal fibrosis during aging. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2018) 29:1223–37. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2017070802

9. Kim TT, Dyck JR. The role of Cd36 in the regulation of myocardial lipid metabolism. *Biochim Biophys Acta.* (2016) 1861:1450–60. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2016.03.018

10. Lin J, Handschin C, Spiegelman BM. Metabolic control through the Pgc-1 family of transcription coactivators. *Cell Metab.* (2005) 1:361–70. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2005.05.004

11. Cullingford TE. The Ketogenic diet; fatty acids, fatty acid-activated receptors and neurological disorders. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*. (2004) 70:253–64. doi: 10.1016/j.plefa.2003.09.008

12. Wheless JW. History of the ketogenic diet. *Epilepsia*. (2008) 49 (Suppl. 8):3-5. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01821.x

13. Zhu H, Bi D, Zhang Y, Kong C, Du J, Wu X, et al. Ketogenic diet for human diseases: the underlying mechanisms and potential for clinical implementations. *Sig Trans Target Therapy*. (2022) 7:11. doi: 10.1038/s41392-021-00831-w

14. Martinez-Klimova E, Aparicio-Trejo OE, Tapia E, Pedraza-Chaverri J. Unilateral ureteral obstruction as a model to investigate fibrosis-attenuating treatments. *Biomolecules*. (2019) 9:141. doi: 10.3390/biom9040141

15. Simon N, Hertig A. Alteration of fatty acid oxidation in tubular epithelial cells: from acute kidney injury to renal fibrogenesis. *Front Med.* (2015) 2:52. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2015.00052

16. Mack M. Inflammation and fibrosis. Matrix Biol J Int Soc Matrix Biol. (2018) 68–9:106–21. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2017.11.010

17. Li J, Yang Y, Wang Y, Li Q, He F. Metabolic signatures of immune cells in chronic kidney disease. *Expert Rev Mol Med.* (2022) 24:e40. doi: 10.1017/erm.2022.35

18. Wen JH Li DY, Liang S, Yang C, Tang JX, Liu HF. Macrophage autophagy in macrophage polarization, chronic inflammation and organ fibrosis. *Front Immunol.* (2022) 13:946832. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.946832

19. Newman JC, Verdin E. Beta-hydroxybutyrate: a signaling metabolite. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (2017) 37:51–76. doi: 10.1146/annurev-nutr-071816-064916

20. Rojas-Morales P, Tapia E, Pedraza-Chaverri J. Beta-hydroxybutyrate: a signaling metabolite in starvation response? *Cell Signal.* (2016) 28:917–23. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2016.04.005

21. Bae HR. B-Hydroxybutyrate suppresses inflammasome formation by ameliorating endoplasmic reticulum stress via Ampk activation. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:66444–54. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12119

22. Verónica Miguel JT. Renal tubule Cpt1a overexpression protects from kidney fibrosis by restoring mitochondrial homeostasis. *J Clin Invest.* (2021) 131:e140695. doi: 10.1101/2020.02.18.952440

23. Ekanayake P, Hupfeld C, Mudaliar S. Sodium-glucose cotransporter type 2 (Sglt-2) inhibitors and ketogenesis: the good and the bad. *Current Diabet Rep.* (2020) 20:74. doi: 10.1007/s11892-020-01359-z

 Rojas-Morales P, León-Contreras JC, Sánchez-Tapia M, Silva-Palacios A, Cano-Martínez A, González-Reyes S, et al. A ketogenic diet attenuates acute and chronic ischemic kidney injury and reduces markers of oxidative stress and inflammation. *Life Sci.* (2022) 289:120227. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2021.120227

25. Batch JT, Lamsal SP, Adkins M, Sultan S, Ramirez MN. Advantages and disadvantages of the ketogenic diet: a review article. *Cureus.* (2020) 12:e9639. doi: 10.7759/cureus.9639

26. Tay J, Luscombe-Marsh ND, Thompson CH, Noakes M, Buckley JD, Wittert GA, et al. Comparison of low- and high-carbohydrate diets for type 2 diabetes management: a randomized trial. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2015) 102:780–90. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.115.112581

27. Mu E, Wang J, Chen L, Lin S, Chen J, Huang X. Ketogenic diet induces autophagy to alleviate bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in murine models. *Exp Lung Res.* (2020) 47:26–36. doi: 10.1080/01902148.2020.1840667

28. Torres JA, Kruger SL, Broderick C, Amarlkhagva T, Agrawal S, Dodam JR, et al. Ketosis ameliorates renal cyst growth in polycystic kidney disease. *Cell Metabolism.* (2019) 30:1007–23.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2019.09.012

29. Xu S, Tao H, Cao W, Cao L, Lin Y, Zhao SM, et al. Ketogenic diets inhibit mitochondrial biogenesis and induce cardiac fibrosis. *Sig Trans Targ Therapy.* (2021) 6:54. doi: 10.1038/s41392-020-00411-4

30. Dedkova EN, Blatter LA. Role of beta-hydroxybutyrate, its polymer poly-betahydroxybutyrate and inorganic polyphosphate in mammalian health and disease. *Front Physiol.* (2014) 5:260. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2014.00260

31. Youm YH, Nguyen KY, Grant RW, Goldberg EL, Bodogai M, Kim D, et al. The ketone metabolite beta-hydroxybutyrate blocks nlrp3 inflammasome-mediated inflammatory disease. *Nat Med.* (2015) 21:263–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.3804

32. Shimazu T, Hirschey MD, Newman J, He W, Shirakawa K, Le Moan N, et al. Suppression of oxidative stress by beta-hydroxybutyrate, an endogenous histone deacetylase inhibitor. *Science*. (2013) 339:211–4. doi: 10.1126/science.1227166

33. Mikami D, Kobayashi M, Uwada J, Yazawa T, Kamiyama K, Nishimori K, et al. B-Hydroxybutyrate, a ketone body, reduces the cytotoxic effect of cisplatin via activation of Hdac5 in human renal cortical epithelial cells. *Life Sci.* (2019) 222:125–32. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2019.03.008

34. Tajima T, Yoshifuji A, Matsui A, Itoh T, Uchiyama K, Kanda T, et al. B-hydroxybutyrate attenuates renal ischemia-reperfusion injury through its antipyroptotic effects. *Kidney Int.* (2019) 95:1120–37. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018.11.034

35. Miyauchi T, Uchida Y, Kadono K, Hirao H, Kawasoe J, Watanabe T, et al. Up-regulation of foxol and reduced inflammation by betahydroxybutyric acid are essential diet restriction benefits against liver injury. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2019) 116:13533–42. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1820 282116

36. Dmitrieva-Posocco O, Wong AC, Lundgren P, Golos AM, Descamps HC, Dohnalova L, et al. Beta-hydroxybutyrate suppresses colorectal cancer. *Nature*. (2022) 605:160–5. doi: 10.1038/s41586-022-04649-6

37. Yu Y, Yu Y, Zhang Y, Zhang Z, An W, Zhao X. Treatment with D-betahydroxybutyrate protects heart from ischemia/reperfusion injury in mice. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2018) 829:121–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2018.04.019

38. Lopez-Hernandez FJ, Lopez-Novoa JM. Potential utility of pparalpha activation in the prevention of ischemic and drug-induced acute renal damage. *Kidney Int.* (2009) 76:1022–4. doi: 10.1038/ki.2009.229

39. Li S, Mariappan N, Megyesi J, Shank B, Kannan K, Theus S, et al. Proximal tubule Ppar attenuates renal fibrosis and inflammation caused by unilateral ureteral obstruction. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2013) 305:F618–27. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00309.2013

40. Grabacka M, Pierzchalska M, Dean M, Reiss K. Regulation of ketone body metabolism and the role of Pparalpha. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2016) 17:2093. doi: 10.3390/ijms17122093

41. Tran M. Pgc-1α promotes recovery after acute kidney injury during systemic inflammation in mice. *J Clin Invest.* (2011) 121:4003–14. doi: 10.1172/JCI58662

42. Jager S, Handschin C, St-Pierre J, Spiegelman BM. Amp-activated protein kinase (ampk) action in skeletal muscle via direct phosphorylation of Pgc-1alpha. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2007) 104:12017–22. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0705070104

43. Dugan LL. Ampk dysregulation promotes diabetes-related reduction of superoxide and mitochondrial function. J Clin Invest. (2013). doi: 10.1172/JCI66218

44. Clark AJ, Parikh SM. Targeting energy pathways in kidney disease: the roles of sirtuins, ampk, and pgc1alpha. *Kidney Int.* (2021) 99:828-40. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2020.09.037

45. Taggart AK, Kero J, Gan X, Cai TQ, Cheng K, Ippolito M, et al. (D)-Betahydroxybutyrate inhibits adipocyte lipolysis via the nicotinic acid receptor puma-G. *J Biol Chem.* (2005) 280:26649–52. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C500213200

46. Plaisance EP. Niacin stimulates adiponectin secretion through the Gpr109a receptor. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. (2009). doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.91004.2008

47. Kimura I. Short-chain fatty acids and ketones directly regulate sympathetic nervous system via G protein-coupled receptor 41 (Gpr41). PNAS. (2011). doi: 10.1073/pnas.1016088108

48. Won YJ, Lu VB, Puhl HL 3rd, Ikeda SR. Beta-Hydroxybutyrate Modulates N-type calcium channels in rat sympathetic neurons by acting as an agonist for the G-protein-coupled receptor Ffa3. *J Neurosci.* (2013) 33:19314–25. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3102-13.2013 49. Priyadarshini M, Layden BT. Ffar3 modulates insulin secretion and global gene expression in mouse islets. *Islets.* (2015) 7:e1045182. doi: 10.1080/19382014.2015.1045182

50. Inoue D, Tsujimoto G, Kimura I. Regulation of energy homeostasis by Gpr41. *Front Endocrinol.* (2014) 5:81. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2014.00081

51. Bellahcene M, O'Dowd JF, Wargent ET, Zaibi MS, Hislop DC, Ngala RA, et al. Male mice that lack the G-protein-coupled receptor Gpr41 have low energy expenditure and increased body fat content. *Br J Nutr.* (2013) 109:1755-64. doi: 10.1017/S0007114512003923

52. Ang QY, Alexander M, Newman JC, Tian Y, Cai J, Upadhyay V, et al. Ketogenic diets alter the gut microbiome resulting in decreased intestinal Th17 cells. *Cell.* (2020) 181:1263–75-e16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.04.027

53. Kong C, Yan X, Liu Y, Huang L, Zhu Y, He J, et al. Ketogenic diet alleviates colitis by reduction of colonic group 3 innate lymphoid cells through altering gut microbiome. *Signal Trans Targ Therapy*. (2021) 6:154. doi: 10.1038/s41392-021-00549-9

54. Paoli A, Mancin L, Bianco A, Thomas E, Mota JF, Piccini F. Ketogenic diet and microbiota: friends or enemies? *Genes.* (2019) 10:534. doi: 10.3390/genes10070534

55. Blad CC, Tang C, Offermanns S G-Protein-coupled receptors for energy metabolites as new therapeutic targets. *Nat Rev Drug Discovery*. (2012) 11:603–19. doi: 10.1038/nrd3777

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Aycan Ünalp, University of Health Sciences, Türkiye

REVIEWED BY Angela Marie Poff, University of South Florida, United States Barbara Kofler, Paracelsus Medical University, Austria

*CORRESPONDENCE Thomas N. Seyfried thomas.seyfried@bc.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Nutrition and Metabolism, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

RECEIVED 02 February 2023 ACCEPTED 13 March 2023 PUBLISHED 28 March 2023

CITATION

Seyfried TN, Mukherjee P, Lee DC, Ta L and Nations L (2023) Case report: Resolution of malignant canine mast cell tumor using ketogenic metabolic therapy alone. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1157517. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1157517

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Seyfried, Mukherjee, Lee, Ta and Nations. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Case report: Resolution of malignant canine mast cell tumor using ketogenic metabolic therapy alone

Thomas N. Seyfried^{1*}, Purna Mukherjee¹, Derek C. Lee¹, Linh Ta¹ and Loren Nations²

¹Department of Biology, Boston College, Chestnut Hill, MA, United States, ²Veterinary Healthcare Associates, Winter Haven, FL, United States

Background: Mast cell tumors (MCT) are common neoplasms in dogs and are similar to most other malignant cancers in requiring glucose for growth, regardless of histological grade. Ketogenic metabolic therapy (KMT) is emerging as a non-toxic nutritional intervention for cancer management in animals and humans alike. We report the case of a 7 years-old Pit Bull terrier that presented in 2011 with a cutaneous mast cell tumor under the right nostril.

Methods: The patient's parent refused standard of care (SOC) and steroid medication after initial tumor diagnosis due to the unacceptable adverse effects of these treatments. Following tumor diagnosis, the patient's diet was switched from Ol'Roy dog food to raw vegetables with cooked fish. The tumor continued to grow on this diet until July, 2013 when the diet was switched to a carbohydrate free, raw calorie restricted ketogenic diet consisting mostly of chicken and oils. A dog food calculator was used to reduce calories to 60% (40% calorie restriction) of that consumed on the original diet. A total of 444 kilocalories were given twice/day at 12 h intervals with one medium-sized raw radish given as a treat between each meal.

Results: The tumor grew to about 3–4 cm and invaded surrounding tissues while the patient was on the raw vegetable, cooked fish diet. The tumor gradually disappeared over a period of several months when the patient was switched to the carbohydrate free calorie restricted ketogenic diet. The patient lost 2.5 kg during the course of the calorie restriction and maintained an attentive and active behavior. The patient passed away without pain on June 4, 2019 (age 15 years) from failure to thrive due to an enlarged heart with no evidence of mast cell tumor recurrence.

Conclusion: This is the first report of a malignant cutaneous mast cell tumor in a dog treated with KMT alone. The resolution of the tumor in this canine patient could have been due to the diet-induced energy stress and the restriction of glucose-driven aerobic fermentation that is essential for the growth of most malignant tumors. Further studies are needed to determine if this non-toxic dietary therapeutic strategy could be effective in managing other canine patients with malignant mast cell tumors.

KEYWORDS

ketogenic diet, canine, glucose, aerobic fermentation, nutrition, calorie restriction

Introduction

Canine cutaneous mast cell tumor (MCT) is a common malignant cancer in a range of dog breeds (1-4). Emerging evidence indicates that cancer is a mitochondrial metabolic disease (5, 6). Aerobic glucose fermentation (Warburg effect), linked to defective oxidative phosphorylation (OxPhos), has been documented in canine MCT as it has been in the majority of human cancers regardless of histological or genetic heterogeneity (7, 8). Unlike normal cells, cancer cells can grow in the absence of oxygen using glucose and glutamine as fermentable fuels (8). Ketogenic metabolic therapy (KMT) is a non-toxic therapeutic strategy for cancer management that restricts the availability of fermentable fuels while elevating levels of non-fermentable fatty acids and ketone bodies (9, 10). Metabolism of ketone bodies in normal cells increases the redox span between mitochondrial Complexes I and III, thus increasing the delta G' of ATP hydrolysis while, at the same time, reducing the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) through the Complex II coenzyme Q couple (10-12). It is for these reasons that ketone bodies are considered good medicine for enhancing mitochondrial energy efficiency and general physiological health (13, 14). We therefore proposed that KMT might be helpful in managing canine MCT.

Calorie reduction and calorie restricted diets can also target multiple hallmarks of cancer including angiogenesis, inflammation, edema, and tumor cell viability (15–17). In contrast to cells with normal mitochondrial OxPhos capacity, cancer cells lack metabolic flexibility and cannot efficiently use fatty acids, ketone bodies, or other respiratory fuels for ATP synthesis (10). The welldocumented abnormalities in mitochondrial number, structure, and function compromise energy synthesis through OxPhos (8). KMT used either alone or in combination with standard of care has therapeutic benefit for managing a broad range of animal and human cancers (9, 18–20). In this report, we present evidence showing that KMT used alone was able to resolve a malignant cutaneous MCT in a dog.

Case report

A 7 years-old, 60 pound female Pit Bull (DOB, January 3, 2004) presented on July 28, 2011 at the Banfield Pet Hospital, Conyers, GA, USA with a cutaneous mass under the right nostril. Microscopic analysis of tissue smears revealed high cellularity with loose sheets of round to oval cells. The cells had indistinct borders and the cytoplasm contained large numbers of prominent metachromatic cytoplasmic granules. The nuclei varied mildly to moderately in size and nucleoli were rarely visible. Eosinophils were scattered frequently throughout the smear preparations. The cutaneous mass was diagnosed as mast cell tumor, but was not graded at that time (see lab report in **Supplementary material**). Based on clinical behavior, this tumor was likely a progressive low-grade neoplasm at the time of diagnosis (2–4). A complete blood work analysis revealed no deviations from normal ranges at the time of initial diagnosis (**Supplementary material**).

Although steroid medication (prednisone) and standard of care (SOC) including surgery, chemotherapy, and radiation therapy were discussed as therapeutic options, the patient's parent refused any of these treatments due to their unacceptable adverse effects. Significant adverse effects have been reported in a dog with cutaneous MCT treated with SOC (21, 22). Two weeks after tumor diagnosis, the patient's diet was switched from Ol'Roy canned dog food to a raw vegetable diet with cooked fish and lentils. The tumor continued to grow on this diet invading local tissues and reaching a size of about 4 cm (Figure 1A). Local invasion is a hallmark of malignancy and the first step of the metastatic cascade (23, 24). Two weeks prior to the July 2013 image shown in Figure 1A, the patient's diet was switched to a calorie restricted raw ketogenic diet. A full image of the patient's face is shown in the Supplementary material. As no further diagnostic analysis was done on the tumor in 2013, it is not known if the grading of the tumor would have increased over the 2 years period from initial diagnosis in 2011 to that shown in Figure 1A and in the Supplementary material. The decision to switch the diet from raw vegetables to a raw calorie restricted KD was based on the on the view that dogs evolved from wolves, which are largely carnivores, and on the general information presented in the following YouTube video.1 Using the following dog food calculator, http://www.dogfoodadvisor.com/dog-feeding-tips/dogfood-calculator, the patient's parent estimated that a 60 lb (27.3 kg), light-duty working dog should consume about 1,500 kilocalories (Kcal)/day. Consequently, a 40% restriction of this value was used to estimate a daily caloric intake for this patient of about 900 Kcal/day. The new diet was formulated to contain the following ingredients:

- 1. One organic raw chicken leg with bone (150 Kcal); 26 g fat: 36 g protein.
- 2. One organic raw chicken egg (54 Kcal); 1.5 g fat: 6.0 g protein.
- 3. One tablespoon (14.3 g) of pure LouAna coconut oil (120 calories); 14.3 g fat: 0 g protein.
- 4. Three teaspoons (12.6 g) of grizzly pollock oil for dogs (120 calories); 12.6 g fat: 0 g protein.

This carbohydrate-free dietary formulation produced about 444 Kcal/meal with a fat: protein ketogenic ratio of about 1.3:1 and was fed to the patient twice/day in the morning and in the evening at 12 h intervals. There were no issues of compliance. As the patient enjoyed treats, one medium-sized raw radish (0 protein and 0 fat) was given between each meal. The tumor gradually disappeared over a period of several months when the patient was switched to the raw calorie restricted ketogenic diet (Figures 1B-D). A image of the patient's face taken in 2016 is shown in the Supplementary material. The patient lost 2.5 kg (about 8% body weight) during the course of the calorie restriction and maintained an attentive and active behavior according to the parent. The patient was fed this calorie restricted ketogenic diet until 2019. Once the tumor was no longer apparent, the patient was occasionally given cooked chicken as an alternative to raw chicken. The patient passed away at the upper age of longevity for this breed (age 15 years) in the arms of the parent without pain on June 4, 2019 from failure to thrive due to an enlarged heart. No evidence of mast cell tumor recurrence was observed on the nose or anywhere else on the patient's body. It is

Abbreviations: OxPhos, oxidative phosphorylation; KMT, ketogenic metabolic therapy; SOC, standard of care; KD, ketogenic diet; KGI, glucose ketone index.

¹ https://youtu.be/sBjnWfT8HbQ


known that overall survival for grade II MCT is about 21.5 months

and for grade III MCT is only about 9.2 months (2, 25). This patient survived for 63 months living a normal life span after resolution of the cancer. A timeline of the case is shown in **Figure 2**.

Discussion

This is the first report to our knowledge of a malignant cutaneous MCT in a dog treated with KMT alone. It is clear from our observations that the KMT protocol used for our patient did not cause any adverse effects. No adverse effects or safety concerns were reported previously in canines treated with KD for managing epilepsy (26, 27). The diet-linked resolution of the tumor in this canine patient could have been due in part to the restriction of glucose and to an inhibition of aerobic fermentation (Warburg effect) that is essential for the growth of most malignant tumors (8, 28, 29). A limitation of our report, however, is the absence of data collected on blood glucose, blood ketone bodies, and glucose ketone index values (GKI) in a manner similar to those collected previously in our case report of a human brain tumor patient (30, 31).

It is recognized that the genome of most cancer cells, including those in MCT, contain numerous types of pathological somatic mutations (32–34). Abnormalities in mitochondrial DNA and biochemistry have also been reported previously in canine cutaneous MCT (7). These genetic abnormalities will prevent metabolic flexibility and adaptability to nutritional stress (35).

Adaptability to abrupt environmental change is a property of the normal genome, which was selected for in order to ensure survival under environmental stress (35). According to established evolutionary concepts, only cells possessing flexibility in nutrient utilization will be able to survive under nutrient stress (6, 36). Environmental forcing over eons has selected for genomes that are capable of adapting to abrupt change in order to maintain metabolic homeostasis (37-39). Previous studies showed that normal dogs are remarkably adaptable to food restriction and physiological stress (40). The genomic defects that occur in MCT, together with mitochondrial dysfunction, will prevent the metabolic flexibility needed for rapid adaption to nutrient stress thus leading to tumor cell elimination through a combination of autophagy and autolytic cannibalism (36). The metabolically flexible normal canine cells will outcompete the mutated inflexible MCT cells for the availability of restricted nutrients thus leading to the elimination of the tumor cells (41, 42). It is therefore tempting to speculate that in contrast to the normal body cells, the neoplastic cells in the patient's MCT were unable to adapt to the nutritional stress produced from the carbohydrate-free, calorie restricted ketogenic diet thus causing rapid tumor resolution.

Calorie restriction and restricted ketogenic diets have had success in reducing growth and metastasis in a range of malignant tumors in mice and humans (9, 19, 41, 43, 44). In none of these cases, however, was resolution of the tumor achieved with diet alone. Although a human glioblastoma patient has remained alive for over 8 years using KMT alone (no steroids, no radiation,



no chemotherapy), the tumor in this patient was not resolved, but continues to grow slowly requiring periodic debulking for continued management (31). Synergy between restricted KD and glutamine targeting drugs could also facilitate resolution of more aggressive tumors especially for those that involve systemic metastasis and growth in the nervous system (16, 45). The resolution of the MCT in this canine patient should be viewed as anecdotal until further studies are conducted in other canine patients using a therapeutic strategy that is the same or similar to that used on our canine patient.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the animal study because there was no risk of toxicity or adverse events of the treatment recommended for the patient. Treatment was conducted in the patient's home environment. Written informed consent was obtained from the owners for the participation of their animals in this study.

Author contributions

TS wrote most of the report. PM, LT, and DL assisted with development of figures and report editing. LN edited and validated the accuracy of the conclusion. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

We thank the Foundation for Metabolic Cancer Therapies, Edward Miller, Joseph Maroon, and the Corkin Family Foundation

for their support. We also thank the patient's parent, Naima Moore (naima.moore@yahoo.com), for the careful documentation of the tumor progression and the diet protocol used to manage the tumor.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2023. 1157517/full#supplementary-material

- 1. Original lab report on the patient from the Banfield Pet Hospital, Conyers, GA.
- 2. Before and after ketogenic metabolic therapy (KMT) treatment images of the patient.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

Additional images depicting the patient before and after ketogenic metabolic therapy (KMT). (A) Large mast cell tumors (MCT) under the right nostril in July 2013. (B) Image of the patient with sustained resolution in October 2016.

References

1. London C, Seguin B. Mast cell tumors in the dog. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract. (2003) 33:473–89. doi: 10.1016/S0195-5616(03)00003-2

2. Kiupel M, Webster J, Bailey K, Best S, DeLay J, Detrisac C, et al. Proposal of a 2-tier histologic grading system for canine cutaneous mast cell tumors to more accurately predict biological behavior. *Vet Pathol.* (2011) 48:147–55. doi: 10.1177/0300985810386469

3. Polton G. Cutaneous mast cell tumours in dogs. Vet Rec. (2009) 164:345. doi: 10.1136/vr.164.11.345-a

4. Willmann M, Yuzbasiyan-Gurkan V, Marconato L, Dacasto M, Hadzijusufovic E, Hermine O, et al. Proposed diagnostic criteria and classification of canine mast cell neoplasms: a consensus proposal. *Front Vet Sci.* (2021) 8:755258. doi: 10.3389/fvets. 2021.755258

5. Seyfried T. Cancer as a mitochondrial metabolic disease. *Front Cell Dev Biol.* (2015) 3:43. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2015.00043

6. Seyfried T, Chinopoulos C. Can the mitochondrial metabolic theory explain better the origin and management of cancer than can the somatic mutation theory? *Metabolites*. (2021) 11:572. doi: 10.3390/metabol1090572

7. Ślaska B, Śmiech A, Bownik A, Kowal K, Tkaczyk A, Pierzchała M, et al. Defect in mitochondrial NADH-dehydrogenase genes in canine mast cell tumours. *Ann Anim Sci.* (2020) 20:919–37. doi: 10.2478/aoas-2020-0027

8. Seyfried T, Arismendi-Morillo G, Mukherjee P, Chinopoulos C. On the origin of ATP synthesis in cancer. *iScience*. (2020) 23:101761.

9. Weber D, Aminzadeh-Gohari S, Tulipan J, Catalano L, Feichtinger R, Kofler B. Ketogenic diet in the treatment of cancer - Where do we stand? *Mol Metab.* (2020) 33:102–21. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2019.06.026

10. Seyfried T, Yu G, Maroon J, D'Agostino D. Press-pulse: a novel therapeutic strategy for the metabolic management of cancer. *Nutr Metab.* (2017) 14:19. doi: 10.1186/s12986-017-0178-2

11. Veech R, Chance B, Kashiwaya Y, Lardy H, Cahill G Jr. Ketone bodies, potential therapeutic uses. *IUBMB Life*. (2001) 51:241–7.

12. Chance B, Sies H, Boveris A. Hydroperoxide metabolism in mammalian organs. *Physiol Rev.* (1979) 59:527–605. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1979.59.3.527

13. Veech R. The therapeutic implications of ketone bodies: the effects of ketone bodies in pathological conditions: ketosis, ketogenic diet, redox states, insulin resistance, and mitochondrial metabolism. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*. (2004) 70:309–19. doi: 10.1016/j.plefa.2003.09.007

14. Cahill G Jr, Veech R. Ketoacids? Good medicine? *Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc.* (2003) 114:149-61.

15. Jiang Y, Wang F. Caloric restriction reduces edema and prolongs survival in a mouse glioma model. *J Neuro Oncol.* (2013) 114:25–32. doi: 10.1007/s11060-013-1154-y

16. Mukherjee P, Augur Z, Li M, Hill C, Greenwood B, Domin M, et al. Therapeutic benefit of combining calorie-restricted ketogenic diet and glutamine targeting in late-stage experimental glioblastoma. *Commun Biol.* (2019) 2:200. doi: 10.1038/s42003-019-0455-x

17. Seyfried T, Sanderson T, El-Abbadi M, McGowan R, Mukherjee P. Role of glucose and ketone bodies in the metabolic control of experimental brain cancer. *Br J Cancer.* (2003) 89:1375–82. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6601269

18. Khodabakhshi A, Akbari M, Mirzaei H, Seyfried T, Kalamian M, Davoodi S. Effects of ketogenic metabolic therapy on patients with breast cancer: a randomized controlled clinical trial. *Clin Nutr.* (2020) 40:751–8. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2020.06.028

19. Smith K, Hendricks B, DiDomenico J, Conway B, Smith T, Azadi A, et al. Ketogenic metabolic therapy for glioma. *Cureus*. (2022) 14:e26457.

20. Evangeliou A, Spilioti M, Vassilakou D, Goutsaridou F, Seyfried T. Restricted ketogenic diet therapy for primary lung cancer with metastasis to the brain: a case report. *Cureus*. (2022) 14:e27603. doi: 10.7759/cureus.27603

21. Musser M, Berger E, Flaherty H, Fox L, Johannes C. Marked paraneoplastic hypereosinophilia associated with a low-grade, metastatic canine mast cell tumour. *Vet Rec Case Rep.* (2018) 6:e000563.

22. Dobson J, Cohen S, Gould S. Treatment of canine mast cell tumours with prednisolone and radiotherapy. *Vet Comp Oncol.* (2004) 2:132–41.

23. Seyfried T, Huysentruyt L. On the origin of cancer metastasis. *Crit Rev Oncog.* (2013) 18:43–73.

24. Fidler I. The pathogenesis of cancer metastasis: the 'seed and soil' hypothesis revisited. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2003) 3:453–8.

25. Tamlin V, Bottema C, Woolford L, Dobson F, Kessell A, Peaston A. Canine mast cell tumours part I: clinical and survival outcomes. *Vet Med Sci.* (2022) 8:1409–20. doi: 10.1002/vms3.812

26. Packer R, Law T, Davies E, Zanghi B, Pan Y, Volk H. Effects of a ketogenic diet on ADHD-like behavior in dogs with idiopathic epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2016) 55:62–8. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.11.014

27. Berk B, Law T, Packer R, Wessmann A, Bathen-Nothen A, Jokinen T, et al. A multicenter randomized controlled trial of medium-chain triglyceride dietary supplementation on epilepsy in dogs. *J Vet Intern Med.* (2020) 34:1248–59.

28. Griffin L, Thamm D, Selmic L, Ehrhart E, Randall E. Pilot study utilizing Fluorine-18 fluorodeoxyglucose-positron emission tomography/computed tomography for glycolytic phenotyping of canine mast cell tumors. *Vet Radiol Ultrasound.* (2018) 59:461–8. doi: 10.1111/vru.12612

29. Hansen A, Gutte H, Holst P, Johannesen H, Rahbek S, Clemmensen A, et al. Combined hyperpolarized (13)C-pyruvate MRS and (18)F-FDG PET (hyperPET) estimates of glycolysis in canine cancer patients. *Eur J Radiol.* (2018) 103:6–12. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2018.02.028

30. Meidenbauer J, Mukherjee P, Seyfried T. The glucose ketone index calculator: a simple tool to monitor therapeutic efficacy for metabolic management of brain cancer. *Nutr Metab.* (2015) 12:12. doi: 10.1186/s12986-015-0009-2

31. Seyfried T, Shivane A, Kalamian M, Maroon J, Mukherjee P, Zuccoli G. Ketogenic metabolic therapy, without chemo or radiation, for the long-term management of IDH1-mutant glioblastoma: an 80-month follow-up case report. *Front Nutr.* (2021) 8:682243. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.682243

32. Bowlt Blacklock K, Birand Z, Biasoli D, Fineberg E, Murphy S, Flack D, et al. Identification of molecular genetic contributants to canine cutaneous mast cell tumour metastasis by global gene expression analysis. *PLoS One.* (2018) 13:e0208026. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0208026

33. Chen P, Marconato L, Sabattini S, Kiupel M. Mutations in exons 8 and 11 of c-kit gene in canine subcutaneous mast cell tumors and their association with cell proliferation. *Vet Sci.* (2022) 9:493. doi: 10.3390/vetsci9090493

34. Vozdova M, Kubickova S, Pal K, Frohlich J, Fictum P, Rubes J. Recurrent gene mutations detected in canine mast cell tumours by next generation sequencing. *Vet Comp Oncol.* (2020) 18:509–18. doi: 10.1111/vco.12572

35. Seyfried T, Mukherjee P. Targeting energy metabolism in brain cancer: review and hypothesis. *Nutr Metab.* (2005) 2:30. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-2-30

36. Seyfried, T. Cancer prevention. *Cancer as a metabolic disease: on the origin, management, and prevention of cancer.* Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons (2012). p. 375–86. doi: 10.1002/9781118310311.ch19

37. Darwin C. On the origin of species by means of natural selection, or on the preservation of favored races in the struggle for life. London: John Murry (1859). p. 513.

38. Potts R. Humanity's descent: the consequences of ecological instability. New York, NY: William Morrow & Co., Inc. (1996). p. 325.

39. Potts R. Complexity of adaptibility in human evolution. In: Goodman M, Moffat A editors. *Probing human origins*. Cambridge, MA: American Academy of Arts & Sciences (2002). p. 33–57. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9258(18)88763-4

40. Howe P, Mattill H, Hawk P. Fasting studies: VI. Distribution of nitrogen during a fast of one hundred and seventeen days. *J Biol Chem.* (1912) 11:103–27.

41. Seyfried T. Metabolic management of cancer. *Cancer as a metabolic disease: on the origin, management, and prevention of cancer.* Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons (2012), p. 291–354. doi: 10.1002/9781118310311.ch17

42. Potter V. The role of nutrition in cancer prevention. *Science*. (1945) 101:105–9. doi: 10.1126/science.101.2614.105

43. Akgoc Z, Mukherjee P, Seyfried T. The glucose ketone index predicts overall survival and metastasis of mouse tumor cells to visceral organs and brain. *Long Chin Med.* (2022) 5:1–11. doi: 10.21037/lcm-21-43

44. Phoenix K, Vumbaca F, Fox M, Evans R, Claffey K. Dietary energy availability affects primary and metastatic breast cancer and metformin efficacy. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* (2010) 123:333–44. doi: 10.1007/s10549-009-0647-z

45. Shelton L, Huysentruyt L, Seyfried T. Glutamine targeting inhibits systemic metastasis in the VM-M3 murine tumor model. *Inter J Cancer.* (2010) 127:2478–85. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25431

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Aycan Ünalp, University of Health Sciences, Türkiye

REVIEWED BY Marie Van Der Merwe, University of Memphis, United States Anette Ramm-Pettersen, University of Oslo, Norway

*CORRESPONDENCE Ramona De Amicis ⊠ ramona.deamicis@unimi.it

RECEIVED 20 January 2023 ACCEPTED 09 May 2023 PUBLISHED 24 May 2023

CITATION

De Amicis R, Leone A, Pellizzari M, Foppiani A, Battezzati A, Lessa C, Tagliabue A, Ferraris C, De Giorgis V, Olivotto S, Previtali R, Veggiotti P and Bertoli S (2023) Long-term follow-up of nutritional status in children with GLUT1 Deficiency Syndrome treated with classic ketogenic diet: a 5-year prospective study. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1148960. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1148960

doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1148

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 De Amicis, Leone, Pellizzari, Foppiani, Battezzati, Lessa, Tagliabue, Ferraris, De Giorgis, Olivotto, Previtali, Veggiotti and Bertoli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Long-term follow-up of nutritional status in children with GLUT1 Deficiency Syndrome treated with classic ketogenic diet: a 5-year prospective study

Ramona De Amicis^{1,2}*, Alessandro Leone¹, Marta Pellizzari^{1,2}, Andrea Foppiani¹, Alberto Battezzati^{1,3}, Chiara Lessa¹, Anna Tagliabue^{4,5}, Cinzia Ferraris^{4,5}, Valentina De Giorgis⁶, Sara Olivotto⁷, Roberto Previtali^{7,8}, Pierangelo Veggiotti^{7,8} and Simona Bertoli^{1,2}

¹ICANS-DIS, Department of Food Environmental and Nutritional Sciences, University of Milan, Milan, Italy, ²Obesity Unit and Laboratory of Nutrition and Obesity Research, Department of Endocrine and Metabolic Diseases, IRCCS Istituto Auxologico Italiano, Milan, Italy, ³Clinical Nutrition Unit, Department of Endocrine and Metabolic Medicine, IRCCS Istituto Auxologico Italiano, Milan, Italy, ⁴Human Nutrition and Eating Disorder Centre, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy, ⁵Ketogenic Metabolic Therapy Laboratory, Department of Public Health, Experimental and Forensic Medicine University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy, ⁶Department of Child Neurology and Psychiatry, IRCCS "C. Mondino" National Neurological Institute, Pavia, Italy, ⁷Pediatric Neurology Unit, "V. Buzzi" Hospital, Milan, Italy, ⁸Biomedical and Clinical Sciences Department, University of Milan, Milan, Italy

Introduction: The classic ketogenic diet (cKD) is an isocaloric, high fat, lowcarbohydrate diet that induces the production of ketone bodies. High consumption of dietary fatty acids, particularly long-chain saturated fatty acids, could impair nutritional status and increase cardiovascular risk. The purpose of this study was to evaluate the long-term effects of a 5-year cKD on body composition, resting energy expenditure, and biochemical parameters in children affected by Glucose Transporter 1 Deficiency Syndrome (GLUT1DS).

Methods: This was a prospective, multicenter, 5-year longitudinal study of children with GLUT1DS treated with a cKD. The primary outcome was to assess the change in nutritional status compared with pre-intervention, considering anthropometric measurements, body composition, resting energy expenditure, and biochemical parameters such as glucose and lipid profiles, liver enzymes, uric acid, creatinine, and ketonemia. Assessments were conducted at pre-intervention and every 12months of cKD interventions.

Results: Ketone bodies increased significantly in children and adolescents, and remained stable at 5years, depending on the diet. No significant differences were reported in anthropometric and body composition standards, as well as in resting energy expenditure and biochemical parameters. Bone mineral density increased significantly over time according to increasing age. Body fat percentage significantly and gradually decreased in line with the increase in body weight and the consequent growth in lean mass. As expected, we observed a negative trend in respiratory quotient, while fasting insulin and insulin resistance were found to decrease significantly after cKD initiation.

Conclusion: Long-term adherence to cKD showed a good safety profile on anthropometric measurements, body composition, resting energy expenditure,

and biochemical parameters, and we found no evidence of potential adverse effects on the nutritional status of children and adolescents.

KEYWORDS

GLUT1-Deficiency Syndrome, ketogenic diet, long-term effect, nutritional status, body composition, energy expenditure

1. Introduction

Glucose Transporter 1 Deficiency Syndrome (GLUT1-DS; OMIM #606777) is a rare neurometabolic disorder resulting from an autosomal dominant mutation in SLCA1 (solute carrier family 2 member 1), a gene that encodes GLUT-1, the main transporter of glucose across the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and the plasma membrane of astrocytes. This genetic defect of GLUT-1 compromises the glucose uptake into the brain leading to an energy crisis. Patients with GLUT1-DS typically present with seizures, complex motor disorders, and impaired neurodevelopment (1, 2).

Since the initial description of GLUT1-DS in 1991 (3), the only known medical therapy for GLUT1-DS is the classic ketogenic diet (cKD), a normocaloric, hyperlipidic, normoprotein and low-carbohydrate diet, whose main purpose is to induce the constant production of ketone bodies, mainly acetoacetate (ACA) and β -hydroxybutyrate (BHB). This diet simulates the effects of long-term fasting, but does not deprive the body of the necessary calories for growth and development (1, 4). In GLUT1-DS, cKD is effective because the transport-mechanism for carbohydrates is inadequate and ketone bodies replaces carbohydrates as a source of energy for the brain (1). Moreover, other results suggest that this diet has an antiepileptic effect due to ketone bodies, that are involved in the alteration of mitochondrial function (e.g., promoting ATP synthesis and increasing mitochondrial biogenesis), in a decrease in glutamate release and its concentration in the synaptic cleft, in the activation of γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) synthesis, and in the protection of the neurons against oxidative stress through various cellular mechanisms, such as the increase of reduced glutathione (GSH) and the increase of uncoupling protein (UCP) expression (5-10).

In the cKD, the intake of each macronutrient is designed according to the ketogenic ratio (KR), which is the ratio of the amount of fat to the sum of the amounts of carbohydrate and protein (both expressed in grams). The most common ratios used in clinical protocols are 4:1 and 3:1, i.e., 4-3 g of fat versus 1 g of protein and carbohydrate. The choice of KR depends on age, individual production, and brain sensitivity to ketone bodies (2-4): in clinical practice the KR may differ from 2,5-4:1 since the treatment with cKD in patients with GLUT1-DS is lifelong, so clinicians aim to reduce the amount of fat to a level without symptoms (seizures, paroxymal exercise-induced dyskinesia, lack of energy) and a level of ketosis within the recommended range. Given the high lipid content and the reduction in other nutrients (carbohydrates, fiber, vitamins, and minerals), short-term effects could include acidosis, hypoglycemia, dehydration, lethargy, and gastrointestinal symptoms such as constipation, nausea, and abdominal pain (11, 12). One study reported that only insulin resistance and insulin sensitivity indexes changed after 12 weeks of cKD, suggesting that KD seems to have no effect on inflammatory cytokines production and abdominal fat distribution in the short term (2). Tagliabue et al. found no statistically significant differences in the gut microbiota at 3 months, except for a bacterial group suggested to be involved in the exacerbation of the inflammatory state of the intestinal mucosa associated with animal fat consumption (13). Administering a 6-month cKD to patients with medically refractory epilepsy, Tagliabue et al. found an increase in fat oxidation and a decrease in respiratory quotient, without appreciable changes in resting energy expenditure (REE) (14). In addition, the possible effects of high fat consumption might include vitamin deficiencies, hyperlipidemia, kidney stones, reduced bone mineral density, weight loss, and reduced height gain (15). However, only a few studies have investigated the long-term effects of cKD (16, 17). A ten-year study of a sample of 10 children showed that initial dyslipidemia normalized and no significant difference was observed in Body Mass Index (BMI), systolic and diastolic blood pressure, as well as carotid intima-media thickness (17). Regarding nutritional status, which includes growth pattern, body composition, bone mineral density, biochemical parameters, and energy expenditure (18), one study revealed that most GLUT1-DS patients (80%) maintained or even improved their growth pattern at 12-month follow-up (19). Other studies have shown that after 12 months of cKD there were no significant changes in ghrelin and leptin, nor in body fat, glucose and lipid profile (16, 20). Only in one study was cKD administered for more than 5 years. This study, however, was exclusively focused on body composition, bone mineral content, and bone mineral density, and it was conducted on a case series of GLUT1-DS adults, suggesting that maintenance of a cKD does not result in major adverse effects (21). However, no study investigated the long-term effects of a cKD on all nutritional status components in children.

Therefore, the aim of our study was to evaluate the long-term effects of a 5-year cKD on body composition, resting energy expenditure, and biochemical parameters in a sample of children affected by GLUT1-DS.

2. Methods

2.1. Ethics statement

The study protocol was approved by the ethics committee of the Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo di Pavia (reference number 20180083746) and complied with all principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. All caregivers provided written informed consent before the beginning of the study.

2.2. Study design and inclusion criteria

This was a prospective, multicenter, 5-year longitudinal study of children with GLUT1DS treated with a cKD. The primary outcome was to evaluate the change from pre-intervention in nutritional status, including anthropometric measurements, body composition, resting energy expenditure, and biochemical parameters, such as glucose, insulin, HbA1c, HOMA-IR, lipid profile (triglycerides [TGs], total cholesterol [TC], low-density lipoprotein cholesterol [LDL-C], and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol [HDL-C]), liver enzymes (alanine aminotransferase[ALT], aspartate aminotransferase[AST], gammaglutamyl transferase [GGT]), uric acid, creatinine, and ketonemia.

We conducted assessments prior to the initiation of cKD intervention and then every 12 months or 5 years during the cKD interventions.

2.3. Participants

Patients were recruited from the Department of Child Neuropsychiatry of the Casimiro Mondino IRCCS Foundation (Pavia, Italy) and the Pediatric Neurology Unit of the Vittore Buzzi Hospital (Milan, Italy) starting in October 2010 and followed until March 2019.

Patients were required to have no contraindications as defined by the latest Consensus (4), such as β -oxidation defects, carnitine deficiency, pyruvate carboxylase deficiency, porphyria and other specific disorders involving fatty acid transport and oxidation. Moreover, we excluded children with parents or caregivers that were noncompliant or unable to maintain adequate nutrition (4).

Nutritional measurements were performed at the International Center for the Assessment of Nutritional Status (ICANS) of the University of Milan. cKDs were implemented at the Center for Research on Human Nutrition and Eating Disorders in Pavia and at ICANS of the University of Milan according to similar guidelines (4).

Fifteen children and adolescents (11 females and 4 males, mean age 8.6 ± 3.0 years), all diagnosed with GLUT1-DS, were prospectively enrolled. Specifically, patients with GLUT1- DS underwent fasting lumbar puncture (at least 5–6h of fasting), where a cerebrospinal fluidglucose level less than 0.6 was considered suspicious for the presence of GLUT1-DS (22). In addition, for final confirmation, all patients were subjected to mutation analysis of the SLC2A1 gene.

2.4. Ketogenic diet setting

Patients started the dietary protocol at home, with a gradual increase in the ketogenic ratio and with no fasting required, according to the previously published protocol (2).

At pre-intervention, each patient filled out a dietary history with a registered dietician to assess their habitual caloric intake, intolerances, and food preferences. The cKD was tailored to the patient, considering REE-related energy expenditure measured by indirect calorimetry and physical activity level, as well as the appropriate ketogenic ratio to be achieved. Where necessary, appropriate modifications were made to the caloric prescriptions during follow-up. All participants received a normocaloric diet, with a minimum protein intake of 0.7 g/kg (23) and a sugar-free, multivitamin, multimineral, and potassium citrate supplementation

TABLE 1 Composition of the prescribed cKDs.

	Mean	SD
Energy intake (kcal/day)	1,532	535
Energy intake/BW (kcal/kg)	46.1	23.0
Protein (g/day)	29.9	13.5
Protein/BW (g/kg)	0.9	0.6
Fat (g/day)	146.6	52.4
Fat (%)	86.3	10.1
SFA (g/day)	53.9	20.0
SFA (%)	36.1	11.7
Carbohydrate (g/day)	22.3	10.5
Carbohydrate (%)	5.8	2.7
Ketogenic ratio	2.9	0.6

BW, body weight; SFA, Saturated Fatty acids.

(depending on gender and age). Each patient's allergies, intolerances, and food preferences were also taken into account. Before the beginning of the dietary protocol, patients and caregivers received preliminary counseling to clarify any doubts and facilitate understanding of the ketogenic diet, the attention and time required for meal preparation, food costs, and possible side effects of the diet.

Table 1 shows macronutrient composition and ketogenic ratio at the beginning of the cKD after the first week of ketosis induction.

Patients started the diet therapy at home with an initial ratio of 1:1, then gradually increased to a ratio of 2:1, and finally 3:1 or 4:1. The final ketogenic ratio was determined based on patient tolerance and ketonemia trends to ensure stable blood BHB values >2.0 mmol/L.

To monitor patients during follow-up, caregivers were instructed to check and note capillary ketonemia and ketonuria daily.

2.5. Neurological assessment

Neurological evaluations and electroencephalography (EEG) were performed at pre-intervention and once a year thereafter, at the Department of Neurology and Child Psychiatry, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Neurologico Casimiro Mondino in Pavia and at the Pediatric Neurology Unit, "V. Buzzi" Hospital in Milan, according to the 2011 Italian consensus on ketogenic therapy based on the WHO guidelines (22).

The following neurological symptoms were monitored: seizure types and their frequency, paroxysmal dyskinesia, spasticity, ataxia, dystonia, dysarthria, and muscle strength. Also, caregivers were asked to note alertness, activity, and seizure episodes on a daily basis.

2.6. Main outcomes: assessment of nutritional status

Nutritional status assessment is the result of anthropometric measurements, body composition in terms of fat and fat free mass, resting energy expenditure, and biochemical parameters (24).

Anthropometric measurements were performed by the same trained dietitian according to conventional measurement criteria and procedures (24).

Body weight (BW, kg) and body height (BH, cm) were measured with an accuracy of 100 g and 0.5 cm, respectively. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated using the formula Body Weight (kg) / Body Height² (m²).

Sex-specific BMI-for-age percentiles and Z scores were calculated based on the 2000 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) growth charts (25). According to CDC guidelines, a z-score of ≤ -2 was considered severely underweight, a score between -2 and -1 was considered underweight, between -1 and +1 was considered normal weight, between +1 and +2 was considered overweight, and a score ≥ 2 was considered obese.

Waist circumference (WC) was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm with a non-elastic tape. With the patient standing, and following normal exhalation, the measurement was taken at the midpoint between the last rib and the iliac crest in a horizontal plane. WC was quantified according to reference tables for age and sex (26).

Skinfold thickness was measured on the non-dominant side of the body using a Holtain LTD caliper at the triceps skinfold landmark. All measurements were taken in triplicate for all sites, and the mean of the three values was calculated. The intra-observer variation for skinfold measurements ranged from 2.5 to 2.9%.

Arm Muscular Area (AMA) and Arm Fat Area (AFA), indicators of nutritional status degree, muscle and fat mass amount, respectively, were calculated according to the following formulas:

AMA = [Arm circumference (cm) - (Tricipital Skinfold (mm) * 3.14)]²/ (4 * 3.14).

 $AFA = [Arm circumference (cm) / (4 * 3.14)] - AMA^2.$

AMA and AFA have been interpreted according to the CDC percentiles (25).

Body composition assessment was performed by Dual Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry (DEXA) at the ICANS center, using a GE Lunar iDXA, Boston, United States.

DEXA is a body composition analysis technique that allows the identification of three compartments: Bone Mineral Content (BMC), Lean Body Mass (LM), and Fat Mass (FM). Total body scans were performed by a single operator on all subjects in the supine position. The whole body of each subject was scanned in an average exposure time of 15 min. Coefficient of Variation were less than 1% for all measurements (27). Bone Mineral Density (BMD) can be obtained from this examination: a z-score < -2 indicates a value below the expected range for age, thus detecting presence of osteoporosis (27). We calculated fat mass index (FMI, kg/m2) in children and adolescents by dividing FM by the square of height. Total FM, Fat Mass Index, and Lean Mass Index were interpreted according to the body composition of reference children (28).

Resting energy expenditure (REE) was measured by means of an open-circuit ventilated hood system (Sensor Medics 29, Anaheim, CA, United States). All measurements were taken in the fasting state (minimum 12–14h of fasting), for at least 30 min according to a detailed previously published protocol (14). REE was calculated using the abbreviated Weir equation (29).

Regarding *biochemical parameters*, fasting blood samples were collected by venipuncture of the antecubital vein in a sitting or reclining position, using vacuum-sealed test tubes. After centrifugation (800 g for 10 min at 5°C), aliquots of serum sample were stored at 80°C until further analysis. An autoanalyzer (Cobas Integra 400 plus, Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim) was used to determine serum concentrations of glucose, TC, HDL-C, LDL-C, TG, AST, ALT, GGT,

creatinine, and uric acid. Circulating insulin was measured in duplicate by an autoanalyzer (Cobas e411 Hitachi, Roche Diagnostics). The homeostatic model of insulin resistance assessment (HOMA-IR) was calculated as [fasting glucose (mg/dL)×fasting insulin (mU/L)/405] (30). Glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) was determined by turbidimetric inhibition immunoassay for hemolyzed whole blood using an autoanalyzer. The % HbA1c was obtained by the ratio of HbA1c concentration to total blood hemoglobin concentration. The following values were defined as high: $TC \ge 200 \text{ mg/dL}$, LDL-C>130 mg/dL, TG>150 mg/dL, HOMA-IR \geq 3.16 for children, blood glucose $\geq 100 \text{ mg/dL}$, HbA1c $\geq 6\%$, and insulin >23 μ U/mL, while the following values were considered low: HDL < 40 mg/dL for males and < 50 mg/dL for females (30-32). As for liver enzymes, AST \geq 30 U/L, ALT \geq 35 U/L, and GGT \geq 18 U/L were considered high in females, while AST \geq 45 U/L, ALT \geq 40 U/L, and GGT \geq 28 U/L were regarded as high in males according to the of the ICANS laboratory normal upper limit. Capillary ketonemia was measured with an in vitro \beta-ketone self-testing medical diagnostic device (GlucoMen LX PLUS, Menarini Diagnostics, test range 0.1 mmol/L-8.0 mmol/L). Ketonuria was measured using a urine ketone test (Ketostix®, Bayer Diabetes, Berkshire, United Kingdom).

2.7. Statistical analysis

Continuous variables are presented as mean ± standard deviation. An independent t-test was used to compare the means of nutritional and biochemical variables among GLUT1-DS children. Levene's test was performed to assess the equality of variances for a variable calculated for the groups. A one-way repeated measures ANOVA with post-hoc Bonferroni comparison test was run to determine if there were differences in the variables of interest during the 5 years of dietary treatment.

3. Results

3.1. Pre-intervention

Table 2 shows the clinical characteristics of all patients, with mutations' types, phenotypes and pharmacological treatments at diagnosis.

Fifteen patients were recruited. All patients resulted positive to the SLC2 A1 test. The main phenotypes were generalized epilepsy and intellectual disability. Ten patients (67%) were not following any drug therapy. Three patients started cKD being younger than 6 years old.

Table 3 shows the nutritional characteristics at baseline. Only two patients were underweight and one was obese, as shown also by high waist circumference, high body fat and high AFA. The remaining reported normal nutritional status and body composition. All 15 were included in the study.

3.2. Intervention

All patients completed the 5-year protocol. The range of the prescribed KRs was 2–3:1 with carbohydrates intake lower than 10% and fat percentage amounting to minimum 80%. Energy and protein

TABLE 2 Clinical characteristics of recruited patients.

Patient	Age at diagnosis	SLC2 A1 testing	Mutations	Phenotype	Pharmacological treatments	Kind of diet and KR	Age at the diet- start
1	6 years	Yes	Protein mutation c.26C > T, gene p.Thr9Met, p.T9M	Generalized epilepsy (absence seizures)	No	cKD - 3:1	6 years
2	9 years	Yes	Protein mutation R223W, gene p.Arg223Trp	Focal and generalized (absence epilepsy),PED (chorea, dystonia)	Oxcarbazepine	cKD - 2,5:1	9 years
3	5 years	Yes	Protein mutation R153C, gene p.Arg153Cys	Generalized epilepsy (absence epilepsy and tonic clonic sezures), chorea, ataxia, stroke like episodes	No	cKD - 2.5:1	5 years
4	9 years	Yes	Protein mutation R458W, gene p.Pro485Leu	Generalized epilepsy (tonic clonic sezures), PED (chorea and dystonia), migraine, weakness	Valproate	cKD - 2.5:1	9 years
5	10 years	Yes	Protein mutation g.33411C>T, gene p. Arg126Cys	Generalized epilepsy (tonic clonic sezures, myclonic absence sezures), PED (dystonia), intellectual disability	Levetiracetam	cKD - 2.5:1	11 years
6	9 years	Yes	Protein mutation V165I, gene p.Val165Ile	PED (chorea, dystonia), intellectual disability	No	cKD - 3:1	9 years
7	NA	Yes	Protein mutation R249Afs131X, gene p. Arg249Ala fs*131	Generalized epilepsy (myclonic absence seizures), intellectual disabilityi	No	cKD - 3:1	NA
8	15 years	Yes	Protein mutation R400H, gene p.Arg400His	Intellectual disability, PED (dystonia, myoclonias), ocular movement disorder	Valproate	cKD - 2.5:1	15 years
9	NA	Yes	Protein mutation c.370delC, gene p.Leu124Trpfsx12	Intellectual disability,generalized epilepsy (myclonic seizures), chorea and ataxia, ocular movement disorder	No	cKD - 3:1	NA
10	7 years	Yes	Protein mutation p.N34S, gene p.Asn34Ser	Intellectual disability, generalized epilepsy (absence seizures)	No	cKD - 3:1	7 years
11	7 years	Yes	Protein mutation C.1198>T, gene p. Arg400Cys	Intellectual disability, generalized epilepsy (absence and myoclonic seizures), PED (dystonia) ocular movement disorder	No	cKD - 3:1	7 years
12	NA	Yes	Protein mutation c.884C>T, gene Thr295Met	Generalized epilepsy (absence seizures), PED (dystonia)	No	cKD - 2,5:1	3 years
13	NA	Yes	Protein mutation p.R223W	Generalized epilepsy (myoclonic seizures), ocular movement disorder	No	cKD - 2,5:1	4 years
14	NA	Yes	Protein mutation R458W, gene p.Pro485Leu	Generalized epilepsy (tonic clonic sezures), PED (chorea and dystonia), weakness	Valproate	cKD - 3:1	8 years
15	11 years	Yes	Protein mutation c.26C > T, gene p.Thr9Met, p.T9M	Generalized epilepsy (absence seizures)	No	cKD - 3:1	11 years

cKD, classic Ketogenic Diet; NA, not applicable; KR, ketogenic ratio; PED, Paroxysmal Exercise-induced Dyskinesia.

Weight < -2 z-score > +2 z-score Height < -2 z-score > +2 z-score > +2 z-score SMI < -2 z-score > +2 z-score > +2 z-score > +2 z-score < -2 z-score > +2 z-score < -2 z-score < -2 z-score > +2 z-score < -2 z-score < +2 z-score	2 (13,3%) 1 (6,7%) 2 (13,3%) 0 (0%) 2 (13,3%)						
> +2 z-scoreHeight< -2 z-score	1 (6,7%) 2 (13,3%) 0 (0%)						
Height< -2 z-score	2 (13,3%) 0 (0%)						
< -2 z-score> +2 z-scoreBMI< -2 z-score	0 (0%)						
> +2 z-scoreBMI< -2 z-score	0 (0%)						
BMI< -2 z-score							
< -2 z-score	2 (13,3%)						
> +2 z-scoreWaist circumference< -2 z-score	2 (13,3%)						
Waist circumference< -2 z-score							
< -2 z-score	1 (6,7%)						
> +2 z-score Arm Circumference z-score < -2 z-score	Waist circumference						
Arm Circumference z-score < -2 z-score	0 (0%)						
< -2 z-score > +2 z-score Arm Muscle Area z-score	1 (6,7%)						
> +2 z-score Arm Muscle Area z-score	Arm Circumference z-score						
Arm Muscle Area z-score	1 (6,7%)						
	1 (6,7%)						
 2 = 							
< -2 z-score							
> +2 z-score	1 (6,7%)						
Arm Fat Area z-score	1 (6,7%) 0 (0%)						
< -2 z-score							
> +2 z-score							

TABLE 3 Nutritional characteristics at baseline.

BMI, Body Mass Index, kg/m2.

intake was adjusted according to body weight (23), maintaining the same ketogenic ratio.

3.3. Post-intervention

All children reached the therapeutic range of KBs (betahydroxybutyrate >2.0 mmL/l) and tolerated the diet well.

Table 4 and Figure 1 show the annual changes from the beginning of the cKD.

KBs increased significantly in children and adolescents with values greater than 2 mmol/L, and remained stable at 5-y.

Concerning growth, we found a significant increase in weight and height during the time course but according to the baseline percentiles. BMI z-score did not change during the 5 years, as body composition in terms of waist circumference, AMA and AFA.

Specifically, one patient who was underweight at baseline remained underweight, while the obese patient attained normal weight.

BMC and BMD increased significantly over time according to increasing age. FM% decreased significantly and gradually, in line with the increase in BW and the consequent growth in LM.

As expected, we found a negative trend in respiratory quotient going from indicative of a balanced diet (RQ > 0.80) to a hyperlipidic diet (RQ < 0.7), while fasting insulin and HOMA index decreased significantly after cKD initiation. No patient showed biochemical parameters above the cutoff; only two children reported a high HOMA-IR index value (> 3.16) and both TC and LDL-C levels above the cutoff, which returned to normalafter 1 year.

Overall, all biochemical parameters related to protein, lipid, glycaemic, and liver metabolism remained stable during the course of the dietary intervention.

4. Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the longterm effects of cKD on nutritional status, in terms of anthropometric measurements, body composition, resting energy expenditure, and biochemical parameters, during a 5-year follow-up in a cohort of GLUT1-DS children and adolescents.

The reported negative RQ trend confirmed stable metabolic adaptation due to low carbohydrate intake and increased use of fat as an energy substrate and, thus, adherence to cKD (33, 34).

With regard to growth curves in children and adolescents, a slight yet non-significant decline in the z-scores of BMI-for-age, heightfor-age, and weight-for-age can be observed, confirming the results reported by Tagliabue et al. who showed that after 6 months of KD, height, weight, and BMI remained approximately constant compared to pre-intervention values (14). Similarly, Ferraris et al. found that in 34 children with both GLUT1-DS and refractory epilepsy, 80% exhibited no growth retardation after 12 months of KD. Among all 15 children and adolescents in our study, only one female child remained underweight during the 5-year follow-up, and she was affected by both GLUT1-DS and cerebral palsy; the remaining children and adolescents maintained their growth trend or even improved their initial BMI z-score.

As for body composition, no significant changes in fat and lean mass standards were observed, probably due to the strict follow-up period and the closely monitored total daily calorie intake, which allows complete lipid oxidation without impairing body composition. A significant increase was found only in lean, bone mass, and not in body fat mass. Only in one female child who remained underweight and suffered from both GLUT1-DS and cerebral palsy did we observe a progressive reduction in lean mass, probably due to disease worsening. The remaining children all maintained their growth z-scores in both lean and body fat mass, except for the child who was obese at baseline. During the 5-year follow-up, in fact, he had an FM z-score in the normal range, in contrast to baseline where it was higher than normal range. These conflicting results might either be explained by reduced insulin leading to altered GH-pathways, or by the strictly controlled caloric intake, which reduces fat accumulation (35).

Our results also show that there was no significant worsening of bone health following a cKD, evidencing a significant increase in BMD as a function of increasing age. Bertoli et al. seem to support this hypothesis with a case series of adults affected by GLUT1-DS and other ultra-rare diseases (20, 21). In contrast, Bergqvist et al., in their 15-month longitudinal study of 25 children with refractory epilepsy, showed a decrease in BMC z-scores according to age and height (36). However, it should be considered that subjects already exhibited poor bone mineralization at pre-intervention, while in our study, patients had normal z-scores since pre-intervention (21). Moreover, in that study (36), patients were suffering from epilepsy, and therefore undergoing pharmacological treatments known to affect bone mineralization. In contrast, none of our patients were taking

TABLE 4 Timecourse of the nutritional changes.

	Base	eline	1ye	ear	2ye	ars	3ye	ears	4ye	ars	5ye	ars	р-
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	value
Anthropometri	c measure	ements		_		_				_		_	_
Weight (kg)	33,2a	23.2	32,1a	19.3	33,9a	18.9	38,6b	19.4	40,4b	21.0	40,9b	19.1	0.026
Weight z-score	-0.5	2.0	-0.8	2.0	-0.9	2.1	-0.7	2.0	-0.9	2.0	-0.8	2.1	0.975
Height (cm)	124,9a	28.7	128,6b	26.2	132,4b	24.8	137,7b	26.3	140,8b	25.0	142,0b	22.0	0.002
Height z-score	-0.7	1.3	-0.8	1.1	-0.7	1.1	-0.6	1.1	-0.6	1.1	-0.7	1.1	0.994
BMI (kg/m ²)	18.6	6.0	17.6	4.4	17.7	3.9	18.8	3.6	18.8	4.5	19.2	4.9	0.582
BMI z-score	-0.1	1.9	-0.6	2.1	-0.8	2.4	-0.8	3.1	-0.8	2.3	-0.8	2.4	0.978
Waist Circumference (cm)	61.9	19.2	60.9	14.6	62.7	13.4	66.2	13.0	66.5	13.5	66.8	13.2	0.546
Waist Circumference <i>z</i> -score Arm Circumference	1.8	2.5	1.2	1.9	0.8	1.6	0.8	1.6	0.9	1.8	0.6	2.0	0.466
(cm) Arm Circumference	0.1	0.6	-0.7	1.6	-0.7	4.9	-0.6	4.9	21.4	5.0	23.1	5.6	0.258
z-score Triceps_skf (mm)	14.2	7.1	13.3	5.0	13.3	5.8	13.1	5.2	-0.7	7.8	-0.6	1.3	0.316
Arm Muscle Area (cm ²)	25.5	14.6	23.3	13.5	23.1	9.9	28.6	11.2	27.8	13.5	30.1	15.7	0.216
Arm Muscle Area <i>z</i> -score	0.2	1.5	-0.7	1.6	-0.6	1.1	-0.5	1.0	-0.6	1.6	-0.7	1.5	0.516
Arm Fat Area (cm ²)	15.8	10.4	13.1	7.7	13.6	8.4	15.3	8.0	10.5	6.6	14.6	10.7	0.313
Arm Fat Area z-score	0.4	1.4	0.0	0.7	-0.4	0.7	0.6	0.8	-0.3	0.8	-0.1	1.4	0.412
Body composit	tion												
BMC (g)	1,056,7a	709.7	945,4a	474.2	1,186,6a	739.8	1,567,4b	844.2	1,340,8b	635.0	1,470,1b	898.6	0.031
BMD	0,780a	0.218	0,732a	0.151	0,810a	0.186	0,898b	0.205	0,846b	0.172	0,925b	0.211	0.001
BMD z-scores	0.1	0.7	0.1	1.0	-0.2	1.1	0.1	0.1	-0.1	1.1	-0.1	1.6	0.427
FM (kg)	10.8	8.8	8.1	5.5	10.2	7.4	13.3	6.2	10.7	6.7	12.2	9.1	0.284
FMI	5.9	3.0	4.9	1.8	5.4	2.3	6.1	1.8	5.1	2.2	5.4	3.5	0.100
FMI z-score	0.1	1.6	-0.5	1.1	-0.2	1.4	0.4	0.6	-0.6	1.2	-0.4	1.3	0.616
FM (%)	31.1	8.1	29.9	5.8	29.7	6.7	30.4	6.0	27,74b	5.9	27,43b	8.7	0.013
FM z-score	-0.1	1.7	-0.5	1.2	-0.4	1.6	0.3	0.6	-0.5	1.5	-0.3	1.3	0.077
LM (kg)	21,2a	14.5	20,9a	12.3	22,3a	12.7	24,6a	12.3	27,4b	14.0	30,7b	13.9	0.001
LMI	11,6a	2.0	11,3a	1.1	11,7a	2.1	13,1a	2.0	14,0b	2.3	14,3b	3.3	0.032
LMI z-score	0.2	1.2	0.1	1.2	-0.1	1.1	0.4	0.5	-0.1	1.2	-0.1	1.6	0.637
Resting energy	expendit	ure											
VO ₂	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.543
VCO ₂	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.686
RQ	0,81a	0.1	0,77a	0.1	0,77a	0.0	0,76b	0.1	0,76b	0.0	0,76b	0.0	0.041

(Continued)

TABLE 4 (Continued)

	Base	eline	1ye	ear	2ye	ars	3ye	ears	4ye	ars	5ye	ears	<i>p</i> -
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	value
REE (kcal/die)	844a	473	896a	387	915a	392	1059b	399	1153b	333	1146b	374	0.030
REE/weight (kcal/kg weight)	36.0	10.7	39.1	10.9	39.7	11.3	33.1	13.1	34.9	7.6	31.7	9.7	0.260
Biochemical pa	rameters												
Urea (mg/dl)	19	9	19	5	19	6	21	5	18	5	18	5	0.908
Creatinine (mg/dl)	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.4	0.1	0.4	0.1	0.4	0.1	0.146
Uric acid (mg/dl)	4.7	1.3	5.6	1.6	5.6	1.2	5.3	1.1	5.3	1.0	5.4	1.0	0.154
TC (mg/dl)	168	42	168	39	163	39	157	30	160	32	163	26	0.446
HDL-C (mg/dl)	56	15	59	18	57	16	56	16	52	14	51	11	0.978
LDL-C (mg/dl)	101	30	100	26	100	28	96	22	98	25	104	20	0.419
TC/HDL	3.1	0.7	3.0	0.7	3.0	0.7	2.9	0.6	3.3	1.0	3.3	0.6	0.549
LDL/HDL	1.9	0.6	1.8	0.5	1.9	0.7	1.8	0.5	2.0	0.8	2.1	0.5	0.997
TG (mg/dl)	66	24	58	18	57	17	64	24	66	25	64	29	0.525
Glucose (mg/dl)	87	5	79	10	79	8	86	7	86	9	87	11	0.108
Insulin (mU/mL)	10,9a	12.0	4,5b	2.9	5,5b	3.2	5,8b	6.5	5,1b	3.2	5,7b	2.9	0.047
HbA1c (%)	4.8	0.4	4.5	0.3	4.5	0.6	4.7	0.3	4.7	0.3	4.5	0.6	0.216
HOMA index	2,3a	2.6	0,9b	0.6	1,0b	0.8	1,7b	1.5	1,3b	0.7	1,3b	0.6	0.048
AST	29.1	15.4	26.4	7.0	25.3	8.0	21.2	6.5	22.4	9.7	20.0	6.3	0.290
ALT	20.5	23.9	22.2	10.1	19.2	12.8	13.9	4.1	16.5	5.6	14.9	7.8	0.649
GGT	14.5	8.1	12.9	6.0	11.2	5.2	11.6	4.5	11.3	3.6	10.7	4.2	0.340
KBs (mmol/L)	0.1	0.1	2.8	0.7	2.5	1.8	2.4	1.9	2.5	1.8	2.6	1.4	0.041

In bold, *p* < 0,05. a,b.

BMI, Body Mass Index; BMC, Bone Mineral Content; BMD, Bone Mineral Density; FM, Fat Mass; FMI, Fat Mass Index; LM, Lean Mass; Index, VO₂, oxygen volume; VCO₂, Carbon Dioxide Volume; RQ, Respiratory Quotient; REE, Resting Energy Expenditure; TC, Total Cholesterol; HDL, High Density Lipoprotein; LDL, Low Density Lipoprotein; TG, Tryglicerides; HBA1C, Glycosilated Hemoglobin; HOMA, Homeostasis model assessment; ALT, Alanine Amino Transferase; AST, Aspartate Amino Transferase; GGT, γ-glutamyl transferase; KB. Ketone Bodies.

anti-epileptic drugs. The metabolic acidosis produced by cKD could play a role in the decrease in BMC, and studies in this regard with increased vitamin D and calcium supplementation or with alkalizing agents would be interesting (37). All of our patients take calcium and vitamin D supplements, as well as an alkalinizer, and this could be the other reason why we observed no worsening of bone. No studies have evaluated 24-h calciuria in GLUT1-DS patients, but our data suggest that chronic ketosis due to controlled cKD does not affect bone health. The role played by the Growt Hormone-stimulating hormone ghrelinmight also be of interest. However, in a previous study, we found no changes in ghrelin levels in 30 GLUT1-DS and refractory epilepsy patients on cKD, nor a correlation between cKDand nutritional status or body composition (16). In conclusion, these data suggest that a well-structured cKD provides adequate energy intake to maintain patients' growth percentiles during childhood and adolescence (19), although GLUT1-DS disease has been found to be associated with nutrition and growth impairment at least until puberty (38). In addition to monitoring growth parameters, it is also recommended to periodically check body composition status in cKD subjects at risk for malnutrition (37).

Concerning biochemical parameters, no statistically significant changes were observed in lipid profile: only two children reported elevated TC and LDL-C levels above upper limits at baseline, which returned to normal as early as the first year of KD and remained in the normal range during the 5-year follow-up. These results are in contrast to those of the study by Reza Zamani et al. who reported increased TG, TC, and LDL, and decreased HDL in 33 children (39). In line with our results, a 10-year follow-up study by Heussinger et al. concluded that the lipid profile parameters reflected the pre-intervention status and showed no statistically significant changes in BMI, diastolic and systolic blood pressure, and carotid intima-media thickness as well (17), validating the hypothesis of fat utilization as an energy substrate that prevents body fat accumulation in children and adolescents. In addition, the absence of detrimental effects of fat intake on body fat accumulation and lipid profile could support the findings of Dehghan M et al. (40) that dietary fats, including saturated and unsaturated fatty acids, were associated with lower risk of total mortality and stroke when compared to high carbohydrate intake. Moreover, the quality of fats typical of Mediterranean countries (favoring foods rich in monoand polyunsaturated fatty acids at the expense of saturated ones, such



as oily fish, extra virgin olive oil, and nuts) has probably played a role in maintaining a stable lipid profile. On the other hand, insulin profile decreased significantly in the short term, as observed in short-term studies with follow-ups of 3, 6, or 12 months (2, 14, 16) and remained low even after 5 years. When a decrease in insulin is noted, it is reasonable to assume that this results in reduced stimulation of the GH hormone and, consequently, reduced IGF-1 production. Spulber et al. confirm this hypothesis by showing a negative correlation between β-hydroxybutyrate and growth rate and IGF-1 levels. Thus, even moderate calorie restriction could worsen growth rate in height, a hypothesis that should be considered when establishing a subject's energy requirements (41). Constant monitoring of the REE and energy intake in line with measured needs allowed us to maintain physiological height growth. Regarding liver and kidney function, none of the patients reported abnormal values and significant changes in AST, ALT, GGT, urea, creatinine, and uric acid values.

The quality of the data collected is one of the strengths of our study, as all measurements and biochemical assays were mainly collected at the same center, thus ensuring less variability. It should also be noted that this is a multicenter study. In addition, it is the only study in the literature that has comprehensively assessed the nutritional status of GLUT-DS patients over such a long follow-up and has considered both body composition and REE, in addition to growth and biochemical parameters. REE and body composition were assessed by indirect calorimetry and DEXA, the gold standard methods for measuring energy needs and BMD, FM and LM, respectively. Finally, all of our patients were following the same diet, that is the cKD: although not traditionally recommended, patients with GLUT1-DS, especially during the adolescence, could be treated with a more moderate ketogenic, lower-fat diet, such as the Atkins diet, because it is hard to adhere to a strict cKD (5). It would be interesting to know the long-term effects on nutritional status of this other dietary treatment.

We are aware that there are a number of potential limitations: a control group was not included in the study, as GLUT1-DS management guidelines require the use of cKD from day 1 of

diagnosis. Another limitation is the small number of patients recruited. However, it should be noted that GLUT1-DS is a very rare disease, so it is difficult to find a large representative sample: multicenter studies should be conducted to study larger samples. Furthermore, gender differences within the selected sample were not taken into account, with women representing the majority of the subjects included. It should also be considered that children with GLUT1-DS may have disease-related growth patterns. Therefore, an even more precise estimate of growth would require growth curves, which do not exist today, and should be designed ad hoc for this condition. As for BMD assessment, it should be noted that, although the subjects were adequately supplemented, no statistical analysis of changes in serum calcium and vitamin D values was performed. Finally, it is worth highlighting that the age of diagnosis and consequently the age of cKD initiation were different, which probably caused a different impact on nutritional status.

Here we present the 5-year effects of cKD. Long-term adherence to cKD had a good safety profile on anthropometric measurements, as well as body composition, resting energy expenditure, and biochemical parameters, and we found no evidence of potential adverse effects on the nutritional status of children and adolescents.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo di Pavia (reference number 20180083746). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Author contributions

SB and RD: conceptualization and methodology. RD, AL, and AF: formal analysis. SB, RD, CL, MP, CF, AT, PV, VD, OS, and RP: investigation. RD, AF, SO, and RP: data curation. RD and MP: writing–original draft preparation. SB, AL, AB, CF, VD, AT, SO, PV and RP: writing–review and editing. SB: supervision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This research received ICANS internal funds.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all the families who participated in the study and Stefano Ravasenghi, Giovanni Fiorillo, and Franca

References

1. Klepper J, Akman C, Armeno M, Auvin S, Cervenka M, Cross HJ, et al. Glut1 deficiency syndrome (Glut1DS): state of the art in 2020 and recommendations of the international Glut1DS study group. *Epilepsia Open.* (2020) 5:354–65. doi: 10.1002/epi4.12414

2. Bertoli S, Neri IG, Trentani C, Ferraris C, De Amicis R, Battezzati A, et al. Shortterm effects of ketogenic diet on anthropometric parameters, body fat distribution, and inflammatory cytokine production in GLUT1 deficiency syndrome. *Nutrition*. (2015) 31:981–7. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2015.02.017

3. De Vivo DC, Trifiletti RR, Jacobson RI, Ronen GM, Behmand RA, Harik SI. Defective glucose transport across the blood-brain barrier as a cause of persistent hypoglycorrhachia, seizures, and developmental delay. *N Engl J Med.* (1991) 325:703–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199109053251006

4. Kossoff EH, Zupec-Kania BA, Auvin S, Ballaban-Gil KR, Christina Bergqvist AG, Blackford R, et al. Optimal clinical management of children receiving dietary therapies for epilepsy: updated recommendations of the international ketogenic diet study group. *Epilepsia Open*. (2018) 3:175–92. doi: 10.1002/epi4.12225

5. Leone A, de Amicis R, Lessa C, Tagliabue A, Trentani C, Ferraris C, et al. Food and food products on the Italian market for ketogenic dietary treatment of neurological diseases. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:1104. doi: 10.3390/nu11051104

 Zhang Y, Xu J, Zhang K, Yang W, Li B. The anticonvulsant effects of ketogenic diet on epileptic seizures and potential mechanisms. *Curr Neuropharmacol.* (2018) 16:66–70. doi: 10.2174/1570159X15666170517153509

7. Rogawski MA, Löscher W, Rho JM. Mechanisms of action of Antiseizure drugs and the ketogenic diet. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.* (2016) 6:a022780. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a022780

 Juge N, Gray JA, Omote H, Miyaji T, Inoue T, Hara C, et al. Metabolic control of vesicular glutamate transport and release. *Neuron*. (2010) 68:99–112. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2010.09.002

9. Simeone TA, Simeone KA, Stafstrom CE, Rho JM. Do ketone bodies mediate the anti-seizure effects of the ketogenic diet? *Neuropharmacology*. (2018) 133:233–41. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2018.01.011

10. Masino SA, Li T, Theofilas P, Sandau US, Ruskin DN, Fredholm BB, et al. A ketogenic diet suppresses seizures in mice through adenosine a₁ receptors. *J Clin Invest.* (2011) 121:2679–83. doi: 10.1172/JCI57813

11. Wheless JW. The ketogenic diet: an effective medical therapy with side effects. J Child Neurol. (2001) 16:633–5. doi: 10.1177/088307380101600901

12. Sampath A, Kossoff EH, Furth SL, Pyzik PL, Vining EPG. Kidney stones and the ketogenic diet: risk factors and prevention. *J Child Neurol.* (2007) 22:375–8. doi: 10.1177/0883073807301926

13. Tagliabue A, Ferraris C, Uggeri F, Trentani C, Bertoli S, de Giorgis V, et al. Shortterm impact of a classical ketogenic diet on gut microbiota in GLUT1 deficiency syndrome: a 3-month prospective observational study. *Clin Nutr ESPEN*. (2017) 17:33–7. doi: 10.1016/j.clnesp.2016.11.003

14. Tagliabue A, Bertoli S, Trentani C, Borrelli P, Veggiotti P. Effects of the ketogenic diet on nutritional status, resting energy expenditure, and substrate oxidation in patients

Criscuoli for the biochemical parameters analyzes. We warmly thank Claudia Iannessa for the English revision.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

with medically refractory epilepsy: a 6-month prospective observational study. *Clin Nutr.* (2012) 31:246–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2011.09.012

15. Cai Q-Y, Zhou Z-J, Luo R, Gan J, Li S-P, Mu D-Z, et al. Safety and tolerability of the ketogenic diet used for the treatment of refractory childhood epilepsy: a systematic review of published prospective studies. *World J Pediatr*. (2017) 13:528–36. doi: 10.1007/s12519-017-0053-2

16. de Amicis R, Leone A, Lessa C, Foppiani A, Ravella S, Ravasenghi S, et al. Longterm effects of a classic ketogenic diet on ghrelin and leptin concentration: a 12-month prospective study in a cohort of Italian children and adults with GLUT1-deficiency syndrome and drug resistant epilepsy. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:1716. doi: 10.3390/ nu11081716

17. Heussinger N, Della Marina A, Beyerlein A, Leiendecker B, Hermann-Alves S, Dalla Pozza R, et al. 10 patients, 10 years - long term follow-up of cardiovascular risk factors in Glut1 deficiency treated with ketogenic diet therapies: a prospective, multicenter case series. *Clin Nutr.* (2018) 37:2246–51. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2017.11.001

18. Gurinović M, Zeković M, Milešević J, Nikolić M, Glibetić M. Nutritional Assessment. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier (2017).

19. Ferraris C, Guglielmetti M, Pasca L, de Giorgis V, Ferraro OE, Brambilla I, et al. Impact of the ketogenic diet on linear growth in children: a single-center retrospective analysis of 34 cases. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:1442. doi: 10.3390/nu11071442

20. De Amicis R, Leone A, Ravasenghi S, Scigliuolo G, Mauro E, Salsano E, et al. Triheptanoin supplementation does not affect nutritional status: a case report of two siblings with adult Polyglucosan body disease. *J Am Coll Nutr.* (2020) 39:557–62. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2019.1695233

21. Bertoli S, Trentani C, Ferraris C, De Giorgis V, Veggiotti P, Tagliabue A. Long-term effects of a ketogenic diet on body composition and bone mineralization in GLUT-1 deficiency syndrome: a case series. *Nutrition*. (2014) 30:726–8. doi: 10.1016/j. nut.2014.01.005

22. Veggiotti P, Burlina A, Coppola G, Cusmai R, De Giorgis V, Guerrini R, et al. The ketogenic diet for Dravet syndrome and other epileptic encephalopathies: an Italian consensus. *Epilepsia*. (2011) 52:83–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03010.x

23. SINU SI di NU. Larn IV Revisione. Livelli di Assunzione di Riferimento di Nutrienti ed energia per la popolazione italiana. IV Revisione seconda ristampa. (2014).

24. Lohman TG, Roche AF, Martorell R. Anthropometric standardization reference manual. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics Books (1988).

25. Kuczmarski RJ, Ogden CL, Guo SS, Grummer-Strawn LM, Flegal KM, Mei Z, et al. 2000 CDC growth charts for the United States: methods and development. *Vital Health Stat.* (2002) 11:1–190.

26. McCarthy HD, Jarrett KV, Crawley HF. The development of waist circumference percentiles in British children aged 5.0-16.9 y. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2001) 55:902–7. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601240

27. Lorente Ramos RM, Azpeitia Armán J, Arévalo Galeano N, Muñoz Hernández A, García Gómez JM, Gredilla MJ. Dual energy X-ray absorptimetry: fundamentals, methodology, and clinical applications. *Radiologia*. (2012) 54:410–23. doi: 10.1016/j. rx.2011.09.023

28. Laurson KR, Eisenmann JC, Welk GJ. Body fat percentile curves for U.S. children and adolescents. *Am J Prev Med.* (2011) 41:S87–92. doi: 10.1016/j. amepre.2011.06.044

29. Weir JB. New methods for calculating metabolic rate with special reference to protein metabolism. *J Physiol.* (1949) 109:1–9. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1949.sp004363

30. Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, Naylor BA, Treacher DF, Turner RC. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. *Diabetologia*. (1985) 28:412–9. doi: 10.1007/BF00280883

31. Al-Hamad D, Raman V. Metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents. *Transl Pediatr.* (2017) 6:397–407. doi: 10.21037/tp.2017.10.02

32. Alberti KGMM, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ, Cleeman JI, Donato KA, et al. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the international diabetes federation task force on epidemiology and prevention; national heart, lung, and blood institute; American heart association; world heart federation; international atherosclerosis society; and international association for the study of obesity. *Circulation.* (2009) 120:1640–5. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.192644

33. Péronnet F, Massicotte D. Table of nonprotein respiratory quotient: an update. *Can J Sport Sci.* (1991) 16:23–9.

34. Mosek A, Natour H, Neufeld MY, Shiff Y, Vaisman N. Ketogenic diet treatment in adults with refractory epilepsy: a prospective pilot study. *Seizure*. (2009) 18:30–3. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2008.06.001

35. Arner P. Fat tissue growth and development in humans. *Nestle Nutr Inst Workshop Ser.* (2018) 89:37–45. doi: 10.1159/000486491

36. Bergqvist AGC, Schall JI, Stallings VA, Zemel BS. Progressive bone mineral content loss in children with intractable epilepsy treated with the ketogenic diet. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2008) 88:1678–84. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2008.26099

37. Merlotti D, Cosso R, Eller-Vainicher C, Vescini F, Chiodini I, Gennari L, et al. Energy metabolism and ketogenic diets: what about the skeletal health? A narrative review and a prospective vision for planning clinical trials on this issue. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:435. doi: 10.3390/ijms22010435

38. Bertoli S, Masnada S, De Amicis R, Sangiorgio A, Leone A, Gambino M, et al. Glucose transporter 1 deficiency syndrome: nutritional and growth pattern phenotypes at diagnosis. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2020) 74:1290–8. doi: 10.1038/s41430-020-0662-z

39. Zamani GR, Mohammadi M, Ashrafi MR, Karimi P, Mahmoudi M, Badv RS, et al. The effects of classic ketogenic diet on serum lipid profile in children with refractory seizures. *Acta Neurol Belg.* (2016) 116:529–34. doi: 10.1007/s13760-016-0601-x

40. Dehghan M, Mente A, Zhang X, Swaminathan S, Li W, Mohan V, et al. Associations of fats and carbohydrate intake with cardiovascular disease and mortality in 18 countries from five continents (PURE): a prospective cohort study. *Lancet.* (2017) 390:2050–62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32252-3

41. Spulber G, Spulber S, Hagenäs L, Amark P, Dahlin M. Growth dependence on insulin-like growth factor-1 during the ketogenic diet. *Epilepsia*. (2009) 50:297–303. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01769.x

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Aycan Ünalp, University of Health Sciences, Türkiye

REVIEWED BY Nesrin Ceylan, Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University, Türkiye Bulent Unay, Health Sciences University, Türkiye

*CORRESPONDENCE Shahnaz H. Ibrahim ⊠ shahnaz.ibrahim@aku.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

RECEIVED 10 April 2023 ACCEPTED 27 June 2023 PUBLISHED 24 July 2023

CITATION

Ibrahim SH and Farooq H (2023) Low glycemic index therapy in children with sub-acute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE): an experience from a measles-endemic country. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1203144. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1203144

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Ibrahim and Farooq. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Low glycemic index therapy in children with sub-acute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE): an experience from a measles-endemic country

Shahnaz H. Ibrahim^{1*†} and Hira Farooq^{2†}

¹Department of Pediatrics and Child Health, Aga Khan University, Karachi, Pakistan, ²Department of Nutrition, Aga Khan University, Karachi, Pakistan

Introduction: Sub-acute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE) is a chronic, progressive neurodegenerative disorder, commonly seen in measles-endemic countries leading to progressive neuronal loss and death. Currently, there is no proven cure for this devastating disease. We started a low glycemic index therapy (LGIT) in children with SSPE using the same principle as per its role in intractable epilepsy.

Methodology: Low glycemic index diet was started in children with a confirmed diagnosis of SSPE based on Dyken's criteria. All children were then classified into four stages according to disease progression. The response to diet was evaluated by improvement in their myoclonic jerks, motor activities, and changes in their stage of the disease.

Results: A total of 12 children were enrolled. The mean age was 6.65 years (range 3.3-10 years), with a male-to-female ratio of 2:1. Five children were at stage IV, five were at stage III, and two were at stage II at the start of the diet. Nine (75%) children showed improvement in their stage of illness. Of three children who were at stage IV at the initiation of the diet, one improved to stage II and two to stage III. Four children at stage III reverted to stage II. Two children initiated at stage II went into total remission. Seven (58.3%) children showed a >50% reduction in myoclonic jerks with three (25%) having a 100% reduction. Three (25%) children died due to pneumonia.

Conclusion: LGIT may play an effective role in the management of SSPE and gives hope to families having children with this potentially life-threatening disease.

KEYWORDS

SSPE, LGIT, children, neurodegenerative, myoclonic jerks

What this article adds:

A novel approach for a potentially life-threatening disease.

LGIT is a more adaptable and acceptable approach in LMICs with poor educational status.

Introduction

Sub-acute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE) is a chronic, progressive neurodegenerative disorder that leads to progressive neuronal loss and death (1).

The Jabbour classification characterizes SSPE by progressive cognitive decline and behavior changes followed by focal or generalized seizures as well as myoclonus, ataxia, and visual disturbance, eventually leading to the final stage of a vegetative state (1-4). SSPE is considered diagnostic if the patient fulfills at least two major and one minor Dyken's criteria (4, 5). The prognosis of SSPE is very poor, and most patients die within 1–3 years of diagnosis (4, 6). Various therapies have been attempted for treatment, but none have been proven to be effective (7).

SSPE is caused by a persistent infection or mutant measles (2). Although no prevalence data for SSPE exist, every epidemic of measles shows a rise in the cases of SSPE in Pakistan (8). Measles remains endemic in Pakistan with epidemics occurring every 2–3 years, resulting in the deaths of approximately 20,000 children annually (2, 8). While the measles conjugate vaccine (MCV1 and MCV2) coverage has improved in recent years, it is still below the recommended WHO level (9, 10). In addition to vigorous efforts for measles elimination through vaccination, it is important that we consider additional therapies for children who are already suffering from the fatal consequences of SSPE (8, 9).

A ketogenic diet (KD) has been shown to be effective in the control of intractable epilepsies (11, 12) and certain neurodegenerative disorders, i.e., Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease (13). KD works as a neuroprotective agent by slowing or stopping neurodegeneration (13, 14). The proposed mechanisms underlying this process include the inhibition of glycolysis, resulting in the increased formation and concentration of ketone bodies, increased ATP (adenosine triphosphate) production providing more energy for the brain, decrease in free radicals, antioxidant actions (12, 13), and halting apoptosis, and stabilizing nerve-cell synapses (11, 15).

KD is a high-fat, low-carbohydrate, and moderate-protein diet which emulates the effect of fasting in producing ketosis. The classic ketogenic diet (Classic KD) comprises 90% fat and 10% carbohydrate and protein. Variation in KD distributions include modified Atkins diet (MAD), low glycemic index therapy (LGIT), and medium chain triglyceride (MCT) (12).

LGIT comprises approximately 60% fat, 30% protein, and 10% carbohydrate. The greater allowance for carbohydrates is due to the fact that the CHO foods chosen must have a glycemic index lower than 55. As foods with low glycemic index cause a lower and slower rise in blood glucose and insulin levels and lower chances of hypoglycemia, LGIT requires less strict monitoring (12, 14).

Considering the use of KD therapy as a new dimension in the management of SSPE (7, 16), we decided to start LGIT in a group of patients diagnosed with SSPE. Our main aim was to help decrease seizure frequency in these patients and assess improvement in their overall functions.

Methodology

Children coming to the Aga Khan University and National Institute of Child Health with complaints of progressive neurodegenerative regression and myoclonic seizures were evaluated for SSPE. EEGs were conducted for each patient and were considered diagnostic if they showed classic periodic, quasiperiodic, and high-voltage slow wave complexes

TABLE 1 General characteristics of cases

	Minimum	Maximum	Mean
Age	3 years 3 months	10 years	6.65
Gender	8 boys	4 girls	_
Ethnicity	Varied		
Duration of treatment	2 months	24 months	13 months
Medicines	2	5	3.5

(Radermecker complexes) with slow background activity (17). CSF was evaluated by liquor assay using an antibody index specific for measles IgG in CSF. Values of 1.5 U/ml were considered diagnostic. Those fulfilling the above criteria were then counseled on the role of LGIT in intractable seizures.

Children were then classified into one of four stages of the disease based on the Jabbour criteria: (4, 13) "Stage I, characterized by behavioral change and cognitive decline; Stage II, which is the start of the myoclonus, gradually becoming more frequent and severe; Stage III, where various combinations of pyramidal and extrapyramidal features develop, such as rigidity, dystonia, tremor, spasticity, and hemiparesis; and Stage IV, characterized by an akinetic-mute state with episodes of drenching sweat, blood pressure fluctuation, and respiratory rate abnormalities" (4, 18).

The response to diet was evaluated with the improvement in patients' myoclonic jerks per day, improvement in motor activity, and overall responsiveness leading to a change in their stage of the disease.

After thorough counseling of parents/caregivers and a formal consent procedure, the children were started on a carbohydrate washout (CHOW) diet to help the team and family understand parental compliance with the complexity of changes required. After 2 weeks on the CHOW, the children were started on the LGIT.

Diet was calculated based on the patient's ideal body weight. The type of food was chosen after taking a dietary history from the parents on food items available to them. Calculations and recipes were then formulated accordingly. A detailed written dietary prescription was given to the families in their language of understanding. Parents with no formal education and those with a mother tongue other than Urdu had their diet explained verbally, with a translator who was preferably a close relative and understood Urdu and lived with the family. All medications were converted into tablet form. All children were started on micronutrient supplements. Families were told to strictly follow the given guidelines on sugar-free daily use substances for personal hygiene such as shampoo, soap, and toothpaste. Parents were required to maintain a record sheet (Annex A in Supplementary material) about seizure frequency, feed volume and frequency, dietary intolerance, blood sugars, and urine ketones and side effects. Parents were also requested to make home videos of the child where possible.

Investigations were conducted as per pre-established protocol; however, children from extremely poor families only underwent basic testing of a complete blood count, ALT, serum electrolytes, and uric acid. The first EEG was carried out as part of the initial diagnosis.

S. no	Serum IgG measles U/ml	CSF IgG measles U/ml (antibody index)	Oligoclonal bands and type	Electroencephalogram (EEG) at baseline
1.	>5,000	2.13	+ve Type 2	Intermittent high-voltage generalized delta bursts intermixed with bilateral fronto-central dominant sharp activity followed by 0.5–3 s of suppression period. Background diffuse delta activity.
2.	>5,000	1.5	+ve Type 2	Periodic burst with high amplitude with suppression, background showing diffuse delta theta activity.
3.	>5,000	1.5	+ve TYPE 2	Frequent quasi periodic high-voltage delta burst, followed by relatively low voltage activity with an interval of 2.5–4 s. Background showing diffuse theta and delta slowing.
4.	3646.1	1.67	+ve Type 3	Quasiperiodic bursts of high amplitude delta waves at intervals of 4–8 s with suppression of 0.5–2 s. Background showing diffuse delta theta activity.
5.	>5,000	1.5	+ve Type 2	Periodic bursts of high amplitude slow waves intermixed with spike and sharp waves are seen at intervals of 3–5 s, followed by 0.5–2 s of suppression period. Background showing diffuse delta theta slowing 4529476.
6.	>5,000	2.06	+ve Type 2	Frequent quasiperiodic generalized high-voltage delta slow waves interval of 3–12 s with myoclonic jerks Background showing diffuse delta theta slowing.
7.	>5,000	1.59	+ve Type 2	Periodic generalized high-voltage delta waves, burst with suppression of 0.5–1 s. Background showing diffuse theta and delta slowing.
8.	>5,000	1.5	+ve Type 2	Intermittent generalized high-voltage sharp and slow waves followed by a 2.0–4.0 s of suppression period. Background showing diffuse theta and delta slowing.
9.	>5,000	1.3	+ve Type 2	Intermittent to frequent bilateral fronto-central quasiperiodic independent (right predominant) at the time seems to be generalized high-voltage spike, sharps, and slow waves, followed by 0.5–3 s of electro decremental response without any clinical correlation. Background showing delta theta slowing.
10.	>5,000	1.68	+ve Type 3	Periodic generalized high-voltage sharp and slow waves followed by 2.0–4.0 s of suppression period. Diffuse theta and delta slowing.
11.	>5,000	1.5	+ve Type 2	A quasiperiodic build-up of rhythmic activity over the right hemisphere, followed by a sudden generalized suppression for approximately 1–1.5 s than there is a high-voltage generalized delta wave, which gradually wanes off in the next few seconds. Intermittently, right hemispheric epileptiform discharges are seen. Diffuse theta and delta slowing.
12.	>5,000	1.48 (Annex B in Supplementary material)	+ve Type 2 (Annex C in Supplementary material)	Intermittent delta theta burst intermixed with spike and wave discharges with suppression of 0.5 s. Background diffuse delta theta slowing (Supplementary Figure 2).

TABLE 2 Summary table indicating individualized serology of patients with SSPE.

Follow-ups were conducted monthly either physically or through phone calls. EEGS were carried out only after considering the affordability of the patients. A change denoting improvement was considered if the high-voltage slow wave complexes became infrequent, or there were no ictal discharges associated with jerks, or the background returned to normal.

Results

This study included 12 patients. Of these, 11 patients were confirmed for SSPE-based CSF/serum MV-specific IgG index. One

child was diagnosed as probable SSPE based on the borderlineraised CSF antibody index but fulfilled all other criteria. The general characteristics of the patients are shown in Table 1.

Oligoclonal bands were positive in all children, and measles IgG in CSF and serum was measured in all cases, with very high CSF values in all except one patient and high serum values in all patients. EEG was diagnostic of SSPE in all patients upon initial diagnosis (Table 2).

Parents of all children agreed to start the diet after formal consent. Two children continued CHOW after they showed improvement and parents refused to change to LGIT.

Patients' ages ranged from 3 years 3 months to 10 years at the time of dietary therapy initiation. Patients belonged to various

ethnic backgrounds. This included three families that were Sindhispeaking, three were Balochi-speaking, two were Pashto-speaking, two were Urdu-speaking, one was Punjabi-speaking, and one was Balti-speaking.

All children were malnourished at the start of the diet. In total, 75% of children were in the <5th centile for their weight for age, while the remaining 25% were in the <25th centile. The history of measles was observed in all children, with >90% having measles at or before 2 years of age and five patients developing it younger than 1 year of age. Six children were at stages III and IV and had a rapidly progressive disease, which had reached their current stage between 1 and 6 months.

One child was previously diagnosed with HIV and was under treatment for HIV before developing SSPE. MRIs were conducted for five children before initiating the diet. The findings were normal in three cases; one case showed multifocal hyperintense signals in T2 and flare in the cortical and subcortical areas, and the other case showed a large left temporal arachnoid cyst.

The total duration of LGIT ranged from 2 months to a maximum of 2 years with a mean of 13 months. Children, who were started on LGIT, were on a minimum of two and a maximum of five anti-seizure medications (ASM). Seven children received Isoprinosine prior to starting LGIT with no change noted (Table 1).

Five children were at stage IV, five were at stage III, and two were at stage II at the start of the diet. Nine (75%) children improved in their stages. Two of these children were at stage IV on the initiation of the diet; one improved to stage II and two improved to stage III. Four of the improved children were at stage III at the start of the diet and reverted to stage II. Two children, initially only on CHOW at stage II, went into complete remission, with no seizures or jerks and total physical independence. Two children at stage IV and one at stage III at the start of the diet showed no change in their state (Table 3).

Continuous myoclonic jerks and significant head drops were initially observed in all children. Seven (58%) children showed a >50% reduction in myoclonic jerks. Three (42.8%) of these seven children were in complete remission of myoclonic jerks, two of whom had completely remitted on the disease and one improved from stage IV to stage III.

Based on the number of jerks noted in motor activity and change in stage, the average duration of response to the diet was 1 month with a range of 15 days to 3 months. Blood sugar ranged between 50 and 100 mg/dl in all cases. Urinary ketones were recorded minimally with an average of +1 to +2 ketones noted.

Five children, two without and three with support, started ambulating. Two relapsed again, one after breaking the diet and the other after developing fatal pneumonia.

Three children died due to pneumonia. One of them became ambulant as mentioned above, but the other two died very early after starting treatment with no change seen during the early stages. Nine children are alive, six of whom are still on treatment, whereas three are lost to follow-up; these families were called to inquire about their status, and the children are still alive on the last call (Figure 1).

Case #2 (Table 3) is the longest survivor on the diet, whereas the shortest duration of the diet was 2 months (lost to follow-up).

Six children required admission, three due to pneumonia and two due to dehydration, requiring intravenous hydration.

TABLE 3 Change in stages of SSPE.

	Stage (baseline)	SSPE stage after 3 months	SSPE stage after 6 months
Patient 01	4	3	Died
Patient 02	4	3	3
Patient 03	4	2	3
Patient 04	3	2	Lost to follow-up
Patient 05	3	3	Lost to follow-up
Patient 06	3	2	3
Patient 07	4	4	4
Patient 08	4	4	4
Patient 09	3	2	4
Patient 10	2	0	0
Patient 11	3	3	2
Patient 12	2	0	0

One child was admitted for monitoring dietary compliance and reinforcement.

A total of eight children were on an oral diet, including three children who had their NG tubes removed to start the diet. The most common complications encountered during the therapy were chest congestion and constipation. The four children on NG feeding showed better compliance as compared to those on the oral diet. In one child, the mother broke the diet by giving carbohydrates and the child regressed.

Follow-up EEGs were conducted in six children between 3 and 6 months after initiating the diet. No change was seen in five of the six children. One child went into remission and the EEG normalized (Supplementary Figure 1).

A summary of the individualized results of LGIT in children suffering from SSPE is shown in Table 4.

Discussion

Early onset of measles is strongly associated with the development of SSPE (15), the most common neurodegenerative disorder in Pakistan. While, in recent years, the experience of developed countries with SSPE mortality characterizes it as a "vanishing disease," (6) measles-endemic countries experience SSPE as the most common post-infectious neurodegenerative cause of mortality in children (19).

SSPE is entirely preventable by vaccination but is still prevalent in Pakistan due to low acceptance and coverage of the vaccine. Unpublished data from a large pediatric public sector hospital in Karachi with a specific pediatric neurology section report the average number of SSPE cases to be approximately 8–10 per month. A 1988 study from Pakistan reported that SSPE represented approximately 10% of inflammatory afflictions of the cerebral parenchyma, and its incidence rate was approximately 100 times more than that observed in developed countries (19). A 2014 study



by Ibrahim et al. also showed an increase in the cases reported with every epidemic of measles (8, 9).

This study details the preliminary data of 12 children who, after the initiation of LGIT, showed a difference in both the control of myoclonic jerks and overall improvement in the stage of SSPE.

A systematic review conducted in India on treatment options for SSPE has indicated that KD or its various types hold the potential to be incorporated into future SSPE treatment plans (20). Another multicenter review also mentions KD as a possible option in the treatment of SSPE (7). Two case reports from India and USA have used classic KD in children with SSPE. One study reported almost complete remission of the disease in a child with stage IIIa on classic KD with improvement in cognitive as well as physical activity in 3 months (15). The other reported the case of a child showing initial improvement in myoclonic jerks after classic KD but regressing again after a few months (16).

However, a practical issue for LMICs is that classic KD is associated with higher non-compliance (21). Our own previous experience (unpublished) with KD in untraceable epilepsies also showed poor compliance with the classic KD. The cost of the classic KD often becomes devastating to most families (21). This is why, we chose to start the LGIT type of KD in our patients.

All children in our study had a history of measles before or at 2 years; however, this did not alter the response to treatment. Overall, eight (63.6%) children showed >50% reduction in myoclonic jerks, and nine (75%) children improved in their stages of disease. However, the ones not showing a significant change were the ones lost to follow-up, and we assume that, despite starting LGIT, they were also non-compliant. It is interesting to note that one patient who was in stage IV for 1 year before the start of the diet showed a response of almost 100% control in myoclonic jerks and improvement in stage III and is currently the longest survivor, giving hope that this diet may be effective, despite the stage and duration of the disease.

Two children in our study who were in stage II showed complete remission only with the CHOW. This suggests that the earlier the diet is started, the better the chances of complete remission. Both these families refused to change to LGIT despite improvement. In poor, uneducated families, compliance with a strict diet is difficult (21). CHOW seemed more acceptable and easier to manage for these families. Mortality rates for SSPE are generally high, with death occurring within 1–3 years of the onset (2). The longest reported remission is an individual who was diagnosed at 17 years and, after initially regressing, stabilized and went into spontaneous remission with no clear explanation (22). In comparison, mortality was 25% in our study. Although the time frame of our study was only 2 years, 75% of children are still surviving, giving some hope in an endemic society like Pakistan.

Pneumonia and recurrent chest congestion were the most common complications seen in our patients. The three children who died also had severe pneumonia and eventually respiratory failure. One of these children was ventilated, and the LGIT was changed to an intravenous formulation with protein and fat calculated as per the LGIT. He showed improvement initially, however, after 1 month, he had another bout of pneumonia at home and eventually died. KD is associated with recurrent pneumonia and aspiration, which has been related to high lipid content or lower immunity (23, 24). However, the commonest complication with SSPE is also reported to be pneumonia, and at present, it is unclear whether this could be due to the primary condition or a complication of the diet (25). Children in stages III and IV are either on NG feeding or are being fed by parents forcibly. This may result in aspiration pneumonia, causing regression in the achieved improvement. A study from Lahore, Pakistan, states that malnutrition and poor socioeconomic status may be the predictors of a higher risk of complications for children with SSPE (26).

The results seen in this case series are promising and suggest that LGIT can play a beneficial role in the management of SSPE. LGIT is specifically a more practical option in lower- and middleincome countries (LMICs), where the affordability, adaptability, and acceptability of LGIT are comparatively higher than classic KD.

Conclusion

Vaccination remains the only way that the potentially fatal SSPE can be eradicated. However, for pediatric neurologists, treating children with this devastating disease is extremely challenging. The findings of these cases may serve as hope for the improvement in the quality of life of patients suffering from SSPE.

TABLE 4 Summary table showing individualized results of LGIT in children suffering from SSPE.

Pt. code	Current status of child (dead/alive)	Age (at the time of LGIT initiation)	Gender	Duration of the diet	Status (baseline)	3 months follow-up	6 months follow-up	Complications /issues encountered	Mode of feeding
1.	Dead	5.8 years	М	5 months	 Stage: Stage IV Jerks: Whole body stiffness and continuous myoclonic jerks. Motor activity: Bed bound. Speech and recognition: No response to any vocal or physical stimulus, Bed bound. EEG: Intermittent high-voltage generalized delta bursts intermixed with bilateral fronto-central dominant sharp activity followed by 0.5–3 s of suppression period. Background diffuse delta activity. 	 Stage: Stage III Jerks: Myoclonic jerks improved by 20%. Motor activity: Bed bound. Speech and recognition: Eye-opening and movement improved on command, recognizes smiles but still bed bound. EEG: Semi periodic rhythmic monomorphic build-up of delta activity in a bilateral posterior quadrant, lasting for 2-3 s, followed by a brief low voltage of <0.2 s. 	Died at 5 months	Oral ulcers, constipation, pneumonia, and vomiting.	NG
2.	Alive	7 years	F	2 years	Stage: Stage IV Jerks: Continuous myoclonic jerks, stiffness, head drops. Motor activity: Bed bound since 1 year. Speech and recognition: No speech, no response. EEG: Periodic burst with high amplitude with suppression, background showing diffuse delta theta activity.	 Stage: Stage III Jerks: Myoclonic jerks stopped within 1 month of initiating the diet. Motor activity: Full support sitting on a customized chair. Speech and recognition: No speech, responds to pain and name calling by opening eyes and turning toward the examiner. EEG: Not done. 	Stage: Stage III Jerks: No jerks. Motor activity: Full support sitting on a customized chair. Speech and recognition: No speech, respond to pain and name calling. EEG Periodic burst suppression intermittent spike and waves no ictal record noted.	Bedsore grade IV Pneumonia and repeated Chest congestion, vomiting, dehydration. Admitted to the hospital for rehydration.	NG feeding
3.	Alive (on Treatment for HIV)	4 years	М	1 year 11 months	 Stage: Stage IV Jerks: Continuous head drops, full body jerks (100/day), eye up rolling, no neck holding. Motor activity: Bed bound. Speech and recognition: No speech. EEG: Frequent quasi periodic high-voltage delta burst, followed by relatively low voltage activity with an interval of 2.5–4 s. Background showing diffuse theta and delta slowing. 	 Stage: Stage II Jerks: 3–4 head drops/day. Whole body jerks decreased by 50%. Motor activity: Start support sitting, standing with support. Speech and recognition: Started talking and responding to questions could give his place of residence when asked nasogastric tube removed with full oral intake. EEG not done. 	 Stage: Stage III (relapsed) Jerks: Head drops 1–2/min Motor activity: Support sitting, standing. Speech and recognition: Stopped talking again after breaking the diet. On restarting, jerks have stopped and can only sit with support and no speech. EEG: Slow background. Intermittent to infrequent burst of high amplitude burst followed by a slow period of 0.5 s intermixed with spikes. No ictal discharges/. 	Relapse due to non-compliance pneumonia and recurrent chest congestion, fever, admitted for non-compliance management. Non-compliance with the diet by the mother (mother gave roti after 2 months of diet, mother language barrier, lack of mother's understanding)	Initially on NG feeding, After 2 months Ng removed now on oral diet.

(Continued)

10.3389/fnut.2023.1203144

_
σ
5
-
≓.
З
ല
\supset
0
a
2
õ
0
_0

TABLE 4 (Continued)

Pt. code	Current status of child (dead/alive)	Age (at the time of LGIT initiation)	Gender	Duration of the diet	Status (baseline)	3 months follow-up	6 months follow-up	Complications /issues encountered	Mode of feeding
4.	Alive	5 years	М	5 Months of therapy then lost to follow-up	 Stage: Stage III Jerks: Uncontrolled whole body jerks continuous head drops, abnormal eye movement. Motor activity: No neck holding, bed bound. Speech and recognition: No speech, no response. EEG: Quasiperiodic bursts of high amplitude delta waves at intervals of 4–8 s with suppression of 0.5–2.s. Background showing diffuse delta theta activity. 	Stage: Stage II Jerks: Whole body jerks improved by 25%. After 3 months, no jerks during sleep, only brief in the awake state. Motor activity: Support sitting, head control improved. Speech and recognition:, More alert, smiles, focusing. No EEG done.	Lost to follow-up after 5 months of diet. No EEG done.	Lost to Follow-up. Chest congestion, vomiting. Language barrier.	Oral
5.	Alive	3.3 years	М	2 Months of therapy then lost to follow-up	 Stage: Stage III Jerks: Continuous head drops, continuous whole body jerks while awake. Motor activity: No neck holding, bed bound. Speech and recognition: No speech, no response. EEG: Periodic bursts of high amplitude slow waves intermixed with spike and sharp waves are seen at intervals of 3–5 s, followed by 0.5–2 s of suppression period. Background showing diffuse delta theta slowing 4529476. 	Stage: Stage III Jerks: 10 % decrease in myoclonic jerks Motor activity: Neck holding improved, support sitting. Speech and recognition: No speech, response to pain only. EEG: Not done.	Lost to follow-up after 2 months of therapy.	Vomiting, loose stools. Lost to follow-up after 2 months. Language barrier, Lack of mother's understanding, family not supportive.	On Ng feed then Ng removed.
6.	Dead	8 years	М	1 year 2 months	 Stage: Stage III Jerks: Whole body stiffness, continuous myoclonic jerks, > 150/day Motor activity: Support sitting and standing. Speech and recognition: Delayed verbal response. EEG: Frequent quasiperiodic generalized high-voltage delta slow waves interval of 3–12 s with myoclonic jerks. Background showing diffuse delta theta slowing. 	Stage: Stage II Then, regressed after pneumonia in 1 month. Jerks: Myoclonic jerks decreased by 40 % in 1 month. Relapsed again after a month. Motor activity: Bed bound, support sitting. Speech and recognition: Started talking after 1 week of diet but after relapse speech lost, no response, increased crying with a loud voice. EEG: Not done.	Stage: Stage III (died after 1 year) Jerks: Uncontrolled continuous whole body jerks. Motor activity: Bed bound Speech and recognition: No speech, respond to pain only. EEG: Not done.	Admitted in Peshawar with pneumonia, long distance management repeated chest congestion, constipation.	On oral feed then NG placed.

(Continued)

10.3389/fnut.2023.1203144

1	ē	J	

Ibrahim and Farooq

TABLE 4 (Continued)

Pt. code	Current status of child (dead/alive)	Age (at the time of LGIT initiation)	Gender	Duration of the diet	Status (baseline)	3 months follow-up	6 months follow-up	Complications /issues encountered	Mode of feeding
7.	Alive	5 years	М	7 months therapy, lost to follow-up	 Stage: Stage IV Jerks: Myoclonic jerks every 2–3 sec. No neck holding, uncountable head drops. Motor activity: Bed bound. Speech and recognition: No verbal response. EEG: Periodic generalized high-voltage delta waves, burst with suppression of 0.5–1 s, background showing diffuse theta and delta slowing. 	 Stage: Stage IV Jerks: After 2 months of diet, 50% improvement in jerks and head drops. Motor activity: No neck holding, bed bound. Speech and recognition: No speech, no response. EEG: Not done. 	 Stage: Stage IV (lost to follow-up after 7 months). Jerks: Remains at 50% improvement in jerks. Motor activity: Bed bound. Speech and recognition: No speech, no response. EEG: Not done. 	Lost to follow-up after 7 months pneumonia, low socioeconomic level, poor literacy level, loss of interest in the diet, parents became exhausted. Constipation, chest congestion.	NG
8.	Alive	10 years	F	11 months	Stage: Stage IV Jerks: Whole body stiffness, tremors, continuous myoclonic jerks, uncontrolled arm movements. Motor activity: Bed bound. Speech and recognition: Not responsive. Severely malnourished EEG: Intermittent generalized high-voltage sharp and slow waves followed by a 2.0–4.0 s of suppression period. Background showing diffuse theta and delta slowing.	 Stage: Stage IV Jerks: After 1 month of diet, body stiffness improved, tremors decreased but were not recorded, decreased myoclonic jerks by 20%. Motor activity: Bed bound. Speech and recognition: Eye opening on pain. EEG: Not done. 	Stage: Stage IV Jerks: Remains at 20% improvement in myoclonic jerks. Motor activity: Bed bound Speech and recognition: No speech, respond to pain only. EEG: Not done.	Weight loss and dehydration admitted for rehydration and dietary monitoring, constipation, pneumonia, weight loss low socioeconomic level, lost to follow-up after 5 months because of cost and reverted after being called.	NG
9.	Dead	4.8 years	М	7 months	Stage: Stage III Jerks: Head drops, whole body myoclonic jerks 100 per day. Motor activity: Support sitting. Speech and recognition: No speech EEG: Intermittent to frequent bilateral fronto-central quasiperiodic independent (right predominant) at time seems to be generalized high-voltage spike, sharp and slow waves, followed by 0.5–3 s of electro decremented response without any clinical correlation. Background showing delta theta slowing.	Stage: Stage II Jerks: Decreased jerks by 50%. Motor activity: Started support walking after 1.5 months of diet. Speech and recognition: No speech but responds to pain and name calling. EEG: Not done.	Stage: Stage IV (relapsed) Diet at 7 months. Jerks: Remains at 50 % improvement in jerks. Motor activity: Bed bound. Speech and recognition: No speech. EEG: Not done.	Pneumonia, dehydration, chest congestion, and vomiting.	Oral

(Continued)

10.3389/fnut.2023.1203144

TABLE 4 (Continued)

Pt. code	Current status of child (dead/alive)	Age (at the time of LGIT initiation)	Gender	Duration of the diet	Status (baseline)	3 months follow-up	6 months follow-up	Complications /issues encountered	Mode of feeding
10.	Alive	9 years	F	1 year 4 months	 Stage: Stage II Jerks: Uncontrolled head drops, jerks, mild eye twitching. Motor activity: Support standing and walking. Speech and recognition: Talking but with a delayed response. EEG: Periodic generalized high-voltage sharp and slow waves followed by a 2.0–4.0 s of suppression period. Diffuse theta and delta slowing. 	Stage: Stage 0 Jerks: After 15 days of CHOW 50% decrease in head drops, after a month, no head drops, myoclonic jerks stopped 100%. fMotor activity: Walking without support. Speech and recognition: Talking and more responsive. EEG: Not done.	Stage: Stage 0 Jerks: No jerks. Motor activity: Walking without support, looking after own bodily needs but with assistance. Speech and recognition: Full speech and communication. EEG: Not done.	Issues with oral intake, food choices, difficulty to start LGIT.	Oral (CHOW)
11.	Alive	5 years	М	1 year 5 months	Stage: Stage III Jerks: Continuous jerks, whole body stiffness. Motor activity: No neck holding, bed bound. Speech and recognition: No speech. EEG: Quasiperiodic build-up of rhythmic activity over the right hemisphere, followed by a sudden generalized suppression for approximately 1–1.5 s than there is a high-voltage generalized delta waves, which gradually wane off in next few seconds. Intermittently, right hemispheric epileptiform discharges seen. Diffuse theta and delta slowing.	Stage: Stage III Jerks: Myoclonic jerks decreased by 60%. Motor activity: Support sitting. Speech and recognition: Response improved. After 1 month of diet and after 4 months of diet:	Stage: Stage II Jerks: Remains at 60 % decrease. Motor activity: Support standing and neck holding improved. Speech and recognition: Following commands. EEG: Continuous quasiperiodic high-voltage generalized delta bursts intermixed with spike, polyspike, sharp and slow waves, followed by 1.5–3.5 s of suppression period, clinically associated with myoclonic jerks.	Constipation, pneumonia, vomiting, fatty stools.	Initially oral, now on NG feed after pneumonia.
12.	Alive	10 years	F	4 Months	Stage: Stage II Jerks: Whole body jerks, uncontrolled head drops. Motor activity: Walking with support but frequent episodes of fall. Speech and recognition: Delayed verbal response. EEG: (Supplementary Figure 2). Intermittent delta theta burst intermixed with spike and wave discharges with suppression of 0.5 s. Background diffuse delta theta slowing.	Stage: Stage 0 Jerks: Decreased head drops 10–12 per h after 15 days of CHOW. Myoclonic jerks stopped by 100 % after 2 months. Motor activity: No episode of fall, started walking without support. Speech and recognition: Full conversation.	Stage: Stage 0 Jerks: No jerks. Motor activity: Waking without support, looking after own bodily needs but with assistance. Speech and recognition: Full conversation. EEG: (Supplementary Figure 1). Normal awake EEG showing a background of 8–9 Hz and no burst of delta theta waves. No spike and wave discharges seen.	Issues with oral intake, food choices, difficulty to start LGIT low socioeconomic level.	Oral (CHOW)

A controlled trial with better follow-ups comparing both LGIT and the classic KD would be helpful to reach a conclusion as to which specific diet would be more beneficial.

Limitations

Due to limited resources, we were unable to conduct strict follow-ups and repeat investigations as required. This is the first study of its kind, and even though there was a limited number of patients, there was a demonstrated improvement. However, a full trial with strict control would be more advantageous.

Being a potentially fatal condition, it was not possible to do a randomized controlled trial for this study.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by 2023-8550-24416. SI: Low Glycemic Index Therapy in Sub Acute Sclerosing Panencephalitis (SSPE): An Experience from a Measles endemic country. ERC Aga Khan University. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Author contributions

SI did the conception of the study and edited the manuscript. SI and HF contributed equally to the design, collection of the literature, table preparation, and writing of the manuscript. Both authors contributed substantially to the writing and revision of the manuscript.

References

1. Rafique A, Amjad N, Chand P, Zaidi SSZ, Rana MS, Ahmed K, et al. Subacute sclerosing panencephalitis: clinical and demographic characteristics. *J Coll Phys Surg Pak*. (2014) 24:557–60.

2. Jafri SK, Kumar R, Ibrahim SH. Subacute sclerosing panencephalitis-current perspectives. *Pediatr Health Med Ther.* (2018) 9:67–71. doi: 10.2147/PHMT.S126293

3. Jabbour J, Duenas D, Modlin J. SSPE-clinical staging, course, and frequency. Arch Neurol. (1975) 32:493-4.

4. Dyken PR. Neuroprogressive disease of post-infectious origin: a review of a resurging subacute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE). *Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev.* (2001) 7:217–25. doi: 10.1002/mrdd.1030

5. Almeida KJ, Brucki SMD, Duarte MIS, Pasqualucci CA, Rosemberg S, Nitrini R. Basal ganglia lesions in subacute sclerosing panencephalitis. *Dement Neuropsychol.* (2012) 6:286–9. doi: 10.1590/S1980-57642012DN06040014

6. Garg R. Subacute sclerosing panencephalitis. Postgrad Med J. (2002) 78:63-70. doi: 10.1136/pmj.78.916.63

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Dr. Shazia Kulsoom for her support in referrals of diagnosed children with SSPE and managing acute complications requiring admission, Dr. Khairunnisa Mukhtiar for her support in managing one child with SSPE, and Shihabuddin Saqib for his role in the dietary management of some of these children.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2023. 1203144/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1 EEG after CHOW patient #12.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2 EEG at start of therapy patient #12.

7. Samia P, Oyieke K, Tunje D, Udwadia-Hegde A, Feemster K, Oncel I, et al. Options in the treatment of subacute sclerosing panencephalitis: implications for low resource areas. *Curr Treat Options Neurol.* (2022) 24:99–110. doi: 10.1007/s11940-022-0 0710-x

8. Ibrahim SH, Amjad N, Saleem AF, Chand P, Rafique A, Humayun KN. The upsurge of SSPE-a reflection of national measles immunization status in Pakistan. J Trop Pediatr. (2014) 60:449–53. doi: 10.1093/tropej/fmu050

9. Mere MO, Goodson JL, Chandio AK, Rana MS, Hasan Q, Teleb N, et al. Progress toward measles elimination-Pakistan, 2000-2018. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* (2019) 68:505. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6822a4

10. Hasan Q, Bosan A, Bile K. A review of EPI progress in Pakistan towards achieving coverage targets: present situation and the way forward. *East Mediterr Health J.* (2010) 16(Suppl):S31–8. doi: 10.26719/2010.16.Supp.31

11. Rho JM. How does the ketogenic diet induce anti-seizure effects? *Neurosci Lett.* (2017) 637:4–10. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2015.07.034

12. D'Andrea Meira I, Romão TT, Pires do Prado HJ, Krüger LT, Pires MEP, da Conceição PO. Ketogenic diet and epilepsy: what we know so far. *Front Neurosci.* (2019) 13:5. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2019.00005

13. Włodarek D. Role of ketogenic diets in neurodegenerative diseases (Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease). *Nutrients.* (2019) 11:169. doi: 10.3390/nu110 10169

14. Liśkiewicz A, Jedrzejowska-Szypułka H, Lewin-Kowalik J. Characteristics of ketogenic diet and its therapeutic properties in central nervous system disorders. *Ann Acad Med Siles.* (2012) 6:66–76.

15. Nathan J, Kale DK, Naik VD, Bailur S. Substantial remission in subacute sclerosing panencephalitis by following the ketogenic diet: a case report. *Cureus*. (2019) 11:e5485. doi: 10.7759/cureus.5485

16. Bautista RED. The use of the ketogenic diet in a patient with subacute sclerosing panencephalitis. *Seizure*. (2003) 12:175–7. doi: 10.1016/S1059-1311(02)00268-6

17. Gutierrez J, Issacson RS, Koppel BS. Subacute sclerosing panencephalitis: an update. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2010) 52:901–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2010.03717.x

18. Saurabh K, Singh VK, Pathak A, Chaurasia RN. Subacute sclerosing pan encephalitis: an update. J Clin Sci Res. (2021) 10:35–42. doi: 10.4103/JCSR.JCSR_68_20

19. Kondo K, Takasu T, Ahmed A. Neurological diseases in Karachi, Pakistanelevated occurrence of subacute sclerosing panencephalitis. *Neuroepidemiology*. (1988) 7:66–80. doi: 10.1159/000110138 20. Pritha A, Medha TN, Garg RK. A comprehensive investigation of the current subacute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE) treatment options to improve patient quality of life. *Cureus*. (2022) 14:e28389. doi: 10.7759/cureus.28389

21. Ye F, Li X-J, Jiang W-L, Sun H-B, Liu J. Efficacy of and patient compliance with a ketogenic diet in adults with intractable epilepsy: a meta-analysis. *J Clin Neurol.* (2015) 11:26–31. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2015.11.1.26

22. Santoshkumar B, Radhakrishnan K. Substantial spontaneous long-term remission in subacute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE). *J Neurol Sci.* (1998) 154:83–8. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(97)00303-1

23. Buda P, Wieteska-Klimczak A, Własienko A, Mazur A, Ziołkowski J, Jaworska J, et al. Lipoid pneumonia-a case of refractory pneumonia in a child treated with ketogeic diet. *Adv Respir Med.* (2013) 81:448–52. doi: 10.5603/ARM.35520

24. Woody RC, Steele RW, Knapple WL, Pilkington NS Jr. Impaired neutrophil function in children with seizures treated with the ketogenic diet. *J Pediatr.* (1989) 115:427–30. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(89)80847-9

25. Rinawati W, Kumalawati J. Oligoclonal bands: a laboratory diagnosis of subacute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE). J Infect Dev Ctries. (2022) 16:1096-100. doi: 10.3855/jidc.15200

26. Malik MA, Saeed M, Qureshi AU, Ahmed N, Akram M. Predictors of clinical course of subacute sclerosing panencephalitis: experience at the Children's Hospital, Lahore. *J Coll Phys Surg Pak.* (2010) 20:671–4.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Aycan Ünalp, University of Health Sciences (Turkey), Türkiye

REVIEWED BY Sarenur Gökben, Ege University, Türkiye Seyda Besen, Başkent University, Türkiye

*CORRESPONDENCE Cinzia Ferraris ⊠ cinzia.ferraris@unipv.it

[†]These authors share first authorship

[†]Member of ERN-EpiCARE

RECEIVED 16 March 2023 ACCEPTED 13 July 2023 PUBLISHED 27 July 2023

CITATION

Pasca L, Ferraris C, Guglielmetti M, Varesio C, Totaro M, Trentani C, Marazzi C, Brambilla I, Ballante E, Armeno M, Valenzuela GR, Caraballo RH, Veggiotti P, Tagliabue A and De Giorgis V (2023) Ketonemia variability through menstrual cycle in patients undergoing classic ketogenic diet. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1188055.

doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1188055

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Pasca, Ferraris, Guglielmetti, Varesio, Totaro, Trentani, Marazzi, Brambilla, Ballante, Armeno, Valenzuela, Caraballo, Veggiotti, Tagliabue and De Giorgis. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Ketonemia variability through menstrual cycle in patients undergoing classic ketogenic diet

Ludovica Pasca^{1,2†‡}, Cinzia Ferraris^{3,4*†‡}, Monica Guglielmetti^{3,4‡}, Costanza Varesio^{1,2‡}, Martina Totaro^{1,2‡}, Claudia Trentani^{3,4‡}, Claudia Marazzi^{3,4‡}, Ilaria Brambilla⁵, Elena Ballante^{6,7}, Marisa Armeno⁸, Gabriela Reyes Valenzuela⁹, Roberto H. Caraballo⁹, Pierangelo Veggiotti¹⁰, Anna Tagliabue^{3,4‡} and Valentina De Giorgis^{1,2‡}

¹Department of Child Neurology and Psychiatry, IRCCS Mondino Foundation, Pavia, Italy, ²Department of Brain and Behavioral Sciences, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy, ³Department of Public Health, Experimental and Forensic Medicine, Human Nutrition and Eating Disorder Research Center, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy, ⁴Department of Public Health, Experimental and Forensic Medicine, Ketogenic Metabolic Therapy Laboratory, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy, ⁵Department of Pediatrics, Pediatric Clinic, Foundation IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy, ⁶Department of Political and Social Sciences, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy, ⁷BioData Science Center, IRCCS Mondino Foundation, Pavia, Italy, ⁸Department of Nutrition, Ketogenic Therapy Program Coordinator at Hospital Prof. Dr. Juan P. Garrahan, Buenos Aires, Argentina, ⁹Department of Neurology, Hospital Prof. Dr. Juan P. Garrahan, Buenos Aires, Argentina, ¹⁰Children Hospital Department Scienze biomediche e cliniche, University of Milan, Milan, Italy

Introduction: Ketogenic dietary therapies (KDT) are well-established, safe, nonpharmacologic treatments used for children and adults with drug-resistant epilepsy and other neurological disorders. Ketone bodies (KBs) levels are recognized as helpful to check compliance to the KDT and to attempt titration of the diet according to the individualized needs. KBs might undergo inter-individual and intra-individual variability and can be affected by several factors. Possible variations in glycemia and ketone bodies blood levels according to the menstrual cycle have not been systematically assessed yet, but this time window deserves special attention because of hormonal and metabolic related changes.

Methods: This study aims at searching for subtle changes in KBs blood level during menstrual cycle in female patients undergoing a stable ketogenic diet, by analyzing 3-months daily measurement of ketone bodies blood levels and glucose blood levels throughout the menstrual cycle.

Results: We report the preliminary results on six female patients affected by GLUT1DS or drug resistant epilepsy, undergoing a stable classic ketogenic diet. A significant increase in glucose blood levels during menstruation was found in the entire cohort. As far as the ketone bodies blood levels, an inversely proportional trend compared to glycemia was noted.

Conclusion: Exploring whether ketonemia variations might occur according to the menstrual cycle is relevant to determine the feasibility of transient preventive diet adjustments to assure a continuative treatment efficacy and to enhance dietary behavior support.

Clinical trial registration: clinicaltrials.gov, identifier NCT05234411.

KEYWORDS

ketonemia variability, classic ketogenic diet, menstrual cycle, ketogenic dietary therapies efficacy, drug resistant epilepsy, epilepsy, GLUT1-DS

10.3389/fnut.2023.1188055

1. Introduction

Ketogenic dietary therapies (KDTs) are well-established, safe, non-pharmacologic treatments used for children and adults with drug-resistant epilepsy and other metabolic disorders (1–3). There are currently four major KDTs: the classic ketogenic diet (CKD), the modified Atkins diet (MAD), the medium chain triglyceride diet (MCT), and the low glycemic index treatment (LGIT). There have been 4 randomized controlled trials to date (3 with class III evidence, and one with class II evidence) focusing on efficacy of KDTs compared to medications or a placebo arm, which have led to recognition of KDTs as valid and safe treatments (4). Diet quality plays a vital role in the achievement and maintenance of optimal ketosis, thus, an individualized approach, constant monitoring and the assurance of a prompt interface with keto-team are fundamental (2, 5–8).

According to international guidelines, for patients with drug resistant epilepsy KDT should be continued for at least 3 months to evaluate its efficacy, and, if well tolerated and effective, it can be continued for years and even lifelong (4). For GLUT1 deficiency syndrome (GLUT1-DS), a treatable metabolic encephalopathy characterized by complex movement disorders, drug-resistant epilepsy, and cognitive impairment, KDT is recognized as the gold standard treatment (9) and patients undergoing KDT are likely to achieve an optimal control of seizures (10).

Classic ketogenic diet is a high fat, adequate protein and low carbohydrate normo-caloric diet (1). The high-fat regimen provides about 87%-90% of daily energy intake from lipids, which are processed into free fatty acids in the liver, then oxidized in mitochondria, producing high levels of acetyl-Coenzyme A (acetyl-CoA), which cannot be oxidized in the Krebs cycle. The excess acetyl-CoA is converted to ketone bodies (KBs): acetoacetate and subsequently to acetone and beta-hydroxybutyrate (BHB) (11). The KBs can cross the blood-brain barrier and are transported by monocarboxylic acid transporters to brain interstitial space, the glia and the neurons. In these tissues, KBs act as substrates in the Krebs cycle and respiratory chain, contributing to brain energy metabolism. Clinical magnetic resonance spectroscopy in pediatric patients on the ketogenic diet demonstrated measurable beta-hydroxybutyrate, with a strong correlation to beta-hydroxybutyrate blood levels (11). Although the mechanism by which KDTs exerts its anticonvulsant effects is unclear, steady-state blood levels of BHB have been shown to correlate with the degree of seizure control (12, 13). The importance of maintaining stable KBs is relevant as they constitute an alternative fuel for cerebral metabolism instead of glucose in GLUT1-DS patients (2, 14). The maximum levels of blood ketones are obtainable with use of a 4:1 or 3:1 CKD and eventually addiction of MCTs. However, KBs blood levels undergo a significant inter-individual and intra-individual variability due to several factors beyond diet composition and ketogenic ratio, such as hydration, infection, steroidal therapy, and physical activities (15). The persistence of catamenial seizures has been reported in epileptic women on Modified Atkins Diet (16) and a feasibility trial aimed at stabilizing ketone levels by increasing MCT fat intake though menstrual cycle has been performed (16). This evidence suggests the need for personalized monitoring of individuals for optimization of their diet, especially at the beginning of the treatment but during whole follow-up. Indeed, international guidelines recommend that KBs should be checked at home by parents several times per week, preferably at different times of the day (4). There are currently no data on possible variations in glucose blood levels and ketone bodies blood levels according to different phases of the menstrual cycle in patients undergoing CKD. And, conversely, there is no data in literature about possible variations of the menstrual cycle induced by CKD. Whether a variability could actually occur should be worthy of investigation since reduced KBs levels could lead to increased seizure presentation in patients with drug resistant epilepsy and even movement disorder manifestation or increased fatigue and reduced attention in patients with GLUT1-DS. Thus, we believe it might be clinically relevant to assess possible patterns of variation of ketone bodies and glucose blood levels during menstrual cycle in patients undergoing KDT, considering a protective approach aimed at avoiding seizure exacerbation or overall clinical picture modifications whether fluctuations of ketone bodies and glucose blood levels in specific intervals of menstrual cycle will be demonstrated.

2. Materials and methods

This is a longitudinal multicenter study aimed at investigating the ketone bodies and glucose blood levels during menstrual cycle in female patients with a diagnosis of GLUT1-DS or drug resistant epilepsy undergoing CKD. Patients' recruitment began in September 2021 and was performed at Mondino Foundation in Pavia, Ospedale dei Bambini V. Buzzi in Milan, and "Prof. Dr. Juan P. Garrahan" Hospital in Buenos Aires. The study protocol complied with the tenets of the Helsinki Declaration and was approved by the ethical committee of the IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo of Pavia on 12 June 2020 (code number: 20200047779). The protocol has been registered in clinicaltrials.gov (ID number NCT05234411 Name: KETOMENS, Ketonemia through the menstrual cycle).

2.1. Data collection

For each patient, baseline demographic and anthropometric data (age, height, weight, BMI circumferences, and body composition), clinical data (epilepsy etiology, epilepsy features and other neurological symptoms' semiology and frequency, comorbidities, and general medical history), biochemical data (glycemia and BHB plasma level obtained from capillary blood and results of routine blood exams scheduled per follow-up), and therapeutic regimens (concomitant drug therapy, KD protocol, ketogenic ratio, compliance with diet prescription) were gathered. During the study, patients or caregivers were asked to compile a diary made up of 2 distinct sections: the clinical diary and the nutritional diary. The first one included information about the menstrual cycle (date of the menstrual period and its duration, possible symptoms, i.e., headache or stomach ache), ketone bodies and glucose blood levels, neurological symptoms (seizures, movement disorders, fatigue and/or a worsening of concentration skills) and physical activity (at rest/normal daily

Abbreviations: KD, Ketogenic Diet; KDTs, Ketogenic Dietary Therapies; KBs, Ketone Bodies; GLUT1DS, GLUT1 Deficiency Syndrome; MCT, Medium Chain Triglycerides; MAD, Modified Atkins Diet; LGIT, Low Glycemic Index Treatment; MR, Magnetic Resonance.

activities/physical activity). Ketone bodies and glucose blood levels were measured in fasting conditions (i.e., before meals) twice a day, both in the morning and in the evening, through a reflectometer, for 3 months. The nutritional diary serves to verify whether the patient is correctly following the dietary prescription and to rule out any possible bias influencing glucose and ketone bodies blood levels.

2.2. Participants

The study recruited patients diagnosed with drug-resistant epilepsy and GLUT1 deficiency syndrome undergoing a stable ketogenic dietary therapies from at least 3 months, who started KDT after the conventional metabolic screening (4). Participants were enrolled during their regular follow-up visits and were instructed to complete the clinical and nutritional diary at home. Eligible participants were female patients aged 13 years or older, who had been undergoing a Classic Ketogenic Diet (CKD) for at least 3 months and thus previously diagnosed with Drug-resistant epilepsy, according to ILAE definition (17) or GLUT1-DS. Included patients must have a regular menstrual cycle to correctly estimate the menstrual cycle phases during the study observation and to exclude potential causes of hormonal abnormal profiles. A detailed participant inclusion and exclusion criteria are listed in Table 1.

2.3. Data analyses

The quantitative variables were described as mean±standard deviation (or median and quartiles when appropriate), categorical variables were described as row count and percentage. Subject-wise comparisons between two measures (value in menstrual phase vs. basal value) were performed unpaired Wilcoxon rank tests. The global analysis was performed with mixed effects models to take into account the repeated measures for each subject. The day and the status (menstrual phase vs. basal value) was considered as covariates.

3. Results

Six patients were recruited among the three participating Centers. Three patients were affected by GLUT1-DS and the others had drugresistant epilepsy. Age range was 13–18 years. All were in the normal weight range and maintained it for the duration of the study. All of

TABLE 1 Inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Patients with drug resistant epilepsy or GLUT1-DS undergoing KD from at least 3 months before inclusion to the study	Patients who experienced secondary amenorrhea
Patients who had regular menarche at least 3 months before inclusion to the study	Patients who have irregular menstrual cycle
Absence of recognized endocrinologic problems/ disease	Pregnant patients

them were following a stable CKD for a long time interval (time range 1–8 years) when included in the study. The compliance to the ketogenic dietary therapy was high in the entire cohort according to the food diaries provided. See Table 2 for demographics and clinical data.

Two out of six patients (33,3%), both with a diagnosis of GLUT1-DS, were found to have an increased fatigue during days of menstruation. No changes in seizures or movement disorder manifestations, when present, were found in patients with GLUT1-DS according to menstrual period. In 1 out of 3 patients with DRE, an increase in seizure frequency was found during menstruations.

In the overall cohort, glycemia levels were found to be significantly higher (value of p 0.003) during menstruations compared to the remaining days. In the 7 days immediately before menstruations, the glycemia levels were found to be lower than in the remaining non menstrual days (value of p 0.0019) (see Figure 1).

Ketone bodies blood levels were found to be lower during menstruations in 4/6 patients, even if not statistically significant. See Table 3 for individual patients' ketone bodies and glucose blood values.

Physical activity, albeit mild, remained stable over time and therefore did not affect glycemia.

As far as ketone bodies blood levels, even if statistically significant variations were not observed, an inversely proportional trend compared to glycemia levels was documented (see Figure 2).

4. Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, the present study is the first one aimed at observing the course of KBs blood levels during the menstrual cycle in patients with GLUT1-DS and drug-resistant epilepsy undergoing KDT. Longitudinal studies serve in identifying changes in one or more variables between different periods, describing participants' intra-individual and inter-individual changes over time and monitoring the degree and pattern of those changes (18). This is relevant for the proposed research since whether considered a reliable biomarker of KDT intervention, detecting whether KBs blood level changes are likely to occur in specific conditions, might lead to consideration of the suitability of transient preventive diet adjustments. Understanding this will also help to enhance dietary behavior support to assist patients in improving their diet quality.

Monitoring of urine and blood ketosis is recognized as helpful to check compliance to the KDT and to attempt titration of the diet according to the individualized needs. Nevertheless, it is not well understood how important ketosis is in achieving seizure and other possible disease symptoms control, since KBs may act via different mechanisms and blood KBs levels were not found to always correlate with seizure outcome (19).

There is a double rationale for investigating changes in ketone bodies and glucose blood level during the menstrual cycle. Firstly, during the luteal phase a reduction in glucose uptake related to the action of progesterone and increased insulin resistance have been documented (20–25). Secondly, interactions between seizures and menstrual cycle are possible, as suggested by variations in seizure frequency according to the day, phase and ovulatory status of the menstrual cycle, configuring "catamenial epilepsy" (26). The cyclic hormonal changes at the basis of catamenial seizure exacerbations are consistent with the neurophysiologic activity of estrogen and

	Age	Diagnosis	Duration of KDT at time of evaluation	KD ratio	Symptoms during menstrual cycle
Patient 1	15 years	GLUT1DS	6 years	2.3:1	Fatigue
Patient 2	18 years	GLUT1DS	8 years	3:1	-
Patient 3	14 years	GLUT1DS	5 years	3:1	Fatigue
Patient 4	14 years	Drug resistant epilepsy Lennox like	4 years	4:1	Increased seizure frequency
Patient 5	13 years	Drug resistant epilepsy	1 year	4:1	-
Patient 6	14 years	Drug resistant epilepsy Lennox like	2 years 8 month	3:1	-

TABLE 2 Participants clinical records.



progesterone; indeed, for women with catamenial epilepsy who have regular menses, intermittent treatment approaches are thought to increase anti-seizure intervention during established phases of the menstrual cycle (27).

A prolonged CKD might have a reductive effect on glucose plasma level through a partial suppression of pancreatic action (28). A subject undergoing CKD, due to the chronic metabolic shift, in the presence of an increased energy requirement such as the one occurring during luteal phase, would utilize KBs as a preferential substrate, possibly decreasing their serum concentration. The increased requirement of fatty acids and cholesterol due to the yellow body could reduce KBs plasma level as well (20, 29). Other minor influencing factors could lead to KBs level fluctuations, such as a reduced food intake due to pre-menstruation discomfort or a minor compliance to the diet through the luteal phase, which implies increased carbohydrates consumption, especially in adolescents.

In the small cohort analyzed, significantly higher glycemic levels were found in the overall population during menstruation period. Even though not significantly lower in the menstruation period, ketone bodies blood levels were found to be lower during menstruations in the majority of patients analyzed. These findings support the hypothesis that blood ketone bodies levels and blood glucose levels might undergo inversely proportional subtle changes during the menstrual cycle. No evident clinical correlation was found with the biochemical data, except for seizure worsening during menstruation in one patient.

Whether patients with DRE undergoing KDT and likely to have catamenial exacerbations might benefit from an individualized treatment approach aimed at increasing ketogenic ratio in the time window of menstruation period remains to be investigated. The proposed study, for which preliminary results in a small cohort of six patients are presented, was designed to identify whether blood glucose and ketone bodies level variations are likely to undergo quantitative changes, considering that dietary therapies should be individualized. Broader population data are needed to assess variability rate and clinical implications.

This study has some limitations: first, the small size of the group of the participants was due to the difficulties encountered during subject recruitment. Besides the rarity of the pathologies considered, most of the patients would not have been able to collect the detailed data required, therefore they were not eligible for the study. Second, there is the absence of endocrinological and biochemical profiling (e.g., hormonal levels) but these observations might be scheduled in a different study, whether significant glucose and ketone bodies blood level variations according to menstrual cycle phases will be demonstrated. Third, the observation period is relatively short and data are auto-reported by the caregivers. Last, ketone bodies and glucose blood levels were measured through a reflectometer, which may be less precise in measuring these values but it is the mostly used tool for self-monitoring in clinical practice.

TABLE 3 Individual ketone bodies and glucose blood level measurements.

	Glucose blood values during menstruations	Ketone bodies blood values during menstruations	Glucose blood values during non menstruations days	Ketone bodies blood values during non menstruations days	
	Min-Max	Min-Max	Min-Max	Min-Max	
	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	
	Median	Median	Median	Median	
	SD	SD	SD	SD	
	64-85 mg/dL	1.6–4.5 mmol/L	60-94 mg/dL	1.8-4.2 mmol/L	
	76.07 mg/dL	2.7 mmol/L	74.77 mg/dL	2.94 mmol/L	
Patient 1	76 mg/dL	2.6 mmol/L	76 mg/dL	2.9 mmol/L	
	5.96 mg/dL	0.72 mmol/L	6.91 mg/dL	0.54 mmol/L	
	62–107 mg/dL	0.3-2.2 mmol/L	67–98 mg/dL	0.3-1.9 mmol/L	
D. (1.) (2	80.7 mg/dL	1.00 mmol/L	75.85 mg/dL	1.17 mmol/L	
Patient 2	80 mg/dL	1.00 mmol/L	76.5 mg/dL	1.30 mmol/L	
	9.66 mg/dL	0.41 mmol/L	14.68 mg/dL	0.49 mmol/L	
	84–97 mg/dL	0.9–1.1 mmol/L	84–117 mg/dL	0.7–2.7 mmol/L	
D. (1.) (2	90.6 mg/dL	1.13 mmol/L	93 mg/dL	1.5 mmol/L	
Patient 3	91 mg/dL	1 mmol/L	89 mg/dL	1.3 mmol/L	
	5.3 mg/dL	0.4 mmol/L	7.2 mg/dL	0.5 mmol/L	
	75–112 mg/dL	1.6-5.3 mmol/L	62-120 mg/dL	1.3-4.6 mmol/L	
Define 4	92.65 mg/dL	3.03 mmol/L	90.5 mg/dL	2.71 mmol/L	
Patient 4	92 mg/dL	3.05 mmol/L	91 mg/dL	2.70 mmol/L	
	7.9 mg/dL	0.86 mmol/L	10.08 mg/dL	0.79 mmol/L	
	75–98 mg/dL	1.3-3.5 mmol/L	60-98 mg/dL	1.4-3.9 mmol/L	
Patient 5	86.41 mg/dL	2.31 mmol/L	82.55 mg/dL	2.45 mmol/L	
Patient 5	86.5 mg/dL	2.1 mmol/L	82 mg/dL	2.4 mmol/L	
	6.65 mg/dL	0.63 mmol/L	6.96 mg/dL	0.56 mmol/L	
	70-83 mg/dL	1.5-4.7 mmol/L	62-80 mg/dL	1.4-4.8 mmol/L	
Patient 6	75.8 mg/dL	2.74 mmol/L	74 mg/dL	2.80 mmol/L	
ratiento	75 mg/dL	2.1 mmol/L	74 mg/dL	2.5 mmol/L	
	4.9 mg/dL	1.19 mmol/L	6.36 mg/dL	0.88 mmol/L	



The present study has also some strengths: it is the first one in literature that evaluates the possible ketone bodies and glucose blood levels variations during the menstrual cycle in female patients undergoing KDTs. Second, it is a multicenter study, allowing to gather data from different countries and hospitals, despite the small sample size. Third, we included patients with a minimum CKD duration of 1 year, reducing the risk of ketone bodies fluctuations derived from other factors (i.e., the common variation that occurs in the first months of dietary therapy).

In conclusion, preliminary results showed a significant increase in glycemia levels during menstruation in the entire cohort and an inversely proportional trend of KB levels compared to glycemia. These data can be explained by several factors such as progesterone action and increased insulin resistance during menstruation, increase of energy requirement and thus KBs consumption during lethal phase, a reduction of KBs due to an increase of fatty acids utilization by yellow body. Importantly, not only a worsening of seizures might be a consequence of a reduction of ketone bodies blood level, but also other disease symptoms otherwise controlled by KDTs such as movement disorder, fatigue, concentration, and cognitive performance. Further research is needed to understand the role of ketosis in seizure and other disease symptoms control and thus the best ways to reach ketosis with an optimum balance of disease symptoms control and side effects.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary files, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethical committee of the IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo of Pavia on 12 June 2020 (code number: 20200047779). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Author contributions

CF and LP: conceptualization, methodology, and data curation. LP, CF, MG, MA, CT, CM, and CV: investigation. LP, CF,

References

1. Tagliabue A, Bertoli S, Trentani C, Borrelli P, Veggiotti P. Effects of the ketogenic diet on nutritional status, resting energy expenditure, and substrate oxidation in patients with medically refractory epilepsy: a 6-month prospective observational study. *Clin Nutr.* (2012) 31:246–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2011.09.012

2. Pasca L, De Giorgis V, Macasaet JA, Trentani C, Tagliabue A, Veggiotti P. The changing face of dietary therapy for epilepsy. *Eur J Pediatr*. (2016) 175:1267–76. doi: 10.1007/s00431-016-2765-z

3. Devi N, Madaan P, Kandoth N, Bansal D, Sahu JK. Efficacy and safety of dietary therapies for childhood drug-resistant epilepsy. *JAMA Pediatr*. (2023) 177:258–66. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2022.5648

4. Kossoff EH, Zupec-Kania BA, Auvin S, Ballaban-Gil KR, Christina Bergqvist AG, Blackford R, et al. Optimal clinical management of children receiving dietary therapies for epilepsy: updated recommendations of the international ketogenic diet study group. *Epilepsia Open*. (2018) 3:175–92. doi: 10.1002/epi4.12225

5. Pasca L, Varesio C, Ferraris C, Guglielmetti M, Trentani C, Tagliabue A, et al. Families' perception of classic ketogenic diet Management in Acute Medical Conditions: a web-based survey. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:2920. doi: 10.3390/nu12102920

 Ferraris C, Pasca L, Guglielmetti M, Marazzi C, Trentani C, Varesio C, et al. Comment on: ketogenic diet therapy provision in the COVID-19 pandemic: dual-center experience and recommendations. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2020) 112:107399. doi: 10.1016/j. yebeh.2020.107399

7. Varesio C, Pasca L, Parravicini S, Zanaboni MP, Ballante E, Masnada S, et al. Quality of life in chronic ketogenic diet treatment: she GLUT1DS population perspective. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:1650. doi: 10.3390/nu11071650

8. Ferraris C, Guglielmetti M, Tamagni E, Trentani C, De Giorgis V, Pasca L, et al. Use of remote monitoring by E-mail for long-term Management of the Classic Ketogenic Diet. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:1833. doi: 10.3390/nu12061833

9. De Giorgis V, Veggiotti P. GLUT1 deficiency syndrome 2013: current state of the art. *Seizure*. (2013) 22:803-11. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2013.07.003

10. Gilbert DL, Pyzik PL, Freeman JM. The ketogenic diet: seizure control correlates better with serum β -Hydroxybutyrate than with urine ketones. *J Child Neurol.* (2000) 15:787–90. doi: 10.1177/088307380001501203

11. Wright JN, Saneto RP, Friedman SD. β -Hydroxybutyrate detection with proton MR spectroscopy in children with drug-resistant epilepsy on the ketogenic diet. *Am J Neuroradiol.* (2018) 39:1336–40. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A5648

MG, CV, MT, and IB: writing—original draft preparation. LP, CF, MG, CV, MT, IB, EB, MA, GV, RC, PV, AT, and VDG: writing—review and editing. VDG and AT: supervision. VDG: project administration.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the ERN-EpiCARE, Mondino's ongoing research and the Italian Association GLUT1-DS ONLUS.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

12. van Delft R, Lambrechts D, Verschuure P, Hulsman J, Majoie M. Blood betahydroxybutyrate correlates better with seizure reduction due to ketogenic diet than do ketones in the urine. *Seizure*. (2010) 19:36–9. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2009.10.009

13. Simeone TA, Simeone KA, Stafstrom CE, Rho JM. Do ketone bodies mediate the anti-seizure effects of the ketogenic diet? *Neuropharmacology*. (2018) 133:233–41. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2018.01.011

14. Klepper J. Glucose transporter deficiency syndrome (GLUT1DS) and the ketogenic diet. *Epilepsia*. (2008) 49:46–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01833.x

15. Fukao T, Lopaschuk GD, Mitchell GA. Pathways and control of ketone body metabolism: on the fringe of lipid biochemistry. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*. (2004) 70:243–51. doi: 10.1016/j.plefa.2003.11.001

16. Felton EA, Henry-Barron BJ, Jan AK, Shegelman A, Faltersack K, Vizthum D, et al. The feasibility and tolerability of medium chain triglycerides in women with a Catamenial seizure pattern on the modified Atkins diet. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:2261. doi: 10.3390/nu13072261

17. Kwan P, Arzimanoglou A, Berg AT, Brodie MJ, Allen Hauser W, Mathern G, et al. Definition of drug resistant epilepsy: consensus proposal by the ad hoc task force of the ILAE commission on therapeutic strategies. *Epilepsia*. (2009) 51:1069–77. doi: 10.1111/j. 1528-1167.2009.02397.x

18. Caruana EJ, Roman M, Hernández-Sánchez J, Solli P. Longitudinal studies. J Thorac Dis. (2015) 7:E537-40. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.10.63

19. Sharma S, Whitney R, Kossoff EH, RamachandranNair R. Does the ketogenic ratio matter when using ketogenic diet therapy in pediatric epilepsy? *Epilepsia*. (2023) 64:284–91. doi: 10.1111/epi.17476

20. Goldner WS, Kraus VL, Sivitz WI, Hunter SK, Dillon JS. Cyclic changes in Glycemia assessed by continuous glucose monitoring system during multiple complete menstrual cycles in women with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Technol Ther*. (2004) 6:473–80. doi: 10.1089/1520915041705875

21. Yeung EH, Zhang C, Mumford SL, Ye A, Trevisan M, Chen L, et al. Longitudinal study of insulin resistance and sex hormones over the menstrual cycle: the BioCycle study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2010) 95:5435–42. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-0702

22. Widom B, Diamond MP, Simonson DC. Alterations in glucose metabolism during menstrual cycle in women with IDDM. *Diabetes Care.* (1992) 15:213–20. doi: 10.2337/ diacare.15.2.213

23. Jamshed N, Banavaliker B, Aggarwal P. Catamenial diabetic ketoacidosis—a diagnostic dilemma in ED. *Am J Emerg Med.* (2013) 31:464.e1-3. doi: 10.1016/j. ajem.2012.08.038

24. Trout KK, Rickels MR, Schutta MH, Petrova M, Freeman EW, Tkacs NC, et al. Menstrual cycle effects on insulin sensitivity in women with type 1 diabetes: a pilot study. *Diabetes Technol Ther.* (2007) 9:176–82. doi: 10.1089/dia.2006.0004

25. Oosthuyse T, Bosch AN. The effect of the menstrual cycle on exercise metabolism: implications for exercise performance in eumenorrheic women. *Sports Med.* (2010) 40:207–27. doi: 10.2165/11317090-00000000-00000

26. Herzog AG, Fowler KM, Sperling MR, Massaro JM. Distribution of seizures across the menstrual cycle in women with epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. (2015) 56:e58–62. doi: 10.1111/epi.12969

27. Herzog AG. Catamenial epilepsy: update on prevalence, pathophysiology and treatment from the findings of the NIH progesterone treatment trial. *Seizure*. (2015) 28:18–25. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2015.02.024

28. Röder PV, Wu B, Liu Y, Han W. Pancreatic regulation of glucose homeostasis. *Exp Mol Med.* (2016) 48:e219–9. doi: 10.1038/emm.2016.6

29. Dąbek A, Wojtala M, Pirola L, Balcerczyk A. Modulation of cellular biochemistry, epigenetics and metabolomics by ketone bodies. Implications of the ketogenic diet in the physiology of the organism and pathological states. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:788. doi: 10.3390/nu12030788

Frontiers in Nutrition

Explores what and how we eat in the context of health, sustainability and 21st century food science

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Contact us



